Constitution
Of
South Somerset
District Council

Tuesday 10th November 2020

Constitution
Contents
Part 1 - Summary and Explanation
Summary and Explanation (Pages 1 - 4)
Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution
Article 1 - The Constitution (Pages 5 - 7)
Article 2 - Members of the Council (Pages 8 - 9)
Article 3 - Citizens and the Council (Page 10)
Article 4 - The Full Council (Pages 11 - 12)
Article 5 - Chairing the Council (Page 13)
Article 6 - The Scrutiny Function (Pages 14 - 15)
Article 7 - The District Executive (Pages 16 - 17)
Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Committees (Pages 18 - 19)
Article 9 - The Standards Committee (Pages 20 - 21)
Article 10 - Area Committees (Pages 22 - 23)
Article 11 - Joint Arrangements (Pages 24 - 25)
Article 12 - Officers (Pages 26 - 28)
Article 13 - Decision Making (Pages 29 - 30)
Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters (Page 31)
Article 15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution (Page 32)
Article 16 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution (Page 33)
Schedule 1 - Description of Executive Arrangements (Page 34)
Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions
Responsibility for Functions (Pages 35 - 36)
Section 1 - Decisions Reserved for Full Council (Pages 37 - 39)
Section 2 - Local Choice Functions (Pages 40 - 41)
Section 3 - Functions Which Cannot be the Responsibility of the District Executive (Pages

42 - 48)
Section 4 - Executive Functions (Pages 49 - 70)
Section 5 - Allocation of Overview and Scrutiny Functions (Page 71)
Section 6 - Schedule of Functions Delegated to Officers (Pages 72 - 95)
Section 7 - Membership and Terms of Reference of Committees and Appeals Panel
(Pages 96 - 102)
Scheme of Delegation - Reference of Planning Applications to the Regulation Committee
for Determination (Page 103)
Part 4 - Rules of Procedure (Standing Orders)
Council Procedure Rules (Pages 104 - 118)
General Standing Orders (Pages 119 - 125)
Contracts Procedure Rules (Contract Standing Orders) (Pages 126 - 156)
Access to Information Procedure Rules (Pages 157 - 166)
District Executive Procedure Rules (Pages 167 - 169)
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure (Pages 170 - 172)
Human Resources Management Rules (Pages 173 - 187)
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure (Pages 188 - 190)
Financial Regulations (Pages 191 - 220)
Part 5 - Codes and Protocols
Member Code of Conduct (Pages 221 - 237)
Code of Practice for Planning (Pages 238 - 240)
Local Code of Best Practice for the Licensing Process (Pages 241 - 247)
Public Participation at Committees (Pages 248 - 249)
Consultation Protocol (Pages 250 - 253)
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations (Pages 254 - 257)
Guidance on Gifts and Hospitality (Pages 258 - 261)
Part 6 - Members' Allowances Scheme
Members' Allowances and Expenses (Pages 262 - 269)

Part 7 - Management Structure
Management Structure (Pages 270 - 271)
Part 8 - Petition Scheme
Petition Scheme (Pages 272 - 285)

Part 1
Summary and Explanation

March 2018

Page 1

Summary and Explanation
The Council’s Constitution
South Somerset District Council has agreed a constitution which sets out how the Council
operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure that
these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these processes
are required by the law, while others are a matter for the council to choose.
The constitution is divided into 16 articles which set out the basic rules governing the
council’s business. More detailed procedures and codes of practice are provided in separate
rules and protocols at the end of the document.
What’s in the Constitution?
Article 1 of the constitution commits the Council to work with local people and other partners
to create a thriving community by providing effective leadership and quality services. Articles
2 – 16 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the council operate. These are:
















Members of the council (Article 2).
Citizens and the council (Article 3).
The council meeting (Article 4).
Chairing the council (Article 5).
Overview and scrutiny of decisions (Article 6).
The executive (Article 7)
Regulatory and other committees (Article 8).
The standards committee (Article 9).
Area committees (Article 10).
Joint arrangements (Article 11).
Officers (Article 12).
Decision making (Article 13).
Finance, contracts and legal matters (Article 14).
Review and revision of the constitution (Article 15).
Suspension, interpretation and publication of the constitution (Article 16).

How the Council operates
The council is composed of 60 councillors elected every four years. Councillors are
democratically accountable to residents of their ward. The overriding duty of councillors is to
the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those who
did not vote for them.
Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the way
they undertake their duties. The Standards Committee advises them on the code of conduct.
All councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are open to the public.
Here councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the budget each year. The
council selects a leader and appoints all Panels and committees, including area committees.
It approves the work plan of committees and includes a standing item early in the agenda for
public questions. Most decisions in your area are delegated to your area committees.

Part 1 – Summary and Explanation

Page 2

March 2018

How Decisions are Made
The District Executive (also known as the Executive) is the part of the Council which is
responsible for strategic decisions. The Executive is made up of a leader elected by the
Council and a cabinet of 9 councillors who are appointed by the Leader. When major
decisions are to be discussed or made, these are published in the Executive’s forward plan
in so far as they can be anticipated. If these major decisions are to be discussed with Council
officers at a meeting of the Executive, this will generally be open for the public to attend
except where personal or confidential matters are being discussed. The Executive has to
make decisions which are in line with the council’s overall policies and budget. If it wishes to
make a decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, this must be referred to the
Council as a whole to decide.
In order to give local citizens a greater say in Council affairs, 4 area committees have been
created. These are responsible for planning, local regeneration schemes and community
development in their area. They involve all the district councillors for the geographical area
and their meetings are held in public.
Overview and Scrutiny
There is one main Scrutiny Committee with 14 members, appointed in political balance. The
Scrutiny Committee has 1 Chair and 2 Vice Chairs, one from each political group. The
Scrutiny Committee undertakes the statutory Scrutiny functions such as Policy Development
and Review, monitoring the performance of the authority and holding the Executive to
account. All non-executive members support the committee and are invited to undertake
reviews on a ‘Task and Finish Project’ basis as directed by the main Scrutiny Committee.
The main Scrutiny Committee also has responsibility for managing the Call-in function. The
Scrutiny Committee can ‘Call-in’ a decision that has been made by the Executive but not yet
implemented. This enables members to consider whether the decision is appropriate. The
Scrutiny Committee may recommend that the Executive reconsider the decision or can, if it
wishes, ask Council to debate the issue.
The Council’s Staff
The Council has people working for it (called ‘officers’) to give advice, implement decisions
and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services. Some officers have a specific duty to
ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. A protocol (set out
in Part 5) governs the relationships between officers and members of the Council.
Citizens’ Rights
Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. These are set out in more
detail in Article 3. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s own
processes. The Citizens’ Advice Bureau can advise on individual legal rights.
Citizens have the right to:


attend meetings of the Council and its committees such as area committees, District
Executive, except where, for example, personal or confidential matters are being
discussed;



speak at area committees, District Executive, Council and other committee meetings;

Part 1 – Summary and Explanation

Page 3

March 2018



see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the Council
and Executive;



contact their local councillor or area committee chairman about any matters of concern to
them;



participate in the Council’s question time and contribute to policy reviews;



make representations to the Regulation Committee when it makes decisions as final
arbiter of planning applications;



find out, from the Executive’s forward plan, what major decisions are to be discussed by
the Executive, and when;



complain to the Council about any Council procedure or service which has resulted in
feelings of dissatisfaction or injustice;



complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its procedures
properly. However, they should only do this after using the Council’s own complaints
process;



complain to the Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which they think shows that a
councillor has not followed the Council’s Code of Conduct;



inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the external auditor;



vote at local elections if they are registered;



obtain a copy of the Constitution;



petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of executive;



submit a petition under the Council’s Petition Scheme (see Part 8)



exercise rights under the Data Protection Act and Freedom of Information Act. This
includes being able to view copies of any document set out in the Council’s Publication
Scheme.

The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further information on your
rights as a citizen, please contact Angela Watson, Lead Specialist (Legal), Brympton Way,
Yeovil, Somerset BA20 2HT – Tel: 01935 462183;
email: angela.watson@southsomerset.gov.uk
More information about the Council can also be viewed on www.southsomerset.gov.uk.

Part 1 – Summary and Explanation

Page 4

March 2018

Part 2
Articles of the Constitution

March 2018

Page 5

Article 1 – The Constitution
1.01

Powers of the Council
The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this
Constitution.

1.02

The Constitution
This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the South Somerset
District Council.

1.03

Purpose of the Council and the Constitution
The Council has adopted a corporate plan which sets out the council’s ambition and
focuses through the period 2016 - 2021. The plan puts a sharp focus on priorities and
what we want to deliver within our available resources.
The Council’s vision for South Somerset is: “A place where businesses flourish,
communities are safe, vibrant and healthy; where residents enjoy good housing,
leisure, cultural and sporting activities.”
The five corporate aims are:


Protect core services to the public by reducing costs and seeking income
generation.



Increase the focus on jobs and Economic Development.



Protect and enhance the quality of our environment.



Enable housing to meet all needs.



Improve health and reduce health inequalities.

The purpose of the Constitution is to:


enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership
with the public, businesses and other organisations;



support the active involvement of the public in the process of local authority
decision-making;



help councillors represent their constituents more effectively;



enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively;



create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public
account;



ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly
involved;



ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local
people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and to

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution

Page 6

March 2018


1.04

provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community.

Interpretation and Review of the Constitution
Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of
action, the Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the
purposes stated above.
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in
Article 15.

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution

Page 7

March 2018

Article 2 – Members of The Council
2.01

2.02

Composition and eligibility
(a)

Composition. The Council comprises 60 members, otherwise called
councillors. One or more councillors will be elected by the voters of each
ward in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the Boundary Commission for
England and approved by the Secretary of State or consequent upon a
Community Governance Review.

(b)

Eligibility. Only registered voters of the district or those living or working
there will be eligible to hold the office of councillor.

Election and terms of councillors
The regular election of councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May every four
years. The term of office of councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected
and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election.

2.03

Roles and functions of all councillors
(a)

(b)

Part 2 – Article 2

Key roles. All councillors will:
(i)

collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a number of
strategic and corporate management functions;

(ii)

represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s
decision-making process, i.e. become the advocate of and for their
communities;

(iii)

deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents
in resolving particular concerns or grievances;

(iv)

balance different interests identified within their ward and represent
their ward as a whole;

(v)

be involved in decision-making;

(vi)

be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and

(vii)

maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

Rights and duties
(i)

Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents,
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary for the
proper discharge of their functions and in accordance with the law.

(ii)

Councillors will not make public information which is confidential or
exempt without the consent of the Council or divulge information given
in confidence to anyone other than a councillor or officer entitled to
know it.

(iii)

For these purposes, "confidential" and "exempt" information are
defined in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this
Constitution.

Page 8

May 2019

2.04

Conduct
Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Planning
Code of Practice and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of
this Constitution.

2.05

Allowances
Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution.

Part 2 – Article 2

Page 9

May 2019

Article 3 – Citizens and the Council
3.01

Citizens’ rights
The Council has adopted a Public Participation Protocol. Citizens’ rights to
information and to participate are explained in the Access to Information Rules in Part
4 of this Constitution. Broadly speaking, they are as follows:
(a)

Information. Citizens have the right to:
(i)

attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where
confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed, and that
part of the meeting is therefore held in private;

(ii)

attend meetings of the District Executive;

(iii)

find out from the Executive Forward Plan what key decisions will be
taken by the District Executive and when;

(iv)

see reports and background papers, and any records of decisions
made by the Council and the District Executive; and

(v)

inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the
external auditor.

(b)

Participation. Citizens have the right to participate in the question time of
meetings of the Council, of District Executive and of area committees. They
may contribute to policy reviews, as appropriate.

(c)

Complaints. Citizens have the right to complain to:

(d)

Part 2 – Article 3

(i)

the Council itself under its complaints scheme;

(ii)

the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own complaints scheme;

(iii)

the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillors’ Code of
Conduct (set out in Part 5).

Voting and petitions. Citizens on the electoral roll for the area have the right
to vote and sign a petition to request a referendum for an elected mayor form
of Constitution. The Council has also adopted a Petition Scheme, which is
set out in Part 8

Page 10

May 2015

Article 4 - The Full Council
4.01

Functions of the full Council
Only the Council will exercise the following functions:

4.02

(a)

adopting and changing the Constitution;

(b)

approving or adopting the budget and those plans and strategies reserved to
the Full Council and set out in Part 3 Section 1 of this Constitution;

(c)

approving or adopting any application to the Secretary of State under sections
32 or 45 of the Housing Act 1985 for the disposal of land for residential
purposes;

(d)

subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making decisions about any
matter in the discharge of an executive function which is covered by the policy
framework or the budget where the decision maker is minded to make it in a
manner which would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to/or not
wholly in accordance with the budget;

(e)

electing the leader and removing him/her from office;

(f)

agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for committees, deciding on
their composition and making appointments to them (except the
Cabinet/District Executive);

(g)

appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an
executive function or has been delegated by the Council;

(h)

adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05;

(i)

changing the name of the area;

(j)

confirming the appointment of the head of paid service;

(k)

making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or
opposing the making of local legislation or personal Bills;

(l)

all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the
Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the District
Executive; and

(m)

all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council.

Council meetings
There are three types of Council meeting:
(a)

the annual meeting;

(b)

ordinary meetings;

(c)

extraordinary meetings.

Part 2 – Article 4

Page 11

May 2019

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4
of this Constitution.
4.03

Responsibility for functions
The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the
responsibilities for the Council’s functions which are not the responsibility of the
District Executive.

4.04

Meanings
‘Budget’: The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different
services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the council tax base, setting the
council tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing
requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits,
medium term financial planning and financial strategy.

Part 2 – Article 4

Page 12

May 2019

Article 5 – Chairing The Council
5.01

Role and function of the Chairman of the Council
The Chairman will be elected by the Council annually. The Chairman, and in his or
her absence, the Vice-Chairman will have the following responsibilities:
(a)

to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to interpret the
Constitution when necessary;

(b)

to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out
efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the
community;

(c)

to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of
concern to the local community and the place at which members who are not
on the District Executive are able to hold the Executive to account;

(d)

to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;

(e)

to be the conscience of the Council; and

(f)

to attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and he/she
determines appropriate.

Part 2 – Article 5

Page 13

May 2015

Article 6 – The Scrutiny Function
6.01

Overview and Scrutiny
Effective Overview and Scrutiny is essential to enhance the accountability and
transparency of the decision making process.
Area Committees provide a key mechanism for Councillors to represent the views of
their constituents and for local organisations, such as Parish and Town Councils, to
have their views taken into account in local decisions.
The Overview and Scrutiny function has an important role to play in ensuring that the
voice and concerns of local people are represented in policy development and review
discussions.
The Overview and Scrutiny function has a key role to play in holding the District
Executive to account, as well as monitoring service standards and performance.

6.02

Scope of Scrutiny Committee
Within its terms of reference, Scrutiny Committee will discharge the overview and
scrutiny functions conferred by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 and will:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

6.03

review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with
the discharge of any of the Council’s functions other than development control
and other quasi-judicial matters;
make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the District
Executive and/or any joint committee or area committee in connection with the
discharge of any functions;
consider any matter affecting the district or its inhabitants; and
exercise the right to call-in, for reconsideration, executive decisions made but
not yet implemented by the District Executive, portfolio holders and/or any
area committees.
take an overview of policy development in line with the priorities of the
Council.

Specific functions
(a)

Part 2 – Article 6

Scrutiny. Scrutiny Committee shall:
i)

review and scrutinise the decisions made by the District Executive
and/or area committees and council officers both in relation to
individual decisions and over time;

ii)

review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its
policy objectives, and/or particular service areas;

iii)

question members of the District Executive and/or area committees
and senior officers about their decisions and performance, whether
generally in comparison with service plans and targets over a period of
time, or in relation to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

iv)

make recommendations to the District Executive and/or area
committees and/or Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny
process;

Page 14

May 2015

(b)

v)

review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the
area and invite reports from them by requesting them to address the
Scrutiny Committee and local people about their activities and
performance; and

vi)

question and gather evidence from any person (with their consent).

vii)

commission overview commissions to undertake reviews of policy and
report back to the Scrutiny Committee.

Overview Commissions
An Overview Commission that comprises all the non-executive members will
support the Scrutiny Committee in undertaking reviews in line with the
functions set out above.

6.04

Proceedings of overview and scrutiny committees
Scrutiny Committee and the Overview Commission will conduct their proceedings in
accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this
Constitution.

Part 2 – Article 6

Page 15

May 2015

Article 7 - The District Executive (Cabinet)
7.01

Role
The District Executive will carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are not
the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this
Constitution.

7.02

Form and composition
The District Executive will consist of the Leader of the Council together with between
two and nine councillors appointed to the District Executive by the Leader (one of
whom will be appointed by the Leader to act as Deputy Leader) and the Leader will
allocate areas of responsibility (Portfolios) to them.
The Leader may remove executive members from the District Executive at any time.

7.03

Leader of the Council
The Leader will be a councillor elected to the position of leader by the Council. The
leader shall hold office for a period of four years starting on the day of his/her election
and end on the day of the post 4 year Council election annual meeting:
The Leader will appoint a Deputy Leader and such other members of the District
Executive as he/she thinks fit subject to paragraph 7.02 above.
The Leader shall continue to hold office unless:(a)

he/she resigns from the office; or

(b)

he/she is suspended from being a councillor under Part III of the Local
Government Act 2000 (although he/she may resume office at the end of the
period of suspension); or

(c)

he/she is no longer a councillor; or

(d)

he/she is removed from office by a resolution of the Council.

Deputy Leader of the Council
The Leader will appoint one of the members of the District Executive to be the Deputy
Leader.
The Deputy Leader will hold office until the end of the term of office of the Leader
unless:(a)

he/she resigns from the office; or

(b)

he/she is suspended from being a councillor under Part III of the Local
Government Act 2000 (although he/she may resume office at the end of the
period of suspension); or

(c)

he/she is no longer a councillor; or

(d)

he/she is no longer a member of the District Executive

(e)

he/she is removed from office by the Leader

The Deputy Leader will carry out the functions of the Leader when he/she is absent.

Part 2 – Article 7

Page 16

May 2015

7.04

Other District Executive members
The Leader will appoint between one and eight further District Executive members.
Other Executive members shall hold office until:

7.05

(a)

they resign from office; or

(b)

they are suspended from being councillors under Part III of the Local
Government Act 2000 (although they may resume office at the end of the
period of suspension); or

(c)

they are no longer councillors; or

(d)

they are removed from office, either individually or collectively, by the Leader.

Proceedings of the District Executive
Proceedings of the Executive shall take place in accordance with the Executive
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

7.06

Responsibility for functions
The Leader will maintain a list in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out which (if any)
individual members of the District Executive, area committees, Executive committee,
officers or joint arrangements are responsible for the exercise of particular executive
functions.
The Leader will report to Council on all appointments and changes to the District
Executive, Portfolio allocations and Scheme of Delegation.

Part 2 – Article 7

Page 17

May 2015

Article 8 – Regulatory and other Committees
8.01

Regulatory committees
The Council will appoint the committees set out in the table “Responsibility for Council
Functions” in Part 3 of this Constitution to discharge the functions set out in that table.

8.02

Composition of Regulation and Licensing Committees
The Regulation Committee will be composed of fourteen members appointed in
political balance, and (as far as is practicable) drawn equally from the four areas.
The Licensing Committee will be composed of fifteen members, appointed in political
balance.

8.03

Terms of Reference of Regulation and Licensing Committees
The Regulation Committee shall determine applications for planning permission
referred from the area committees in accordance with the approved guidelines set out
in part 3 of this document. It shall also pass Resolutions in respect of significant
Council applications for planning permission.

.
The Licensing Committee shall be responsible for those licensing functions listed in
part 3 of the Constitution as being the responsibility of the Committee. This will
include licensing matters referred to it by officers, in accordance with the Officer
Scheme of Delegation, such as contested public entertainment licences, and
applications for taxi driver licences where the officer considers the application should
be determined by members. The Committee shall also be responsible for all the
functions assigned to it under the Licensing Act 2003.
8.04

Scope of Audit Committee
The Council shall appoint an Audit Committee which provides independent assurance
of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control
environment (ranging from standing orders, financial procedures etc.), independent
scrutiny of the authority’s financial and non-financial performance, to the extent that it
affects the authority’s exposure to risk and weakens the control environment and it
oversees the financial reporting process.

8.05

The Audit Committee shall:
1.

approve the Strategic and Annual Internal Audit Plans;

2.

receive summaries of Internal Audit reports and seek assurance from
management that action has been taken.

3.

consider the reports of external audit and inspection agencies and seek
assurance from management that action has been taken.

4.

consider the effectiveness of SSDC’s risk management arrangements, the
control environment and associated anti-fraud and corruption arrangements
and seek assurance from management that action is being taken.

5.

review the annual Statement of Internal Control and monitor associated action
plans.

Part 2 – Article 8

Page 18

May 2019

6.

review the SSDC’s Code of Corporate Governance and ensure it is kept up to
date and reflects best practice. This will include regular reviews of the
Council’s Constitution and an overview of the risk management.

7.

receive reports from management on the promotion of good corporate
governance.

8.

review and approve the annual Statement of Accounts, external auditor’s
opinion and reports to members and monitor management action in response
to issues raised.

Part 2 – Article 8

Page 19

May 2019

Article 9 – The Standards Committee
9.01

Standards Committee
The Council meeting will establish a Standards Committee.

9.02

Composition
(a)

Membership. The Standards Committee will be composed of:



9.03

Six district councillors (only one of whom may be a member of the District
Executive), appointed proportionally;

(b)

Independent persons. Independent persons to be invited to Committee
meetings but will not be entitled to vote;

(c)

Parish members. Three parish council representatives nominated by the
parish councils to be co-opted as non-voting members of the Committee;

(d)

Chairing the Committee.
Councillor

The Committee shall be chaired by a District

Role and Function
The Standards Committee has the following terms of reference:


promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and Co-opted
Members;



advise, train or arrange to train Members and Co-opted Members of the Council
on matters relating to the Authority’s Members’ Code of Conduct and wider
propriety issues, including issuing guidance where appropriate;



recommend the adoption or revision of any Council Codes of Conduct for
Members and Co-opted Members, and to monitor the operation of such code(s) of
conduct;



deal with the assessment and determination of complaints under the Members’
Code of Conduct relating to Members and Co-opted Members (other than where
the power to deal with such matters has been delegated to and exercised by the
Monitoring Officer). Where the investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct and a local resolution is not appropriate or not possible,
then a Hearing Panel of the Committee (comprising 3 voting members of the
Standards Committee agreed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the
Committee Chairman) will consider and decide the complaint.



to take decisions in respect of a Member and Co-opted Member who is found on
hearing to have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, including –

Part 2 – Article 9



Reporting its findings to Council [or to the Parish Council] for
information;



Recommending to the member’s Group Leader that he/she be
removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council
(other than the relevant Area Committee);



Recommending to the Leader of the Council that the member be
removed from the District Executive Committee, or removed from
particular Portfolio responsibilities;
Page 20

May 2015



Instructing the Monitoring Officer to [or recommend that the Parish
Council] arrange training for the member;



Removing [or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be
removed] from all outside appointments to which he/she has been
appointed or nominated by the authority [or by the Parish Council];



Withdrawing [or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws]
facilities provided to the member by the Council, such as a computer,
website and/or email and Internet access;



Restricting contact to named officers or requiring contact be through
named officers; or



Excluding [or recommend that the Parish Council exclude] the
member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with the
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council,
Committee and Sub-Committee meetings.



advise on the management of statutory and other registers of interest and gifts /
hospitality received;



advise the Council on possible changes to the Constitution (except the Council
and Cabinet Schemes of Delegation) in relation the key documents and protocols
dealing with members conduct and ethical standards;

Note: the powers of the Committee apply in respect of the district and parish councils,
except where stated.


To grant a dispensation to a Member of SSDC with a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest (DPI) or prejudicial interest to enable that Member to (i) participate (ii)
vote or (iii) participate and vote in relation to the matter which gave rise to the DPI
or prejudicial interest in relation to Nos. 2, 3 and 5 below and to determine any
appeals against the Monitoring Officer’s refusal to grant a dispensation in relation
to Nos. 1 & 4
1. That so many members of the Committee have DPI or prejudicial interests in a
matter that it would “impede the transaction of the business”. This usually
means that the decision-making body would be inquorate as a result;
2. That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups
on the Committee would be so upset as to alter the outcome of any vote on
the matter;
3. That the Standards Committee considers that the dispensation is in the
interests of persons living in the authority’s area;
4. That, without a dispensation, no member of the District Executive Committee
would be able to participate on this matter (i.e. because the Executive would
be inquorate); or
5. That the Standards Committee considers that it is otherwise appropriate to
grant a dispensation.

Part 2 – Article 9

Page 21

May 2015

Article 10 – Area Committees
10.01 Area Committees
The Council will appoint four area committees, each comprising all those district
council members elected from that area
10.02 Form, composition and function
(a)

Table of Area Committees. The Council will appoint the area committees as
set out in the first column of the table below, composed of those councillors
representing the wards set out in the second column of that table.
Name of Committee
Area South Committee

Area East Committee

Area West Committee

Area North Committee

Wards – effective from May 2019
Brympton
Coker
Yeovil College
Yeovil Lyde
Yeovil Summerlands
Yeovil Westland
Yeovil Without
Blackmoor Vale
Bruton
Camelot
Cary
Ivelchester
Milborne Port
Northstone, Ivelchester & St. Michaels
Tower
Wincanton
Blackdown & Tatworth
Chard Avishayes
Char Combe
Char Crimchard
Chard Holyrood
Chard Jocelyn
Crewkerne
Eggwood
Ilminster
Neroche
Parrett
Windwhistle
Burrow Hill
Curry Rivel, Huish & Langport
Hamdon
Islemoor
Martock
South Petherton
Turn Hill
Wessex

This arrangement means that political balance on an area committee will not
necessarily reflect the political balance of the Council overall. An area committee has
some executive functions delegated to it by the District Executive such as local grantgiving and is responsible for the area budget. It also has functions, which are not the
responsibility of the Executive, such as planning and community initiatives.

Part 2 – Article 10

Page 22

May 2019

(b)

Delegations. The Council and the District Executive will include details of the
delegations to area committees in Part 3 of this Constitution. It shows which
delegated functions are the responsibility of the District Executive and which
are not, the composition and membership of the committees, budgets and any
limitations on delegation.

10.03 Conflicts of interest – membership of Area Committees and Scrutiny Committee
or Scrutiny Commission
Conflict of interest. If the Scrutiny Committee is scrutinising specific decisions or
proposals in relation to the business of the area committee of which the councillor
concerned is a member, then the councillor may not speak or vote at the Scrutiny
Committee meeting without the consent of the Chairman.
10.04 Area Committees – access to information
Area committees will comply with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this
Constitution.
Agendas and notices for area committee meetings which deal with both functions of
the District Executive and functions which are not the responsibility of the Executive
will state clearly which items are which.
10.05 District Executive members on Area Committees
A member of the District Executive will serve on the Area Committee for which they
are eligible as a councillor.

Part 2 – Article 10

Page 23

May 2019

Article 11 – Joint Arrangements
11.01 Arrangements to promote well being
The Council, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of
its area, may:
(a)

enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body;

(b)

co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or
body; and

(c)

exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or
body.

11.02 Joint arrangements
(a)

The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities and/or their Executives to exercise functions which are not
executive functions in any of the participating authorities, or advise the
Council. Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint committee
with these other local authorities.

(b)

The District Executive may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions. Such
arrangements may involve the appointment of joint committees with these
other local authorities.

(c)

Except as set out below, the District Executive may only appoint Executive
members to a joint committee and those members need not reflect the
political composition of the local authority as a whole.

(d)

The District Executive may appoint members to a joint committee from outside
the Executive when the joint committee has functions for only part of the area
of the authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of the authority by area
or population. In such cases, the Executive may appoint to the joint committee
any councillor who is a member for a ward which is wholly or partly contained
within the area. The political balance requirements do not apply to such
appointments.

(e)

Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to joint
committees will be found in the Council’s scheme of delegations in Part 3 of
this Constitution.

11.03 Access to information
(a)

The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply.

(b)

If all the members of a joint committee are members of the Executive in each
of the participating authorities then its access to information regime is the
same as that applied to the Executive.

(c)

If the joint committee contains members who are not on the Executive of any
participating authority then the access to information rules in Part VA of the
Local Government Act 1972 will apply.

Part 2 – Article 11

Page 24

May 2015

11.04 Delegation to and from other local authorities
(a)

The Council may delegate functions to another local authority or, in certain
circumstances, the executive of another local authority.

(b)

The executive may delegate executive functions to another local authority or
the executive of another local authority in certain circumstances.

(c)

The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another local
authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting.

11.05 Contracting out
The Council – for functions which are not executive - or the District Executive - for
executive functions - may where permitted by law contract out to another body or
organisation functions which may be exercised by an officer where the contractor acts
as the Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no
delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making.

Part 2 – Article 11

Page 25

May 2015

Article 12 – Officers
12.0

Management structure
(a)

General. The full Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as it
considers necessary to carry out its functions.

(b)

Chief Officers. The full Council will engage persons for the following posts,
who will be designated chief officers. These officers need not necessarily be
employed by the Council:
Post
Chief Executive

Functions and areas of responsibility
Head of Paid Service with overall corporate
management and operational responsibility
(including overall management responsibility
for all officers).
Line management responsibility for Directors
as determined and lead roles with partners
as agreed.

Senior Management
Posts
(c)

Chief Executive
Directors (3)

Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The
Council will designate the following posts as shown:
Post
Chief Executive
Section 151 Officer
Lead Specialist (Legal)

Designation
Head of Paid Service
Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer)
Monitoring Officer

Such posts will have the functions described in Article 12.02–12.04 below.
The Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer shall be entitled to appoint at
any time a deputy to carry out their respective duties during their absence or
illness
(d)

Structure. The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a
description of the overall departmental structure of the Council showing the
management structure and deployment of officers. This is set out at Part 7 of
this Constitution.

12.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service
(a)

Discharge of functions by the Council. The Head of Paid Service will report
to full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the Council’s functions
is co-ordinated, the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of
functions and the organisation of officers.

(b)

Restrictions on functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the
Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified
accountant.

Part 2 – Article 12

Page 26

May 2019

12.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer
(a)

Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-todate version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for
consultation by members, staff and the public.

(b)

Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making. After consulting
with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring
Officer will report to the full Council or to the Executive in relation to an
executive function if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or
omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has
given rise to maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping
the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been
considered.

(c)

Supporting the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer will contribute
to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through
provision of support to the Standards Committee.

(d)

Receiving reports. The Monitoring Officer will receive and act on reports
made by investigating officers relating to Code of Conduct matters.

(e)

Assessing complaints and conducting investigations. The Monitoring
Officer will assess complaints and conduct investigations into matters where
appropriate in accordance with the Council’s adopted Complaints
Process/Guidance

(f)

Proper officer for access to information. The Monitoring Officer will ensure
that executive decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and
relevant officer reports and background papers are made publicly available as
soon as possible.

(g)

Advising whether executive decisions are within the budget and policy
framework. After consultation with the Chief Finance Officer the Monitoring
Officer will advise whether decisions of the Executive are in accordance with
the budget and policy framework.

(h)

Providing advice. The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of
powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial
impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all councillors.

(i)

Restrictions on posts. The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance
Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

12.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer
(a)

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making. After
consulting with the head of paid service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief
Finance Officer will report to the full Council or to the Executive in relation to
an executive function and the Council’s external auditor if he or she considers
that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the
Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

(b)

Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer will have
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council.

Part 2 – Article 12

Page 27

May 2019

(c)

Contributing to corporate management. The Chief Finance Officer will
contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular through
the provision of professional financial advice.

(d)

Providing advice. The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope
of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial
impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all councillors
and will support and advise councillors and officers in their respective roles.

(e)

Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial
information to the media, members of the public and the community.

12.05 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance
Officer
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such
officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow
their duties to be performed.
12.06 Conduct
Officers will comply with the Code of Conduct for Officers and the Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution.
12.07 Employment
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Human
Resources Management Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.

Part 2 – Article 12

Page 28

May 2019

Article 13 – Decision Making
13.01 Responsibility for decision making
The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council or
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions relating to
particular areas or functions. This record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.
13.02 Principles of decision making
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:
(a)

proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome);

(b)

due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers;

(c)

respect for human rights;

(d)

a presumption in favour of openness; and

(e)

clarity of aims and desired outcomes.

(f)

where appropriate, reasons should be given for decisions. Executive
decisions should explain what options were considered and give the reasons
for the decision in accordance with the requirements of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations
2000.

(g)

in accordance with the Code of Conduct, members must not act unreasonably
and must have particular regard to any relevant advice from the Chief
Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer.

13.03 Types of decision
(a)

Decisions reserved to full Council. Decisions relating to the functions listed in
Article 4.01 will be made by the full Council and not delegated.

(b)

Key decisions.

(i)

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2000 a "key decision" means an executive
decision which, is likely –

(ii)

Part 2 – Article 13

(a)

to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the
making of savings which are, significant having regard to the local
authority's budget for the service or function to which the decision
relates; or

(b)

to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working
in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the
area of the local authority.

A decision taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the
requirements of the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this
Constitution.

Page 29

May 2015

13.04 Decision making by the full Council
Subject to Article 13.08, the Council meeting will follow the Council Procedures Rules
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter.
13.05 Decision making by the Executive
Subject to Article 13.08, the District Executive, and any committees it appoints, will
follow the Executive Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when
considering any matter.
13.06 Decision making by Portfolio holders
Portfolio holders will follow the Executive Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this
Constitution when considering any matter.
13.07 Decision making by other committees and sub-committees established by the
Council
Subject to Article 13.08, other Council committees and sub-committees will follow
those parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution as
apply to them.
13.08 Decision making by Council bodies acting as tribunals
The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi judicial manner
or determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil
rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper
procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a
fair trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights.
Members acting in this capacity will also have regard to advice on quasi judicial
decision-making issued by the Council.

Part 2 – Article 13

Page 30

May 2015

Article 14 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
14.01 Financial management
The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance
with the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.
14.02 Contracts
Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure Rules
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.
14.03 Custody of Seal
The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of the
Specialist – Democratic Services.
14.04 Authentication of Documents for Legal Proceedings
Where the production of any document will be a necessary step in legal proceedings
on behalf of the Council it shall be signed by a Proper Officer of the Council unless
any enactment otherwise requires or authorises, or the Council give the necessary
authority to some other person for the purpose of such proceedings.

Part 2 – Article 14

Page 31

March 2018

Article 15 – Review and Revision of the Constitution
15.01 Duty to monitor and review the constitution
The Audit Committee will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to
ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect.
15.02 Changes to the Constitution
(a)

Approval. Changes (other than changes to job designations or to reflect
changes to the law which can be made by the Monitoring Officer etc) to the
constitution will only be approved by the full Council;

(b)

Change from a Leader and Cabinet form of executive to other
arrangements, or vice versa. The Council must take reasonable steps to
consult with local electors and other interested persons in the area when
drawing up proposals.

Part 2 – Article 15

Page 32

May 2015

Article 16 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the
Constitution
16.01 Suspension of the Constitution
(a)

Limit to suspension. The Articles of this Constitution may not be
suspended. The Rules specified below may be suspended by the full
Council to the extent permitted within those Rules and the law.

(b)

Procedure to suspend. A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved
without notice unless at least one half of the whole number of councillors
are present. The extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to
the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the
Constitution set out in Article 1.

(c)

Rules capable of suspension. Subject to paragraph (b) above any of the
Rules of Procedure set out in Part 4 with the exception of Rule 23 may be
suspended in accordance with Article 16.01

16.02 Interpretation
The ruling of the Chairman of Council as to the construction or application of this
Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any
meeting of the Council. Such interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this
Constitution contained in Article 1.
16.03 Publication
(a)

The Monitoring Officer will ensure the Constitution is available to each
member of the authority upon delivery to him/her of that individual’s
declaration of acceptance of office on the member first being elected to the
Council.

(b)

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for inspection at
council offices, libraries and other appropriate locations, and can be
purchased by members of the local press and the public on payment of a
reasonable fee.

(c)

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is
made widely available within the area and is updated as necessary.

Part 2 – Article 16

Page 33

May 2015

Schedule 1: Description of Executive Arrangements
The following parts of this Constitution constitute the executive arrangements:
1.

Article 6 (Scrutiny Committee, Audit Committee) and the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules;

2.

Article 7 (The Executive) and the Executive Procedure Rules;

3.

Article 10 (Area Committees);

4.

Article 11 (Joint arrangements);

5.

Article 13 (Decision making) and the Access to Information Procedure Rules;

6.

Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions).

Part 2 – Schedule 1

Page 34

May 2015

Part 3
Responsibility for Functions

May 2015

Page 35

Responsibility for Functions
This Part of the Constitution shows who in the Council has power to do what, how
and by when and within which limits.
The Council is given the power by legislation to undertake a number of functions
within the district of South Somerset. Councillors are elected to decide how these
functions are exercised and they take decisions within a model of decision making
set down in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The
Act requires the Council to adopt executive arrangements of decision making and the
Council has chosen an executive (in South Somerset this is a known as “the District
Executive”) and arrangements to scrutinise decisions taken by the executive. In
Regulations made under the Act and the Local Government Act 2000 the rules of the
decision making are set out and show:


which functions of the Council are not to be responsibility of the executive and are
to be the responsibility of the full Council itself (all 60 members meeting together)



which functions may be, but need not be, the responsibility of the executive: and



which functions are to some extent the responsibility of the executive.

The Regulations go on to state that all other functions (i.e. the vast majority of
functions) not specified under any of the above categories are to be the responsibility
of the executive.
This part of the Constitution is divided into the following sections:
Section 1

Functions Reserved for Full Council

Section 2

The allocation of those functions which may be (but need not be the
responsibility of the executive (i.e. the “Local Choice” functions listed in
Schedule 2 to the Regulations) including reference to any onward
delegation of these functions.

Section 3

The allocation of non- executive functions – including any onward
delegation e.g. to an officer.

Section 4

The allocation of executive functions including any onward delegation
to members of the Executive, Executive committees, area committees,
and officers.

Section 5

Allocation of Scrutiny and Overview Functions

Section 6

A detailed Schedule of those functions in Sections 1-4 that have been
delegated to officers of the Council (the Officer Scheme of Delegation).
Most operational decisions are taken by officers of the Council.

Section 7

Terms of Reference, and composition of Committees and Panels

Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions

Page 36

May 2015

Section 1 Decisions Reserved for the Full Council (all members of the Council)
Function or Activity
Adopting and changing the Constitution.

1.2.

Approving or adopting the Council’s budget and the following plans and strategies (called “the
budget and policy framework”)
 Medium Term Financial Plan
 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy
 Local Plan for South Somerset and Local Development Framework Housing Strategy
 Licensing Statement under the Licensing Act 2003
 Gambling Act Statement
 Economic Development Strategy
 Council Plan
 Treasury Management Strategy
 Capital Strategy
 Prudential Indicators
 Car Park Strategy
 Senior Pay Policy Statement
 Single Equality Scheme

Page 37

1.1.

Who Takes the
Decision
The Council

The Council

Delegation
No delegation permitted
other than in year
changes to the powers
held by the Executive,
committees, or officers.
No delegation

And any other policy required by legislation to form part of the Council’s policy framework.

1.3.
1.4.

(The budget comprises approval of the annual revenue budget, the capital programme and the
Council tax precept and bills.)
Approving or adopting any application to the Secretary of State under sections 32 or 45 of the
Housing Act 1985 for the disposal of housing land.
Decisions which are the responsibility of the District Executive but where the District Executive or
other Executive decision maker wishes to take a decision which would be contrary to the policy
framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with the budget.

Part 3 – Section 1

The Council
The Council

The Council will consider
a recommendation from
the Executive.
No delegation permitted.

March 2018

Function or Activity

Who Takes the
Decision
The Council
The Council

Delegation

Page 38

1.5.
1.6.

Appointing the Leader of the Council and the members of the District Executive
The Annual Council shall establish the Council committees and member level bodies for the
municipal year, agree their terms of reference, decide on their membership giving effect to the
wishes of the political parties, as appropriate, in making appointments to these bodies.

1.7.

Appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an executive function or
has been delegated by the Council.

The Council

1.8.

Adopting a Scheme for the payment of allowances to council members, subject to consideration
of recommendations from the independent Allowances Panel.
Confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service (Council employee, currently the Chief
Executive).

The Council

Changing the name of the area, the Council, any parish council in the area and conferring the
title of honorary alderman.
Making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws and promoting or opposing the
making of local legislation or personal Bills (proposed legislation).

The Council

The Council will make
the appointment after
considering a
recommendation from its
Appointments
Committee.
No delegation permitted.

The Council

No delegation permitted.

1.9.

1.10.
1.11.

Part 3 – Section 1

The Council

No delegation permitted
Where a vacancy occurs
during the municipal
year, appointments to
committees and member
level bodies are
delegated to the
Specialist - Democratic
Services who will give
effect to the wishes of
the political group with
nomination rights to the
vacancy.
The District Executive
(through the portfolio
holders) and Area
Committees make
appointments to bodies
within their remit.
No delegation permitted.

March 2018

Function or Activity
1.12.

All those functions known as “local choice” functions set out in section 2 of this Part of the
Constitution which the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the District
Executive.

1.13.

All other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council.

Who Takes the
Decision
The Council

The Council

Delegation
No delegation permitted
other than if the Council
decides to reallocate
these functions at its
discretion.
No delegation permitted.

Page 39
Part 3 – Section 1

March 2018

Section 2 “Local Choice” Functions – those functions where the Council can decide which body shall be
responsible for the function (memberships of the bodies listed as decision takers is shown in Section 7 of
this part)- Reference in Delegation column is to Officer Scheme of Delegation in Section 6 of this part.
Function or Activity

Page 40

2.1.

Any function under a local Act other than a function specified or referred to in Regulation
2 or Schedule 1 of The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000 (as amended).

2.2.

Any function relating to contaminated land.

2.3.

The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution or the management of air
quality.

2.4.

The service of an abatement notice in respect of a statutory nuisance.

2.5.

The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act
1993 should apply in the authority’s area.

2.6.

The inspection of the authority’s area to detect any statutory nuisance.

2.7.

The investigation of any complaint as to the existence of a statutory nuisance.

2.8.

The obtaining of information under section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as to interests in land; and the obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land
under section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

Part 3 – Section 2

Who Takes the
Decision
District Executive

District Executive or
area committees if
specific to one area.
District Executive or
area committees if
specific to one area.
District Executive or
area committees if
specific to one area.
District Executive or
area committees if
specific to one area.
District Executive or
area committees if
specific to one area.
District Executive or
area committees if
specific to one area.
District Executive (in
respect of executive
functions) or area
committees (in
respect of nonexecutive matters.

Delegation
The relevant
Director
depending on the
Act.
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Director Service
Delivery and
Lead Specialist Legal

May 2019

Function or Activity
2.9.

The appointment of any individual:
(a) to any office other than an office in which he/she is employed by the Council;
(b) to any body other than (i) the Council;
(ii) a joint committee of two or more authorities; or
(c) to any committee or sub-committee of such a body,
and the revocation of any such appointment.

2.10.

The determination of an appeal against any decision made by or on behalf of the
authority relating to business rates.

Who Takes the
Decision
Full Council
Area committees will
make appointments
of members to
outside bodies within
their area. District
Executive through
portfolio holders will
make appointments
to outside bodies
within their remit.
District Executive

Delegation
Not delegated

Not delegated

Page 41
Part 3 – Section 2

May 2019

Section 3 Functions which cannot be the responsibility of the District Executive - (memberships of the
bodies listed as decision takers is shown in Section 6 of this part)
Function
3.1.

3.3.

Power to determine applications for planning permission or ‘permission in principle’ within
the District Council’s administrative area, including the imposition of any conditions or
limitations on the grant of a planning permission
Power to determine applications to develop land without compliance with conditions
previously attached.
Power to grant planning permission for development already carried out.

3.4.

Power to decline to determine application for planning permission.

3.5.

Duties relating to the making of determinations of planning applications.

3.6.

Power to revoke planning permission

3.7.

3.10.

Power to determine application for planning permission made by a local authority, alone or
jointly with another person.
Power to make determinations, give approvals and agree certain other matters relating to
the exercise of permitted development rights.
Power to enter into agreement regulating development or use of land under s106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
Power to issue a certificate of existing or proposed lawful use or development.

3.11.

Power to serve a completion notice.

3.12.

Power to grant consent for the display of advertisements.

3.13.

Power to authorise entry onto land.

3.14.

Power to require the discontinuance of a use of land.

3.2.

Page 42

3.8.
3.9.

Part 3 – Section 3

Decision
Taker
Area
committees*

Delegation

Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*

Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)

Director (Service
Delivery)

May 2019

Function

Page 43

3.15.

Power to serve a planning contravention notice, breach of condition notice or stop notice.

3.16.

Power to issue an enforcement notice and/or a Temporary Stop Notice.

3.17.

Power to apply for an injunction restraining a breach of planning control.

3.18.

Power to determine applications for hazardous substances consent, and related powers.

3.19.

Power to require proper maintenance of land.

3.20.

Power to determine application for listed building consent, and related powers.

3.21.

Duties relating to applications for listed building consent,

3.22.

Power to serve a building preservation notice, and related powers.

3.23.
3.24.

Power to issue enforcement notice in relation to demolition of listed building in
conservation area.
Powers to acquire a listed building in need of repair and to serve a repairs notice.

3.25.

Power to apply for an injunction in relation to a listed building.

3.26.

Power to execute urgent works.

3.27.

Powers relating to the preservation of trees.

3.28.

Powers relating to the protection of important hedgerows.

3.29.

Powers relating to Building Regulations.

Part 3 – Section 3

Decision
Taker
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*
Area
committees*

Delegation
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)

May 2019

Function

Page 44

3.30.

Power to issue licences authorising the use of land as a caravan site (“site licences”).

Decision
Taker
Council

3.31.

Power to license the use of moveable dwellings and camping sites.

Council

3.32.

Power to license hackney carriages and private hire vehicles.

Licensing
Committee

3.33.

Power to license drivers of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles.

Licensing
Committee

3.34.

Power to license operators of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles.

Licensing
Committee

3.35.

Power to register societies wishing to promote lotteries.

Licensing
Committee

3.36.

Power to license sex shops and sex cinemas and sex encounter venues

Licensing
Committee

3.37.

Power to license performances of hypnotism.

Licensing
Committee

3.38.

Power to license premises for acupuncture, tattooing, ear-piercing and electrolysis.

Licensing
Committee

3.39.

Power to license market and street trading.

Licensing
Committee

3.40.

Power to license scrap metal dealers.

Licensing
Committee

Part 3 – Section 3

Delegation
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Specialist Team
Manager – Service
Delivery
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health

May 2019

Function

Decision
Taker
Licensing
Committee

Page 45

3.41.

Power to license premises for the breeding of dogs.

3.42.

Power to license pet shops and other establishments where animals are bred or kept for the
purposes of carrying on a business.

Licensing
Committee

3.43.

Power to license zoos.

Licensing
Committee

3.44.

Power to license persons to collect for charitable and other causes.

Licensing
Committee

3.45.

Power to grant consent for the operation of a loudspeaker.

Council

3.46.

Power to approve premises for the production of food of animal origin

Council

3.47.

Power to authorise butcher’s shops for the removal of specified risk material from bovine
animals between the ages of 24-30 months.

Council

3.48.

Duty to keep register of food business premises.

Council

3.49.

Functions of a licensing authority under the Licensing Act 2003.

Licensing
Committee

3.50.

Power to create footpaths and bridleways

3.51.

Power to stop up footpaths and bridleways.

3.52.

Power to divert footpaths and bridleways

Area
Committees
Area
Committees
Area
Committees

Part 3 – Section 3

Delegation
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist Environmental
Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)

May 2019

Function

Page 46

3.53.

Duty to assert and protect the rights of the public to use and enjoyment of highways

3.54.

Powers relating to the removal of things so deposited on highways as to be a nuisance.

3.55.
3.56.

Duty to appoint an electoral registration officer.
Power to assign officers in relation to requisitions of the electoral registration officer.

Decision
Taker
Area
Committees
Area
Committees
Council
Council

3.57.

Functions in relation to parishes and parish councils.

Council

3.58.

Power to make requests to the Local Government Boundary Commission for single member
electoral areas

Council

3.59.
3.60.

Council
Council

3.61.
3.62.

Power to dissolve small parish councils.
Power to make orders for grouping parishes, dissolving groups and separating parishes
from groups.
Power to change the name of a parish.
Duty to appoint returning officer/s for local government elections.

3.63.

Duty to provide assistance at European Parliamentary elections.

Council

3.64.

Duty to divide constituency into polling districts.

Council

3.65.

Power to divide electoral divisions into polling districts at local government elections.

Council

3.66.

Powers in respect of holding of elections.

Council

3.67.

Power to pay expenses properly incurred by electoral registration officers.

Council

3.68.
3.69.

Power to fill parish council vacancies in the event of insufficient nominations.
Duty to declare vacancy in office in certain cases.

Council
Council

Part 3 – Section 3

Council
Council

Delegation
Director (Service
Delivery)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Not delegated
CEO as Council’s
Electoral
Registration Officer
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
CEO as Council’s
Electoral
Registration Officer
Not delegated
Not delegated
Not delegated
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
Not delegated
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer

May 2019

Function

Decision
Taker
Council

Delegation

3.70.

Duty to give public notice of a casual vacancy.

3.71.
3.72.

Power to make temporary appointments to parish councils.
Power to determine fees and conditions (if any) for supply of copies of, or extracts from,
elections documents.

Council
Council

3.73.
3.74.
3.75.
3.76.

Power to submit proposals to the Secretary of State for pilot schemes for local elections.
Power to resolve to change an electoral scheme
Powers in relation to Community Governance Reviews
Duty to approve authority’s statement of accounts, income and Expenditure and balance
sheet or record of receipts and payments (as the case may be), Statement of Internal
Control and Code of Corporate Governance.
Trustee Management of Dorcas House Trust

Council
Council
Council
Audit
Committee

Not delegated
Not delegated
Not delegated
Not delegated.

Area
Committee
(South)
Council

Not delegated.

3.77.
Page 47

3.78.
3.79.
3.80.
3.81.
3.82.
3.83.
3.84.
3.85.

Power to appoint staff, and to determine the terms and conditions on which they hold office S112 of the Local Government Act 1972.
Functions relating to the name and status of local government areas and individuals
including powers under section 74, 75, 249 and 245b of the Local Government Act 1972.
Power to make, amend, enforce, revoke or re-enact bye-laws or promote or oppose local or
personal bills.
Functions relating to local government pensions etc. Regulations under section 7, 12 or 24
of the Superannuation Act 1972.
Power to make payments or provide other benefits in cases of maladministration.
Power to appoint statutory and “proper officers” for particular purposes.
Power to make and amend Standing Orders including those for contracts
Functions relating to Health and Safety under “any relevant statutory provision” within the
meaning of part 1 of the Health and Safety at Work Acts 1974, to the extent that those
functions are discharged otherwise than in the council’s capacity as employer

Part 3 – Section 3

CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer
Not delegated
CEO as Council’s
Returning Officer

Council

Chief Executive
and all Directors
Not delegated

Council

Not delegated

Council

Not delegated

Council

Chief Executive
and all Directors
Not delegated
Not delegated
Lead Specialist –
Environmental
Health

Council
Council
Council or
Area
Committees

May 2019

Function

Page 48

3.86.

Recruitment of officers as required under the Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out
in part 4 of the constitution.

3.87.
3.88.
3.89.
3.90.
3.91.

Duty to appoint Chief Executive and designate officer as the Head of the Paid Service.
Duty to designate officer as the S151 Officer.
Duty to designate officer as the Monitoring Officer.
Powers relating to the grant of voting rights to co-opted members of the Scrutiny Committee
Power to make closing orders with respect to take-away food shops

3.92.

Powers relating to complaints about high hedges and Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act
2003
To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of its Code of Conduct. To monitor and
advise the Council about the operation of its Code of Conduct in the light of best practice,
changes in the law,
To ensure that all Members of the Council have access to training in all aspects of the
Members Code of Conduct, that this training is actually promoted, and that Members are
aware of the standard expected from other Councils under the code.
To support and encourage Parish and Town Councils and their Members in their adherence
to the Code of Conduct.
To monitor and review the operation of the constitution of the Council.

3.93.
3.94.
3.95.
3.96.
3.97.

Functions relating to standards of conduct of Members under any relevant provision of, or
regulations made under, the Localism Act 2011

Part 3 – Section 3

Decision
Taker
Appointments
Committee

Council
Council
Council
Council
Licensing
Committee
Council
Standards
Committee

Delegation
No delegation of
appointments
required to be
made by the
Committee. All
other appointments
made by officers.
Not delegated.
Not delegated.
Not delegated.
Not delegated
Director (Support
Services)
Director (Service
Delivery)
Monitoring Officer

Standards
Committee

Monitoring Officer

Standards
Committee
Standards
Committee
Standards
Committee

Monitoring Officer
Monitoring Officer
Monitoring Officer

May 2019

Section 4 Executive Functions
Most day to day operational decisions are delegated to Officers. The majority of decisions made at member level (i.e. decisions taken by councillors)
relate to activities which are defined as “executive matters” and can only be dealt with by the Executive (known in South Somerset as the “District
Executive”)
This means that:





Page 49

Members of the Council who are not on the District Executive cannot take these decisions
Full Council itself cannot take executive decisions
Non-executive or regulatory committees cannot take executive decisions
The Executive can take decisions collectively or:
 Individual members of the District Executive may take decisions where the District Executive or the Leader of the Council has
approved such arrangements (to be shown in this section of the Constitution or by a subsequent written authorisation by the Leader or
District Executive).
 Area Committees may be given delegated authority to exercise both “executive” and “non-executive” functions. All executive
delegations will be shown in this section.
 The Executive may appoint, and delegate functions to Executive Committees as identified in this section.
 Joint committees established by the Executive may exercise executive functions and where established by the Council may exercise a
combination of executive and non-executive functions. All executive delegations will be shown in this section.
 Officers may exercise executive functions. These will be identified in Section 6 of this part of the Constitution.

Part 3 – Section 4

April 2019

1.

Decisions to be taken collectively by the District Executive
Function

Policy and Budget Framework
4.1.
To make recommendations to the Council on the Council’s key priorities and in
respect of the plans and strategies that form the Policy and Budget Framework.
4.2.
To utilise Council balances (capital and revenue) in responding to matters of urgency
or to deliver the agreed policy framework provided that all uses of balances are
reported to full Council in the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan report and
Audit Committee in the Annual Outturn report subject to a limit of 5% of useable
capital balances.
4.3.
To approve policies and strategies with the exception of those (as listed in Section 1
no.2) which the Council has reserved to it, by legislation or through its own discretion.
Page 50

4.4.

Decision
Taker

Delegation

District
Executive
District
Executive

Not delegated

District
Executive

Portfolio Holders may approve minor
amendments to existing policies and
strategies other than those reserved
to Council.
Not delegated

4.8.

To agree policies in respect of the Council’s regulatory functions, other than where
legislation prescribes that such policies must be determined by the full Council.
To co-ordinate the policy objectives of the Council, monitor progress towards the
corporate objectives, and give Area Committees strategic direction.
To consider referrals from Area Committees on matters which have major policy or
resource implications.
To agree the policy and guidelines for all grants made by the Council to include grants
made by Area Committees.
To write off irrecoverable debts

District
Executive
District
Executive
District
Executive
District
Executive
District
Executive

4.9.

To maintain an awareness of the ongoing financial position of the Council.

4.10.

To approve loans in line with the Council’s loans policy.

4.11.

To recommend to Council the Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential
Indicators.

District
Executive
District
Executive
District
Executive

4.5.
4.6.
4.7.

Part 3 – Section 4

Not delegated

Not delegated
Not delegated
Not delegated
Portfolio Holder – Finance and Legal
Services may write off debts over
£20,000. Debts of £20,000 or less
delegated to s151 Officer.
Not delegated
Area Portfolio Holders may approve
loans of less than £5000.
Not delegated

April 2019

4.12.

To take decisions on budgetary matters, including budget virements, within the
budgetary framework agreed by the Council and in accordance with the Financial
Procedure Rules.
To agree fees and charges for car parking as part of the budget and Medium Term
Financial Plan

District
Executive

4.14.

To agree charges for personal licences and registrations

No delegation

4.15.

To agree other charges

Licensing
Committee
District
Executive

District
Executive

Portfolio Holders are responsible for
the performance of services within
their remit.

4.13.

Page 51

Performance
4.16.
To agree core minimum standards for service delivery. The Executive will receive
reports from the Scrutiny Committee on performance matters

4.17.
4.18.

District Auditor’s Management Letter - the Audit Committee will consider the response
to the letter and make recommendations to District Executive on areas of
improvement.
To approve the Audit Plan

Other decisions that shall be taken by the Full Executive
4.19.
To agree waivers of, or exemptions to, Contract Standing Orders (where not delegated
to officers).

Part 3 – Section 4

District
Executive

District
Executive

Portfolio Holders and Officers may
make budgetary decisions in line
with Financial Procedure Rules.
No delegation

Relevant Director or Manager in
consultation with Portfolio Holder
and s151 Officer/Lead Specialist –
Finance (to be reported to District
Executive as part of the Budget and
Medium Term Financial Plan report.)

No delegation of corporate
governance matters
No delegation

District
Executive

All the executive functions in respect
of the Council’s internal audit
function have been delegated to the
South West Internal Audit
Partnership

District
Executive

Director (Strategy & Support
Services) in line with the Financial
Procedure Rules.

April 2019

4.20.

To approve strategic disposals and acquisitions including leases and sales of land
valued in excess of £10,000.

District
Executive

Page 52

Disposals and acquisitions above
the threshold permitted as follows:
1. Through the Investment
Assessment Group process,
acquisitions for investment
purposes up to an individual limit
of £10 million delegated to the
Chief Executive in consultation
with the Leader in accordance
with the Commercial Land and
Property Strategy;
2. Through the Disposal
Assessment Group process,
disposals of up to £250,000 for
non-investment property and up
to £10 million for investment
purposes delegated to the Chief
Executive in consultation with the
Leader in accordance with the
Asset Disposal & Community
Asset Transfer Policy; and
3. Acquisitions and disposals for
strategic development and
regeneration purposes to the
Lead Director in consultation with
the Chair of the relevant Board
and s151 Officer in accordance
with the terms of reference of the
Strategic Development Board
and the Regeneration
Programme Boards.
Disposals and acquisitions below
defined thresholds may be approved
by the Chief Executive, Directors, or
Portfolio Holder in line with the
Financial Procedure Rules.

Part 3 – Section 4

April 2019

4.21.

To establish limited companies and limited liability partnerships and decide all
associated matters, including the appointment of individuals to hold offices in such
company or partnership

District
Executive

4.22.

To approve Compulsory Purchase Orders.

4.23.

To approve the Annual Members’ Training and Development Policy and Programme,
and other matters relating to members support.

District
Executive
District
Executive

4.24.

To approve the Council’s Emergency Planning arrangements.

4.25.

To agree submissions to the County Council in respect of the Annual Local Transport
Plan.
To prepare, monitor and review the Human Resources Strategy, and the policies that
comprise the strategy.
The Executive may agree the establishment and deletion of posts other than those
required to be established by the full Council in accordance with the Employment
Procedure Rules. Financial Procedure Rules will make provision for new posts to be
approved by officers, where there is existing budget provision and subject to the
support of the Senior Leadership Team. This Team shall also decide if a post needs to
be submitted to District Executive for approval. District Executive may not take
decisions in respect of terms and conditions, the appointment or dismissal of staff.
Changes to the organisational structure of the Council’s management shall be
recommended for approval to the full Council.
To exercise all the duties of the Council as Housing Authority

4.26.
Page 53

4.27.

4.28.
4.29.

To exercise all the powers and duties of the Council which are not delegated to
another committee or person other than those which either cannot be delegated to the
Executive or are specifically reserved to the Council.

Part 3 – Section 4

District
Executive
District
Executive
District
Executive
District
Executive

District
Executive
District
Executive

Chief Executive in consultation with
the Leader where required to give
effect to a decision of the Investment
Assessment Group
Not delegated
The Member Development Portfolio
Holder may approve attendance by
members at conferences and
training events.
Chief Executive
Not delegated
Member Support Portfolio Holder
Staffing Delegations shown
separately

Levels of delegation to Portfolio
Holder shown in 2a of this part.
Not delegated

April 2019

2

Delegation of Executive Functions
The Leader of the Council may agree to delegate Executive functions to:
2(a)
2(b)
2(c)
2(d)
2(e)

Individual members of the District Executive (Portfolio Holders)
Area Committees
Committees of the District Executive
Officers
Other Joint Committees

and the functions delegated are shown in these sections below.

2a

Portfolio Holders
The Leader of the Council

Page 54

The Leader of the Council shall:
 nominate the strategic portfolio holders of the District Executive to the Council and allocate the portfolios ensuring that any changes
to portfolios are reported to the Proper Officer and Council for information.
 determine the allocation and re-allocation of executive responsibility where there is doubt where this should lie or where the matter
is not specifically allocated.
 decide when executive matters may be delegated to a portfolio holder and decide which portfolio holder may take a decision.
 approve all other delegations to be shown in this section.
 be the lead portfolio for the following designated areas: performance matters, emergency planning, access to services, equality and
diversity.
 be able to take any decisions on behalf of a portfolio holder, if necessary, for any reason. Any such decision to be reported to the
next District Executive
Any changes to Executive responsibilities shall be notified to the Specialist - Democratic Services and reported to Council for
information.
Any decisions taken by the Leader of the Council and all portfolio holders will be reported on the weekly Executive Bulletin.

Part 3 – Section 4

April 2019

Strategic Portfolio Holders
Each Strategic Portfolio Holder:

Page 55
Part 3 – Section 4



shall hold a portfolio for part of the Council’s activities, such as one or more services or cross-cutting issues, and steer the
preparation, development and implementation of policies and plans relevant to the portfolio.



shall develop an annual programme of work to deliver the relevant Council objectives, and liaise with relevant officers to bring
forward items and monitor progress.



shall approve annual service plans, monitor the performance of the services within their portfolio and bring issues of underperformance to the attention of the Executive.



shall assist with ad-hoc reviews of policy as directed by the Scrutiny Committee within the remit set by that Committee.



shall represent the Council as required on issues relating to the portfolio, including briefing the media as appropriate, and be the
spokesperson for the portfolio in consultation with the Leader



shall develop and maintain effective consultation with all members of the Council, partner bodies and outside organisations, and
take account of their views when making decisions.



shall organise representation on relevant executive outside bodies as required.



may appoint other members of the Council to act as lead member for such purposes as the Leader and portfolio holder may
agree but the lead member shall not be able to take decisions



make annual portfolio statements outlining their achievements for the previous year and objectives for the coming year based on
the Council’s agreed priorities set out in the Council Plan and other appropriate matters.



Shall take decisions within the remit of their portfolio as allowed for in the Executive Scheme of Delegation.

April 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Strategy &
Policy







Page 56








Strategy
Policy
Performance
Local Strategic
Partnership
Local Enterprise
Partnership
Human Resources
Housing
Private Sector Housing
Efficiency Agenda
Oversight of Civil
Contingencies
Customer Access

Key Policies













Part 3 – Section 4

Communication
Strategy
Consultation
Strategy
Homelessness
Strategy
Housing
Allocations Policy
Housing and
Accommodation
Strategy
Social Housing
Development
Programme
Private Sector
Housing Renewal
Policy
Rural Housing
Strategy
Policies &
Protocols relating
to Travellers
Corporate Plan
Workforce
Planning Strategy

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Partnerships

Housing & Welfare,
Civil Contingencies,
Human Resources,
Place and
Performance

All

LSP

April 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Partnerships

Finance and
Legal Services








Legal (includes Land
Charges & Rights of
Way), Fraud & Data
Management, Financial
Services, Procurement
and Risk,
Audit, Revenues &
Benefits

All

SWAP



Page 57



Finance
Legal Services
Procurement
Strategic Asset
Management
Revenues & Benefits
Strategic Car Parks
Income
South West Audit
Partnership








Part 3 – Section 4

The Council’s Loans
Policy.
Policies and
guidelines for
Treasury
Management.
Risk Management
Policy
Procurement Strategy
Council’s Charging
Policy
Local Development
Framework process
and other planning
policy

April 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Environment &
Economic
Development








Waste and Recycling,
Streetscene,
Horticulture, Economic
Development, Tourism

1 – Jobs
Somerset Waste
2 - Environment Partnership
South West Tourism




Page 58
Part 3 – Section 4

Waste & Recycling
Streetscene
Somerset Waste Board
Economic
Development and
Regeneration
Open Space Strategy
Tourism
Transformation







Economic
Development
Strategy.
Environmental
Policies
Policies and
Strategies in Relation
to Waste
Management
Recycling
Single Equality
Scheme

Partnerships

April 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Partnerships

Strategic
Planning (Place
Making)





Development
Management, Planning
Policy, Market Towns,
Licensing

All

Somerset Strategic
Planning Partnership






Development
Management
Spatial Planning
Area Development
Market Town
Investment Group
Licensing

Local Development
Framework process
and other planning
policy

Page 59
Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Property,
Climate Change
& Income
Generation








Engineering and
Property Services,

2 - Environment

Page 60
Part 3 – Section 4






Car Parks (physical)
Engineering and
Property Services
Climate Change
Strategic Transport
ICT & GIS
Carbon Management





Bio-diversity
Climate Change
Property
Management
Renewable Energy
Strategy
Car parking policy
Annual Transport
Plan

Partnerships

May 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Leisure and
Culture











Community Resources,
Countryside Service,
Sport and Leisure
Facilities, Community
Health & Leisure
Octagon and Arts,

2 - Environment
4 - Health and
Communities

Sports and Arts
Leisure
Countryside
Health & Well Being
Third Sector
Operational Housing &
Welfare



Page 61




Part 3 – Section 4

Cultural Strategy
Strategies and
policies in relation to
Arts and Community,
sports and recreation.
The Sports Facility
Strategy and the
Playing Pitch
Strategy.
Passport to Leisure
Strategy
Strategy for Health
and Well Being

Partnerships

May 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Partnerships

Area
Development
(South)





Area Development,
Community Safety,
Yeovil Vision,
Crematorium

All

Safer Somerset
Partnership
(Community Safety
Partnership)

Generally relates to
the following
services

Corporate
Focus

Partnerships

Area Development,
Civil Contingencies,
CHAC, Building
Control

All





Area South
Development and
Local Democracy
Community Safety
Yeovil Town Centre
Regeneration
Crematorium

Community Safety
Strategy

Page 62

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Area
Development
(East)







Part 3 – Section 4

Area East
Development and
Local Democracy
Civil Contingencies
Heritage
Building Control
Listed Buildings

Key Policies

May 2019

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Area
Development
(North)





Key Policies

Area North
Development and
Local Democracy
Tourism
Waste and Recycling

Page 63

Generally relates to
the following
services
Area Development,
Tourism, Waste and
Recycling

Corporate
Focus

Generally relates to
the following
services
Area Development,
Environment Health,
Food Safety
Environmental
Protection, Air Quality,
Democratic Services,
Member Development,

Corporate
Focus

Partnerships

All

Strategic Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio

General Responsibilities

Key Policies

Area
Development
(West)





Part 3 – Section 4







Area West
Development
Environmental Health
Health & Safety
Democratic Services
Member Development
Equalities & Diversity




Health and Safety
Service Plan
Food Safety Service
Plan
Contaminated Land
Strategy

Partnerships

All

May 2019

Area Portfolio Holders
The area portfolio holder shall be an elected member of South Somerset District Council and the Chairman of the Area
Committee.
Each Area Portfolio Holder shall:
1. represent the Council as required on issues relating to the area, including briefing the media as appropriate, and be the
spokesperson for the Area, in consultation with the Leader.
2. chair Area Committee meetings, site visits and other meetings related to the Committee’s work; attend briefings, pre-agenda
meetings and planning briefings with officers, and to read relevant paperwork prior to any formal meeting.
3. ensure all members of the Area Committee are kept informed about local matters.
Page 64

4. ensure the Executive is fully briefed on area matters; to be available to the Scrutiny Committee to deal with relevant issues.
5. organise representation on relevant outside bodies.
6. liaise regularly with the Area Development Team over issues within the area and ensure members of the Committee are
regularly briefed.
7. develop and maintain effective consultation with parish councils, partners and other outside organisations in the Area.
8. attend relevant workshops and training activities, parish council and partnership meetings, official openings, familiarisation and
fact-finding visits as required, including consulting with the business community and other interested parties in the Area.
9. deal with correspondence related to the Area Portfolio holder’s activities.
10. meet regularly with the Leader and ensure the Leader is fully briefed on issues relating to the Area.
11. organise annual meetings of parish councils in the Area.

Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

Area Portfolio Responsibilities
Portfolio
General
Responsibilities
Area Portfolios
 Local regeneration,
(4)
street scene and
community safety.

Page 65
Part 3 – Section 4



Local consultation
and community
engagement.



Area Action Plan
and community
plan.



Quality of the local
built environment.



Parish liaison and
local partnerships.



Discretionary
grants and local
projects.

Key Policies



Area Action Plans
Community Safety
Strategy

Generally relates to
the following services
Area Development

Corporate
Focus
All

Partnerships
Safer Somerset
Partnership
(Community Safety
Partnership)
(Area South portfolio
holder)
Local area community
planning partnerships

May 2019

Decision-Making By Portfolio Holders
Decisions taken by portfolio holders shall be recorded and publicised in the Executive Bulletin prior to, and after, being taken unless the
decision is agreed to be an urgent decision in line with the Access to Information Rules of this Constitution. Urgent decisions will be publicised
once the decision has been taken. All decisions shall be taken in consultation with the relevant officers, and subsequently listed for information
on the next agenda for District Executive and the full Council. All key decisions will be publicised in the Forward Plan.
All Portfolio Holders shall be able to take the following decisions:
1. To approve minor changes and revisions to policies and plans within approved budgets and policy framework (the Monitoring Officer to
determine when a change is minor)
2. To authorise the award of a tender for a contract, which is not the lowest, subject to having received a report from the appropriate officer
and being within approved budgets, and to agree contract extensions subject to also being within approved budgets.
3. To approve revenue budget virements within their areas of activity up to £25,000 or for Strategic portfolio holders across areas.
Page 66

4. To respond to consultation documents issued by the Government or other bodies.
5. To make nominations to outside bodies within their remit.
6. To nominate members to attend training courses in accordance with the Members’ Training and Development Programme subject to the
approval of the Member Training Portfolio Holder (Area West Chairman).
7. To approve Service Plans for the services within their remit.
The Leader of the Council or the Executive (with the approval of the Leader) may also delegate any other executive decisions to a portfolio
holder.

Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

Additional Delegations to individual Portfolio Holders
Strategy & Policy Portfolio Holder and Finance & Legal Services Portfolio Holder
To enable the provision of new affordable housing, to approve (in consultation with the S151 Officer) the transfer of land to an appropriate RSL
or other partner, for only nominal consideration where:
-

to do so would be in keeping with the Council's housing strategy
there are no strategic reasons for retaining such land
appropriate covenants have been agreed

Strategy & Policy Portfolio Holder
To agree Local Lettings policies subject to:
Page 67

 No extensions to be granted for longer than three years without scrutiny of available data on the outcome;
 If the percentage of the total social housing stock covered by local lettings policies exceeds 5% then the Portfolio Holder shall make a
report to District Executive before any further policies are approved.
Finance & Legal Services Portfolio Holder
To approve the write off of bad debts above the value of £20,000, subject to consultation with the relevant ward member(s) and in consultation
with the S151 Officer.
To consider and determine requests for discretionary business and rate relief that fall outside existing policies, subject to consultation with the
relevant ward members.
To consider any responses received to the statutory advertisement of variations to car park charges.
Property & Climate Change Portfolio Holder
To approve the Council’s submissions to Government under the Implementing Electronic Government Programme.

Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

Environment & Economic Development Portfolio Holder
To agree changes to the waste management (“Sort It”) policy.
Leisure & Culture Portfolio Holder
To allocate funding under the approved Healthy Living Pooled Fund
Area West Portfolio Holder
To authorise attendance by Members on training courses and other development opportunities in line with the Members’ Learning and
Development Policy, Programme and budget allocation
To approve the Health and Safety and Food Safety Annual Service Plans
Area North Portfolio Holder
Page 68

To agree changes to the waste management (“Sort It”) policy.
NOTE: In the event of any disagreement between officers and the Portfolio Holder in respect of a decision to be made the matter shall be
referred to the Leader who, in consultation with the Chief Executive, will decide where the matter shall be determined.

2(b)

Area Committees

Each Area Committee may undertake all District Council executive functions within their area including:
1. Approve Area Action Plans
2. Provide local community leadership.
3. Oversee capital schemes to include budgetary control in cases where this has been delegated by the District Executive.
4. Manage local regeneration projects within financial limits agreed by the District Executive.
5. Make grants within the guidelines agreed by the District Executive.
6. Approve appointments to outside bodies.
7. Make recommendations on service improvements or innovative ways of working.
8. Approve land sales up to the value of £10,000.
9. Establishment of taxi stands, designation of areas where drinking alcohol not allowed in public and other similar executive decisions.
10. Agree expenditure from within budgets delegated to the Area Committee.

Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

The Leader of the Council has the right to decide that any executive matter to be determined by an Area Committee shall be referred for
decision to the District Executive.
Area Committees must refer the following matters to the District Executive:
 matters of policy which have District wide significance,
 matters that affect more than one Area,
 expenditure not covered by an approved budget or within the capital programme
 any proposals to incur revenue expenditure for more than one year.

2(c)

Officers

Executive delegations to officers are set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegation which appears elsewhere in part 3 of the Constitution.

2(d)

Joint Committees

Yeovil Crematorium & Cemetery Joint Committee
Page 69

The Yeovil Crematorium & Cemetery Joint Committee is a long-standing partnership between South Somerset District Council, Yeovil Town
Council, Yeovil Without Parish Council and Brympton Parish Council. The Partnership shall:
Oversee the operation, management and development of Yeovil Crematorium and Yeovil Cemetery. In addition to cremation and burial
facilities, the Committee provides a wide range of memorial facilities at both locations and maintains the grounds.

2(e) Other Significant Partnerships
South Somerset Together (Local Strategic Partnership)
The Local Strategic Partnership is a multi-agency partnership between South Somerset District Council, Somerset County Council, Somerset
East Police, South Somerset Council for Voluntary Services, Connexions Somerset, South Somerset Homes, Augusta Westland, Yeovil
Chamber of Trade & Commerce, South Somerset Primary Care Tryst, East Somerset NHS Trust, Yeovil College and University Centre, South
Somerset Citizens Advice Bureau, Environment Agency, Business Link. The Partnership exists to:
Lead and influence the delivery of services and objectives, as a conduit for change to improve the social, economic, environmental, education,
health and safety needs of the communities within South Somerset.

Safer Somerset Partnership (Community Safety Partnership)
Agencies in Somerset are working together as a single Community Safety Partnership to tackle crime, disorder and antisocial behaviour, and to
reduce re-offending.

Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

South West Audit Partnership Ltd
The Internal Audit Partnership was established by the Executive and full Council in March 2005 as a partnership between South Somerset
District Council, Taunton Deane Borough Council and Mendip District Council but now includes many other councils in the South West and is
now a company limited by guarantee. The Partnership shall:
Receive and consider reports from the Management Board, Audit Manager, External Auditor and the Host Authority; approve the annual
accounts; approve the budget; approve the annual work programme; approve the appointment and dismissal or removal of the Head of the
Internal Audit Partnership and approve the admittance of new member councils to the Partnership.

Page 70
Part 3 – Section 4

May 2019

Section 5 Allocation of Overview and Scrutiny Functions
The Council is required by law to include provision for one or more overview and scrutiny committees with the following powers:

Page 71

Function

Decision Taker

Delegation

5.1

To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Executive, including the power
to recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the person who made it.

Scrutiny Committee

5.2

To make reports or recommendations to the Council or the Executive with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Executive or on matters which
affect the authority’s area or its inhabitants.
To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in connection with the
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Executive, including the
power to recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the person who made it. This
does not include decisions in respect of individual applications or permissions such as
decisions made in respect of planning or licensing applications.
To make reports or recommendations to the Council or the Executive with respect to the
discharge of any functions which are not the responsibility of the Executive.
To require Executive members or officers to appear before it

Scrutiny Committee

This function may
be passed to the
Council in respect
of an individual
decision.
None

5.3

5.4
5.5

Part 3 – Section 5

Scrutiny Committee

Scrutiny Committee

This function may
be passed to the
Council in respect
of an individual
decision.
None

Scrutiny Committee

None

May 2015

Section 6 - Schedule of Functions Delegated to Officers
1

Members have the right to ask for a matter to be considered by a Committee even though it may have been delegated to an officer subject to
complying with any agreed procedures. Officers may also occasionally refer matters to a Committee where they consider the subject matter to
be particularly sensitive and would better be decided by members.

2

Where an officer has been given delegated authority to undertake a function the officer shall have the authority to authorise another officer within
their department or service to carry out that function on their behalf. In determining the suitability of an officer to be given this authority, regard
must be had to the nature of the authority being given, the seniority of the post, the experience of the relevant officer and all other relevant
circumstances so as to ensure that the authority and the relevant officer are appropriately matched. This authorisation must:

Page 72

 be in writing, dated and signed by the officer giving the authority.
 specifically identify the post and person authorised to carry out the functions.
 specifically identify the functions to which the authorisation relates (attach an extract from the scheme as the numbering may change over
time).
 identify any conditions (if any) to which the authorisation is subject.
3

A copy of all authorisations under this provision must be provided within seven days of being made to the Specialist - Democratic Services who
will provide a copy to the Monitoring Officer.

4

The officer who has been given delegated authority under this schedule retains concurrent jurisdiction to act in those matters where that officer
has given another officer authority to undertake any function.

5

The functions shown in this schedule are specific delegated powers. Officers shall also undertake all the operational duties within the remit of
their team or service and all necessary powers to do this are therefore deemed to be delegated to the relevant director or officer who has
responsibility for the discharge of the function. Officers shall exercise their delegated powers subject to statutory limitations, duties and
responsibilities and in compliance with Council policies, approved budget limitations, the Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules.

6

The Chief Executive and Directors must ensure that functions in relation to the management of employees must be carried out in accordance with
the Council’s approved human resources policies.

7

Where legislation specifically referred to in this schedule, is amended or replaced or added to by new legislation and in the event that the powers
contained in the new legislation are substantially the same as those which it replaces or relate to the same service areas, then it shall be deemed
that the relevant authority delegated in this schedule applies as if the new legislation had been specifically referred to as regards that relevant
authority.

Part 3 – Section 6

April 2019

Page 73

No
Function
Chief Executive
1
As Head of Paid Service to be responsible for the corporate and overall strategic management of
the authority and other statutory functions as listed in the Council’s Constitution.
2
To make any decision which has been delegated to any other officer.
3
To draw up the list of authorised officers in relation to Housing Corporation activity in consultation
with the Leader of the Council and relevant Portfolio Holder.
4
To take urgent decisions as follows:
 in relation to Executive matters in consultation with the Leader of the Council (or Deputy)
and the relevant Portfolio Holder;
 in relation to non-Executive matters in consultation with the Chairman (or Vice-Chairman)
of Council or Chairman (or Vice-Chairman) of the relevant committee.
An urgent decision is one that is considered by the Chief Executive to be necessary to protect the
interests of, or advancing the business of, the Council. All such action shall in all cases be
reported to the next appropriate meeting of the Executive, Council or relevant Committee.
Chief Executive and all Directors (as indicated)
5
To authorise proceedings in any Court or Tribunal.
6

To authorise officers to appear in any Court or Tribunal.

7

In the absence of a prior decision of the Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee, to select the
most appropriate method of tendering for any contract.
To invite all or a selected number of persons or firms named in the Standing List to take part in a
tendering exercise.
Acceptance of a tender for works except where a tender other than the lowest value tender is
proposed to be accepted and there is sufficient budget provision.
Purchase at a price not exceeding the District Valuer's or other professionally qualified valuation of
property required for schemes, which have been approved by the Council or a Committee, and for
which capital finance from any source has been approved.

8
9
10

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to

Delegated By

Chief Executive

Council

Chief Executive
Chief Executive

Council
Executive

Chief Executive

Council /
Executive

Chief Executive and
Director (Strategy &
Support Services)
Chief Executive and
Director (Strategy &
Support Services)
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors in line with the
Financial Procedure
Rules

Council
Council
Council
Council
Council
Executive

April 2019

No
11
12
13

14
15
Page 74

16
17
18

19
20

21

Function
(a) In conjunction with the Chief Executive to consider claims for compensation up to and including
£5,000.
(b) To consider claims for compensation up to and including £500.
To appoint consultants, provided that the cost is covered by an approved capital or revenue
budget.
In consultation with the Lead Specialist – Legal:a. to seek the opinion of Counsel; or
b. to appoint outside Solicitors or Counsel provided that the cost can be met from an
appropriate heading in a budget.
To decide staff and expert authorisations to exercise statutory powers in respect of those
functional areas that fall within the Directors’ respective areas of responsibility, and to make any
decision which has been delegated to an officer within their Directorate.
All functions in relation to the management of employees. These must be carried out in
accordance with the council's approved human resources policies.
Disciplinary action subject to compliance with the Council’s disciplinary procedures.
Power to serve requisitions for information under Section 16 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.
In consultation with the Director (Service Delivery) authorisation under the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act to authorise enforcement Officers to carry out surveillance as part of an
enforcement investigation.

Attendance by themselves, and to approve the attendance of employees at meetings, courses and
conferences in line with the corporate training programme and subject to budget approval.
The Portfolio Holders are authorised to respond to consultation documents. The relevant Director
or someone authorised by them may respond to consultation documents, after consultation with
the Portfolio Holder subject to the Council’s consultation protocol set out in Part 5 of this
Constitution.
To manage budgets and financial transactions in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Chief Executive and
Directors

Delegated By
Executive

Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors

Executive

Chief Executive and
Directors

Council /
Executive

Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive;
Director (Strategy &
Support Services);
Director (Commercial
Services & Income
Generation); Lead
Specialist - Legal
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors

Executive

Chief Executive and
Directors

Council

Council

Executive
Council
Executive

Executive
Executive

April 2019

No
22
23
24
25
26

Function
To let contracts in accordance with Procurement Procedure Rules and the Council's Financial
Procedure Rules and other polices which govern the letting of contracts.
To undertake all functions allocated to their post within Council Financial Procedure Rules and
other Council Procedure Rules.
To authorise others to sign notices and take enforcement action on the Council’s behalf subject
to approval of a Council officer with suitable qualifications and experience.
To set fees for chargeable services and revise existing fees on a regular (normally annual) basis.
To execute all deeds and documents on behalf of the Council (including affixing the Council’s
Seal thereto) as they consider necessary to implement any decision of the Council or any
Committee or any officer of the Council acting under delegated authority. Any documents
required to be sealed shall have the seal affixed to them in the presence of any one of the
officers referred to in this section. Every such document shall be attested by the signature of the
person in whose presence the seal was affixed.

Page 75

Note: When executing documents the person shall include their name or office alongside the
unique sealing reference.
27
To act as a Category One responder, and to take other appropriate action under the Civil
Contingencies Act.
S151 Officer
28
As the Council’s Chief Financial Officer, to be responsible for the proper administration of the
Council’s financial affairs and other statutory functions as listed in the Council’s Constitution.
27
29
Setting the Council Tax Base under the Local Authorities (Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations
1992.
30
Write off bad debts of £20,000 or less.
31
32
33

In consultation with the Director concerned, to recover all liquidated and ascertained damages
arising from contracts let by any Committee.
Decisions on applications for the reduction or remittance of non-domestic rates and discretionary
rate relief up to £5,000 subject to the conditions and limitations set out in Minute 199 of the District
Executive meeting held on 2nd March 2000.
Repayment of mortgages on the rates on the death of the mortgagee, and otherwise to
prematurely repay mortgages if the mortgagee is prepared to pay the appropriate premium.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive and
Directors
Chief Executive;
Director (Strategy &
Support Services);
Director (Service
Delivery);
Director (Commercial
Services & Income
Generation);
Lead Specialist - Legal
Director (Strategy &
Support Services)

Delegated By
Council

Designated S151
Officer
Designated S151
Officer
Designated S151
Officer
Designated S151
Officer
Designated S151
Officer

Council

Designated S151
Officer

Executive

Council
Council
Council
Council

Council

Council
Executive
Executive
Executive

April 2019

No
34

Function
Payment of small claims up to the value of £2000, which have not been accepted by the Insurance
Company - grievances to be referred to the District Executive.
Waiving of premiums for premature repayment of loans in appropriate cases where the premium
does not exceed £200.
Implementation of salary and wage awards to employees.

Page 76

Delegated to
Designated S151
Officer
35
Designated S151
Officer
36
Designated S151
Officer
37
Day-to-day administration of the Collection Fund including estimating the surplus or deficit as
Designated S151
required by the Local Authorities (Funds) (England) Regulations 1992.
Officer
38
Reimbursement of reasonable Cashier operating shortages.
Designated S151
Officer
39
To be responsible for all Treasury Management matters including the borrowing of money,
Designated S151
management of investment funds and to take all executive decisions on borrowing, investment
Officer in consultation
or financing and to act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in with Director (Support
Local Authorities.
Services)
40
Authorisation of the National Non-Domestic Rates 1 Returns (NNDR1).
Designated S151
Officer in consultation
with Portfolio Holder for
Finance and Legal
Services
Lead Specialist – Legal/Monitoring Officer
41
To authorise proceedings in any Court or Tribunal.
Lead Specialist - Legal
42
To authorise officers to appear in any Court or Tribunal.
Lead Specialist - Legal
43
Request to Court for warrant for possession in cases where Court Order has not been complied
Lead Specialist - Legal
with, subject to right of a member to request referral to a Committee.
44
Authority to make application for costs in connection with court and tribunal proceedings and
Lead Specialist - Legal
planning and enforcement appeals in all cases where he/she considers it appropriate.
45
To defend any legal proceedings brought against the Council in any court or tribunal.
Lead Specialist - Legal

Delegated By
Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive

Council

Council
Council
Council
Council
Council

46

To seek the opinion of Counsel or to appoint outside Solicitors or Counsel provided that the cost
can be met from an appropriate heading in a budget.

Lead Specialist - Legal

Council

47

Power to serve requisitions for information under Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.

Lead Specialist - Legal

Council

Part 3 – Section 6

April 2019

No
48

Function
Power to serve requisitions for information under Section 16 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act1976.
Revenues and Benefits
49
To administer the Council’s functions in relation to the collection of non-domestic rates in
accordance with the Local Government Act 1988 (as amended) and all relevant regulations
made thereunder including the granting of charitable rate relief under the Act.
50
Registration of charging orders against properties the subject of rate arrears.
51

Determination of benefit claims in accordance with the appropriate regulations.

Environmental Services
52
Provision of Floral Displays on payment of charges.
53
Page 77

54

In respect of Parks, open spaces and other recreational facilities or establishments for which the
Director has managerial responsibility:- (i) the variation, for special events, of the charges and
opening hours and (ii) approve the occasional use of the same by outside organisations/bodies
Powers under the Cleaner Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

55

Exercise of the Council's powers under Sections 151-154, 163, 164, 167 of the Highways Act
1980.
Land and Property
56
Use of car parks for purposes other than car parking within the agreed Council policy.
57

To review and revise rents in leases and to agree the renewal of leases and lettings in respect of
properties owned by the Council in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Lead Specialist - Legal

Delegated By
Council

Specialist Team
Manager

Executive

Specialist Team
Manager
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable People

Executive

Environmental Services
Manager
Environmental Services
Manager

Executive

Environmental Services
Manager
Environmental Services
Manager

Executive

Commercial Property,
Land & Development
Manager
Commercial Property,
Land & Development
Manager

Executive

Executive

Executive

Executive

April 2019

Page 78

No
Function
Food Safety
58
Further to the Food Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013, the appointment of
authorised officers under the Food Safety Act 1990 (as amended), and a) any Orders or
Regulations made thereunder or relating to the foregoing or having effect by virtue of the European
Communities Act 1972 (see note) and b) any modifications or re-enactment to the foregoing.
Note: Providing an officer is suitably appointed to so act, the fact that the enforcement powers are
contained in a Regulation or Order, whether made under the European Communities Act 1972 or
any other stated Act, is irrelevant for the purpose of acting lawfully.
59
Investigation Powers under The Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984, as amended by
the health and Social care Act 2008 and Regulations made thereunder, including The Public
Health (Infectious Diseases) Regulations 1988.
60
Powers under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act1982 and similar Acts
containing other powers related to the food safety function in relation to sanitary conveniences in
places of entertainment etc. and the protection of buildings.
61
To carry out responsibilities vested to the authority contained within the Food and Environment
Protection Act 1985 including any regulations and orders made thereunder.
Health and Safety
62
Powers under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and Regulations made thereunder
(including the investigation of accidents and other relevant statutory provisions).
63
To appoint inspectors under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974.
64
65
66
67

Powers under the Food and Environment Protection Act 1985, with specific regard to the Control
Of Pesticides Regulations
To authorise proceedings in any court or tribunal under the Health & Safety at Work Act 1974
Powers under The Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations
1995
To implement the smoke free provisions of the Health Act 2006 relating to smoking in public
places and workplaces.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to

Delegated By

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council & Area
Committees

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council & Area
Committees

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council & Area
Committees

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council & Area
Committees

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees

April 2019

No
Function
Licensing
68
To carry out all the functions of the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 and associated
legislation not required to be determined by the Council’s Licensing Committee including (but not
by way of limitation) determining whether any variation is a minor or major and its subsequent
handling.
69
To determine applications for the grant or renewal of licences and permits for, or registration of:

Delegated to

Delegated By

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Licensing
Committee

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Licensing
Committee

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Licensing
Committee

Hackney Carriage Vehicles and Drivers; Private Hire Vehicles, Operators and Drivers; Charitable
Collections; Acupuncturists, Electrolysis, Tattooists, Ear Piercers, Body Piercers and semipermanent skin colouring and enforcement of byelaws for such; Scrap Metal Dealers; Sex
Establishments; Street Trading.

Page 79

70
71
72

To carry out the enforcement and reporting of licensed and unlicensed door supervisors and their
employers.
In consultation with the relevant Portfolio holder, to review hackney carriage fares - following
representations by taxi operators - and, subject to the necessary consultations, to agree any
increases within the cumulative inflation rate which has prevailed since the previous increase.
To approve applications for Road Closures for Special Events under the 1847 Police Clauses
Act (power to prevent obstructions)
To carry out the inspection, registration or licensing (including the application of conditions) or
other approval of:

Licensing
Committee

Pet Animal Shops, Animal Boarding and Breeding Establishments, Riding Establishments,
Dangerous Wild Animals, Zoos (renewals and transfers only), and commercial premises for health
and safety purposes in accordance with the following Acts, Regulations and associated legislation:

73

The Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963; The Riding Establishments Acts 1964/1970; The
Pet Animals Acts 1951/1983; The Breeding of Dogs Acts 1973/1991; Breeding and Sale of
Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999; The Breeding of Dogs (Licensing Records) Regulations 1999; The
Dangerous Wild Animals Acts 1976/1984; The Zoo Licensing Act 1981; Animals (Scientific
Procedures) Act 1986
To allow for changes in best practice, and to recognise the diversity of existing construction and
operational techniques, to approve variations to conditions for pet shops, dog and cat boarding
establishments, dog breeding establishments.

Part 3 – Section 6

April 2019

No
74
75
76
77

Function
Powers under the Sunday Trading Act 1994 in respect of controls over trading on Sundays at large
shops.
Powers under the Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916, Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and the Highways Act 1980 in respect to Street Trading
and charitable collections.
To licence charity collections under the House to House Collections Act 1939

78

Powers under the Road Safety Act 2006 in respect of Hackney Carriages and Private Hire
Vehicles
Powers under the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006

79

Enforcement powers under the Animal Welfare Acts

80

Page 80

The preparation of and changes to policy and procedure documents used in Licensing where not
already provided for in legislation.
Environmental Protection
81
The authority to enter premises or go onto land to inspect and/or take action to remedy nuisances,
to deal with unsatisfactory housing conditions or to deal with other pollution related matters for
which the Council has responsibility.
82
To serve notices and the taking of prosecutions under Parts III of the Environmental Protection Act
1990 concerning Statutory Nuisances. To take similar action for noise nuisance under The Noise
Act 1996 and other appropriate legislation including the seizure of noisy equipment.
83
To take action in relation to a light noise offence under the Noise Act 1996 including the issuing of
fixed penalty notices.
84
To serve notices and the taking of appropriate action under Public Health Acts 1936/1961,
Housing Acts 1985/1988/1996/ 2004, the Building Act 1984, the Prevention of Damage by Pests
Act 1949, the Clean Air Act 1993, the Control of Pollution Act 1974, the Noise and Statutory
Nuisances Act 1993, the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Clean Neighbourhoods and
Environment Act 2005, Environment Act 1995, Pollution, Prevention and Control Act 1999, The
Water Industry Act 1991 and the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 and associated legislation to
control pollution, prevent nuisance and maintain public health across the District.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Delegated By
Licensing
Committee
Licensing
Committee

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Licensing
Committee
Licensing
Committee
Licensing
Committee
Licensing
Committee
Licensing
Committee

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive
Executive

April 2019

No
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
Page 81

92
93

Function
To prosecute and undertake work in default in relation to notices served concerning housing and
environmental matters delegated to the Lead Specialist - Environmental Health in this document.
To let contracts for rodent control.
To take action under Public Health and Building Act powers to deal with defective drainage of land
and buildings.
To carry out of all duties contained within the Public Health (Control of Disease Act) 1984 to
control the spread of disease, including the cleansing and disinfection of premises and articles.
To take action under Sections 83, 84 and 85 of the Public Health Act 1936/1961 (Cleansing of
verminous articles, persons and clothing).
To take action under the National Assistance Acts 1948 and 1951 to remove people in need of
care and attention and to act under other legislation (The Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act
1984) to dispose of dead bodies for which the Council has responsibility.
To enforce legislation related to straw and stubble burning and other smoke nuisance in
accordance with The Crop Residues (Burning) Regulations 1993.
To take action under the Water Industry Act 1991 and associated legislation (including the
inspection, monitoring and improvement of private water supplies) to ensure the adequacy and
wholesomeness of water supplies throughout the district.
The power to grant consents for the operation of loudspeakers contained in Schedule 2 of the
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 in consultation with the relevant ward member(s), who
shall have regard to the following principles: (a) Consents will not normally be granted other than with respect to traditional carnivals, village
fetes, street fairs and charitable fundraising by reputable organisations;
(b) Consent is unlikely where the Environmental Health Manager is of the opinion that noise
nuisance is likely to arise;
(c) Without prejudice to the Environmental Health Manager’s discretion to grant consent subject
to conditions, restrictions as to the start and finish times of the consent are likely to be
imposed where considered appropriate by that Manager.
(Applicants for consent are required to pay such reasonable fees as may be determined by
the Environmental Health Manager, such fees to include the cost of a suitable advertisement
of the application.)

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Delegated By
Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive

Executive

April 2019

No
94

95
96

97
98
Page 82

99
100
101
102

103
104
105
106

Function
To carry out the granting, variation, transfer or revocation of permits for the control of industrial
emissions. The service of notices, prosecution and other enforcement for offences under The
Pollution, Prevention and Control Act 1999 and the Environmental Permitting (England and
Wales) Regulations 2007.
To take action under the Clean Air Act 1993, the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and other
associated legislation (including the approval of chimney heights) to avoid atmospheric pollution.
To carry out the inspection of land and the use of enforcement powers for the remediation of
contaminated land under The Contaminated Land (England) Regulations 2000 and Part IIA of
the Environmental Protection Act 1990. This concerns the Local Authority’s duty to deal with
contaminated land.
The review and assessment of air quality (and the production of reports, declaration of air quality
management areas and production of action plans thereafter as necessary) under the
Environment Act 2005 and associated regulations.
To take action under the Environmental Damage (Prevention and Remediation) Regulations
2009 to deal with incidents causing environmental damage.
Powers Under Part 4 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 in relation to
Community protection and under section 77 of that Act in relation to the duration of Closure
Orders.
Powers Under Part 7 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 in relation to
dangerous dogs.
Removal and disposal of abandoned vehicles.
Enforcement of Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996,the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991, the Dogs Act
1906 (as amended), Environmental Protection (Stray Dogs) Regulations 1992, The Control of
Dogs Order 1992, Road Traffic Act 1988 (Dogs on Roads) and The Control of Dogs on Roads
Order (England and Wales) Regulations 1995 and other associated legislation.
Discharge of functions under Sections 149 and 151 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990
relating to the control of dogs.
Powers under section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to enable dog wardens to
investigate barking dog issues.
Powers under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 Part II in respect of waste on land and the
duty of care.
Powers under the Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978 in respect of abandoned vehicles.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Delegated By
Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council

Executive

Executive

Council
Council

Executive
Executive
Executive

April 2019

No
107
108

Function
Service of notice and prosecution for offences under Part IV (litter) and Part VIII (miscellaneous)
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990
Powers under the Controlled Waste Regulations 1992

109

Powers under the Street Litter Control Notices Order 1991 (as amended)

110

Powers under The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour

111

To authorise Environmental Enforcement Officers to take action to deal with anti-social
behaviour under the Anti-Social Behaviour legislation.
To maintain a public register under The Notification of Cooling Towers and Evaporative
Condensers Regulations 1992

112

Page 83

Housing
113
To serve notices and take appropriate enforcement action in relation to the repair and safety of
defective, unfit, sub-standard and non-decent housing under Housing and Public Health Act
legislation. This includes carrying out work in default. The principal legislation includes the Housing
Act 1996/1988, Housing Act 1985, Local Government & Housing Act 1989 and Housing Act 2004.
114
To carry out the licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation and the determination and levying of
appropriate fees.
115
To make Management Orders, Control Orders and Direction Orders and the service of other
notices to control standards and overcrowding in Houses in multiple occupation under the Housing
Act 1985, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and associated legislation.
116
To carry out the approval and payment of Renovation (Empty Property), Disabled Facilities,
Common Parts, Houses in Multiple Occupation and Home Repairs Assistance grants. Such
grants are made under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, The Housing Grants
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996, and the Regulatory Reform (Housing
Assistance)(England and Wales) Order 2002 and associated legislation. The refusal of
applications that fail to satisfy the adopted policies of the Council.
117
To inspect and licence camping, caravan and mobile homes sites under Caravan Sites and
Control of Development Act 1960 as amended by the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Acts 1972/1975/1976/ 1982 and associated legislation.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Delegated By
Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Council
Council
Council
Council
Executive

Executive

April 2019

No
118
119
120
121

Function
To make payment of compensation under the Land Compensation Act 1961 and associated
legislation in relation to unfit properties (including the payment of disturbance and home loss
payments).
To make and remove Demolition Orders and Closing Orders and the protection of buildings under
the Housing, Building Acts and Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) legislation. Also the
taking of action in relation to ruinous, dilapidated or dangerous buildings.
To agree loans and the payment of fees for loan payments as part of the Home Loan scheme
operated by the Wessex Reinvestment Trust. The provision of other financial assistance as
allowed under the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance)(England and Wales) order 2002
To take action under the Housing Act 2004 in relation to the Health and Safety Rating System.

Page 84

Environmental Health and Community Protection
122
Powers under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 in relation to travellers and
unauthorised campers
123
Powers under The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour
124

Powers of inspection under Section 19(2) of the Private Security Industry Act 2001 by Officers
authorised by the Security Industry Authority.
125
To authorise Environmental Health Officers to take action to deal with anti-social behaviour
under the Anti-Social Behaviour legislation.
126
The preparation of and changes to policy and procedure documents used in Environmental
Health
Strategic Planning
127
To assess housing need for the district in accordance with approved policies.
128

Management of Goldenstones Pool, Wincanton Sports Centre and Westlands Sports & Fitness
Centre (currently contracted to LED)
129
In consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder to assess need and set appropriate local
standards for open space, sport and recreation facilities for the district in accordance with
approved policies.
Housing & Welfare
130
To authorise expenditure within delegated cash limits on the repair, maintenance and
improvement of those properties leased or managed on behalf of the Council

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Delegated By
Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable People
Specialist Team
Manager
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council & Area
Committees
Council

Lead Specialist –
Strategic Planning
Lead Specialist –
Strategic Planning
Lead Specialist –
Strategic Planning

Executive

Commercial Property,
Land and Development
Manager

Executive

Executive
Executive

April 2019

No
131

136

Function
In consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder agree minor changes to the Allocations Scheme
and other agreements in place with partner landlords participating in the South Somerset
Housing Register (or any replacement therefore) where these changes are required as a result
of changes to statutory obligations or requirements.
To determine applications for capital subsidy towards social housing (RSL etc.) provision in
accordance with approved policies and authorise approved expenditure; agree requisite
nomination rights where appropriate.
To authorise the allocation of additional capital subsidy towards social housing (RSL etc.)
provision of up to 10% of the original approved allocation.
In consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder agree terms (and any Service Level
Agreements) with anybody to use the Housing Advice Centre where their presence or work
contributes towards the prevention or resolution of homelessness and other personal crises or is
otherwise in accordance with any relevant strategy or policy then in place.
To consider and determine upon homelessness and housing register appeals if applicant
remains dissatisfied after review - Housing Act 1996, Part VI & VII (as amended by
Homelessness Act 2002)
To recover bed & breakfast, removal and storage costs.

137

To set fees for Careline services.

138

To enter into agreements with suppliers in relation to services for upgrading and maintaining
Careline equipment subject to strict compliance with the Council's Standing Orders
To recover debts from clients of Careline

132
133
134

135
Page 85

139
140
141
142

To manage, repair, maintain and improve within delegated cash limits all equipment relating to
the operation of the Control centre and Careline
To approve revenue subsidy to various partner agencies where their work is directly contributing
towards the prevention or resolution of homelessness and other personal housing crises and/or
towards any relevant strategy or policy then in place, within overall budget limits
To set pitch fees and other related charges for Gypsy and Traveller sites.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to
Specialist Team
Manager

Delegated By
Executive

Specialist Team
Manager

Executive

Specialist Team
Manager
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers

Executive

Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers
Lead Specialist –
Vulnerable Customers

Executive

Commercial Property,
Land and Development
Manager

Executive

Executive

Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive

April 2019

No
Function
Sport, Arts, Leisure and Countryside
143
Management of Octagon Theatre and Westlands Entertainment Venue
144

Management of Yeovil Recreation Centre and Country Parks

145

146

In respect of swimming pools, public halls, parks, open spaces and other recreational facilities or
establishments for which the Director (Commercial Services & Income Generation) has
managerial responsibility:- (i) the variation, for special events, of the charges and opening hours
and (ii) approve the occasional use of the same by outside organisations/bodies
The loan of museum exhibits.

147

Erection of stiles, gates and other structures on Council owned land.

148

The award of tourism grants up to £500.

Page 86

Locality
149
The award of grants to area based organisations up to £1,000 in accordance with the Council’s
policy on grants.
150

Management of Equipped Play Area and Youth Facilities

Highways and Streets
151
Applications for diverting, stopping up and extinguishment of public rights of way and confirmation
of consequent orders, subject to consultation with Ward Members.

Delegated to

Delegated By

Arts & Entertainment
Manager
Leisure & Recreation
Manager
Leisure & Recreation
Manager;
Environmental Services
Manager
Leisure & Recreation
Manager
Leisure & Recreation
Manager
Director (Commercial
Services & Income
Generation)

Executive
Executive
Executive

Executive
Executive
Executive

Locality Team Manager

Executive

Locality Team Manager

Executive

Case Team Manager

Council

152

Making of orders temporarily closing bridleways and footpaths subject to closure not exceeding
three months, including the giving of notice to Ward Member(s) and Parish Council

Case Team Manager

Council

153

Temporary closures of highways by reason of works.

Case Team Manager

Executive

154

Numbering of properties in street not involving changes in existing numbers.

Case Team Manager

Council

155

Street naming and numbering where the developer, the Parish Council and the Area Chairman are
in agreement.

Case Team Manager

Executive

Part 3 – Section 6

April 2019

Page 87

No
Function
Development Management (Planning)
156
The determination of all applications made to the District Council for planning permission, the
approval of reserved matters, the display of advertisements, works to trees with Tree Preservation
Orders, listed building and conservation area consents, is delegated to the Assistant Director
Economy except in the following cases: (a) A Ward Member makes a specific request for the application to be considered by the Area
Committee and the request is agreed by the Area Chairman or, in their absence, the Vice
Chairman in consultation with the Director (Service Delivery). (This request must be in writing
and deal with the planning issues to ensure that the audit trail for making that decision is clear
and unambiguous). In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chairman there should be nominated
substitutes to ensure that 2 other members would be available to make decisions. All
assessments and decisions to be in writing.
(b) Director (Service Delivery) in consultation with the relevant Area Chairman considers that, due
to the nature of the application, the Committee should consider it.
(c) The application is recommended for approval and would represent a significant departure from
the policies of the development plan or from the views of a technical statutory consultee (e.g. the
County Highway Authority, the Environment Agency, Natural England). (Refusals for proposals
directly in conflict with local plan policy to be delegated)
(d) The application is recommended for approval and falls into the category of a ‘major major’
application
(e) The proposal involves either Council as applicant or landowner, except in the case of smallscale proposals and where no objections have been received when the Director (Service
Delivery) will take the decision in consultation with the Chairman of the Regulation Committee
and the relevant Ward and Divisional Member(s), and subject to the decision being signed off by
the Monitoring Officer of the District Council
(f) The applicant is a councillor of Council.
(g) The applicant is a member of either Council’s management team, a service manager, or is a
member of either Council’s staff who, in the course of their duties, has an input in to the planning
application process.
(h) Any other application from employees of either Council may be delegated, subject to prior
notification to the Monitoring Officer of the District Council.
(i) Any application where an employee of either Council is involved in any capacity as either agent
or consultant.
See the General Principles of operation of this part of the Scheme as set out after No. 190
below.

Part 3 – Section 6

Delegated to

Delegated By

Director (Service
Delivery);
Lead Specialist Planning

Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee

April 2019

Tree Preservation Matters
157
The making of Tree Preservation Orders under Section 198 and provisional Tree Preservation
Orders under Section 201 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 subject to where
objections to the Order are received from the Town/Parish Council or any other interested
persons, the Director (Service Delivery) must refer the matter to the Area Committee, prior to the
Order being confirmed, unless after consultation with the Area Chairman and relevant Ward
Members, it is considered not to be necessary.
158
The approval of the lopping, topping and felling of trees not subject to such Orders in
conservation areas, after consultation with the Ward Member(s).

159

To act as a Proper Officer for the issue of Tree Preservation Orders.

Page 88

Other Matters Relating to Development Management
160
The determination of all notifications.

Director (Service
Delivery); Lead
Specialist - Planning

Area
Committees &
Regulation
Committee

Lead Specialist –
Planning; Environment
Services Manager
(where tree is on public
open space)
Lead Specialist Planning

Area
Committees &
Regulation
Committee

Lead Specialist Planning

Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee

161

The approval of minor amendments to approved plans (within the agreed protocol)

Lead Specialist Planning

162

The making of observations on minor development proposals by local authorities or statutory
undertakers.

Lead Specialist Planning

163

The making of observations on minor applications upon which the Council is consulted by a
neighbouring planning authority.

Lead Specialist Planning

Part 3 – Section 6

Area
Committees &
Regulation
Committee

April 2019

Page 89

164

The approval of minor overhead lines where they are not contentious.

Lead Specialist Planning

165

The making of representations to the Licensing Authority on applications for goods vehicle
operators' licences, in consultation with the Ward Member(s).

Specialist Team
Manager

166

Acceptance of non-contentious proposals for development submitted for consultation by
Government Departments and agencies entitled to Crown exemption.

Lead Specialist Planning

167

The determination of Certificates of Lawfulness of existing and proposed uses or development.

Lead Specialist Planning

168

The approval or refusal of items reserved for further approval by a condition attached to a
planning permission or approval, or an advertisement or listed building consent (for example,
details of landscaping or materials).

Lead Specialist Planning

169

Issue of Building Preservation Notices and the issue of Urgent Works Notices under s.54
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (after consultation with Area
Chairman and/or Ward Member(s)).

Lead Specialist Planning

170

All forms of planning enforcement action and Stop Notice action.

Lead Specialist Planning

171

The making and amendment/variation of Section 106 Agreements, agreeing consents to the
release of land from such agreements and the making of Revocation and Discontinuance Orders
(subject to there being no compensation payable in respect of such Orders).

Lead Specialist Planning

Part 3 – Section 6

Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee

April 2019

Page 90

172

Grants and loans under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in
consultation with Ward Members if necessary, subject to report on decisions being submitted to
the Area Committee.

Director (Service
Delivery)

173

The making of Article 4 Directions (after consultation with Area Chairman and/or Ward
Member(s)).

Lead Specialist Planning

174

Power to serve requisition for information under Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 and Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the
service of contravention notices under Section 1 of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.

Lead Specialist Planning

175

Passing of second resolutions for deemed planning permission in respect of applications not
regarded as significant - in consultation with the Chairman of the Regulation Committee, the
chairman of the relevant Area Committee and the relevant Ward Member(s).

Lead Specialist Planning

176

To authorise officers to carry out the functions set out in Section 88 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.
Decisions under the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990.

Lead Specialist Planning
Lead Specialist –
Environmental Health

178

The serving of Hedgerow Retention Notices in accordance with the criteria and requirements of
the Hedgerow Regulations 1997, after consultation with the relevant Ward Member(s) where
practicable.

Lead Specialist Planning

179

To provide scoping and screening opinions under the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning Act (Environmental Impact) Regulations 1999.

Lead Specialist Planning

180

Power under Section 23 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to deal with
dangerous trees.
All powers under Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 relating to complaints about high
hedges

Lead Specialist Planning
Lead Specialist Planning

177

181

Part 3 – Section 6

Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Regulation
Committee and
Area
Committees
Executive
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Area
Committees and
Regulation
Committee
Council
Council

April 2019

Building Control
182
Notices requiring works to be carried out in connection with demolition of buildings pursuant to
Sections 81 & 82 of the Building Act 1984.
183
The approval and rejection of plans under Section 16 of the Building Act 1984.
184
185
186
187
188
Page 91

189
190
191

The approval and refusal of an extension of time during which temporary buildings can be retained
under Section 19 of the Building Act 1984.
The approval and rejection of means of escape in case of fire under Section 72 of the Building Act
1984.
The service of notices requiring the exposure or demolition of works where contravention is
suspected under Section 36 of the Building Act 1984.
Dispensation and relaxation of requirements under Regulation 11 of the Building Regulations 2000
(as amended).
The issue of Completion Certificates or certificates of final inspection under Regulation 17 of the
Building Regulations 2000 (as amended)
Authority under Section 78 of the Building Act 1984 in respect of emergency powers to deal with
dangerous structures.
Service of Notice to uncover work requiring inspection under Regulation 15(6) of the Building
Regulations 2000 (as amended).
To act as the ‘Appointing Officer’ as required under S.10 (8) of the Party Wall Etc. Act 1996.

Part 3 – Section 6

Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control
Specialist - Building
Control

Executive
Council
Council
Council
Council
Council
Council
Council
Council
Council

April 2019

Applications, Approvals and Consent – General Principles of Operation within Delegated Scheme

Page 92

1.

All Members are notified of applications within their wards. Members can subscribe to a weekly list of applications through the District
Council’s web site.

2.

Members are encouraged to view the plans either in the offices, with their parish councils or via the internet. Members are also encouraged
to contact the case officer if there are any queries or if they want to discuss issues of principle or detail.

3.

Officers are encouraged to contact Members where they feel that the matter may be contentious and this should be done as soon in the
process as possible.

4.

If any conflicting view is expressed on an application (i.e. if there is a letter of support on an application which officers recommend for refusal
or an objection letter where the officer wishes to approve) the officer will email the Ward member a copy of their report.

5.

A 7-day turnaround for responses will be strictly applied.

6.

If any of the Ward Members consulted disagree with the Officer’s recommendation on a Level 1 application, they should advise the case
officer in writing on the relevant proforma, with clearly stated planning issues that give them concern. This should be done as soon in the
process as possible.

7.

The Case Officer will then send the report to the relevant Area Chair with a risk assessment if necessary. Should the Area Chair agree with
the Ward Member rather than the Case Officer, then he/she should discuss with the Director (Service Delivery) whether a decision can be
issued in accordance with the Ward Member’s views under delegated powers.

8.

In the case of Level 2 applications, if a Member wishes any application to be considered by the Area Committee, they should advise the Case
Officer in writing on the relevant proforma, with clearly stated planning issues that give them concern. This should be done as soon in the
process as possible.

9.

Where the request by a Ward Member for an application to be considered by the Area Committee is agreed by the Area Chairman, or in their
absence, the Vice Chairman, the reason given by the Ward Member should be included in the report.

10.

If a scheme is capable of minor revision to overcome the Members’ concerns (such as the addition of a condition) the Case Officer will seek to
achieve such revisions with the applicant, provided it can be achieved within the deadline for decision.

Part 3 – Section 6

April 2019

11.

Where Members have spoken to the officers they must exercise care not to go on public record with their views of a planning application, as
this could mean that they may be excluded from the process later on (predetermination).

12.

Members should not enter into any negotiations or discussions relating to planning applications with applicants or agents, as this will mean
that they may be excluded from the process later on.

13.

Householder/Other applications will not normally be presented to a committee as they raise issues of only local impact. It is expected that
Members will work through any issues arising from the proposal with the Case Officer managing that process and with the involvement of
applicants/agents as appropriate.

14.

Where a decision is made that is contrary to the view of the Parish Council the Case Officer will write to the Parish Council and explain their
reasons for taking a contrary view. A copy of the Case Officer’s report may be sufficient in these circumstances.

Page 93
Part 3 – Section 6

April 2019

Statutory and Proper Officers
Appointed by Council
Section A
Proper Officers for the purposes of signing any Notice, Order or other document (apart from
those under seal) which a local authority is authorised or required to serve under any
enactment.

The signing of documents under seal.

Chief Executive
Director (Support Services)
Director (Service Delivery)
Director (Commercial Services & Income
Generation)
Lead Specialist - Legal

Page 94

Chief Executive
Director (Support Services)
Director (Service Delivery)
Director (Commercial Services & Income
Generation)
Lead Specialist - Legal

Section B
Schedule of Consultants
Dr Chitra Arumugam
Dr Toyin Ejidokun
Dr Charles Irish
Dr Chaamala Klinger
Dominic Mellon
Dr Fiona Neely
Dr Bayad Nozad
Jenny Taylor
Mike Wade
Dr Nick Young

Consultant in Communicable Disease Control
Consultant in Communicable Disease Control
Consultant in Communicable Disease Control
Consultant in Health Protection
Consultant in Health Protection
Consultant in Health Protection
Consultant in Health Protection
Consultant in Health Protection
Deputy Director of Health Protection
Consultant in Communicable Disease Control

Are appointed as “Proper Officers” of South Somerset District Council for the purposes of the following Legislation:
Part 3 – Section 6

May 2019

Legislation

Part, Section or Regulations

Effect

Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984
as amended by the Health and Social Care
Act 2008

Parts II and III

Notification and control powers for
Communicable Diseases.

Public Health (Infectious Diseases)
Regulations 1988

Regulations 6,8,9,10 Schedules 3 and 4

Section 35

Medical Examination.
Additional powers to the above

The Director (Service Delivery) shall authorise staffing changes in relation to Proper Officers in Section B above.

Page 95
Part 3 – Section 6

May 2019

Section 7. The Membership and Terms of Reference of Committees
and Panels
Council Body

Membership

Council

All Councillors

District Executive

Ten Councillors, including the Leader and Deputy
Leader as further described in Article 7

Scrutiny Committee

Fourteen Members politically balanced

Regulation Committee

Fourteen Members, politically balanced and, as far
as practicable, drawn equally from each of the four
area committees

Audit Committee

Ten Members - politically balanced

Licensing Committee

Fifteen Members

Area Committees

Each of the four area committees comprise all those
District Council members elected from that area as
further described in Article 10

Standards Committee

Six District Councillors and three parish
representatives co-opted as non-voting members.
Composition is further described in Article 9

Appointments Committee

Seven Members - politically balanced

Appeals Panel

Pool of Eight Members - politically balanced

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 96

May 2017

Terms of Reference of Committees and Panels
1.

District Executive
General
The District Executive will carry out all of the local authority’s functions which are not
the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or under this
Constitution. It is responsible for all executive functions and those local choice
functions specified as being the responsibility of the District Executive.
Specifically
The District Executive shall:
Co-ordinate the policy objectives of the Council, monitor progress towards the
corporate objectives, and give the Area Committees strategic direction.
Consider recommendations from Area Committees, Scrutiny Committee, Audit
Committee and Portfolio holders on policy development and change.
Recommend key priorities for the Council and the overall policy framework.
Agree core minimum standards for service delivery.
Consider Referrals from Area Committees on matters which have major policy or
resource implications.
Keep under review the Council's financial affairs and receive reports from the relevant
Director and Section 151 officer on matters for which he/she is responsible.
Recommend the Capital Programme, revenue budgets and the level of Council Tax.
Agree resource allocation procedures and processes, including service planning and
performance review arrangements.
Receive reports on matters relating to the overall staff establishment, discipline,
training and welfare, redundancies and early retirements, conditions of employment
and performance monitoring.
Approve strategic disposals and acquisition including :
- leases
- sales of land valued in excess of £10,000

2.

Area Committees
General
Each Area Committee shall monitor service delivery in its area, provide leadership for
its communities, and take decisions on regulatory matters such as planning
applications and statutory orders. They shall also take executive decisions as
specifically delegated by the Executive.
Specifically
The Area Committees shall:

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 97

May 2017

Within their area, take decisions in respect of non-executive functions as listed in
section 3 of this Constitution; and take executive decisions as set out section 4 of Part
3 of this Constitution. They may also take all other non-executive (regulatory)
decisions required to be made by the Council and affecting their area only, and which
are not reserved to be taken by any other committee, or the Council itself.
Determine planning applications within its area subject to guidelines in respect of
referrals to the Regulation Committee.
Discuss any matter of interest to the area.
Oversee and monitor the operation of services in their area.
Oversee capital schemes to include budgetary control in cases where this has been
delegated by the District Executive.
Manage local regeneration projects within financial limits agreed by District Executive.
Prepare Area Action Plans.
Make nominations to serve on outside bodies.
Form working groups and panels subject to budgetary constraints and notification to
the District Executive.
Approve sales of land up to the value of £10,000.
Play an enabling role by taking opportunities to provide services and benefits for the
people of the area in collaboration with external agencies.
Foster a close working relationship with Town and Parish Councils in the area.
Consult and consider the views of the public on area priorities and provide
opportunities for public participation, working in collaboration with external agencies.
Submit to the District Executive ideas for improvements to services or innovative
ways of working which may be of interest or benefit to other Areas.
Contribute towards the formulation of district-wide policies.
Be responsible for the local area aspects of the Community Plan.
The following decisions need to be referred to the District Executive: matters of policy
which have district wide significance, matters that might have an impact on more than
one area (planning matters will be referred to the Regulation Committee in
accordance with agreed guidelines) expenditure not covered by an approved budget
or within the approved capital programme, sales of land over £10,000.
3.

Scrutiny Committee
The Scrutiny Committee shall monitor and scrutinise the performance of the Council
and its services and make recommendations on any issue for which the Council is
responsible or which affects the local community including those services provided by
outside agencies. The Committee will undertake or commission reviews of policy,
including value for money checks and keep an overview of the Council’s political
management arrangements.

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 98

May 2017

The Scrutiny Committee is not able to take decisions but makes recommendations to
either the District Executive or the full Council.
There are three main elements to the work of the Committee:

4.

a.

The Scrutiny Committee is able to "call in" decisions taken by the Executive or
Area Committees but not implemented. It can ask the District Executive or
Area Committee to re-consider its decision.

b.

The Committee is able to review the implementation of decisions and ask the
District Executive or full Council to look at a particular area of policy in respect
of which the decision was made.

c.

The Committee is able to undertake detailed reviews of issues either within or
outside the council

Audit Committee
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance of the
adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control
environment, independent scrutiny of the authority’s financial and non-financial
performance, to the extent that it affects the authority’s exposure to risk and weakens
the control environment and to oversee the financial reporting process.
The Audit Committee should review the Code of Corporate Governance seeking
assurance where appropriate from the Executive or referring matters to management
on the scrutiny function.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are:
Internal Audit Activity
1.

To approve the Internal Audit Charter and annual Internal Audit Plan;

2.

To receive quarterly summaries of Internal Audit reports and seek assurance
from management that action has been taken;

3.

To receive an annual summary report and opinion, and consider the level of
assurance it provides on the council’s governance arrangements;

4.

To monitor the action plans for Internal Audit reports assessed as “partial” or “no
assurance;”

5.

To consider specific internal audit reports as requested by the Head of Internal
Audit, and monitor the implementation of agreed management actions;

6.

To receive an annual report to review the effectiveness of internal audit to ensure
compliance with statutory requirements and the level of assurance it provides on
the council’s governance arrangements;

External Audit Activity
7.

To consider and note the annual external Audit Plan and Fees;

8.

To consider the reports of external audit including the Annual Audit Letter and
seek assurance from management that action has been taken;

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 99

May 2017

Regulatory Framework
9.

To consider the effectiveness of SSDC’s risk management arrangements, the
control environment and associated anti-fraud and corruption arrangements and
seek assurance from management that action is being taken;

10. To review the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) and monitor associated
action plans;
11. To review the Local Code of Corporate Governance and ensure it reflects best
governance practice. This will include regular reviews of part of the Council’s
Constitution and an overview of risk management;
12. To receive reports from management on the promotion of good corporate
governance;
Financial Management and Accounts
13. To review and approve the annual Statement of Accounts, external auditor’s
opinion and reports to members and monitor management action in response to
issues raised;
14. To provide a scrutiny role in Treasury Management matters including regular
monitoring of treasury activity and practices. The committee will also review and
recommend the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement and
Investment Strategy, MRP Strategy, and Prudential Indicators to Council;
15. To review and recommend to Council changes to Financial Procedure Rules and
Procurement Procedure Rules;
Overall Governance
16. The Audit Committee can request of the S151 Officer, the ADirector (Support
Services) (the Monitoring Officer), or the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Services)
a report (including an independent review) on any matter covered within these
Terms of Reference;
17. The Audit Committee will request action through District Executive if any issue
remains unresolved;
18. The Audit Committee will report to each full Council a summary of its activities.
Meetings of the Audit Committee are held monthly including at least one meeting
with the Council’s external auditor.
5.

Standards Committee


promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and Co-opted
Members;



advise, train or arrange to train Members and Co-opted Members of the Council
on matters relating to the Authority’s Members’ Code of Conduct and wider
propriety issues, including issuing guidance where appropriate;

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 100

May 2017



recommend the adoption or revision of any Council Codes of Conduct for
Members and Co-opted Members, and to monitor the operation of such code(s) of
conduct;



deal with the assessment and determination of complaints under the Members’
Code of Conduct relating to Members and Co-opted Members (other than where
the power to deal with such matters has been delegated to and exercised by the
Monitoring Officer). Where the investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct and a local resolution is not appropriate or not possible,
then a Hearing Panel of the Committee (comprising 3 voting members of the
Standards Committee agreed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the
Committee Chairman) will consider and decide the complaint.



to take decisions in respect of a Member and Co-opted Member who is found on
hearing to have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, including –


Reporting its findings to Council [or to the Parish Council] for
information;



Recommending to the member’s Group Leader that he/she be
removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council
(other than the relevant Area Committee);



Recommending to the Leader of the Council that the member be
removed from the District Executive Committee, or removed from
particular Portfolio responsibilities;



Instructing the Monitoring Officer to [or recommend that the Parish
Council] arrange training for the member;



Removing [or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be
removed] from all outside appointments to which he/she has been
appointed or nominated by the authority [or by the Parish Council];



Withdrawing [or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws]
facilities provided to the member by the Council, such as a computer,
website and/or email and Internet access;



Restricting contact to named officers or requiring contact be through
named officers; or



6.

Excluding [or recommend that the Parish Council exclude] the
member from the Council’s offices or other premises, with the
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council,
Committee and Sub-Committee meetings.



advise on the management of statutory and other registers of interest and gifts /
hospitality received;



advise the Council on possible changes to the Constitution (except the Council
and Cabinet Schemes of Delegation) in relation the key documents and protocols
dealing with members conduct and ethical standards;

Regulation Committee
The Committee shall:

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 101

May 2017

7.

•

Determine applications for planning permission referred from the Area
Committees in accordance with the approved guidelines set out in this
document.

•

Pass Resolutions in respect of significant Council applications for planning
permission.

Licensing Committee
The Committee shall be responsible for those licensing functions listed in part 3 of the
Constitution as being the responsibility of the Committee. This will include licensing
matters referred to it by officers, in accordance with the Officer Scheme of Delegation,
such as contested public entertainment licences, and applications for taxi driver
licences where the officer considers the application should be determined by
members. The Committee shall also be responsible for all the functions assigned to it
under the Licensing Act 2003.

8.

Appointment Committee
The Committee shall make appointments to director level posts in accordance with
the Human Resources Management Rules (see Part 4)

9.

Appeals Panel
The Panel will be constituted in line with the Council’s Disciplinary Procedures.

Part 3 – Section 7

Page 102

May 2017

Scheme of Delegation Reference of Planning Applications to the
Regulation Committee for Determination
The referral of planning applications to the Regulation Committee is only necessary in the
following cases:
(A) Major Applications submitted by SSDC shall be determined by the Regulation Committee
following consultation with the relevant Area Committee.
(B)

Applications which the Area Committee wishes to approve which would constitute a
significant departure from Structure or Local Plans or other approved planning policies:
These will usually fall within the following categories.
Outside Defined Limits of Development


New industrial, commercial or general purpose residential development in open
countryside without a planning justification



Agricultural dwellings, including mobile homes, and other dwellings for which
special need is unsubstantiated.



New dwellings within small settlements without development limits other than
infilling by single dwellings which would not cause demonstrable harm without a
planning justification.

Inside Defined Limits of Development
Applications involving substantial change in the use of land or buildings where planning
policies do not provide for such change e.g. shopping, industrial or commercial
proposals or the loss of employment land or open space.
Anywhere




Significant proposals which would, in the opinion of the Director (Service Delivery),
be substantially damaging to the character of a listed building or a conservation
area.
Significant proposals which would conflict with a relevant previous decision, unless
there has been a change in planning policy or other significant material
consideration since the earlier decision.
Any other proposal where planning permission would set a precedent which would
significantly undermine the Council’s planning policy on a district wide basis.

(C)

Applications which an Area Committee wishes to refuse, where, in the opinion of the
Director (Service Delivery), the proposed grounds for refusal would be difficult to
substantiate - unless the Area Committee is prepared to meet any costs arising
from such a refusal from their Area Budget.

(D)

Applications which have significance, or interest, throughout the District, or a substantial
part of it, or which affect more than one Area Committee.

The inclusion of asterisks ** as part of the Director’s (Service Delivery)recommendation
indicates that the application will need to be referred to the Regulation Committee if the Area
Committee is unwilling to accept the officer recommendation. It is often the reason for refusal
that may put the Council at risk of award of costs rather than the fact that Members wish to go
against officer recommendation in itself. As such the Lead Planning Officer at the Committee
in consultation with the Chair and Solicitor will be able to recommend that an application
should be referred to Regulation Committee even if it has not been **.
Note: Where the Director (Service Delivery) is unsure of the ‘significance’ of a proposal, in
policy terms, guidance will be sought from the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the
appropriate Area Committee.

Part 3 – Reference to Regulation Committee Page 103

March 2018

Part 4
Rules of Procedure
(Standing Orders)

March 2018

Page 104

Council Procedure Rules
1.

Annual Meeting of the Council

1.1

Timing And Business
In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will
take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other
year, the annual meeting will take place in March, April or May.
The annual meeting will:
(i)

elect a person to preside if the Chairman of Council is not present;

(ii)

elect the Chairman of Council;

(iii)

elect the Vice-Chairman of Council;

(iv)

approve the minutes of the last meeting;

(v)

receive any announcements from the Chairman.

(vi)

elect the Leader;

(vii)

agree the number of Members to be appointed to the District Executive and
appoint those members of the Executive;

(viii)

appoint a Scrutiny Committee, a Standards Committee and such other
committees as the Council considers appropriate - to deal with matters which
are neither reserved to the Council nor are District Executive functions (as set
out in Part 3 of this Constitution);

(ix)

agree the scheme of delegation (as set out in Part 3 of this constitution);

(x)

approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year;

and
(xi)
1.2

consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting.

Selection Of Councillors On Committees And Outside Bodies
At the annual meeting, the council meeting will:
(i)

decide which committees to establish for the municipal year;

(ii)

decide the size and terms of reference for those committees;

(iii)

decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the
political balance rules;

(iv)

receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each committee and outside
body; and

(v)

appoint to those committees and outside bodies except where appointment to
those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the
District Executive.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 105

March 2018

2.

Ordinary Meetings

2.1

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme
decided at the Council’s annual meeting. Ordinary meetings will:

2.2

(i)

elect a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are not present;

(ii)

approve the minutes of the last meeting;

(iii)

receive any declarations of interest from Members;

(iv)

receive any announcements from the Chairman, Leader, or Portfolio holders.

(v)

deal with any business remaining from the last Council meeting;

(vi)

receive reports from the District Executive and the Council’s Committees
including the Area Committees and receive questions and answers on any of
those reports;

(vii)

receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of
joint arrangements and external organisations;

(viii)

consider motions; and

(ix)

consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting,
including consideration of proposals from the District Executive in relation to
the Council’s budget and policy framework and reports of the Portfolio
holders, Policy Commissions and the Scrutiny Committee for debate.

Items for Early Debate
Party Group Leaders may request an item, including motions be brought forward in
the agenda. Requests to be received by the Specialist - Democratic Services by no
later than 12 noon on the day of the Council meeting. In the event of competing
requests the decision on varying the order of agenda items shall be taken by the
Chairman.

3.

Extraordinary Meetings

3.1

Calling Extraordinary Meetings.
Those listed below may request the Specialist - Democratic Services to call Council
meetings in addition to ordinary meetings:
(i)

the Council by resolution;

(ii)

the Chairman of the Council;

iii)

the Monitoring Officer; and

iv)

any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to
the Chairman of the Council and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has
failed to call a meeting within seven days of the presentation of the
requisition.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 106

March 2018

4.

Time and Place of Meetings
The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Specialist - Democratic
Services Specialist and notified in the summons.

5.

Notice of and Summons to Meetings
The Specialist - Democratic Services Specialist will give notice to the public of the
time and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules.
At least five clear days before a meeting, the Specialist - Democratic Services
Specialist will send a summons signed by the Director (Support Services) by post to
every Member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of residence. The
summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business
to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available.

6.

Chair of Meeting
The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the
Chairman. Where these rules apply to Committee and Sub-Committee meetings,
references to the Chairman also include the Chairman of Committees and SubCommittees.

7.

Quorum
The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of members except
where authorised by the Council. In no case shall the quorum of a Committee be
less than three members. The Council has decided that the quorum of the Regulation
Committee shall be seven members (half the membership). During any meeting if the
chairman counts the number of members present and declares there is not a quorum
present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be
considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If he/she does not fix a date,
the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

8.

Duration of Meeting
Unless the majority of members present vote for the meeting to continue, any
meeting of the Full Council that has lasted for 3 hours will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the chairman. If
he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next
ordinary meeting.

9.

Public Participation

9.1

Public Question Time
Questions, statements or comments from members of the public will be allowed at
the beginning of each scheduled meeting of the Council and Committees. Questions
should be directed to Executive Portfolio holders who may where appropriate ask an
officer to reply.

9.2

Time for Public Questions

9.3

The period allowed for participation shall not exceed 15 minutes except with the
consent of the Council or Committee. Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a
total of three minutes.
Notice

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 107

March 2018

Questions need not be submitted in advance, in writing, but questions presented in
that form are likely to receive a more detailed reply.
9.4

Asking The Question At The Meeting
Speakers will be asked to stand when they address the meeting and, where a
question is asked, the answer may take the form of:(a)
(b)
(c)

a direct oral response; or
where the desired information is contained in a publication of the Council,
reference to that publication; or
where the reply to the question cannot conveniently be given orally, a
written answer will be provided.

Every question shall be put and answered without discussion although the
questioner may be permitted to ask supplementary questions relating to the
question.
9.5

Scope Of Questions
The Chairman may disallow any question, statement or comment if it:

•
•
•
•
9.6

is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which
affects the district;
is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;
is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of
the Council in the past six months; or
requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information.

Number Of Questions
At any one meeting no person may submit more than 2 questions and no more than
2 such questions may be asked on behalf of one organisation.

9.7

Written Answers
Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because
of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the Member to whom it was to be
put, will be dealt with by a written answer.

9.8

Reference Of Question To The District Executive Or A Committee
Unless the Chairman decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any
question, but any Member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred
to the District Executive or the appropriate Committee or Panel. Once seconded,
such a motion will be voted on without discussion.

9.9

Comments on Agenda Items

9.10

Members of the public who wish to speak on specific agenda items, such as planning
applications, will be allowed to do so at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.
The detailed rules in relation to public participation at committees are included in Part
5 of this Constitution.
Petitions

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 108

March 2018

Petitions may be received at any meeting of the Council or appropriate Committee
(and which shall include any Area Committee) in accordance with the Council’s
Petition Scheme set out in Part 8 of the Constitution.

10.

Questions by Members

10.1

On Reports of the District Executive Or Committees
A member of the Council may ask the Leader or the Chairman of a Committee any
question without notice upon an item of the report of the District Executive or a
Committee when that item is being received or under consideration by the Council.

10.2

Questions on Notice At Full Council
Subject to Rule 10.3, a member of the Council may ask:

•

the Chairman;

•

the Executive Portfolio Holder;

•

the Chairman of any Committee or Sub-Committee;
a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties
or which affects the district.

10.3

Notice of Questions
A member may only ask a question under Rule 10.2 if either:

10.4

(a)

they have given at least 3 working days notice in writing of the question to the
Specialist - Democratic Services Specialist; or

(b)

the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the chairman
to whom the question is to be put and the content of the question is given to
the Specialist - Democratic Services Specialist by 12 noon on the day of the
meeting.

Response
An answer may take the form of:

10.5

(a)

a direct oral answer;

(b)

where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other
published work, a reference to that publication; or

(c)

where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer
circulated later to the questioner.

Supplementary Question
A member asking a question under Rule 10.2 may ask one supplementary question
without notice of the member to whom the first question was asked. The
supplemental question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 109

March 2018

11.

Motions on Notice

11.1

Notice
Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 12, written notice
of every motion, signed by the Member or Members giving notice, must be delivered
to the Specialist - Democratic Services Specialist not later than seven days before
the date of the meeting. These will be entered in a book open to public inspection.

11.2

Motion Set Out In Agenda
Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in
which notice was received, unless the Member giving notice states, in writing, that
they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it.

11.3

Scope
Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which
affect the district.

11.4

Motions for which notice has been duly given, the subject matter of which comes
within the province of any Committee, Committees or Portfolio Holder, shall, upon
being moved and seconded stand referred without discussion to such Committee or
Committees or Portfolio Holder, or to such other Committee, Committees Portfolio
holder as the Council may determine, for consideration and report. Provided that the
Chairman may, if he/she considers it convenient and conducive to the dispatch of
business, allow such motions to be dealt with at the meeting at which they are
brought forward.

12.

Motions Without Notice
The following motions may be moved without notice:
(a)

to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved;

(b)

in relation to the accuracy of the minutes;

(c)

to change the order of business in the agenda;

(d)

to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;

(e)

to appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the summons for
the meeting;

(f)

to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of Committees or Officers
and any resolutions following from them;

(g)

to withdraw a motion;

(h)

to amend a motion;

(i)

to proceed to the next business;

(j)

that the question be now put;

(k)

to adjourn a debate;

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 110

March 2018

(l)

to adjourn a meeting;

(m)

that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration.

(n)

to suspend a particular council procedure rule;

(o)

to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information
Rules;

(p)

to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to exclude them from
the meeting under Rule 20.4; and

(q)

to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this
Constitution.

13.

Rules of Debate

13.1

No Speeches Until Motion Seconded
No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained the
purpose of it until the motion has been seconded.

13.2

Right To Require Motion In Writing
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chairman may require it to
be written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed.

13.3

Seconder’s Speech
When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech until
later in the debate.

13.4

Content And Length Of Speeches
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal
explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed 5 minutes without the consent
of the Chairman.

13.5

When a Member May Speak Again
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject
of debate, except:
(a)

to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member;

(b)

to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she
last spoke;

(c)

if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to
speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she
spoke was carried);

(d)

in exercise of a right of reply;

(e)

on a point of order; and

(f)

by way of personal explanation.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 111

March 2018

13.6

Amendments to Motions
(a)

An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be:
(i)

to refer the matter to an appropriate body for consideration or
reconsideration;

(ii)

to leave out words;

(iii)

to leave out words and insert or add others; or

(iv)

to insert or add words.

as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion.

13.7

13.8

(b)

Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has
been disposed of.

(c)

If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may
be moved.

(d)

If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the
original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further
amendments are moved.

(e)

After an amendment has been carried, the Chairman will read out the
amended motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are
none, put it to the vote.

Alteration of Motion
(a)

A member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the
consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without
discussion.

(b)

A member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will
be signified without discussion.

(c)

Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

Withdrawal of Motion
A Member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both
the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without
discussion. No member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked
permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

13.9

Right of Reply
(a)

The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.

(b)

If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right of
reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not otherwise
speak on it.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 112

March 2018

(c)

The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his or her
amendment.

13.10 Motions Which May Be Moved During Debate
When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following
procedural motions:
(a)

to withdraw a motion;

(b)

to amend a motion;

(c)

to proceed to the next business;

(d)

that the question be now put;

(e)

to adjourn a debate;

(f)

to adjourn a meeting;

(g)

that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration.

(h)

to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information
Rules; and

(i)

to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to exclude them from
the meeting under Rule 20.4.

13.11 Closure Motions
(a)

A member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of a
speech of another Member:
(i)

to proceed to the next business;

(ii)

that the question be now put;

(iii)

to adjourn a debate; or

(iv)

to adjourn a meeting.

(b)

If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chairman thinks
the item has been sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the
original motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote.

(c)

If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chairman thinks
the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion
to the vote. If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a
right of reply before putting his/her motion to the vote.

(d)

If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and
the Chairman thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot
reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural
motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of
reply.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 113

March 2018

13.12 Point of Order
A member may raise a point of order at any time. The Chairman will hear them
immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council
Rules of Procedure or the law. The member must indicate the rule or law and the
way in which he/she considers it has been broken. The ruling of the chairman on the
matter will be final.
13.13 Personal Explanation
A member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation
may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which may
appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the
Chairman on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final.

14.

State of the District Debate

14.1

Calling of Debate
The Leader may call a state of district debate annually on a date and in a form to be
agreed with the Chairman.

14.2

Form of Debate
The Leader will decide the form of the debate with the aim of enabling the widest
possible public involvement and publicity. This may include holding workshops and
other events prior to or during the state of district debate.

14.3

Chairing of Debate
The debate will be chaired by the Chairman.

14.4

Results of Debate
The results of the debate will be:
(i)

disseminated as widely as possible within the community and to agencies and
organisations in the area; and

(ii)

considered by the District Executive in proposing the budget and policy
framework to the Council for the coming year.

15.

Previous Decisions and Motions

15.1

Motion To Rescind A Previous Decision
A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within
the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at
least one third of the Members of the Council.

15.2

Motion Similar To One Previously Rejected
A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting
of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or
amendment is signed by at least one third of the Council Members. Once the motion
or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for
six months.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 114

March 2018

16.

Voting

16.1

Majority
Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple
majority of those members who are entitled to vote, voting and present in the room at
the time the question was put. Other than as provided for in Procedure Rule 16.2
members shall only be entitled (if they are firstly entitled to vote) to a maximum of
one vote in relation to any business.

16.2

Chairman’s Casting Vote
If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman will have a second
or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chairman chooses to exercise
a casting vote.

16.3

Show Of Hands
Unless a recorded vote is demanded or required under Rule 16.4 or 16.4A, the
Chairman will take a vote by show of hands, with the numbers for and against the
motion or amendment or abstaining from voting being recorded in the minutes.
However, should it appear to the Chairman that there is general agreement he/she
may call only for those dissenting and those abstaining. Those numbers to be
recorded in the Minutes.

16.4

Recorded Vote
If ten members (or one half of a committee membership) present at a meeting
demand it, the names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from
voting will be taken down in writing by roll-call and entered into the minutes.

16.4A At a Budget Decision Meeting of the Council:a) Immediately after any vote is taken at a budget decision meeting of the Council
there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the
names of the Members who cast a vote for or against the decision or who
abstained from voting.
b) Reference to a “budget decision meeting” for the purposes of Rule 16.4A means
a meeting of the Council at which it makes a calculation (whether originally or by
way of substitute) in accordance with any of sections 31A, 31B, 34 to 36A, or
52ZJ of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and includes a meeting where
making the calculation was included as an item of business on the agenda for
that meetings.
c) Reference to a “vote” for the purposes of Rule 16.4A are references to a vote on
any decision related to the meeting or calculation as the case may be.
16.5

Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded
Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be
so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or
abstained from voting.

16.6

Voting on appointments

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 115

March 2018

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is
not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person
with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person.

17.

Minutes

17.1

Signing The Minutes
The Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting.
The Chairman will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a
correct record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.

17.2

No Requirement To Sign Minutes Of Previous Meeting At Extraordinary
Meeting
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the
minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting
(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a
suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating
to signing of minutes.

18.

Record of Attendance
All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on
the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the
record of attendance.

19.

Exclusion of Public
Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the
Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule 21 (Disturbance by
Public).

20.

Members’ Conduct

20.1

Standing To Speak
When a Member speaks at full Council they must stand and address the meeting
through the Chairman. If more than one member stands, the chairman will ask one to
speak and the others must sit. Other Members must remain seated whilst a member
is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal
explanation.

20.2

Chairman Standing
When the Chairman stands during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must
stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

20.3

Member Not To Be Heard Further
If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chairman by behaving
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chairman may move
that the member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on
without discussion.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 116

March 2018

20.4

Member To Leave The Meeting
If the member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the
Chairman may move that either the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting
is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without
discussion.

20.5

General Disturbance
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chairman
may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary.

20.6

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
20.6.1 A Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter to be considered,
or being considered at a meeting must:
(a) disclose the interest; and
(b) explain the nature of that interest at the commencement of that
consideration or when the interest becomes apparent (subject to Rule
20.6.2 below);
and unless he/she has been granted a dispensation:
(c) not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the
meeting; and
(d) withdraw from the meeting room completely whenever it becomes
apparent that the business is being considered; and
(e) not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business.
20.6.2 Where a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, has been agreed by the Monitoring
Officer as being a Sensitive Interest, the Member need only disclose the
existence of the interest but not its nature.

21.

Disturbance by Public

21.1

Removal Of Member Of The Public
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person
concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from
the meeting room.

21.2

Clearance Of Part Of Meeting Room
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public,
the Chairman may call for that part to be cleared.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 117

March 2018

22.

Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules

22.1

Suspension
All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 16.6 and 17.2 may be
suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole
number of Members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the
duration of the meeting.

22.2

Amendment
Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when
proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary
meeting of the Council, unless the motion is moved in pursuance of a
recommendation of a committee.

23.

Application to Committees and Sub-Committees

23.1

All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council. All the Rules
of Procedure shall also apply to meetings of committees including the Area
Committees and Sub-Committees with the exception of Rules 8 and 20.1 and rules
relating to public speaking. See public participation protocol at Part 5 of this
Constitution.

Part 4 – Rules of Procedure

Page 118

March 2018

General Standing Orders
24.

Reference Up of Decisions

24.1

Where a Committee acting under delegated powers considers a particular question at
a meeting and, immediately after the question has been put to the vote, not less than
5 members of the Committee, or a third of the membership of the Committee whichever is the lesser - wish to invoke the provisions of this Standing Order, the
Committee shall submit a report on the use of the delegated powers to the Council at
its next meeting and, subject to the provisions of paragraph 24.4, the decision shall be
treated as a recommendation.

24.2

A similar provision shall apply where not less than 15 members from the whole
Council wish to question the use of delegated powers by a Committee in which case
the Committee shall submit a report on the decision questioned to the next meeting of
the Council. If the Committee has not acted upon the decision it shall be held in
abeyance until the Council meeting.

24.3

Notice under paragraph 24.2 questioning the use of the delegated powers shall be
signed by 15 members and delivered to the Democratic Services Specialist by not
later than 9.00 a.m. (or by first post if that is later) on the seventh day before the
Council meeting at which it is to be considered.

24.4

Paragraphs 24.1 and 24.2 shall not apply to any question which arises from an item of
business:(a)

(b)
(c)

where a Committee has to make a decision before the next meeting of the
Council because the Council has an obligation arising from the nature of the
business to be transacted or, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, delay
would prejudice the Council's position.
which concerns the appointment, discipline or dismissal of a member of staff.
which is a planning application

25.

Record of Attendances

25.1

Every member of the Council attending a meeting of the Council, or of any of its
Committees of which he/she is a member, shall sign his/her name in the attendance
book or sheet provided for that purpose.

26.

Interest of Members in Contracts and Other Matters

26.1

Members of the Council will have regard to the Code of Conduct adopted by the
Council and set out in Part 5 of the Constitution.

27.

Interest of Officers in Contracts

27.1

The Executive Assistant to the Chief Executive shall record in a book to be kept for
the purpose particulars of any notice given by an officer of the Council under Section
117 of the Local Government Act 1972, of a pecuniary interest in a contract, and the
book shall be open during office hours to the inspection of any member of the Council.

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 119

March 2018

28.

Custody of Seal

28.1

The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of the
Democratic Services Specialist.

29.

Authentication of Documents for Legal Proceedings

29.1

Where the production of any document will be a necessary step in legal proceedings
on behalf of the Council it shall be signed by a Proper Officer of the Council unless
any enactment otherwise requires or authorises, or the Council give the necessary
authority to some other person for the purpose of such proceedings.

30.

Inspection of Documents

30.1

Any member of the Council may inspect and make a copy of any document in the
possession or under the control of the Council and which the member may require in
the course of his/her duties as a member of the Council.
A member may not knowingly inspect and shall not call for a copy of any document
relating to a matter in which he/she is professionally interested or in which he/she has
directly or indirectly any pecuniary interest within the meaning of Sections 94 and 95
of the Local Government Act 1972.
The Proper Officer may decline to allow inspection of any document which in his/her
opinion discloses exempt information of a description for the time being falling within
paragraphs 1 to 7, Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended).
Any document provided for a member and marked "Not for Publication" shall be
exclusively for the use of that member and shall not be disclosed to any other person.
All members of the public over the age of 18 have the right to see, to correct factual
errors in and to add comments to, all personal records and files held on them by the
Council with the exception of legally privileged information.
The right to inspect and request correction of any data covered by the Data Protection
Act 1998 shall be subject to the provisions of that Act and of the Council's Data
Protection Policy.
All members and employees of the Council who are concerned with the control and/or
use of personal data as defined by the Data Protection Act 1998 shall be subject to
the provisions of the Act and of the Council's Data Protection Policy.

30.2

30.3

30.4
30.5
30.6
30.7

31.

Information

31.1

Officials of the Council shall not be required to compile statistical information for
members of the Council unless the request for such information has first received the
approval of the Council or appropriate Committee or Strategy Group.

32.

Inspection of Lands, Premises etc

32.1

Unless specifically authorised to do so by the Council or a Committee, a member of
the Council shall not issue any order in respect of any works which are being carried
out by or on behalf of the Council or claim by virtue of his/her membership of the
Council any right to inspect or to enter upon any lands or premises which the Council
have the power or duty to inspect or enter.

33.

Appointment of Committees

33.1

The Council shall at the annual meeting appoint such Statutory and Standing
Committees, and may at any time appoint such other Committees as are necessary to
carry out the work of the Council but, subject to any statutory provision in that behalf:(a)

shall not appoint any member of a Committee so as to hold office later than the
next annual meeting of the Council;

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 120

March 2018

(b)
(c)

may at any time dissolve or alter the membership of a Committee;
the District Executive and any other Standing Committee(s) will, so far as
practicable, reflect the political composition of the Council so that all political
groupings shall be represented thereon in proportion to their elected members
on the Council, except in so far as individual parties or Councillors might waive
their rights.

34.

Emergency Procedure

34.1

Unless otherwise provided the Chief Executive or in their absence the appropriate
Director shall, from time to time, (after consulting the Chairman of the Committee
concerned, or, in his/her absence, the Chairman of the Council or the Vice-Chairman
of the Committee concerned), take all necessary steps for protecting the interests of
or advancing the business of the Council, providing that action taken shall in all cases
be reported to the next appropriate meeting of such Committee.

35.

Constitution of Committees

35.1

The Chairman of the Council, and the Leader and Deputy Leader of the District
Executive may attend and speak (but may not vote) at any meeting of a Committee
including Area Committees or Sub-Committee of which they have not been appointed
as voting members.

36.

Persons Presiding in Committees

36.1

The Council may appoint Chairmen to preside at meetings of Committees and may
also appoint persons to preside in the absence of those Chairmen.

36.2

A Committee may appoint a Chairman to preside at meetings of any Sub-Committee
appointed by them or a person to preside in the absence of the Chairman.

36.3

If any appointments possible under the previous two paragraphs are not made, the
Committee shall, at their first meeting after the Annual Meeting of the Council, appoint
a Chairman to preside at their meetings and may, in the same way, appoint a person
to preside in the absence of the Chairman.

36.4

If the persons appointed under the previous paragraphs of this Standing Order are
absent, a meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee/or Strategy Group or Sub-Group
shall appoint, from among the voting members present, a person to preside at that
meeting.

37.

Special Meetings of Committees

37.1

The Chairman of a Committee or the Chairman of the Council may call a special
meeting of the Committee at any time. A special meeting shall also be called on the
requisition of a quarter of the whole number of the Committee, delivered in writing to
the Democratic Services Specialist but in no case shall less than three members
requisition a special meeting. The summons to the special meeting shall set out the
business to be considered thereat, and no business other than that set out in the
summons shall be considered at that meeting.

38.

Sub-Committees

38.1

Every Committee appointed by the Council may appoint Sub-Committees for
purposes to be specified by the Committee.

38.2

The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman of the Committee may attend and speak at a
meeting of any Sub-Committee appointed by that Committee but may not vote unless
appointed as a voting member.

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 121

March 2018

39.

Quorum of Committees and Sub-Committees

39.1

Except where authorised by a statute or ordered by the Council, business shall not be
transacted at a meeting of any Committee unless at least one quarter of the whole
number of the Committee is present. Provided that in no case shall the quorum of a
Committee be less than three members.

39.2

Except as aforesaid or otherwise ordered by the Committee which has appointed it,
business shall not be transacted at a meeting of a Sub-Committee unless at least one
quarter of the whole number of the Sub-Committee is present. Provided that in no
case shall the quorum of a Sub-Committee be less than three members.

40.

Attendance at Committee

40.1

Any member of the Council may be invited by the Chairman/Portfolio holder or
relevant Director to attend a meeting of any Committee or Sub-Committee of which
he/she is not a member.

40.2

Where a member is not appointed to serve on a particular Standing Committee or
Sub-Committee he/she shall nevertheless have the right to attend meetings and, with
the agreement of the Chairman, to speak on matters on the agenda.

40.3

Provided that a member who has moved a motion which has been referred to any
Committee under the Council Rules of Procedure shall be given an opportunity of
explaining the motion at the meeting at which it is considered.

Note

(a)

In addition to the specific rights mentioned in this Standing Order, members
can attend any meeting and can observe the entire proceedings. Such
attendance will not rank as approved duty except in the case of attendance at
a meeting of the District Executive. Members will not have to leave the meeting
if a resolution excluding the press and public is passed. They will, however,
have to leave the room if an item is discussed in which they have an interest.

(b)

Notwithstanding the provisions mentioned in 40 (2) above, members have the
right to attend and speak at meetings of Area Committees on which they do
not serve when planning applications affecting Wards adjoining the Ward
which they represent are being considered.

40.(A) Somerset Waste Partnership Board – Substitute Members
40.(A) 1

Subject to the following rules, any member of the Council may act as a substitute
for another member appointed by the Council at any meeting of the Somerset
Waste Partnership Board provided that the rules of that body so permit. The
substitute member shall be as agreed by the Leader of the Council and need not
be a member of the same political group as the member being replaced.

40.(A) 2

The Leader of the Council may only appoint a substitute member when the
appointed member of the Somerset Waste Partnership Board is not able to attend
and the substitute appointment shall last only for that meeting. In relation to the
Somerset Waste Board if both appointed members are unable to attend a
meeting of the Board then at least one of the substitute members must be a
member of the District Executive Committee.

40.(A) 3

Where the Leader has exercised the power to appoint a substitute member he
shall advise the Chief Executive and the Democratic Services Specialist in writing
of the substitution as soon as possible and in any event before the meeting is due
to take place. In relation to the Somerset Waste Board the Strategic Director shall
ensure that any procedural requirements of the Board are complied with and that
the substitute member is aware of the Somerset Waste Partnership Board’s

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 122

March 2018

requirements.
40.(A) 4

A substitute member shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at
meetings of the Committee and Board as the appointed member for whom he or
she is the substitute.

As soon as the substitute member has been appointed by the Leader of the Council the
other appointed member shall not be entitled to attend the meeting of the Committee or
Board to which the substitution applies without the Leader of the Council having first
revoked in writing the appointment of the substitute member and notified the officers
referred to in paragraph 40(A).3 above of such revocation.
40.(B) Appointment of substitute Members at Meetings of Committees
40.(B) 1

This procedure rule shall be subject to review at each Annual Meeting of the
Council and shall cease to apply unless the Council resolves it shall continue.

40.(B) 2

Other than is provided for in Procedure Rules 40(A) and 40(B) no other substitute
arrangements are allowed. No substitution is allowed in relation to the Area
Committees, Licensing Committee or the District Executive Committee.

40.(B) 3

If a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting or meetings of that
Committee then they should provide their Group Leader (i.e. the relevant Leader
of their political group or the Leader of the independent Members as applicable)
with the identity of another member who is prepared to act as their substitute.
The Group Leaders are entitled to appoint any member to act as a substitute and
are not under any obligation to accept the recommendation of the member who is
seeking a substitute. The Group Leaders will endeavor to discuss and agree any
proposed substitutions with the Chairman or Vice Chairman of the relevant
Committee before the meeting but the Chairman or Vice Chairman’s consent to
any substitution is not required. Due to the restrictions referred to in paragraph
40(B)4 below, members need to ensure that the appropriate training or instruction
has been or will be undertaken by the proposed substitute member before the
meeting.

40.(B) 4

Before the substitute can attend a meeting of the relevant committee as a
substitute member they must have received the appropriate training or instruction
from officers and the Chairman of the relevant committee (as appropriate)
sufficient to enable them to be familiar with the working arrangements, any legal
requirements, the procedures of the committee and the work for which the
committee is responsible. The training or instruction required for each committee
(if any) is set out in paragraph 40(B)(10)

40.(B) 5

A substitute may only be appointed to attend a meeting when an appointed
member of the relevant committee is not able to attend and the substitute
appointment shall last only for that meeting unless otherwise agreed by the Group
Leader.

40.(B) 6

Before the start of any meeting where a substitute is to be used, the Leader of the
political group concerned or the Leader of the independent members (or their
Deputies) shall notify the Democratic Services Specialist of the substitution and
which member is to attend the meeting as a substitute member. It is
recommended that this notification be in writing rather than verbal and be given
as soon as reasonably practicable.

40.(B) 7

At the start of any meeting for which a substitution has been arranged, the
Democratic Services Officer, shall announce that the absent member or each of
them (if more than one) apologises for their absence and that the named member

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 123

March 2018

has been appointed to serve as their substitute.
40.(B) 8

If the absent member is subsequently able to attend a meeting for which a
substitute has been appointed and they are present for the start of the meeting
(and before the announcement in paragraph 40(B)7 has been made) then, with
the agreement of the nominated substitute, they can be re-instated and take part
in the meeting.

40.(B) 9

If the absent member is subsequently able to attend a meeting for which a
substitute has been appointed, but arrives after the meeting has opened and the
announcement has been made in paragraph 40(B)7 above, they shall be entitled
to attend the meeting and speak in accordance with Procedure Rule 40, but not
vote.

40.(B)10

The minimum training and instruction requirements referred to in paragraph
40(B)(4) are as follows:-

Audit Committee


Role of the Audit Committee - this would include an understanding of its
responsibilities in sound corporate governance and the different roles of those that
report to Audit Committee including Internal and External Audit.



Risk Management - an understanding of the Audit Committee role.



Treasury Management - providing a scrutiny role requires an understanding of
the Treasury Management Strategy including an understanding of risk and reward in
placing investments. A general understanding of financial instruments and their
liquidity and risk profile.



Statement of Accounts - a basic understanding of the key financial accounting
statements to be able to challenge and approve the annual Statement of Accounts.

The training required could be tailored to the items on the particular agenda. The
most technical areas are those required for the Statement of Accounts and Treasury
Management. Members of the Finance Team can deliver all the necessary instruction and
guidance, in usually one hour or up to two hours for the more technical areas to give a basic
overall understanding.
Scrutiny Committee


To meet with the Scrutiny Specialist together with the Chairman of the Committee
and go through the scrutiny handbook which outlines the principles and practices
relating to the scrutiny function.



To meet with the Scrutiny Specialist (if practicable, failing which a telephone
discussion will be acceptable) to go through the agenda so they are aware of the
context of the reports that are to be considered at the next meeting.



Where convenient attend any Scrutiny training arranged for members of the Scrutiny
Committee.

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 124

March 2018

Regulation Committee


As the only other committee at which planning applications are discussed is the
Regulation committee and as all members will have had instruction in relation to the
determination of planning matters, there are no additional training requirements
although it is advisable that more experienced members are chosen where
appropriate.

41.

Financial Administration

41.1

Every Member-level body and Officer of the Council shall conform with the financial
arrangements made by the Council under the provisions of Section 151 of the Local
Government Act 1972 as outlined in the Financial Procedure Rules and Contract
Procedural Rules contained within this Constitution.

Part 4 – General Standing Orders

Page 125

March 2018

Procurement Procedure Rules

May 2015

Page 126

Procurement Procedure Rules
CONTENTS
1. Introduction
2. How the Rules are organised
3. Exclusions and Exemptions
3.1 Exclusions
3.2 Exemptions available automatically
3.3 Exemptions available subject to prior written or committee approval
4. General Points to be followed
5. Compliance with European Law
6. Contract Strategy/Getting Started
7. Estimating the Procurement Value
8. Financial Categories/Bands
8.1 Transactions up to £5,000
8.2 Transactions between £5,001 and £25,000
8.3 Transactions between £25,001 and £50,000
8.4 Transactions between £50,001 and EC Rules thresholds
8.5 Transactions over EC Rules Thresholds
9. The Tendering Process
9.1 Types of tendering procedure
9.2 Advertising
9.3 Specifying the Contract
9.4 Contract Conditions
9.5 Instructions to Tenderers
9.6 Action during the Tender Period
9.7 Receipts, Storage and Opening of Tenders
9.8 Errors and Qualified Tenders

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 127

May 2015

9.9 Evaluation of Tenders
9.10 Award of Contract
9.11 Post Award
9.12 Contract Extensions
10. Special Types of Procurement
10.1 Constructionline
10.2 Using other council’s/public bodies’ contracts
10.3 Partnership arrangements
10.4 Shared services
10.5 Framework Agreements
10.6 Appointment of consultants
10.7 Purchase Orders

11. Disposing of surplus goods
12. Glossary

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 128

May 2015

1. Introduction
(a)

This document sets out the Procurement Procedure Rules (the “Rules”) that
officers at SSDC must follow when spending money on the goods, services and
works needed to deliver our services to the people of South Somerset. The Rules
also set out how to handle the disposal of any Council assets that are no longer
required. This is an important document and it forms part of the Council’s
Constitution.

(b)

Our Rules have three main purposes:


to obtain Best Value in the way we spend money, so that we may in
turn offer Best Value services to the public;



to comply with the laws that govern the spending of public money; the
Rules are the internal rules that officers must follow in dealing with any
procurement or disposal;



to protect individual officers from undue criticism or allegation of
wrongdoing. Following the Rules will give an officer comfort that
she/he has acted properly whilst failure to follow the Rules is
disciplinary offence.

(c)

In addition, this document gives general guidance and good practice in the
procurement process and officers should have regard to this when setting out
their own procurement process. Where general guidance appears to conflict with
the Rules then the Rules have precedence. Where Officers are unclear which
aspects are Rules and which guidance they should seek advice from the
Procurement and Risk Manager.

(d)

Each Director and Assistant Director must ensure that officers within their service
area having responsibility for procuring contracts (the Responsible Officer(s))
have received adequate training on the role and are aware of and follow the Rules
and guidance when letting contracts. The Director/Assistant Director must also
ensure that budget arrangements are in place to fund the procurement and that
appropriate liaison with officers in other services takes place as necessary to
maximise joint procurement opportunities.

(e)

The Rules :


set out the standard procedures to be followed but further advice
should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager if the
procurement is more complex or if so advised in these Rules;



seek to get the best deal by using our shared buying power wherever
possible including using corporate contracts where these have been
negotiated e.g. stationery contracts;



allow a robust audit trail to be produced



enable statistical and other information to be collected to comply with
the law and to enable us to understand the “big picture” of our
spending so we can plan, measure and improve the efficiency of our
procurement

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 129

May 2015


(f)

2.

are written to make them easy to understand and the meanings of
technical terms are given in a glossary at the end of the document.

Further advice on any aspect of these Rules or on procurement matters in general
can be obtained from the Procurement and Risk Manager or from any member of
support services.

How the Rules are organised
(a)

Some types of procurement are excluded from or are exempt from the Rules in
total or in part and these are set out in Section 3 below. Approval is needed for
some exemptions and, in all cases, appropriate records must be kept to identify
and justify the exclusion or exemption relied upon.

(b)

General points to be considered or followed in all procurements are set out in
Section 4 below

(c)

The Rules applying to most types of procurements are set out according to the
different value ‘bands’ for the procurement in question with the higher value bands
needing a more rigorous process. These bands are set out in Section 8 with
advice on how to estimate the value of the procurement is set out in Section 7. In
principle, the greater requirements for the higher value procurements reflect the
greater risk to the Council involved in these contracts. Where the contract,
although low value, is high profile for the Council or is likely to represent a high
risk then it is advisable to follow a more rigorous process set out for a higher
value band. Officers should seek advice if there is any doubt as to the best
process to follow.

(d)

The Rules cover 3 types of procurement – those relating to purchasing goods,
those concerning the undertaking of services or those involving the execution of
works on behalf of the Council. Although the Rules are broadly the same slightly
different considerations may apply to each type of procurement and, where this is
the case, these are highlighted.

(e)

The Rules and guidance on European law are covered in Section 5. Where these
laws conflict with these Rules and/or UK domestic law the European law will take
precedence so it is very important to read this section.

(f)

If the procurement may involve the transfer in or out of staff (insourcing or
outsourcing) then special considerations and laws apply and urgent preliminary
advice should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager before
commencing the procurement.

(g)

The Rules and guidance relating to the tendering process from start to finish is set
out in Section 9. This section represents good practice for the smaller value
procurement bands but must be followed for the higher value bands i.e. over
£50,000.

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 130

May 2015

3.

Exclusions and Exemptions
Note: no exemption or exclusion is possible where this would conflict with the
Council’s obligations or duties under the European law.

3.1 Exclusions
(a)

(b)

For the avoidance of doubt these Rules shall not apply to:
(i)

the sale, leasing or purchase of land or of any interest in land;

(ii)

any contract of employment (but see Section 2(f) above);

(iii)

purchases by auction, or second hand or used items where very
limited choice exists;

(iv)

grants to external organizations. (Covered by the Council’s Community
Grants Policy)

Where there is any query about whether the Procurement in question falls within
any of the Exclusion categories further advice should be sought from the
Procurement and Risk Manager.

3.2 Exemptions available automatically
(a)

Tenders shall not be required for the following procurements: (i)

Where a condition of civil emergency or a major crisis affecting the
Council or the community at large, such that exceptional decisions
need to be made in exceptional circumstances as a matter of urgency,
then delegated authority will fall, automatically, to the
Director/Assistant Director involved to make the procurement decisions
necessary without following the Rules where this hinders dealing
effectively with the emergency. If the value of such orders exceeds
£50,000 a full report must be made to the next District Executive
meeting outlining the reasons for the exemption being used.

(ii)

Where the Responsible Officer orders work to be executed or goods or
materials to be purchased or services to be supplied in rapidly
changing circumstances to meet the emergency and the value of such
orders exceed £50,000, a full report must be made to the next District
Executive meeting outlining the reasons for the exemption being used
and the extent of its use.

(iii)

Where an extension of an existing contract is permissible – see below
under ‘Extensions’.

(b)

Where the Council is acting as agent for another authority rather than procuring
on its own behalf then that other authority’s standing orders and requirements
concerning contracts must be followed instead. Any arrangement to act as agent
for another authority must itself be authorised by the appropriate officer or
committee;

(c)

Where another local authority, public body or consortium of local authorities or
public bodies has secured beneficial arrangements for the future of the goods,

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 131

May 2015

works or services and it is lawful for the Council to make use of such
arrangements – see below under Other Types of Procurement;
3.3 Exemptions available subject to prior written approval
IMPORTANT NOTE: Officers claiming exemption from the rules under any clause under section 3 , must
ensure that they have obtained clarification and agreement from the Procurement and
Risk Manager prior to proceeding. Failure to do so will be deemed to be a breach of
these rules. The exemptions given will be evidenced to Audit Committee and they will
act as advisors in this regard and advise the Procurement and Risk Manager if any
actions taken concern them.
(a)

4.

The following exemptions may be given with the written approval of the
Procurement and Risk Manager who will record of each such approval with
reasons for it being granted: (i)

Where a contract for the execution of works or the undertaking of
services or the supply of goods involves highly specialised technical,
scientific or artistic knowledge such that it is not possible to achieve
competitive tenders;

(ii)

Where the work to be executed or the goods or materials to be
supplied consists of repairs to or the supply of parts for existing
machinery or plant or are additions to an existing style or design which
would involve the council in greater cost and additional work in trying
to harmonise two differing systems, designs or solutions;

(iii)

Where the purchases are of patented or proprietary items and any
form of tendering would not be appropriate.

(iv)

Where best value is more likely to be achieved by approaching one
contractor or consultant.

(b)

An exemption may be given with the written approval of Procurement and Risk
Manager who will ensure that a record is kept of each such approval with
reasons for it being granted. Where the Procurement and Risk Manager is
unavailable to give consent pursuant to 3.3(a) (i) to (iv) above providing the
Responsible Officer can prove that exceptional circumstances exist, such that
compliance with these Rules would have put the council or a particular project
at risk of failing to reach external funding deadlines

(c)

All contract extensions must be submitted to Management Board for approval
prior to the contract expiry date. Request to extend must be made through the
Procurement and Risk Manager who will submit the request and supporting
evidence to the Assistant Director – Finance and Corporate Services.
Extensions will only be approved by Management Board for a maximum
period of 6 months beyond the contract end date. Extensions allowable under
the original Tender such as contracts let for 3 years plus option to let for a
further period (normally 2 years) shall not need prior approval. Management
Board shall have discretion to take the request to District Executive if its feels
appropriate to do so.

General Points to be followed

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 132

May 2015

(a)

Every purchase made by the Council is a procurement and is legally a contract
whether made in writing or verbally or by implication. Use of the terms
‘procurement’ and ‘contract’ are interchangeable and no special significance
should be drawn from the use of either term in these Rules. Similarly, there is no
fundamental difference between the terms ‘quotation’ or ‘tender’ - both represent
the contractor’s ‘offer’ – usually the price to be paid - to provide the goods,
services or works in question. The latter term tends to be used for the more formal
process used in higher value procurements.

(b)

Every procurement undertaken/contract entered into by the Council must comply
with these Rules and no exception may be made other than under the exclusions
and exemptions set out in Section 3.

(c)

All construction a civil engineering work procured should be through the
Constructionline system.

(d)

Every procurement must comply with


all relevant statutory provisions;



the relevant European law;



the Council’s constitution including, these Rules, the Financial
Procedure Rules, and the Scheme of Delegation;



the Councils strategic
Procurement Strategy.

objectives

and

policies

including

the

(e)

Health and Safety – It is vital that all contracts are procured and contractor’s
selected in accordance with the Council’s Health and Safety Policy and
specifically Chapter 9 of that Policy.

(f)

Whistleblowing - all contractors must be given a copy of the Council’s
Whistleblowing Policy.

(g)

Equality and Diversity - all contractors must be advised of the Council’s legal
duties to promote equality and remove discrimination in the provision of its
services. Each contractor, and any subcontractors they are permitted to use,
must follow (and given a copy if possible) such Equality and Diversity Policies as
the Council has produced and are relevant to the procurement concerned.
Equality factors can and should play a part in the selection of contractors and the
evaluation of contracts and the Procurement and Risk Manager can give advice
on how these aspects may be incorporated into the procurement process.
Further officers should be aware that our duty under the Equalities acts does
carry forward into any service based contracts or arrangements. Officers must
take care when engaging with 3rd sector or voluntary sector organisations that
may from time to time be required to deliver services on our behalf. Whilst such
arrangements are in place the full effect and force of the Equalities Act will apply
to the service being obtained as if it were being supplied directly from the council.
Officers who believe they are entering into these types of arrangement should
contact the Procurement and Risk Manager or the Equalities Officer for further
guidance
 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct prohibited by the Act.

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 133

May 2015



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.



and Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and people who do not share it.

Officers should carry out a pre procurement assessment to ensure that any
equalities aspects have been considered before entering into the procurement
process. A flow chart has been produced to assist officers in understanding how
to carry out the impact assessment and as to if alterations to the process of the
specification need to maid before proceeding.
Further guidance is available on the Procurement Intranet pages to assist officers
in ensure that the Equalities aspect of a procurement are addressed and
considered before proceeding. Failure to carry out such an assessment or to have
taken due regard to Equalities aspects relating to procurement could result in a
legal challenge to the council.
(h)

Insurance - For all contracts, Responsible Officers should assess the risks
involved in the procurement and require the contractor to provide an appropriate
level of indemnity and insurance against any significant risk identified where the
council could face liability. This should including public liability insurance cover
and, where the service is being outsourced or may be insourced, an indemnity to
cover liabilities that may arise under the Acquired Rights Directive, the Transfer of
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 and the Code of
Practice for Workforce Matters. Further advice on insurance matters is available
from Financial Services.

(i)

Parent Company Guarantee/Performance Bond etc - the financial standing of
a possible contractor to provide goods or services or undertake works for the
Council should be assessed at the earliest opportunity. Where this assessment of
financial standing identifies a significant financial or service risk if the contractor
was appointed and the Responsible Officer still wishes to include the contractor
on a shortlist of tenderers or wishes to award the contract to that contractor, then
either a Parent Company Guarantee (PCG), a Performance Bond or some other
satisfactory arrangement to protect the Council’s interest will be required e.g.
including a provision in the contract to retain part of the payment due in case the
contractor defaults. Advice regarding assessing financial standing, drafting and
securing suitable PCG/Bonds or other arrangements should be sought from the
Procurement and Risk Manager or Financial Services.
Where a parent company guarantee is used the Responsible Officer should
ensure that the ‘parent’ is capable of performing the contract on the contractor’s
behalf if this becomes necessary.

(j)

Internal Controls - all Directors/Assistant Directors/Managers when
implementing the requirements and procedures as specified in these Rules shall
ensure that adequate internal controls are in place and are operating effectively.

(k)

Exclusion of contractors – There are circumstances where the Council may
exclude a tenderer from taking part in a procurement exercise or may disqualify
its tender. For example, where the Council finds that a contractor has breached
competition law e.g. by involvement in collusive bidding practices or cartels it may
automatically exclude such tenderers from participation in a bid. The Council may
decide to admit such a tenderer where evidence is presented to satisfy the
Council that the contractor has taken sufficient steps to regularise its tendering

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 134

May 2015

practices. Similarly, where a contractor has failed to follow the Code of Practice
for Workforce Matters etc with regard to terms and conditions of staff that
transferred to it then such a contractor may be excluded from future tendering
opportunities. In all cases where it may be necessary or desirable to exclude a
particular contractor it is advisable to seek advice first from the Procurement and
Risk Manager.
(l)

Community Right to Challenge:- The Localism Act 2011 introduced a number
of changes that could and do affect service delivery and therefore procurement.
Councils are now required by Law to engage with a relevant body, who may from
time to time express an interest in taking over and running council services. A
Relevant body can submit an Expression of Interest at any time and if this is
accepted by the council could invoke a full procurement process.
A link to the latest guidance both for officers and relevant bodies can be found at
http://www.southsomerset.gov.uk/communities/ssdc-and-the-localismact/community-right-to-bid/#

m)

Under the Data Protection Act 1998 the responsible officer, when placing a
contract for goods, works, or services, where any personal data is processed,
must ensure that certain mandatory conditions are included in the contract. In
addition, information should request about the technical and organisational
security arrangements in place to protect the data so officers are satisfied that the
processing is secure. Checks should be made, from time to time, to see that
such arrangements are operating effectively.

Officers are recommended to check the guidance and policy documentation provided
on the councils’ intranet site under Corporate Information, Data Protection and
Information Security as part of the procurement process and to seek further advice
from the Fraud and Data Manager if there are any queries.

5.

Compliance with European Law
(a)

All contracts made by the Council or on its behalf must comply with European law
and, in particular, the EC Rules. The EC Rules apply to written contracts with an
estimated value (see section 7 on how to calculate this) above specified
thresholds. Different thresholds apply depending upon whether the procurement
is for goods, services, or works, and are set out below.

(b)

Where this Directive applies its detailed provision must be followed and these are
set out in the corresponding UK Public Procurement Regulations (the
Regulations). The Regulations cover, amongst other matters, how the
procurement must be specified and advertised, how tenderers are selected,
evaluation criteria and award. Specific notices and formats must be followed and
because of the complexity of such rules advice should be sought from the
Procurement and Risk Manager.

(c)

The current thresholds from 1st January 2014 are: 

Appointment of Consultants above EC Limit (£172,514) (e207,000)



Purchase of Goods above EC Limit (£173,934) (e207,000)



Purchase of Services above EC Limit (£173,934) (e207,000)

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 135

May 2015



Commissioning of Works (e.g. buildings, bridges and other civil
engineering schemes) above EC Limit (£4.3 million) (e5,186.00)
Thresholds are net of VAT.

(d)

Where the contract is one of a series that whilst each is under the threshold the
total if aggregated would exceed the threshold then, again, advice from the
Procurement and Risk Manager must be sought.

(e)

Where the value of any procurement would exceed the threshold set out in (c) or
is within 5% of it, then the procurement should be treated as falling within the EC
Rules threshold and further advice must be sought before any procurement action
starts.

(f)

Officers should be aware that the European courts have extended the scope of
the Directive and European law generally so that some transactions not
traditionally thought of as being ‘caught’ is now covered. For example, the
Directive covers all expenditure by the Council (except some narrow, specified
exclusions set out in the Directive) including, for example, transactions where the
works are undertaken by the private sector but 50% or more is funded by the
Council or from Lottery or Government grants or other parts of the public sector.
Further advice should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager if an
officer is in any doubt as to whether the Directive or an aspect of European Law
applies.

(g)

Even where the value of the contract is below the thresholds set out in (c) the
general requirements of European law (as set out in the Treaty of Rome as
amended) still apply. This means that the following principles should be followed
in all procurements as far as possible: (i) Equal treatment – e.g. not giving more information to one company
compared to another;
(ii) Non-discrimination
e.g.
not
treating
contractors/suppliers from other nationalities;

less

favourably

(iii) Transparency – e.g. being open and up-front about the rules, procedures
and processes you will use for the procurement and a how decisions have
been made. This also covers providing sufficient advertising of the fact
that procurement is taking place so firms can make enquiries/challenges;
(iv) Proportionality - making the means proportionate to the ends – e.g. not
asking for excessive or irrelevant information where less would be
adequate;
(v) Mutual recognition – e.g. being willing to assess whether other countries
standards, qualifications etc, are equivalent to UK ones or good enough
for the matter in question.

6.

Contract Strategy/Getting Started
(h)

These Rules govern any option that results in payment or a contract. This means
taking a step back from the traditional procurement process and assessing the
options available. This process applies particularly to the provision of services.
Under Best Value legislation, officers are required to complete a formal, evidence-

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 136

May 2015

based analysis when considering options for the delivery of a service (though the
principles could be applied equally to goods or works).
(i)

The options include:
not providing the service at all;
providing the service ourselves (“in-house”);
someone else to providing the service (“outsourcing”) provision by the
private or voluntary sector);
providing the service in partnership with someone else (with the private or
voluntary sector or another local authority or public body); and
by commissioning jointly with another authority or public body.

N.B. Further guidance on options analysis may be obtained from the Procurement and Risk
Manager.

7.

Estimating the Procurement Value
(a)

The dividing up of contract values to avoid the more stringent requirements of
higher spending limits is strictly forbidden although it is acceptable to package
contracts in a way which allow the council to obtain more competitive prices or
better value. Every effort must be made to assess, accurately, the full cost of
the procurement, and this should include, any maintenance contracts, optional
extras and updates etc.

(b)

The contract value is the estimated cost of the contract over the whole period
of contract (Frame work contracts or call off contracts must not run for more
than four years). Therefore, for example, a contract for four years with a cost
of £20,000 per annum has a total value of £80,000.

(c)

Where the estimated value is under the threshold but within 5% of the EC
threshold you must seek further advice from the Procurement and Risk
Manager – see 5(e) above.

(d)

The monetary amounts included within these Rules refer to the value of the
contract (excluding VAT) including all elements over the lifetime of the
contract.

8.

Financial Categories/Bands
(a)

8.1
(a)

These are the minimum requirements to be followed when purchasing goods,
services, or works for the Council. Above where the procurement is high
profile or represents a significant risk to the Council or customers then a more
extensive procedure relating to one of the higher values should be followed.
Officers should seek further advice from the Procurement and Risk Manager
in case of doubt.
Transactions up to £5,000
For contracts under £5,000 the Responsible Officer must take reasonable
steps to demonstrate that s/he is obtaining value for money from the
procurement. It is preferred practice to get any verbal offer(s) confirmed in

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 137

May 2015

writing including a clear description of the goods/services being procured to
ensure absolute clarity of what is being purchased. This avoids any
misunderstanding and to provides a good audit trail.
(b)

8.2.

8.3.

8.4

All contracts/orders/invoices falling at £5,001 or above may be seen and
require approval by the Procurement and Risk Manager. This can include an
email, a PDF attachment to an email, faxed copy or a link to the financial
management system indicating the order or invoice in the system to be
reviewed.
Transactions £5,001 to £25,000

(a)

The Responsible Officer shall obtain, wherever practical, a minimum of three
written quotations. Where it is considered that it is not practical to obtain the
minimum s/he shall record, in writing, her/his reasons for not doing so in a
format approved by the Procurement and Risk Manager.

(b)

A written quotation must be obtained from the chosen contractor before a
formal purchase order is issued or a contract concluded. The relevant goods,
services, or works must be specified in sufficient detail (see below on
‘Specifying the Contract’) and the agreed contract conditions (see below on
‘Contract Conditions’) included e.g. Price and terms of payment, timescales,
performance standards. A faxed (or email quote) is acceptable in these cases.

Transactions £25,001 to £50,000
(a)

A simple but more detailed specification must be prepared identifying the
Council’s requirements for the goods, the services or the works to be provided
(see below on ‘Specifying the Contract’).

(b)

At least three written quotations must be invited before a formal purchase
order is issued or a contract concluded. The order/contract should include all
key terms and conditions of contract e.g. the prices to be paid (including any
discounts), the terms of payment, any default/termination provisions to be
applied (see below on ‘Contract Conditions’ for more details). Faxed or
emailed quotations are acceptable in these cases.

(c)

If less than three quotations are received then the Responsible Officer can
accept the quote which best meets the award criteria chosen (see ‘Evaluation
of Tenders’ below), however, a written record must be kept on file outlining the
circumstances and why this tender represented value for money.

Transactions £50,001 – European Directive Threshold (see ‘5’(c))
(a)

A more detailed specification must be provided identifying the Council’s
requirements for the goods, the services or the works in question (see below
on ‘Specifying the Contract’);

(b)

All relevant contract conditions (see below on ‘Contract Conditions’) must be
included and an appropriate framework for monitoring and reporting
performance put in place to ensure compliance with the contract.

(c)

Responsible Officers should follow the Rules and guidance set out in Section
9 concerning the tendering process unless the special types of processes
outlined in section 10 are to be followed.
Advice on these special
procurement options is available from the Procurement and Risk Manager.

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 138

May 2015

8.5

Works Procurements over the European Directive Threshold (see 5(c)
(a)

For transactions valued at over £172,514 (amount shown in sterling is related
to Euro exchange rate variation) for goods or services or £4.3 million for
works, prior advice of the proposed tender process must be sought from the
Procurement and Risk Manager.

9.

The Tendering Process

9.1

Types of tendering procedure
(a)

There are several types of tendering procedures that can be used and the
Responsible Officer should select the procedure most appropriate to the
procurement being undertaken.

(1) Open Procedure
(a)

The open procedure in a one-stage process so that every contractor who
expresses an interest will be send the tender documents and is invited to submit a
tender/quotation.

(b)

Open procedure is used mainly where there are a limited number of providers in
the market and so few tenders/quotations can be expected. In an open tender
situation every responder should and in fact must be offered a full set of tender
documents and no exclusion can be made at this stage as the process is as
suggested open to all.

(c)

The Responsible Officer must have prepared the tender documents e.g.
specification, pricing schedule, contract conditions etc, by the time the
notice/advert appears so they can be immediately dispatched as and when a
contractor expresses an interest.

(d)

The public notice/advertisement used must state the type, nature and purpose of
the contract e.g. a 5 year grounds maintenance contract to maintain the footpaths
within South Somerset, its value or value range, where further details and the
tender documents can be obtained and stating the last date and time when
applications will be accepted i.e. the closing date.

(e)

Where EC Rules apply then there are prescribed time limits to follow throughout
the process (see the Procurement and Risk Manager for more details). In all
other cases, then adequate time should be allowed to enable those contractors
who wish to tender to do so and the closing date must be set a minimum 10
working days after the public notice/advert appeared. The closing date must be
selected to allow that enough time for the contractors to provide all the information
and documents the tender document requires e.g. method statements, risk
register pricing information, in many cases a month or more is appropriate.

(f)

The public notice/advert must be placed in one of the local newspapers circulating
in the District and in such one or more trade journals, (if any), circulating among
persons who undertake such contracts. In addition, where EC Rules apply then
Notices may need to be completed on line for insertion in the Official Journal of
the European Union (seek further advice if this is the case)

(g)

See section 9 ref conduct during the tender periods

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 139

May 2015

(h)

On the Closing Date specified in the public notice/advert all the tenders must be
checked for errors and qualification and then evaluated according to the
predetermined criteria set out in the tender document – see section 9 below
reevaluation. In addition, checks on financial standing and health and safety
policies and procedures should be undertaken, references on past performance
taken up and all other relevant matters reviewed and confirmed as satisfactory.

(i)

See section 9 below re award and post award matters

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 140

May 2015

(2) Restricted Procedure
(a)

The restricted tendering process is a two stage process whereby those who
express an interest in undertaking the contract are asked to complete a pretender questionnaire so that evidence of finances, technical ability etc can
be gathered and used to short list which contractors are invited to tender.

(b)

This type of tendering allows you to restrict the number of tenders that you
have to evaluate and so is appropriate where there is likely to be a lot of
interest and/or a well-developed market.

(c)

Restricted tendering is also most useful where the tender documents e.g.
specification, pricing schedule, contract conditions etc., are not finalised for
dispatch at the time the notice/advert appears. By building in a shortlisting
stage it allows time for these documents to be developed whilst an initial
assessment of the financial standing, references etc. of those expressing an
interest is carried out.

(d)

Whenever possible, an outline specification should be prepared for dispatch
with the pre-tender questionnaire so the scope and extent of the contract is
clear.

(e)

The Notice/advertisement should state that a restricted tendering procedure
is being used and either the Notice/advertisement should specify the
information to be provided by those interested in tendering or this
information can be included in the pre-tender questionnaire instead. Details
of where to obtain and return the questionnaire should be given in the
Notice/advertisement.

(f)

The Notice/advertisement should state the closing date for expressing an
interest and whether any late expressions will be considered. After this date
all those who have expressed an interest should be assessed and a short
list drawn up. Rules on advertising contracts are set out below.

(g)

Short listing must be made against pre-determined objective criteria and the
details of the factors should be included in the notice/advert or included in
the pre-tender questionnaire sent to all those expressing an interest.

(h)

A financial evaluation is mandatory for all contractors before inclusion on a
shortlist. This can be obtained from Support Services.

(i)

Other criteria that are recommended for use in the short listing stage are
details of other contracts of a similar nature and value undertaken in the
past 3 years (so technical references can be obtained evidencing relevant
expertise or experience).

(j)

Where applicable, criteria, which reflect the obligations or policies of the
Council, should be included.
For example, health & safety
policies/procedures; equalities and personnel policies, sustainable
development etc. Potential candidates can be asked to demonstrate that
they comply with applicable legislation or regulations or good practice and
this information used to assess their suitability for inclusion on the shortlist.

(k)

Care should be taken in selecting the criteria to be used in the short listing
stage as once criteria has been used at that stage then it may not be used
again at the evaluation tender stage. For example, if references are taken

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 141

May 2015

up at the shortlist stage then they should not, normally, be either taken up
again or reconsidered at the final selection stage.

(3)

(l)

Ideally, the shortlist criteria should help identify the contractors who meet a
general suitability level to undertake contacts of this type and value whilst
the tender evaluation criteria will help select the most suitable contractor to
perform the contract itself. Therefore, it is possible to look at the same
criteria again if another, more specific, aspect of that criteria is considered
e.g. at short listing stage the assessment could be of the Contractor’s health
and safety polices generally whilst at the final evaluation stage the specific
risk assessments relating to the contract itself can be examined.

(m)

The extent and scope of the criteria used should be proportionate to the
value or importance of the contract and care should be taken to ensure the
requirements for contracts valued at under £50,000 are not unduly onerous.

(n)

Only those who meet the shortlist criteria should be invited to submit a
tender. The minimum short list is 3 contractors where at least 3 contractors
meet the criteria but in most cases 5-8 contractors would be appropriate to
allow for some contractor’s failing to tender and to ensure enough
competitive bids are received. Where less than 3 contractors meet the
criteria advice should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager
and if EC Rules apply then advice on minimum numbers should be sought
anyway as different rules apply.

(o)

Where the number of those meeting the criteria after assessment is too
large then the selection of an appropriate number can be based on any nondiscriminatory basis e.g. drawing of lots.

(p)

A record should be kept of the shortlist chosen with the reasons for rejecting
or accepting contractors onto the shortlist in case of challenge

(q)

The invitation to tender should specify, amongst other things (see below) a
closing date for the return of completed tenders and this should be not less
than three weeks after their despatch. In most case a longer period would
be appropriate - see (1)(e) above re considerations to bear in mind.

Other types of Procedure
(a)

Where it is difficult to precisely specify the service, works or goods to be
provided or there is some other reason why the Open or Restricted
Procedure would be inappropriate, then advice on and authority to use other
procurement processes e.g. Competitive Dialogue or Negotiated Procedure,
should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager. Details of these
procurement types are set out in section 10.

9.2 Advertising
(a)

Any contract, for the supply of goods or services or the execution of any
work, which is estimated to exceed £50,000 in value but is below the
relevant EC Rules limits must be advertised by placing a public notice in at
least one relevant local newspaper and one relevant trade journal

(b)

Advertising may not be necessary where: -

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 142

May 2015

 Where a corporate purchasing arrangement is in place that has
already been approved by Committee, e.g. for stationery purchasing
contract.
 When using the councils approved supplier list where sufficient
suppliers exists to satisfy the competition requirements. When
construction line or BIP approved suppliers are to be used “non
approved” suppliers can be added to the list in order to fulfill a
minimum of 3 for tendering, however “non approved” suppliers would
need to become approved prior to being awarded the contract.
 When accessing other framework agreements etc however, advice
should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager where such
access is required.
9.3 Specifying the Contract
(a)

The specification sets out what the contractor must provide or undertake to
do, in relation to goods, services or works, under the contract. The scope
and detail included should be appropriate to the value of the contracts and
the risks involved in the procurement with lower value or lower risk
procurements needing a brief and less comprehensive specification.

(b)

For all procurements a written specification (or a clear description for
procurements valued at less than £5,000) must be drawn up which clearly
identifies the Council's requirements. The Responsible Officer should
consider whether the specification ought to identify, amongst other things:  what is wanted, giving as much detail as possible e.g. if goods the
size, colour, quality, thickness, speed, durability etc or if a service the
details of the service, frequency, timescales; qualification and skills of
staff etc;
 where it is to be delivered – which office, which person, which desk,
which location, which building;
 the relevant standards of performance or quality required (the relevant
European standard or its equivalent to be met);
 when you want it – the relevant timescale(s) and/or deadline to be met
for completion of the contract or project or any part of it e.g. by ‘x’ date,
next week, every week for the next six months etc;
 how the goods, services or works are to priced – e.g. price for bulk
purchases, list of prices (bills of quantities); is there a minimum
number to be ordered (this can offer better value); what discounts are
offered;
 how and when payment is to be made including any provisions for
interest for late payment e.g. payment after ‘x’ days, in advance, in
stages, by cheque/BACS etc;
 if any guarantee etc is required – e.g. servicing and maintenance or for
a service contract an ‘out of hours’ or ‘recall’ service;
 any default provisions which are to apply where the contractor does
not perform as required or meet the standards laid down;

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 143

May 2015

 the situations under which the contract may be terminated and the
provisions to apply upon termination e.g. transfer of assets and staff,
return or transfer of data (including IT data) in a suitable format;
 how disputes are to be resolved; and,
any reporting/statistical requirements.
(c)

Where the Responsible Officer wishes to use a particular sub-contractor or
where a particular manufacturer or supplier must be used for the supply of
goods or materials the advice should be sought from the Procurement and
Risk Manager to ensure that specifying such a requirement is lawful.

(d)

Wherever possible, the specification should be costed to ensure the estimate
of the value of the contract is realistic. This sets a benchmark against which all
tenders can be evaluated and provides evidence to allow any tender which is
significantly below the benchmark to be challenged and, where a satisfactory
response is not received, may justify the tender being rejected as ‘abnormally
low’.

(e)

The scope of the specification should reflect as accurately as possible the
approved budget for the contract or project. Where the scope of the contract
or project has changed in comparison to the budget originally approved, for
example where additional works have been identified, then advice should be
sought from Financial Services before proceeding with the tender process.
This will help to avoid problems when tenders are received in excess of the
budget available.

9.4 Contract Conditions
(a)

Appropriate contract conditions need to be included to ensure the contract is
sufficiently clear and binding upon the contractor. Again, lower value/lower
risk contracts will need fewer conditions but the conditions set out below
would generally be considered as a minimum. The responsible officer within
the service must give advice and guidance as to which conditions should be
used in procurements.

(b)

Every contract entered into by the Council shall be in writing and shall:
(i)

be signed by the appropriate Assistant Director/Manager and in
some cases sealed (Legal and Democratic Services can advise on
this as required);

(ii)

specify the work, goods or services to be carried out or supplied by
providing an appropriately detailed specification as necessary;

(iii)

state the price or other consideration to be given in return for
performance;

(iv)

specify the period(s) within which the contract is to be performed
and/or other timescale and standards to be met;

(v)

set out such other conditions and terms as may be required by the
Council or have been agreed between the parties;

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 144

May 2015

(vi)

require that it be a condition of any contract between the Council and
any person (not being an officer of the Council) who is required to
supervise such a contract that, in relation to that contract, s/he shall
comply with these Rules.

(vii) include within every written contract to which these Rules relate a
clause to enable the Council to cancel the contract and to recover
from the contractor the amount of any loss resulting from such
cancellation if the contractor shall have offered, given or agreed to
give to any person any gift or consideration of any kind as an
inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do so for so having
done or forborne to have done any action in relation to the obtaining
or the execution of the contract or any other contract with the
Council, (whether with or without the knowledge of the contractor), or
if in relation to any contract with the Council, the contractor or any
person employed by it or acting on its behalf shall have committed
any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916, or
shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence
under section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972.
(viii) include a certificate or declaration for the tenderer to complete
confirming that the tender/quotation is bona fide and not tainted by
collusion or bad faith (appropriate wording can be obtained from the
Procurement and Risk Manager;
(ix)

provide for the payment of liquidated damages by the contractor
where appropriate e.g. where it fails to perform or complete the
contract within the time specified. The amount of such damages
must be calculated from a genuine estimate of the likely loss arising
from the failure (but may also include administrative costs and
overheads) since penalties are unlawful and will not be enforced by
the court. This means that using an arbitrary or standard sum for
failures of differing importance and loss may be challengeable and
should be avoided. Advice should be sought from the Procurement
and Risk Manager as necessary.

(x)

state that save where required to do so by law, the Contractor shall
not assign, novate or transfer the whole or any part of the contract
without the prior written consent of the Council; such consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed however, it may be given
subject to conditions.”

(xi)

set out the length of the contract and whether any option to extend
the contract is included e.g. a 3-year contract with options to extend
for 2 further years if the council elects. N.B Where the Responsible
Officer wishes to extend a contract despite no provision to extend
being included in the contract then this will be possible only in certain
circumstances – see under ‘Extensions’ below.

(xii) state whether sub-contracting is permitted in whole or in part and, if it
is, then state that a contractor cannot sub-contract the whole or any
part of the contract without the prior written permission of the
appropriate Responsible Officer.
N.B normally satisfactory
references and health and safety policies and procedures would
need to be received before such consent would be granted. In
addition, where a Responsible Officer wishes to use a Nominated

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 145

May 2015

Sub-Contractor and/or a Nominated Supplier then advice should be
sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager.
(xiii) where staff are transferring out of or into the authority or may transfer
into the authority at a later date, the contract must include such
conditions as may be necessary to deal with the provision of
workforce information etc relating to TUPE/the Code of Practice
and/or an indemnity to protect the Council from subsequent legal
action consequent upon such transfers. Advice on suitable clauses
should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager.
(xiv) Some contracts entered into by the council contain or include an
asset transfer that includes buildings or land that form part of the
original tender specification. The awarding panel can review
amendments so long as any reassessment is made through the
original scoring mechanism. Only if the result of the assessment(s)
retains the same order i.e. the “successful” tenderer`s offer is still the
best having regard to the scoring mechanism, can that offer be the
one that is ultimately agreed and signed up to by the council. It must
also follow the Financial Procedure Rules in relation to sale of
assets.
9.4 Special Instruction (Contracts, New guidance for 2014)
Contracts and the documents that are associated with them are vital and
important evidence of the agreement under which goods, services or works are
being obtained. It is recommended that where purchases are made for
significant expenditure, that a contract or supplier file is created. This can be
paper based in a cabinet or electronic, and it should contain all correspondence
relating to that contract including any competing quotes or tenders obtained at
the time.
9.5 Instructions to Tenderers
(a)

Appropriate Instructions need to be included in the tender documents so
contractors are clear about what information they need to provide when
submitting quotation and tenders and the rules they must comply with to submit
a valid one. Again, lower value/lower risk contracts may need fewer instructions
but those set out below are likely to be a minimum in most cases.

(b)

Instructions to tenderers must state:
(i)

The last date and time for receipt of tenders;

(ii)

That tenders must remain open for a period of 90 days. This allows
time for tenders to be evaluated and further clarification sought if
necessary before the tender ‘offer’ expires. N.B it is also advisable to
state that at the expiry of this time the tender offer will not lapse until
the tenderer has given written notice to the Council to accept it or it will
lapse;

(iii)

That tenders must be signed and submitted on the form of tender
provided, without qualification (unless this has been explicitly
permitted) and then returned direct to the Responsible Officer
indicated on the tender documents before the closing date specified.
The instructions should also advise where any written queries or

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 146

May 2015

requests should be addressed and the last date for the acceptance of
such queries (normally 6 working days before the closing date);
(iv)

That tenders must be returned in the Council envelope provided which
shall bear the word ‘Tender’ or ‘Quotation’ followed by the subject
matter to which the tender/quotation relates and the name of the
appropriate Responsible Officer concerned; must be securely sealed
and bear no other name or mark identifying the tenderer or be
delivered with or seen to be accompanied by any material indicating
the identity of the tenderer;

(v)

The requirement that the tenderer will not disclose any information
about to its tender to any other party both prior to submitting it and
during the period it is held open for acceptance. That the Council may
automatically exclude tenderers from participation in a bid if the
tenderer is found to have breached competition law (see General
Points above re possible discretion on this point).

(vi)

The criteria for evaluation of the tenders. N.B see below under
‘Evaluation of Tenders’ for further guidance on this aspect.

(vii)

That the Council does not bind themselves to accept the lowest or any
tender and will not be responsible for, or pay or reimbursement the
tenderer for any expenses, costs, fees etc. incurred by the tenderer or
in any way related to the preparation or submission of the tender;

(viii)

Late tenders will not be opened or considered and any late tenders or
those disqualified for some other reason should be passed to the
Procurement and Risk Manager. Where in exceptional circumstances
a Responsible Officers wishes to include in the Instructions to
Tenderers a provision allowing late tenders to be accepted, then
advice must first be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager.

9.6 Action during the tender period
(a)

Officers may be privy to confidential information both concerning the external
applicants/tenderers (and the in-house service if they are tendering). It is
important to maintain absolute discretion and confidentiality concerning the
procurement process e.g. by not mentioning who has or has not submitted a
tender or expressed interest in doing so, the details of tender or pricing
submissions; whether someone had a good/bad reference etc. All sensitive
contractor information should be kept secure and access restricted to those
officers who really need it.

(b)

A tenderer may raise queries or require further information during the tender
process and to ensure there is no confusion or later dispute it is preferable to
ask all applicants/tenderers to put such requests in writing. As any contact
with applicants/tenderers is potentially important it is good practice to record
contacts in sufficient detail to keep an adequate record – these contacts
should be signed, timed and dated.

(c)

It is important that queries and information requests are dealt with promptly
and replies sent 1st class and/or faxed as appropriate especially where there
is a short closing date.

(d)

All applicants/tenderers must be treated equally and all tenderers must
receive the same level of information and detail. Where a query is raised or a

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 147

May 2015

request is made by one applicant/tenderer it should be answered and copies
of the query and reply sent to all other applicants/tenderers. Anonymity
should be preserved at all times by removing name/address and any other
identifying references.
(e)

Correspondence to applicant/tenderers should be numbered sequentially so
an easy reference can be made e.g. Contract Reference Letter no.1/2/3/4 etc.
as these letters may need to be incorporated into the contract when it is
formalised.

(f)

Where it is necessary to arrange for tenderers to visit offices, depots etc. it is
important to ensure that this does not become an opportunity to ‘push’ for
extra information It is best practice for the agenda for the visit to be fixed
beforehand and the visiting applicant/tenderers advised that any queries
should be made in writing or faxed on return so that full information can be
given to all invitees.

(g)

Similarly, where tenderers are invited to attend a group briefing session steps
should be taken to ensure this does not encourage collusive tendering e.g. by
requiring attendees to sign a non-collusion declaration or by giving individual
or written briefings instead.

(h)

Whenever the Council needs to make alterations to tender documents sent to
tenderers, all tenderers shall be informed of the same change and where
possible the reasons for the change should be given. It is advisable to state in
the tender documents that the council reserves the right to make minor
changes of a drafting nature or to correct errors without prior reference to the
tenderer.

9.7 Receipts, Storage and Opening of Tenders
(a)

All tenders submitted in accordance with these Rules should remain
unopened in suitable, secure storage arranged by the Responsible Officer (or
an officer designated by him/her) until the time appointed for their opening.
Any officer receiving a tender shall indicate on the envelope the date and time
of its receipt.

(b)

Any tenders received late are to be marked as such and then dealt with as
provided for in the relevant tender document – see under ‘Instructions for
Tenderers’ above.

(c)

All quotations/tenders shall be opened at the same time in the presence of the
Responsible Officer (or other officer delegated by the Director/Assistant
Director) and one other senior member of the relevant service. Where the
contract value exceeds EC Rules then a Member of Legal Services or Internal
Audit should also be present at the opening.

(d)

The key pricing information from each opened quotation/tender must be
recorded on the appropriate form and then signed and timed and dated by the
officers undertaking the opening. In the case of civil engineering tenders, a
copy of the tender summary originally submitted by each tenderer shall be
retained and held on the contracts file for that project too.

(e)

The Responsible Officer should then arrange for the tenders to be checked so
that any obvious qualifications, errors or omissions are identified and
appropriate action taken in line with the tender instructions.

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 148

May 2015

9.8 Errors and Qualified Tenders
(a)

Where examination of a winning tender reveals errors or discrepancies which
would affect the pricing or other figure submitted by that tenderer, then the
relevant tenderer should be given details of the errors and discrepancies in the
tender and afforded an opportunity of confirming or withdrawing the tender
without alteration or correction within a specified time.

(b)

If the accepted tenderer withdraws, the next selected tender which satisfies
arithmetical and technical checks and which would have been capable of
acceptance by the Responsible Officer (i.e. is either the lowest price or the Most
Economically Advantageous Tender (MEAT) – see below - if that evaluation
criteria is used) shall be accepted and the circumstances reported to the
Procurement and Risk Manager for information.

(c)

In civil engineering contracts, the tender figure shall be deemed to be the sum
of the rates submitted in the tender unless otherwise indicated.

9.9 Evaluation of Tenders
(a)

There are 2 types of evaluation and award processes: (i) Lowest price – this is appropriate when the procurement is for standard goods
– particularly goods where quality and other aspects can be easily specified
e.g. textbooks and where, therefore, price is the only determining factor.
(ii) The ‘Most Economical Advantageous Tender’ (MEAT) – this should be used in
all cases where factors other than price are to be used as criteria and so other
factors such as technical ability, responsiveness, quality assurance measures,
environmental credentials etc. are as or more important.

(b)

Each procurement activity will turn on different factors and so the Responsible
Officer should consider, carefully, which criteria are the most important for the
procurement in question. The chosen criteria must be set out in the tender
document along with details of the information or evidence the tenderer needs
to provide so that these aspects of its tender can be evaluated.

(c)

It is common for the non-price criteria to be gathered by asking the tenderer to
submit of method statement(s) on how the contract will be performed (ideally
with the minimum standard to be achieved set out) but other non-discriminatory
ways of gathering the necessary information/evidence is acceptable. Examples
of Method Statements can be obtained from the Procurement and Risk
Manager.

(d)

The evaluation must clearly indicate, in the tender document, the relative
weighting of the criteria so that each tenderer is aware of the relative
importance of each criterion and can ensure its tender is focused on the matters
deemed most important to the Council.

(e)

Ideally, an evaluation team comprising different skills should assess each of the
tenders, particularly where non-price criteria are used. Each team member can
then examine each tender against the criteria and form an assessment of how
well or badly it meets the stated criteria. Where opinions differ on a particular
tender then a discussion amongst the team of the differences can take place
until a consensus is reached. A report of the evaluation and reasons for the
assessments should be made at the time of the assessment ready for any
subsequent challenges. The assessment should conclude with identifying the

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 149

May 2015

chosen tender according to the award process chosen (either Lowest Price or
MEAT).
(f)

Where the Responsible Officer, following the consideration of the evaluation
report, decides that the “Most Economically Advantageous Tender” or “Lowest
Price” tender is not satisfactory, then advice should be sought from the
Procurement and Risk Manager and authorized by their Director/Assistant
Director.

(g)

In considering the tenders, the Responsible Officer may seek advice from Legal
Services, Financial Services or other appropriate technical officers e.g. HR,
Health and Safety, as necessary.

(h)

Advice should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager if there are
any queries or further advice is needed.

9.10 Award of Contract
(a)

A tender may be accepted by the Responsible Officer provided the following
apply; (i)

The tender is the Lowest Price or “Most Economical Advantageous
Tender” according to the predetermined criteria and;

(ii)

The tender figure is within the approved sum allocated in the revenue
budget or capital Program;

(b)

Where the most competitive tender is outside the approved estimate provision
the officer must seek advice from the Procurement and Risk Manager and
authorized by their Director/Assistant Director. If it is outside of the budgeted
provision a report must be made to the District Executive requesting an
increase in the estimate provision.

(c)

If the Responsible Officer/Director/Assistant Director intends to accept a tender
above the sum allocated against the advice of the Assistant Director – Finance
and Corporate Services, the acceptance shall automatically be placed on hold
and referred to the next meeting of the District Executive for decision.

(d)

Subject to (a) to (c) above it is acceptable for the successful tenderer to be
informed orally of their appointment with a written confirmation to follow.
Details of the other bids should normally be given in the written confirmation of
the award although anonymity must be preserved.

(e)

Advice should be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager if there are
any queries or concerns or if a challenge to the process has been or is likely to
be made.

(f)

Failed bidders should be offered the opportunity to obtain feedback on why their
tender was not considered acceptable. Advice should be sought from the
Support Services Team if an officer is unsure how to proceed in this regard.

9.11 Post award
(a)

Where the procurement is covered by EC Rules then special requirements will
apply concerning contract award notices etc. and the need to reply promptly to
enquiries post tender from unsuccessful tenderers. Please seek further advice
from the Procurement and Risk Manager if this is the case.

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 150

May 2015

(b)

Where the award will result in the transfer into the authority or out of the
authority of staff then advice must be sought on from the HR Manager on the
processes to be followed

(c)

All the documents forming the contract (plus a copy of the same) should be
passed to Legal Services for formalisation of contract together with a list of the
key information re price, start and end dates of the contract etc. If a pre
contract meeting has been held to clarify any remaining issues and an
addendum to the contract has been prepared this should be included in the
documents sent for formalisation.

(d)

Once the process has been completed then the Responsible Officer must
ensure that all the necessary details, in respect of that contract, are entered
onto the Contracts Register, and held by Support Services. This will avoid
delays occurring when contract certificates are submitted for payment and also
meets audit requirements.

(e)

Legal Services will send a copy of the formalised documents to the Responsible
Officer and the master copy will be held in the Deed Room in Legal Services.
The Council’s Document Retention Policy should be applied to the review and
destruction of the procurement and contract documents.

(f)

Financial Services should be informed in writing (email acceptable) of the value
of the new contract as compared to the previous contract if any for budgetary
purposes and to enable an assessment of whether the procurement has given
‘value for money’ to be made.

9.12 Contract Extensions
(a)

For any contract below EC limits the contract period may be extended in
accordance with its contract terms and Responsible Officers may wish to build
into the initial contract some extension options. As a matter of good practice the
sum of the contract period extensions should not exceed the initial contract
period.

(b)

All contracts period subject to EC Rules can only be extended in line with the
original OJEU notice and the EC rules prevailing at the time and so the advice
of the Procurement and Risk Manager should be sought where a contract
period extension is necessary. Unless there is Management Board approval to
the contrary the existing contract may be extended once only and no further
extension will be permitted where a contract has previously been extended.

(c)

In any event, the extension must be carried out either at or before the
conclusion of the existing contract.

(d)

In addition, it may be possible for the scope of a contract to be extended so that
additional goods, services or works are added to those originally included in the
contract. This will usually be acceptable provided that:
(i)

the new contract is of a similar nature to the existing contract and;

(ii)

the extension does not exceed 50% of the value of the existing
contract;

(iii)

A contract cannot be extended beyond the normal contract expiry date;
however the contract end date can include any contract extension

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 151

May 2015

periods allowed for in the original tender. Extension inside the contract
period such as 3 years plus 2 if advertised as such can be approved
by the Procurement and Risk Manager. Contracts that need extending
beyond this date will need formal approval from Management Board
and such approval may in any case be limited to 6 months maximum
and this will be for the specified purpose of conducting an open tender
process to re-establish a new contract. Such approvals shall be
reported to Audit Committee by the Procurement and Risk Manager.

10.

Special types of Procurement

10.1 ConstructionLine
(a)

All construction and civil engineering works should be procured through
Constructionline. Further Information on ContructionLine is available from the
Procurement and Risk Manager. Where it is used the following procedure
should be followed.

(b)

Tenders should be invited from a minimum of six contractors selected by the
appropriate Manager from the “Constructionline” Register of Qualified
Construction Services. Such contractors must also meet CHAS compliance in
relation to their Health and Safety Policy and Procedures,

(c)

At least one of the contractors selected shall be a local contractor where this is
lawful and appropriate. It may be advisable for the relevant Manager to check
that the chosen contractors is able and willing to tender before formally inviting
them to tender for a contract;

(d)

Normally the 3 contractors who submitted the lowest quotations/tender for the
last contract of a similar type or value should be invited to tender along with the
next 3 contractors listed in the relevant category;

(e)

Where, for some reason the Responsible Officer does not wish to select the
contractors to be invited by the method set out in (c) above then he/she shall
agree the criteria to be used to select the contractors to be invited to tender with
the appropriate Assistant Director, the Assistant Director – Legal and Corporate
Services and the Assistant Director – Finance and Corporate Services.
Reasons for not using the method set out in (c) shall be recorded for audit
purposes.

10.2 Using other Councils/Public Bodies’ Contracts
(a)

See under Framework Arrangements below

10.3 Partnership arrangements
(a)

A partnership arrangement is nevertheless a contract (but see (d) below) and so
the selection of a partner for the provision of services or on a construction
project must still be compliant with these Rules.

(b)

At all stages of the procurement process the desired partnership arrangement
and how it is planned to operate should be set out. The design of the
procurement process and selection and evaluation of criteria for choosing the
partner should support the desired arrangements and selection would normally
be on the basis of Most Economically Advantageous Tender (see above under
Evaluation)

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 152

May 2015

(c)

Guidance on approval of partnerships is included under the Financial Procedure
Rules and Guidance on Partnerships is available on Insite.

(d)

Some partnerships are not contractual and therefore not legally binding e.g.
where there is only a ‘Memorandum of Understanding’ or ‘Terms of Reference’
underpinning the arrangement. Such partnerships are outside of these Rules
although advice on such arrangements is available as per (c) above.

10.4 Shared services
(a)

These are a form of partnership and, as they would normally be contractual, any
proposals must first be submitted to Management Board for approval. Again
further advice is available under the Financial Procedure Rules and through
Partnership Working at SSDC on Insite.

10.5 Framework Agreements
a) Framework agreements are used where the Council wishes to contract for the
provision of goods, services or works without conducting a new procurement exercise
each time it places an order. It is most appropriate to be used where it is not clear, in
advance, the quantity or type of goods, services or works needed.
b) There are 2 types of framework arrangements. In each case every time an order is
placed a new contract arises based on the terms set out in the framework.
(i)

Where the Council selects a number of contractors as approved contractors to
provide the goods, services or works in question. In this case a mini tendering
exercise takes place each time an order is to be placed and each of the
contractor’s appointed will submit a bid. The evaluation of the bid will be on
the same basis as the selection of the bidders. This arrangement has been
used for the purchase of leased cars.

(ii)

Where one or more contractor is appointed and will have supplied indicative
prices/information so that it is possible to check which contractor is most
competitive when an order needs to be placed. This type of arrangement has
been used for the purchase of IT equipment and public works maintenance.

c) In addition, the Council is able to use not only those Frameworks it has entered itself
but also those procured by central Government agencies, other authorities or public
bodies or purchasing consortia provided it is a named beneficiary (by name, class or
implication) e.g. the Consortium. Where the Council has entered into a framework
agreement then that Framework Agreement should be used unless it does not offer
Best Value.
d) As the use of Frameworks can be quite complex the Procurement and Risk Manager
must approve the use of any framework agreements.
(i)

The council will from time to time enter into corporate central contracts or
Framework Agreement, generally although not always let for corporate needs,
i.e. those things the organisation uses on a regular basis across a number of
services. Such agreements have been put in place to leverage our
procurement spend by having one supplier, and to offer efficiency savings
with reduced procurement costs expressed as an overhead cost to the
organisation. It therefore follows that for them to be successful the
organisation has to maximise its expenditure through the agreement for that

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 153

May 2015

service or item. Details of these agreements can
Insite/Procurement & Office Services/Central contracts.

be

found

on

(ii)

Failure to comply with this instruction may put you or the person placing the
order at risk of disciplinary action. Internal audit will be asked to consider
compliance with corporate contracts during periodic audits. The corporate or
centrally let contract should always be used if one is in place for that service
or commodity. It is your responsibility to check if such an agreement is in
place before proceeding.

(iii)

If the goods and service are not obtainable within the framework agreement or
if the service can demonstrate that it can acquire either at a lower cost or a
higher quality for the same cost as through the framework arrangement then
agreement must be sought from the Procurement and Risk Manager (or in his
absence a Director) for an exemption to this Rule.

10.6 Appointment of consultants
(a)

Before the engagement of any architect, engineer, surveyor or other consultant
for the purpose of any contract in respect of the supply of goods or materials,
the carrying out of works or the provision of any other services, the appropriate
Assistant Director shall follow the Rules under the appropriate transactional
limits outlined above. In addition, detailed briefs outlining expected outcomes
and SMART targets must be produced to ensure clarity of scope and
expectations and the subsequent delivery of the outcomes.

(b)

Each such engagement:


shall be evidenced in writing, including details of the basis and
frequency of payments identifying the Responsible Officer who will
manage and monitor each consultancy project;



shall be subject to the condition that such architect, engineer,
surveyor or other consultant shall at all times be fully covered by
sufficient and suitable professional indemnity insurance. Advice on
insurance matters should be obtained from Financial Services.



shall require that s/he shall conform to the requirements of these
Rules, the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and any direction
from the Council;



shall require that s/he shall on request, at any time during the
carrying out of the contract, produce to the Responsible Officer or
her/his representative, all the records (including electronic records)
maintained by her/him in relation to the contract and upon
completion or earlier termination of the contract, s/he shall pass,
promptly, all such records to the appropriate Assistant Director. In
the case of electronic records these shall be in a machine-readable
format appropriate to the Council’s IT system.

(c)

The Responsible Officer should ensure that all the benefit of the intellectual
property rights in the work that the consultant has undertaken, remain with the
Council and that access to and all copies of such research or work is freely and
easily accessible by the Council.

(d)

The Responsible Officer must consider which will be the most appropriate
evaluation criteria and whether the appointment will be on the basis of Lowest

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 154

May 2015

Price or the Most Economically Advantageous Tender – see above re
Evaluation Criteria. In most cases, the latter will be more appropriate as it is
expertise and skill that will be the main determinants of appointment not just
price.
(e)

Where MEAT is chosen the Responsible Officer must clearly identify in advance
the key requirements for the appointment so prospective consultants can be
asked to demonstrate that they meet these during the evaluation.

(f)

A record of the evaluation should be kept for audit purposes

10.7 Purchase Orders
(a)

The use of official purchase orders should be used for orders of goods and
services. This enables the organisation to review its overall financial
commitments at any time.

(b)

This is best practice although in some special circumstances e.g. payment of
quarterly energy costs it is not practicable to do so. Please contact the Finance
team for advice on exceptions to this rule.

11. Disposing of surplus goods
(a)

The Rules for disposal of surplus goods are included within the Financial
Procedure Rules.

12. Glossary of Terms
“Procurement” or “Contract”
means the process for choosing the contractor(s) to
provide the goods, services or works in question and the legal document setting out the
legally binding agreement depending upon the context in which the term is used.
“Tendering” or “Quotation” means the contractor’s offer (usually financial) to undertake the
procurement/contract
“Responsible Officer”
A person who has been granted an appropriate level of
delegated authority to act on the Council’s behalf.
“Best Value” The optimum combination of whole life cost and benefits to meet the
authority’s requirements. Such a term equates to the M.E.A.T which is used in EC Rules as a
contract award criterion
“M.E.A.T”
Most Economically Advantageous Tender – means a tender selection based
on factors other than price
“Council”

means South Somerset District Council

“Contractor” means any person or body providing, or seeking to provide, goods services or
works to the Council.
“EC Rules” means the European Union or European Common market, rules on Public
Procurement including the Directives .
“Framework agreement” An agreement that allows the Council to call-off from a supplier,
a range of predefined goods or services. It is the call–off or drawing down of goods or
services that constitutes a contract.

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 155

May 2015

“CLAN”
Centre Lead Action Network, a network of devolved lead procurement
contacts taking a strategic direction. A list of CLAN members is available from the
Procurement and Risk Manager.
“SMART” Agreed targets when deciding the form of a contract – this consists of Specific,
Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, and Time bound.
“Manager” Within these Rules a Manager describes a Manager that is part of the Corporate
Performance Team (CPT).

Part 4 – Procurement Procedure Rules

Page 156

May 2015

Access to Information Procedure Rules
1.

Scope
Option 1: Executive Arrangements
These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Scrutiny Committee, Area
Committees, Standards Committee, Regulation Committee, and the District Executive
(together called “meetings”).

2.

Additional Rights to Information
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere
in this Constitution or the law.

3.

Rights to Attend Meetings
Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions in these
rules.

4.

Notices of Meeting
The Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting by posting details
of the meeting at the Council Offices, Brympton Way and on its website
(www.southsomerset.gov.uk).

5.

Access to Agenda and Reports before the Meeting
The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public and
available for inspection at the Council Offices at least five clear days before the
meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda will be open to
inspection for the time the item was added to the agenda. Where reports are
prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Democratic Services Specialist
shall make each such report available to the public as soon as the report is
completed and sent to councillors.

6.

Supply of Copies
The Council will supply copies of:

7.

(a)

any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;

(b)

any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the
items in the agenda; and

(c)

if the Democratic Services Specialist thinks fit, copies of any other documents
supplied to councillors in connection with an item to any person on payment of
a charge for postage and any other costs.

Access to Minutes etc after the Meeting
The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting:
(a)

the minutes of the meeting, excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings
when the meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or
confidential information;

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 157

March 2018

(b)

a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open
to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record;

(c)

the agenda for the meeting; and

(d)

reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.

8.

Background Papers

8.1

List of background papers
All report authors will set out in every report a list of those documents (called
background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in his/her
opinion:
(a)

disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the
report is based; and

(b)

which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report

but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential
information (as defined in Rule 10).
8.2

Public inspection of background papers
The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of
the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers.

9.

Summary of Public’s Rights
A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy
documents will be kept at and available to the public at the Council Offices, Brympton
Way as part of the Council's Constitution.

10.

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Meetings

10.1

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public
The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature
of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential
information would be disclosed.

10.2

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public
The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature
of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt
information would be disclosed.
Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is
necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 158

March 2018

10.3

Meaning of confidential information
Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government
Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which cannot be
publicly disclosed by Court Order.

10.4

Meaning of exempt information

The following categories of information are exempt from the requirement to make publicly
available information reported to any meetings of the Council, its committees or the
Executive. Information in the categories below is exempt if and so long, as in all the
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the
public interest in disclosing the information.
Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the local
planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town
and Country Planning General Regulations 1992
Category

Additional Qualification

1. Information relating to any individual.
2. Information which is likely to reveal the
identity of an individual.
3. Information relating to the financial or
business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that
information).

Information falling within paragraph 3 above
is not exempt information by virtue of that
paragraph if it is required to be registered
under—
(a) the Companies Act 1985[3];
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies
Acts 1965 to 1978[
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or
(f) the Charities Act 1993
Financial or business affairs includes
contemplated, as well as past or current
activities.
"registered" in relation to information
required to be registered under the Building
Societies Act 1986[11], means recorded in
the public file of any building society (within
the meaning of that Act).

4. Information relating to any consultations
or
negotiations,
or
contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection
with any labour relations matter arising
between the authority or a Minister of the
Crown and employees of, or office holders
under, the authority

Part 4 – Access to Information

"employee" means a person employed
under a contract of service;
"labour relations matter" means—
(a) any of the matters specified in
paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 218(1) of the
Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992[10] (matters which
may be the subject of a trade dispute, within

Page 159

March 2018

the meaning of that Act); or
(b) any dispute about a matter falling within
paragraph (a) above;
and for the purposes of this definition the
enactments mentioned in paragraph (a)
above, with the necessary modifications,
shall apply in relation to office-holders under
the authority as they apply in relation to
employees of the authority;
"office-holder", in relation to the authority,
means the holder of any paid office
appointments to which are or may be made
or confirmed by the authority or by any joint
board on which the authority is represented
or by any person who holds any such office
or is an employee of the authority;
5. Information in respect of which a claim to
legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.
6. Information which reveals that the
authority proposes—
(a)
to give under any enactment a notice
under or by virtue of which
requirements are imposed on a
person; or
(b)
to make an order or direction under
any enactment.
7. Information relating to any action taken or
to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

11.

Information within paragraph 7 is not exempt
if it must be registered under various
statutes, such as the Companies Act or
Charities Act. To be exempt the information
must relate to a particular third person who
must be identifiable

Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports
If the Democratic Services Specialist thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by
the public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in
accordance with Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Such
reports will be marked “Not for Publication” together with the category of information
likely to be disclosed.

12.

Application of Rules to the Executive
Rules 13 – 24 apply to the District Executive and its committees. If the Executive or
its committees meet to take a key decision then it must also comply with Rules 1 – 11
unless Rule 15 (General Exception) or Rule 16 (Special Urgency) apply. In
accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2000 a "key decision" means an executive
decision which is likely:

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 160

March 2018

(a)

to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of
savings which are, significant having regard to the local authority's budget for
the service or function to which the decision relates; or

(b)

to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an
area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the
local authority.

If the District Executive or its committees meet to discuss a key decision to be taken
collectively, with an officer other than a political assistant present, within 28 days of
the date according to the forward plan by which it is to be decided, then it must also
comply with Rules 1 – 11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule 16 (special
urgency) apply. This requirement does not include meetings, whose sole purpose is
for officers to brief members.
13.

Procedure before taking Key Decisions
Subject to Rule 15 (General Exception) and Rule 16 (Special Urgency), a key
decision may not be taken unless:
(a)

a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in connection with
the matter in question;

(b)

at least 3 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the forward plan;
and

(c)

where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Executive or its
committees, notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 4
(notice of meetings).

14.

The Forward Plan

14.1

Period of forward plan
Forward plans will be prepared by the Leader of the Council to cover a period of four
months, beginning with the first day of any month. They will be prepared on a monthly
basis and subsequent plans will cover a period beginning with the first day of the
second month covered in the preceding plan.

14.2

Contents of forward plan
The forward plan will contain matters which the Leader has reason to believe will be
subject of a key decision to be taken by the Executive, a committee of the Executive,
officers, Area Committees or under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge
of an executive function during the period covered by the plan. It will describe the
following particulars in so far as the information is available or might reasonably be
obtained:
(a)

the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made;

(b)

where the decision taker is an individual, his/her name and title, if any and
where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of membership;

(c)

the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken;

(d)

the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to
consult before taking the decision;

(e)

the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken;

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 161

March 2018

(f)

the steps any person might take who wishes to make representations to the
Executive or decision taker about the matter in respect of which the decision
is to be made, and the date by which those steps must be taken; and

(g)

a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in
relation to the matter.

The forward plan must be published at least 14 days before the start of the period
covered. The Democratic Services Specialist will publish once a year a notice in at
least one newspaper circulating in the area, stating:
(a)

that key decisions are to be taken on behalf of the Council;

(b)

that a forward plan containing particulars of the matters on which decisions
are to be taken will be prepared on a monthly basis;

(c)

that the plan will contain details of the key decisions to be made for the four
month period following its publication;

(d)

that each plan will be available for inspection at reasonable hours free of
charge at the Council’s offices;

(e)

that each plan will contain a list of the documents submitted to the decision
takers for consideration in relation to the key decisions on the plan;

(f)

the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their
disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the forward plan
is available;

(g)

that other documents may be submitted to decision takers;

(h)

the procedure for requesting details of documents (if any) as they become
available;

and
(i)

the dates on each month in the following year on which each forward plan will
be published and available to the public at the Council’s offices.

Exempt information need not be included in a forward plan and confidential
information cannot be included.
15.

General Exception
If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been included in the forward
plan, then subject to Rule 16 (Special Urgency), the decision may still be taken if:
(a)

the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer the
decision until it has been included in the next forward plan and until the start
of the first month to which the next forward plan relates;

(b)

the Democratic Services Specialist has informed the Chair of the Scrutiny
Committee, or if there is no such person, each member of that Committee in
writing, by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be made;

(c)

the Democratic Services Specialist has made copies of that notice available to
the public at the offices of the Council; and

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 162

March 2018

(d)

at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the Democratic Services Specialist
complied with (a) and (b).

Where such a decision is taken collectively, it must be taken in public.
16.

Special Urgency
If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 15 (General
Exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the chair of the
body making the decision, obtains the agreement of the Chair of the Scrutiny
Committee that the taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is
no Chair of the Scrutiny Committee, or if the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee is
unable to act, then the agreement of the Chairman of the Council, or in his/her
absence the Vice Chairman will suffice.

17.

Report to Council

17.1

When the Scrutiny Committee can require a report
If the Scrutiny Committee thinks that a key decision has been taken which was not:
(a)
(b)
(c)

included in the forward plan; or
the subject of the general exception procedure; or
the subject of an agreement with the Scrutiny Committee Chair, or the
Chairman/Vice Chairman of the Council under Rule 16;

the Committee may require the Executive to submit a report to the Council within
such reasonable time as the committee specifies. The power to require a report rests
with the committee, but is also delegated to the Democratic Services Specialist, who
shall require such a report on behalf of the Committee when so requested by the
Chairman or any 5 members. Alternatively the requirement may be raised by
resolution passed at a meeting of the Scrutiny Committee.
17.2

District Executive’s report to Council
The Executive will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of
the Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within 7 days of receipt of
the written notice, or the resolution of the committee, then the report may be
submitted to the meeting after that. The report to Council will set out particulars of the
decision, the individual or body making the decision, and if the Leader is of the
opinion that it was not a key decision the reasons for that opinion.

17.3

Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions
In any event the Leader will submit quarterly reports to the Council on the District
Executive decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 16 (special urgency) in
the preceding three months. The report will include the number of decisions so taken
and a summary of the matters in respect of which those decisions were taken.

18.

Record of Decisions
After any meeting of the District Executive or any of its committees, whether held in
public or private, the Democratic Services Specialist or, where no officer was present,
the person presiding at the meeting, will produce a record of every decision taken at
that meeting as soon as practicable. The record will include a statement of the

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 163

March 2018

reasons for each decision and any alternative options considered and rejected at that
meeting.
19.

Meetings of the District Executive to be held in public
Meetings of the District Executive and its committee will be held in public, unless it is
likely that exempt or confidential information would be disclosed or whenever a lawful
power is used to exclude a member or members of the public in order to maintain
orderly conduct or prevent misbehaviour at a meeting. The public may only be
excluded for the part or parts of the meeting during which it is likely that exempt or
confidential information would be disclosed.

19A.

Notice of Private Meetings of the District Executive

19A.1 Members of the District Executive or its committees will be entitled to receive five
clear working days’ notice of a meeting to which they are summoned, unless the
meeting is convened at shorter notice as a matter of urgency.
19A.2 At least 28 clear days before a private meeting, the decision-making body must:19A.2.1

make available at the offices of the Council a notice of its intention to hold
the meeting in private (a “Notice of Private Meeting”); and

19A.2.2

publish that notice on the Council’s website.

19A.3 At least five clear days before a private meeting, the decision-making body must:19A.3.1

make available at the offices of the Council a further notice of its intention
to hold the meeting in private; and

19A.3.2

publish that notice on the Council’s website.

19A.4 Notice under paragraph 19A.3 must include:19A.4.1

a statement of the reasons for the meeting to be held in private

19A.4.2

details of any representations received by the decision-making body about
why the meeting should be open to the public; and

19A.4.3

a statement of its response to any such representations.

19A.5 Where the date by which a meeting must be held makes compliance with this Rule
impractical, the meeting may only be held in private where the decision-making body
has obtained agreement from:19A.5.1

the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee; or

19A.5.2

if there is no such person, or if the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee is
unable to act, the Chairman of the Council; or

19A.5.3

where there is no chair of either the Scrutiny Committee or of the Council,
the Vice Chairman of the Council,

that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred.
19A.6 As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision-making body has obtained
agreement under paragraph 19A.5 to hold a private meeting, it must

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 164

March 2018

19A.6.1

make available at the office of the Council a notice setting out the reasons
why the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred; and

19A.6.2

publish that notice on the Council’s website.

20.

Decisions by Individual Members of the Executive

20.1

Reports intended to be taken into account
Where an individual member of the Executive receives a report which he/she intends
to take into account in making any key decision, then he/she will not make the
decision until at least 5 clear days after receipt of that report.

20.2

Provision of copies of reports to Overview and Scrutiny Committees
On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who prepared
the report will give a copy of it to the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee as soon as
reasonably practicable, and make it publicly available at the same time.

20.3

Record of individual decision
As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision has been taken by an
individual member of the Executive or a key decision has been taken by an officer,
he/she will prepare, or instruct the Proper Officer to prepare, a record of the decision,
a statement of the reasons for it and any alternative options considered and rejected.
The provisions of Rules 7 and 8 (Inspection of Documents after Meetings) will also
apply to the making of decisions by individual members of the Executive. This does
not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential information or advice from a
political or mayor’s assistant.

21.

Scrutiny Committee Access to Documents

21.1

Rights to copies
Subject to Rule 21.2 below, a Scrutiny Committee (including its sub-committees) will
be entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of the
Executive or its committees and which contains material relating to any business
transacted at a public or private meeting of the Executive or its committees.

21.2

Limit on rights
A Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to:
(a)

any document that is in draft form;

(b)

any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information,
unless that information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing
or scrutinising or intend to scrutinise;

22.

Additional Rights of Access For Members

22.1

Material relating to previous business
All members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or
under the control of the Executive or its committees and contains material relating to
any business previously transacted at a private meeting unless either (a) or (b) below
applies.

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 165

March 2018

22.2

(a)

it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 3 and 6 of the
categories of exempt information; or

(b)

it contains the advice of a political adviser.

Material relating to key decisions
All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except those
available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Executive or
its committees which relates to any key decision unless paragraph (a) or (b) above
applies.

22.3

Nature of rights
These rights of a member are additional to any other right he/she may have.

Part 4 – Access to Information

Page 166

March 2018

District Executive Procedure Rules
1.

How does the District Executive operate?

1.1

Who may make executive decisions?

The arrangements for the discharge of District Executive functions shall be set out in the
executive arrangements adopted by the Council. The arrangements may provide for
executive functions to be discharged by:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

the District Executive as a whole;
a committee of the District Executive;
an executive portfolio holder
an officer;
an area committee;
joint arrangements; or
another local authority.

1.2

Sub-delegation of executive functions

1.3

(a)

Where the District Executive or a committee of the District Executive is
responsible for an executive function, they may delegate further to an area
committee, individual executive portfolio holder, joint arrangements or an
officer.

(b)

Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not
prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the body who delegated.

The Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Executive functions
The Council’s Scheme of Delegation will be subject to adoption by the Council and
may only be amended by the Council. It will contain the details required in Article 7
and set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.

1.4

1.6

Conflicts of Interest
(a)

Where any member of the District Executive has a conflict of interest this
should be dealt with as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members
in Part 5 of this Constitution.

(b)

If the exercise of an executive function has been delegated to a committee of
the District Executive, or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, then
the function will be exercised in the first instance by the body by whom the
delegation was made and otherwise as set out in the Council’s Code of
Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution.

District Executive meetings – when and where?
The District Executive will meet at least 10 times per year at times to be agreed by
the Leader. The District Executive shall meet at the Council’s main offices or another
location to be agreed by the Leader.

1.7

Public meetings of the District Executive
Meetings of the District Executive shall be open to the public in accordance with the
Access to Information Procedure Rules. Items will be considered in private session

Part 4 – District Executive Procedure Rules

Page 167

March 2018

only if they qualify under the grounds to exclude the public under the Access to
Information procedure Rules
1.8

Quorum
The quorum for a meeting of the District Executive, or a committee of it, shall be one
quarter of the total number of members of that body. Provided that in no case shall
the quorum be less than three.

1.9

How are decisions to be taken by the District Executive?
(a)

Executive decisions which have been delegated to the District Executive as a
whole will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.

(b)

Where executive decisions are delegated to a committee of the District
Executive, the rules applying to executive decisions taken by them shall be
the same as those applying to those taken by the District Executive as a
whole.

2.

How Are District Executive Meetings Conducted?

2.1

Who presides?
If the Leader is present he/she will preside. In his/her absence, then the deputy
Leader shall preside. In the absence of both a person appointed to do so by those
present shall preside.

2.2

Who may attend?
It shall be open to all members of the Council to attend and speak at meetings of the
District Executive. All meetings of the District Executive shall also be open to the
public who may address the meeting in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules
on Public Participation.

2.3

What business?
At each meeting of the District Executive the following business will be conducted:
(i)

consideration of the minutes of the last meeting;

(ii)

declarations of interest, if any;

(iii)

matters referred to the Executive (whether by the Scrutiny Committee, or by
the Council) for reconsideration by the Executive in accordance with the
provisions contained in the Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution;

(iv)

matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, which agenda shall indicate
those matters which are key decisions and those which are not in accordance
with the Access to Information Procedure rules set out in Part 4 of this
Constitution.

(v)

reports from the Council's Management Team.

(vi)

items raised by the Area Committee Chairmen.

Part 4 – District Executive Procedure Rules

Page 168

March 2018

2.4

Consultation
All reports to the District Executive from any member of the District Executive or an
officer on proposals relating to the budget and policy framework must contain details
of the nature and extent of consultation with stakeholders and relevant committees,
and the outcome of that consultation. Reports about other matters will set out the
details and outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level of consultation required
will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration.

2.5

Who can put items on the District Executive agenda?
The Leader will decide upon the schedule for the meetings of the District Executive.
Officers will submit reports for decision as required by the Council's Scheme of
Delegation.
Any member of the District Executive may require the Democratic Services Specialist
to make sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the next available meeting of
the District Executive for consideration. If he/she receives such a request the proper
officer will comply.
The Democratic Services Specialist will make sure that an item is placed on the
agenda of the next available meeting of the District Executive where the Scrutiny
Committee or the full Council have resolved that an item be considered by the District
Executive.

Part 4 – District Executive Procedure Rules

Page 169

March 2018

Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules
Scrutiny Committee
The proceedings of the Scrutiny Committee shall be conducted in accordance with the
Access to Information Rules in this Constitution.
Powers
The Scrutiny Committee has a right of access to all papers to its task. This includes records
of decisions made and actions taken as well as the reports and any other information or
advice on the basis of which decisions were made.
The Committee shall have power to "call in" decision items considered by the District
Executive, Area Committee or Portfolio Holders.
The Committee shall have the power to request the attendance of councillors and require the
attendance of officers in order to give evidence and answer questions. It can also call for
external witnesses e.g. stakeholders, service users, experts or representatives of external
agencies (but will not be able to compel their attendance). The main Scrutiny Committee can
also request Executive members and require officers to attend meetings of an Overview
Commission as necessary.
The Scrutiny Committee will make an Annual Report to Council outlining the main areas of
activity over the past twelve months and the Work Programme for the coming year. The
Chair of the Scrutiny Committee will also report to every Council meeting on progress made
against the Annual Scrutiny Work Programme.
No member of the Overview and Scrutiny function (including the Overview Commission) can
also be a member of the District Executive.
Working Arrangements
"Call In" Before the Decision is Implemented
Decisions made by the District Executive, individual Portfolio Holders and the Area
Committees may be "called in" before they are implemented. A list of decisions taken will be
published on the internet within 48 hours after a meeting (hard card copies will also be sent
to all members of the Scrutiny Committee) and may be requisitioned for "call in" and review
within 5 working days from the date of publication. The notice of decisions will specify the
"call in" deadline.
Unless the decision is urgent it will not be implemented until after the period allowed for call
in.
When items are "called in" they are reported to the next meeting of the Scrutiny Committee at
which one Executive or Area Committee member has a right to attend and make
representations to the Committee. If the Scrutiny Committee is unhappy with the decision it
can ask the Executive or Area Committee to re-consider the item or it could ask for the item
to be debated at the full Council.
The right to call in decisions before they are implemented does not apply to items of urgent
business and quasi-judicial items such as planning applications. The implementation of
urgent decisions may be reviewed after the decision is made. The Chief Executive shall
determine whether an item is urgent based on reasons given by the report author.

Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny

Page 170

March 2018

Decisions called in and which are referred back for reconsideration will be clearly marked on
the agenda when reported back to the Executive or Area Committee. The comments or
recommendations from the Scrutiny Committee will also be reported.
No decision may be "called in" on more than one occasion.
"Call In" After the Decision is Implemented
The Scrutiny Committee may review the implications of decisions implemented by Area
Committees, Portfolio Holders and District Executive. Information on decisions taken will be
set out in the minutes of all meetings, which are published on the internet and deposited in
the Members Room. All decisions taken by the District Executive will also be reported to
each meeting of the Council.
Also those powers that have been exercised by officers under delegated authority can be
"called in" on an ad hoc basis. Lists of "major" decisions taken under delegated authority will
be reported on a regular basis to all members of the Council.
All decisions taken by the Executive, Area Committees or officers under delegated authority
which have been implemented may be "called in" at any time by the Scrutiny Committee to
consider the implications of the decision. The Committee can make recommendations to the
Executive or full Council on changes to policy or practice in the light of their findings in
respect of a particular decision or its implementation. Whilst individual quasi-judicial
decisions, such as planning, cannot be re-considered the procedures and policies applied in
each case may be looked at by the Committee.
Requests for "call in" can be made by either the Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee, two
other members of the Scrutiny Committee or by ten members of the Council. The request
must give the reasons for the "call in", with the names of the members making the request
and be submitted in writing or e-mail to the Democratic Services Specialist.
Scrutiny Reviews
In addition to being able to ‘Call-in’ decisions, the Overview and Scrutiny function shall
conduct reviews into identified areas of Council Services and their performance. It may also
investigate the operation of outside agencies as they impact on the District. This work will be
co-ordinated through the Annual Scrutiny Work Programme.
The Overview and Scrutiny function also takes an overview of levels of performance across
the authority in accordance with the authority’s performance management framework.
Overview Commission
All non-Executive members who form the Overview Commission will be given the opportunity
to contribute and take part in all reviews.
Reviews will be undertaken on a ‘Task and Finish’ basis as directed by the Scrutiny
Committee. The Scrutiny Committee will receive the final reports of the Overview
Commissions along with regular updates.
Members undertaking reviews will be encouraged to use various review methods and to
engage the wider community wherever possible. Relevant co-optees may be invited to
participate in a review, bearing in mind the potential contribution of residents and partners.
Members undertaking a review will meet informally and are not subject to the Access to
Information Rules. As Task and Finish groups they will be able to meet and take evidence in

Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny

Page 171

March 2018

public but this will not be a requirement. It will be for each group to decide its own working
arrangements that best meet the needs of a particular review.
The work of the Scrutiny Committee and the Overview Commissions will be managed by an
annual Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme. This will be approved and monitored by the
Scrutiny Committee and will be drawn up in consultation with all elected members (including
the Executive), SLT, Area Committees and the wider community. This will ensure that the
Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme accurately reflects Corporate Priorities along with
Area and community priorities. The Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme will be reported
to each meeting of the Scrutiny Committee, which will allow for amendments to be made to
the Programme, including new items added, as agreed by the Committee. The Programme
will be reported to Full Council annually as part of the Annual Scrutiny report.

Part 4 – Overview and Scrutiny

Page 172

March 2018

Human Resources Management Rules
Senior Managers
1.

The Council’s organisational Senior Management Structure comprises the Chief
Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and three Director posts (Service Delivery,
Support Services and Commercial Services & Income Generation). This is the
Council’s Senior Leadership Team (SLT)

Approval of Staffing Structures
3.

The Senior Management Structure, any revisions to it, and designation of Monitoring
Officer and Chief Finance Officer, shall be approved by the full Council.

4.

The Chief Executive and all other officers authorised by him may agree all other
staffing structure changes including approval/deletion of posts, changes in reporting
arrangements and variations to terms and conditions in accordance with local and
national policies and financial procedure rules.

5.

Any proposed changes to the number of posts (approval of new posts, deletion of
posts) shall be reported to the Senior Leadership Team who shall decide whether or
not the proposed changes shall be recommended for approval to the District
Executive. Changes to the Senior Management Structure shall be referred for
approval to full Council.

6.

Any permanent changes to the grades of posts may only be made in accordance with
the Council’s scheme of job evaluation.

Appointment of Chief Executive, Senior Managers, Chief Finance Officer and
Monitoring Officer
7

Rules 7-13 apply to the appointment of the Chief Executive and the Strategic
Directors; Rules 7-11 and 13 apply to the appointment of the Monitoring Officer
(Director (Support Services) and Chief Finance Officer

8.

For all such appointments the Human Resources Manager or his/her nominee shall:

9.

a)

draw up a statement specifying:
(i)
the duties of the post; and
(ii)
any qualifications or qualities required;

(b)

make suitable arrangements for the post to be externally advertised to bring it
to the attention of suitably qualified persons (unless applicants are to be
sought only from among the Council’s existing staff); and

(c)

make arrangements for the statement in paragraph (a) above to be sent to
any person on request.

In all cases either all qualified applicants or a selected short-list will be interviewed as
set out in the table below:

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 173

May 2017

Post

Appointing Body

Adviser

Chief Executive

Appointments Committee
shall agree 8 (a) and (b)
above, shortlist and
interview and make
recommendation to full
Council.

As agreed by the
Appointments Committee

Deputy Chief Executive

Appointments Committee
shall agree 8 (a) and (b)
above, shortlist and
interview and make
appointment

Chief Executive and as
agreed by the Appointments
Committee

Monitoring Officer and Chief
Finance Officer (if not
already part of the Senior
Management Structure)

Appointments Committee
shall agree 8 (a) and (b)
above, shortlist and
interview and make
appointment

Chief Executive and as
agreed by the Appointments
Committee

10.

The Appointments Committee when considering any appointment must include a
member of the District Executive as a voting member.

11.

Where no suitably qualified person has applied, the post shall be re-advertised.

12.

When a Director ceases to hold that post or is likely to be absent for any length of
time, the Chief Executive, after consultation with the political group leaders, may
appoint someone to act temporarily in that capacity and determine the salary to be
paid.

13.

No offer of an appointment as Chief Executive, a Director, Monitoring Officer or Chief
Finance Officer may be made until:

14.

(a)

all members of the District Executive have been notified of the name of the
person to whom the offer is to be made and informed of the date and time by
which any objection to the making of the offer can be made by any member of
the Executive.

(b)

in the case of the Chief Executive, the Council has confirmed the appointment
after consideration of any such objection and resolving that it is not material or
not well-founded; or

(c)

in all other cases, no such objection has been made or the appointing body
has considered any such objection and has resolved or decided that the
objection is not material or not well-founded.

The Chairman of the Standards Committee shall be consulted before a new or
existing officer is appointed or designated as Monitoring Officer.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 174

May 2017

15.

In terms of appointment to other posts:

Post

Appointing Body

Adviser

Directors

Chief Executive and Deputy Human Resources Manager
Chief Executive shall
undertake all elements of
the appointments process.

All Other Posts

Directors or appointed
Human Resources Manager
representatives and other
officers in line with policy on
recruitment.

Disciplinary Action – Senior Managers
16.

Disciplinary action or suspension during investigation of allegations of misconduct in
relation to Senior Manager (as defined in para. 2 above) may only be taken as
provided in the table below:
Suspension

Investigation

Disciplinary
Action/
Dismissal/Appeal

Chief Executive
(Head of Paid
Service)

Appointments
As Agreed by
Committee on
Council.
advice of the Human
Report to
Resources Manager.
Appointments
Committee or
Council

Council

Chief Finance
Officer and
Monitoring Officer

Appointments
Committee on
advice from the
Chief Executive or
Chief Executive if
Committee cannot
be convened

As agreed by
Council.

Appointments
Committee

Report to
Appointments
Committee

Appeal to a
Committee
appointed by the
Council

Other Directors inc
Deputy Chief
Executive

Appointments
Committee on
advice from the
Chief Executive or
Chief Executive if
Committee cannot
be convened

Other Officer or
independent person
appointed by the
Appointments
Committee.

Appointments
Committee
Appeal to a
Committee
appointed by the
Council

17.

No disciplinary action, other than suspension as provided for above, may be taken in
respect of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer other
than in accordance with the procedure agreed by Council.

18.

All suspended officers shall be on full pay during the investigation of the alleged
misconduct (see appendix for guidance on what may constitute misconduct),
which must be completed no later than two months after the suspension takes effect.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 175

May 2017

19.

The Chairman of the Standards Committee shall be consulted after any investigation
of an allegation of misconduct by the Monitoring Officer; and his/her advice shall be
presented to the Appointments Committee.

Dismissal of a member of the SLT, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer
20.

No decision to dismiss a member of the SLT, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring
Officer shall take effect until:
(a)

the Monitoring Officer has recorded the name of the person to be dismissed
and any other particulars the Appointments Committee (or other responsible
body or person) considers relevant to the dismissal;

(b)

that information has been sent by the Monitoring Officer to the Leader and all
members of the District Executive with a date and time by which any objection
to the dismissal can be made;

(c)

the Monitoring Officer has confirmed that the date and time for objection has
elapsed and either the Council (in the case of the Head of Paid Service) or the
responsible body (in all other cases) has considered any such objection and
has resolved or decided that the objection is not material or not well-founded;

Provided always that should the decision relate to the Monitoring Officer then the
requirements contained in paragraphs (a) –(c) above shall be undertaken by the Chief
Executive Officer
Appeals by a member of SLT, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer
21.

Any appeal must be lodged with the Monitoring Officer (or the Chief Executive where
the appeal is made by the Monitoring Officer) within 10 working days of written
confirmation to the officer of the disciplinary action and must include a written
statement of the grounds on which the appeal is made.

22.

Subject to these rules, all disciplinary procedures, including hearings and appeals,
shall be conducted as far as possible in accordance with the provisions of the South
Somerset Scheme of Conditions of Service.

23.

Appeal hearings shall not include Members involved in the decision to take
disciplinary action.

Other Officers
24.

Members may not take part in the appointment of any other officers (except
assistants for political groups) nor in any disciplinary or dismissal action, except as
provided for above or as a member of an appeal panel.
Staff Appeals
25.

Unresolved employee grievances and appeals by employees of the Council against
dismissal, transfer or downgrading are determined in accordance with the District
Council's Disciplinary Procedures. Members, appointed by the Council and having
received the appropriate training, may only be involved in an appeal against
dismissal.

Delegations to Officers
26

Officers at the level stated and above are empowered to take the decisions about
staff set out in the table below.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 176

May 2017

27.

Managers are also authorised to make other day to day operational decisions on the
management of their staff in accordance with the relevant procedures and conditions
of employment. A list of these authorisations is held by the Human Resources
Manager and may be altered by the Chief Executive.

Issue

Decision

Minimum Level of Decision

Recruitment and
Appointment of Staff

Agree the recruitment and
appointment of all staff below
Director level

Director

Assistance with
Application of Relocation Scheme Director
Employee Relocation within scheme limits.
Costs
Acting Up
Arrangements

Agree Acting Up arrangement and Director (in consultation with the
determine appropriate payment
Deputy Chief Executive or Chief
where an employee is required to Executive)
undertake the duties of a higher
graded post on a temporary basis.

Termination of
Employment

Termination of employment on
redundancy, early retirement,
efficiency of service, incapacity
and disciplinary grounds in
accordance with Council's
severance policy.

Decisions on redundancies and
early retirements for senior
managers to be taken by the Chief
Executive following consultation
with the Leader of the Council.
All other redundancies, efficiency of
service and early retirements (other
than on ill health grounds) to be
jointly agreed by the Director and
the Human Resources Manager. All
details of early retirements to be
circulated to all members for
information.
All other terminations of
employment to be agreed by
Director () in all cases in
accordance with the Disciplinary
and Capability Procedures.

Use of Ex Employees Approval to use ex-employees as
as Consultants
consultants on a “contract for
service” basis with reference to
the Financial Procedure Rules,
pension restrictions and Contract
Standing Orders.

Director (in consultation with
Human Resources and Pensions
Department, if applicable)

Changes to National Agree the implementation of
Human Resources Manager
Joint Council (NJC) NJC pay awards and changes to
conditions of service in
Pay and Conditions
accordance with NJC agreements.
Advances of Salary

Agree payment of an advance of
salary, in exceptional
circumstances.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 177

Director (in conjunction with Human
Resources)

May 2017

Dealing with salaries Agreement of starting salaries and Chief Executive
and pay progression subsequent pay movement for
outside of the normal staff.
procedures
Withholding of increments in
Director
accordance with the provisions of
the staff handbook.
Extension of Sick Pay Agree conversion of any period of Director
sick pay entitlement from half to
full pay.
Agree extension of sick pay
beyond the aggregate of full and
half pay.

Chief Executive

Recovery of Sick Pay Agree recovery of sick pay where Human Resources Manager and
employees have been off sick due Director
to their own misconduct.
Payment of Honoraria Approval to pay honoraria to NJC
to National Joint
staff
Council (NJC) Staff

Director

Standby Allowances

Director

Approve updating of Standby
allowance rates under the JNC
Scheme.

Annual Leave Buyout Agree, for exceptional reasons, to Director (in consultation with
buy-out an employee’s annual
Human Resources)
leave to a maximum of 5 days in
any one leave year.
Leave for
Extraneous Duties,
e.g. JPs, Local
Authority Members,
School Governors

Grant an employee up to 18
days paid leave per year for
undertaking extraneous duties.

Director

Issue

Decision

Minimum Level of Decision

Special Leave for
Trade Union
Conferences

Approval for representatives
Director
nominated by a recognised
Trade Union to be granted up to 5
days paid leave to attend
annual/biennial conferences

Special Leave for
Retained Fire
Fighters

Approval for retained fire fighters
to be granted up to 2 weeks
additional paid leave to attend
recognised courses concerning
their fire service duties.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 178

Director

May 2017

Special Leave for
Election Duties

Grant paid leave to employees
Chief Executive
acting as Presiding Officers and
Poll Clerks at Parliamentary,
European Parliament, County
Council, District, Police and Crime
Commissioner or Parish Council
elections and any National
Referendum.

Special Leave for
Service in NonRegular Forces

Grant volunteer members of the
Director
non-regular forces up to two
weeks additional leave per year to
attend camp as per the Reservist
Policy.

Participation in the
Reserve Armed
Forces

Where appropriate grant approval Director
for an employee to enter an
agreement to become a reservist
in the regular reserve forces or the
volunteer reserves as appropriate
as per the Reservist Policy.

Compassionate
Leave beyond
normal provisions

In exceptional circumstances
grant paid compassionate leave
beyond the normal provisions as
in the staff handbook.

Chief Executive

Unpaid Leave

Approval for employees to be
granted up to and including 12
days unpaid leave.

Service Manger

Approvals for employees to be
granted between 13 days and 3
months unpaid leave.

Director (in consultation with
Human Resources Manager)

Additional Paid Leave Approval in exceptional
circumstances for additional paid
leave up to a maximum of ten
days per year.

Chief Executive

Issue

Decision

Minimum Level of Decision

Reimbursement for
Meals and
Subsistence
payments

Agree the payment levels for
reimbursement of expenditure on
meals and other subsistence
expenses.

Chief Executive

Authorise the reimbursement of
expenditure on meals and other
Service Manager
subsistence expenses (excluding
alcohol) in line with the agreed
scheme of payments on
production of receipts.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 179

May 2017

Travelling
Allowances

Allocation of car user status
Director (in consultation with
Human Resources Manager)
(casual, essential) in
accordance with Local Agreement
on Car Allowances to posts where
use of a motor vehicle is required
in order to perform the duties.
Use of Council vehicles in
exceptional circumstances and
subject to insurance clearance.

Director

Payment of
Travelling
Expenses at work

In exceptional circumstances
agree the payment of travelling
expenses to and from work.

Director

Car Loans

Setting the maximum amount that Director (Support Services)
can be granted for a car loan.
Setting the rate of interest for car
loans.
Approval of payment of car loans
in accordance with Assisted Car
Purchase Scheme.

Secondments

Director (in consultation with
Human Resources Manager).

Agree secondments outside of
SSDC.

Director (in consultation with
Human Resources Manager).

Agree secondments within the
Council.

Director

Agree secondments to SSDC from Director (in consultation with
other employers.
Human Resources Manager).
Changes to the
delegations and
authorisations to Line
Managers

Agree changes to the Officer
Chief Executive
delegations. Such changes to be
variations to the existing scheme
in terms of the officers responsible
for exercising the delegated power
only. Changes to the powers
delegated to officers require the
approval of Council.

Disciplinary Policy

Agree minor updates to
Disciplinary Policy

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 180

Portfolio Holder for HR in
consultation with HR Manager.

May 2017

Policy Group: Disputes Resolution
Disciplinary Procedure
1.

Purpose

1.

The purpose of this Procedure is to:




Outline the disciplinary rules relating to the conduct of SSDC employees.
Outline the steps to be taken when there is a breach of these rules by an
individual
Ensure that SSDC complies with the law relating to handling disciplinary
matters and that employees’ rights are protected

2.

The ACAS Discipline and Grievances at Work Handbook and guidance available on
the ACAS website should be used as a reference guide by managers and employees
should further information be required. The website address is www.acas.org.uk

3.

This procedure applies to all employees of SSDC except: the Head of Paid Service,
Directors, the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer. For these exceptions,
similar principles will apply, but as modified by the Council’s ‘Human Resources
Management Rules’ in relation to suspension, investigation, disciplinary action and
appeals. Any disciplinary action against staff during their probationary period will
follow the Standard Statutory Dismissal and Disciplinary Procedure detailed in section
10 below.

4.

A separate procedure deals with matters of capability i.e. inability to perform the
requirements of the role, either due to illness or lack of competence.

2.

Core Principles

1.

All employees have a duty to act reasonably and with due regard to defined and
reasonable standards of conduct and should expect to be held accountable for their
behaviour and actions.

2.

Managers at every level have a responsibility to uphold standards of discipline of the
employees reporting to them.

3.

Managers will use this Procedure primarily to obtain an improvement in behaviour
and conduct and not see it as simply a means to impose sanctions. In particular,
other than for gross misconduct, no employee will normally be dismissed for a first
disciplinary breach. (During probationary period modified procedure in section 10
maybe applied).

4.

Formal disciplinary action will only be taken after:

a thorough investigation of the facts

an employee has been informed in writing of the complaint against them and
formally advised of their right to be accompanied at any subsequent meetings

a meeting with the employee has been held

5.

Employees will be informed in writing of the outcome of any disciplinary meeting(s)
and will have the right to appeal any action taken to a more senior manager who was
not involved in the earlier meeting or the investigation.

6.

Employees have the right to be accompanied at all disciplinary and appeal meetings
by a fellow employee or a trade union officer. Disciplinary proceedings affecting a lay
trade union officer will only take place after consultation with the paid union officer.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 181

May 2017

7.

Each instance will be dealt with as speedily as possible, taking account of the
seriousness and complexity of the matter in hand.

3.

Disciplinary Rules

1.

It is not possible in this document to define all acts of misconduct that could lead to
the Procedure being used.

2.

Misconduct is a breach of the express or implied terms of an employee’s contract of
employment and is essentially behaviour which does not meet defined standards or
standards which any person would accept as reasonable.

3.

A distinction is made between:

Minor misconduct – such cases will be dealt with informally and the full
Procedure will not be used

Misconduct – this may be repeated minor misconduct or allegations of
misconduct which require formal investigation and possible action. This
Procedure will be invoked in such cases.

Gross misconduct – this is alleged misconduct so serious that, if
substantiated, represents a fundamental repudiation of the contract of
employment by an employee and which would justify summary dismissal i.e.
dismissal without notice. While there may be some conduct that will always be
classified as ‘gross’, the distinction between ‘misconduct’ and ‘gross
misconduct’ may be a question of seriousness.
Examples of conduct which will normally be regarded as gross misconduct include:












theft or fraud;
physical violence or purposeful bullying;
deliberate and serious damage to property;
serious misuse of the Council’s property or name;
deliberately accessing and/or disseminating internet sites or electronic
material containing pornographic, offensive or obscene material; serious
insubordination;
unlawful discrimination or harassment;
bringing the Council into serious disrepute;
serious incapability at work brought on by alcohol or illegal drugs;
causing loss, damage or injury through serious negligence;
a serious breach of health and safety rules;
a serious breach of confidence; and
breaches of the Code of Conduct.

4.

Minor Misconduct

1.

For a first minor breach of discipline, a manager may issue an informal warning
without the need to follow any set procedure. A note that such a warning has been
given will be kept on the employee’s personal file and a copy given to the employee.
Although no right of appeal is available against such informal action an employee
may raise a grievance if the issue of such the warning was unreasonable and/or the
note made was inaccurate and the matter cannot be resolved informally.

2.

The period for retaining any such note on the personal file will be set down on the
note however, this period will not exceed 4 months in normal circumstances. Once
the period is ‘spent’ the note (and any copies whether ‘hard’ or ‘soft’) will be removed
from the file and securely destroyed.

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 182

May 2017

5.

Misconduct

For more serious suspicions or allegations of misconduct the following formal procedure will
apply:
1.

The employee’s Manager will verbally advise the employee of the allegation(s)
against them and that these will be investigated. In some cases it may be appropriate
and reasonable to seek the employee’s version of events immediately as part of that
investigation, but in many instances it will be more appropriate to interview the
employee later as part of the investigation. In any event, the employee will be
advised that this meeting is to investigate the facts of the matter and is not a
disciplinary hearing.
The allegations, and that there will be an investigation, will be confirmed in writing, as
will the possible outcomes of the investigation and the right of employees to be
accompanied at any subsequent meetings to discuss the allegations.

2.

The Manager will institute an investigation, which will involve collection of relevant
documents if applicable and, where appropriate, interviews with witnesses and the
employee concerned. The facts ascertained will be documented.
The manager must ask for an independent person to conduct the investigations etc
where s/he considers that they have been too closely involved in the incident in
question or have not been able to keep a sufficiently open mind to ensure that
fairness and natural justice are maintained. They may also opt for an independent
investigation where they consider it advisable for maintaining future good relations
within the team or where there are allegations of bias against them.

3.

On the basis of an investigation the Manager will decide if there is a ’case to answer’.
If not, the employee will be advised accordingly, both verbally and in writing. Where
there is, the Manager will organise a formal disciplinary meeting which will include:

Setting out in writing the basis of the allegation and an explanation of the
‘case to answer’, including providing a copy of all the documented evidence
ascertained in the investigation

Arranging a date, time and venue for a meeting with the employee. This must
provide a reasonable time for the employee to prepare and consult with
whoever might be accompanying them. Reasonable and genuine requests to
postpone the meeting will be considered sympathetically and the statutory
grounds for postponing the meeting are set out ACAS handbook.

Confirming in writing to the employee the date, time and venue for the
meeting and re-confirming their right to be accompanied

4.

A disciplinary meeting will be held between the Manager and the employee with their
accompanying representative if appropriate. The Manager should be accompanied
too and, depending on the nature of the case (its seriousness and complexity), others
may also attend e.g. a note-taker and/or witnesses.

5.

The Manager will have due regard to the following matters before deciding whether
any action should be taken: 





the facts identified in the investigation report;
the employee’s explanation (including any relevant mitigating circumstances),
their length of service and employment record
the decisions made in other cases
any general considerations of fairness, reasonableness and consistency

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 183

May 2017

The outcome will be advised both verbally and in writing.
6.

Appeals

1.

Employees have the right to appeal to a more senior manager against any
disciplinary sanctions imposed. Any such appeal should be submitted as soon as
practicable, but generally no later than five working days after receiving written
confirmation of the action being taken. The employee will again be advised of their
statutory right to be accompanied to the meeting and their right to postpone the
meeting.

2.

Appeals will be considered at a meeting within a reasonable timescale by an
independent Manager who where practical is more senior to the one chairing the
original meeting and normally within the same management reporting line providing
that they were not involved in the earlier investigation. For sanctions other than
dismissal the appeal will normally review the specific grounds of appeal and, where
these were not clear from the appeal letter, the employee will be encouraged to
provide details of the grounds of the appeal to allow a review to take place.

3.

Where, exceptionally, a rehearing of the whole case may be needed the HR Manager
will make this decision after consultation with the employee and the relevant Union or
workplace representative. Where it is decided that a rehearing is required the
implications of a rehearing, particularly in relation to a possible increase in sanction,
must be explained to the employee and confirmed in writing by the HR Manager. The
employee must then be allowed a reasonable amount of time to consider whether
they wish to pursue their appeal or withdraw it.

4.

Where an employee feels that the HR Manager’s decision to hold a rehearing rather
than a review is unreasonable, they may lodge a grievance.

5.

Appeal meetings about a dismissal will always represent a full re-hearing of the case
and will be heard by a panel made up of at least two Directors/Chief Executive and 2
two elected Council Members.

6.

7.

Where the appeal is a rehearing of the case, the decision of the Appeals Panel may
include confirmation of the original decision, the quashing of the original decision or a
lesser sanction being substituted (including a decision to dismiss) for the original
decision.
The outcome of any appeal will be confirmed in writing. This outcome will be final.

7.

Gross Misconduct

Where the allegations could amount to gross misconduct, the following Procedure will apply:
1.

As soon as the employee’s Manager is aware of the allegations which (s)he
considers could amount to gross misconduct, (s)he should discuss the matter with the
HR Manager, their Director or the Deputy Chief Executive. If they agree, then they
can authorise immediate suspension which should be confirmed verbally and in
writing to the employee.

2.

Suspension will be on full pay pending investigation and is not to be regarded as a
disciplinary sanction in its own right. It is to be for the minimum period necessary and
should be regularly reviewed to confirm it is still necessary.

3.

Thereafter the Procedure follows that listed from step 1 in the Misconduct section of
the Procedure, except that in all cases an independent person will conduct the
investigation and make a recommendation on whether there is a case to answer and

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 184

May 2017

the employee’s Director or the Deputy Chief Executive will normally chair the
disciplinary meeting.
8.

Suspension

Suspension won’t be necessary in all cases, however an employee may be suspended on
full pay in cases of serious misconduct or other instances whilst an investigation is conducted
if:
(a)
(b)

such a suspension would facilitate the investigation
there is a risk to the Authority’s property or to other people

9.

Disciplinary outcomes/sanctions

A disciplinary meeting can have a variety of outcomes as shown in the table below.
Outcome
No action

Used in these circumstances
Where Manager chairing the meeting considers
that there is no real substance to the allegations, or

Applied by
Any level of
Manager

Where, although the allegations have substance,
there are strong mitigating factors which means
that it would be unreasonable to impose a warning
Informal verbal
warning

Where allegations have substance but it is a first
breach or discipline and the Manager chairing the
meeting concludes that the misconduct is of a
minor nature, or

Any level of
Manager

Where, although allegations have substance, there
are strong mitigating factors which means that it
would be unreasonably to impose stronger
warning.
Written
warning

Final written
warning (i.e.
dismissal
could result
from any
further
misconduct)
Dismissal with
contractual
notice
Dismissal
without notice
Demotion
and/or transfer

Where allegations of misconduct have substance,
there are no mitigating factors justifying lesser
sanction but, taking past record into account, it
would be unreasonable to impose a stronger
sanction
Following a failure to heed previous warnings (in
which case another hearing is necessary), or
A substantiated serious disciplinary offence, even
though no warnings have previously been given

Any level of
Manager

Following a failure to heed a final warning, or

Director and above

Dismissal for a reason other than Gross
Misconduct
Substantiated Gross Misconduct

Director and above

Only as an alternative to dismissal and with
employee’s formal written agreement

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 185

3rd tier manager and
above

Director and above

May 2017

Appeal meetings can: quash the original decision entirely; or substitute a lesser sanction; or
substitute a greater sanction, but only if the appeal is a full rehearing of the case. In most
cases the appeal will be a review of the earlier decision and the employee will be
encouraged to identify the specific point(s) of the appeal so that the appeal panel can
address this issue(s). In these cases no greater sanction may be substituted.
If written warnings are issued, the employee will also be advised of the improvement required
and the consequences of failure to improve. All warnings will be kept on file for the period
specified on the warning. This period would normally be:




4 months for informal warnings
6 months for a formal verbal warning
12 months for a written warning
24 months for a final written warning

Once the period is ‘spent’ the warnings will be removed from the personal file.
Even when a warning is ‘spent’ and documents removed from the personal file, in order that
the Council can meet any possible obligations under the TUPE regulations, all
documentation in relation to formal disciplinary proceedings will be retained for a total of two
years before being destroyed. In such cases, the records will be securely stored and kept
separate from any personal file that may be available to managers generally. Information
relating to ‘spent’ warnings will not be made available to those involved in selection
decisions.
10.

Probationary Periods

An employee still in their probationary period can be dismissed using a modified procedure
as follows.
Step 1:

The manager must set out the reasons in writing detailing the issues of
concern or alleged conduct or other circumstances which lead them to
contemplate dismissing or taking disciplinary action against the employee.
The manager will send a copy to the employee inviting the employee to attend
a meeting advising them of their right to be accompanied at the meeting.

Step 2:

The meeting must take place before action is taken except where a decision is
taken to suspend the employee. The employee should be given reasonable
time to have considered their response to the information in the letter. The
employee must take reasonable steps to attend the meeting and will have an
opportunity at the meeting to put their point of view.
After the meeting the manager will inform the employee in writing of their
decision and, if applicable, advise them of their right of appeal against the
decision.

Step 3:

If the employee wishes to appeal they must put the request in writing and they
will be invited to a further meeting at which they can be accompanied. A more
senior manager than at the first meeting (usually a Director) should hear the
appeal. After the appeal meeting the manager must inform the employee of
their decision in writing

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 186

May 2017

South Somerset District Council
Disciplinary Procedure – Outline Flow Chart
Manager aware of
misconduct
allegation

Is it minor
and 1 st
occasion?

Suspend on full pay

Yes

No

,
Yes

Director, or CE)

Discuss informally
and set standard

Issue informal verbal
Is it Gross
misconduct?

warning and make
file note (copy to
employee)

No

Manager initiates
investigation and
documents facts

Confirm to
employee in
writing

No

Case to
answer?
Yes

Arrange Disciplinary
meeting – confirm in
writing

Hold Disciplinary
meeting

Reasonable
belief that
case proven?

No

Confirm disciplinary
action in writing and
give right of appeal

Case closed

No

Appeal?
Yes

More senior
Manager hears
appeal

Part 4 – HR Management Rules

Page 187

Outcome confirmed
in writing

May 2017

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
1.

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy framework as
set out in Article 4. Once a budget or policy framework is in place, it will be the
responsibility of the executive to implement it.

2.

The process by which the budget and policy framework shall be developed is:

(a)

The Executive will publicise through its forward plan a timetable in accordance with
which it will make proposals to the Council for the adoption of any plan, strategy or
budget that forms part of the budget and policy framework. The Chairman of the
Scrutiny Committee will also be notified. Within this timetable each Area Committee
will develop proposals for the following budgets for their area, having taken steps to
consult residents and other stakeholders: area capital budget, area reserves and area
grants budget. Their proposals will be presented to the Executive.

(b)

The Executive’s initial proposals, taking into account proposals from Area
Committees, shall be referred to the Scrutiny Committee for further advice and
consideration. The Scrutiny Committee shall canvass the views of local stakeholders
if it considers it appropriate in accordance with the matter under consideration, and
having particular regard not to duplicate any consultation carried out by the Area
Committees. The Scrutiny Committee shall report to the Executive on the outcome of
their deliberations. The Scrutiny Committee shall have four weeks to respond to the
initial proposals of the Executive unless the Executive considers that there are special
factors that make this timescale inappropriate. If it does, the Executive will inform the
Scrutiny Committee of the time for response when the proposals are referred to it.

(c)

Having considered the report of the Scrutiny Committee, the Executive, if it considers
it appropriate, may amend its proposals before submitting them to the Council
meeting for consideration.

(d)

The Council will consider the proposals of the Executive and may adopt them, amend
them, refer them back to the Executive for further consideration, or substitute its own
proposals in their place. In considering the matter, the Council shall have before it the
Executive’s proposals from Area Committees and any report from the Scrutiny
Committee.

(e)

The Council’s decision will be publicised in accordance with Article 4 and a copy shall
be given to the Leader of the Council. The notice of decision shall be dated, and shall
state either that the decision shall be effective immediately (if the Council accepts the
Executive’s proposal without amendment) or (if the Executive’s proposal is not
accepted without amendment), that the Council’s decision will become effective on
the expiry of 5 working days after the publication of the notice of decision, unless the
Leader of the Council formally objects to it in that period and provides reasons why.

(f)

In that case, the Democratic Services Specialist will call a Council meeting within a
further 5 days. The Council will be required to re-consider its decision and the Leader
of the Council's written submission within 10 days.
The Council may
i)

approve the Executive’s recommendation by a simple majority of votes cast at
the meeting; or

ii)

approve a different decision which does not accord with the recommendation
of the Executive by a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting.

Part 4 – Budget and Policy Framework

Page 188

March 2018

(g)

The decision shall then be made public in accordance with Article 4, and shall be
implemented immediately;

(h)

In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify the extent
of virement within the budget and degree of in-year changes to the policy framework
which may be undertaken by the Executive, in accordance with paragraphs 5 and 6 of
these Rules (virement and in-year adjustments). Any other changes to the policy and
budgetary framework are reserved to the Council.

3.

Decisions outside the budget or policy framework

(a)

Subject to the provisions of paragraph 5 (virement) and Financial Regulations, the
Executive, committees of the Executive, and nominated individual members of the
Executive and any officers, Area Committees or joint arrangements discharging
executive functions may only take decisions which are in line with the budget and
policy framework. If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which
is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the
budget approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the Council,
subject to 4 below.

(b)

If the Executive, committees of the Executive, nominated individual members of the
Executive and any officers, Area Committees or joint arrangements discharging
executive functions want to make such a decision, they shall take advice from the
Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer as to whether the decision they
want to make would be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly
in accordance with the budget. If the advice of either of those officers is that the
decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy framework, then
the decision must be referred by that body or person to the Council for decision,
unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which case the provisions in paragraph
4 (urgent decisions outside the budget and policy framework) shall apply.

4.
(a)

Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework
The Executive, a committee of the executive, a nominated individual member of the
executive or officers, Area Committees or joint arrangements discharging executive
functions may take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s policy framework or
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full Council if the
decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may only be taken:
i)

if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and

ii)

if the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee agrees that the decision is a matter of
urgency.

The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council and
the chair of the scrutiny committee's consent to the decision being taken as a matter
of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision. In the absence of the chair of
the scrutiny committee the consent of the chairman of the Council and in the absence
of both the Vice-Chairman will be sufficient.
(b)

Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next available
Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was
treated as a matter of urgency.

Part 4 – Budget and Policy Framework

Page 189

March 2018

5.

Virement

(a)

The rules of virements are set out in the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules which
are included in this Part of the Constitution.

(b)

Financial Regulations will allow the Executive to take any decision which is contrary
to or not wholly in accordance with the budget or capital plan providing that any
additional costs can be offset by additional income, contingency or savings within
budget allocations to functions which are the responsibility of the executive.

6.

Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework

(a)

Where the Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that an executive decision is, or if
made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring
Officer and/or Chief Financial Officer.

(b)

In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Executive, the Monitoring
Officer’s report and/or Chief Financial Officer’s report shall be to the Executive with a
copy to every member of the Council. Regardless of whether the decision is
delegated or not, the Executive must meet to decide what action to take in respect of
the Monitoring Officer’s report and to prepare a report to Council in the event that the
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was a
departure, and to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the Monitoring Officer or
the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was not a departure.

(c)

If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, and
the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer is that the
decision is or would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in
accordance with the budget, the Scrutiny Committee may refer the matter to Council.
In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its
implementation until the Council has met and considered the matter. The Council
shall meet within 10 days of the request by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. At
the meeting it will receive a report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the
Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer. The Council may either:
i)

endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as falling within
the existing budget and policy framework. In this case no further action is
required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all
councillors in the normal way;

Or
ii)

amend the Council’s Financial Regulations or policy concerned to encompass
the decision or proposal of the body or individual responsible for that executive
function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further
action is required save that the decision of the Council be minuted and
circulated to all councillors in the normal way;

Or
iii)

where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the policy
framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, and does
not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, require the Executive to
reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice of either the Monitoring
Officer/Chief Finance Officer.

Part 4 – Budget and Policy Framework

Page 190

March 2018

Financial Procedure Rules
Introduction
i.

To conduct its business efficiently a local authority needs to ensure that it has sound
financial management policies in place and that they are strictly adhered to. Part of this
process is the establishment of Financial Procedure Rules that set out the financial
policies of the authority. A modern council should also be committed to innovation, within
the regulatory framework, providing that the necessary risk assessment and approval
safeguards are in place.

ii.

The Financial Procedure Rules provide clarity about the financial accountabilities of
individuals: Elected Members; the District Executive; the Chief Executive; Directors;
Section 151 Officer (S151); the Monitoring Officer; other Managers and all other officers
of the Council.

iii.

The Council has established other internal regulatory documents as set out in Part 4 of
the Council’s Constitution. The Constitution lays down the Council’s governance
structure, which sets out how the Council operates, decision making processes, and the
Council’s operating procedures.

iv.

It is not possible to draft procedure rules to cover every eventuality or circumstance.
Consequently, the principles of sound financial management proper exercise of
responsibility and accountability, as set out in this document should be applied in all
circumstances.

v.

The following general principles apply:  there should be adequate and understood separation of duties so as to maintain
adequate control over all financial transactions and operations;
 there should be a clear hierarchy of control;
 there should be adequate training and supervision of staff and there should be
adequate management and audit trails;
 there should be adequate management of risks and additional checks where there
are high levels of risk;
 operational financial procedures should be clearly documented, key risks identified,
and such documents kept up to date and there should be adequate business
continuity plans in place to maintain effective administration of the Council’s
finances at all times.

vi.

Financial Procedure Rules apply to every Member and employee of the Council and
anyone acting on its behalf.

vii.

Executive Members and Directors should, where decision-making is delegated to them,
maintain a written record of all decisions. Where decisions are delegated or devolved to
other responsible officers, references to Directors in the rules should be read as referring
to them.

viii.

All elected Members and employees have a general responsibility for taking reasonable
action to provide for the security of assets, funds and resources under their control, and
for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides
value for money and achieves best value.

ix.

The S151 Officer is individually responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the
Financial Procedure Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the
Audit Committee and then Full Council for approval. She/he is also individually
responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches to the Council, to the District

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 191

August 2020

Executive, or the Audit Committee. Directors and their staff are responsible for promptly
notifying the S151 Officer of any breaches of these Financial Procedure Rules.
x.

The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) is responsible for ensuring that all Managers are
aware of the existence and content of the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and other
internal regulatory documents, and that all employees comply with them. The SLT shall
also ensure that there is an adequate level of understanding of these rules within their
teams and that copies are available for reference within their service area or are
accessible via other media.

CONTENTS
1

Financial Governance

1.1
1.2
1.3
1.4
1.5
1.6
1.7
1.8

Full Council
District Executive
Chief Executive (Head of Paid Services)
Monitoring Officer
Section 151 Officer (Chief Finance Officer)
Chief Executive, Directors/Managers and Budget Holders
Executive Members Exercising Budget Responsibility
All Other Employees

2

Cash Limits

2.1
2.2
2.3
2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7
2.8
2.9
2.10
2.11
2.12
2.13

General Revenue and Budget Monitoring
Variation to Structures and Staffing Levels
Revenue Virement Rules
Revenue Under/Overspends
General Capital and Budget Monitoring
Bidding for Capital Resources
Purchase & Disposal of Plant & Vehicles
Capital Receipts
Capital Virement Rules
Monitoring the Capital Programme and Capital Projects
Capital Under/Overspends
Post Project Appraisals
S106 Funds

3

Financial Control

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6

General
Local Code of Corporate Governance
Annual Governance Statement
Internal Audit – South West Audit Partnership
Operational Leases
Treasury Management

4

Contracts

4.1

General

5

Purchasing

5.1
5.2
5.3

Payment of Invoices
Corporate Credit Cards
Procurement Cards

6

Payroll

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4

Appointment of Employees
Amendments to Payroll
Other Payments
Timesheets

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 192

August 2020

7

Banking

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6

General
Cash and Cheques Received
Money Laundering
Payments by Direct Debits
Direct Debits and Cheques Paid
Handling of Cheques

8

Income Management

8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4

Income Collection
Fees and Charges
Write-off of Debts
Cash Floats and Petty Cash

9

Imprest Accounts

9.1

Imprest Accounts

10 Risk Management and
Insurance

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7

Risk Management
Insurances
Notification of Loss
Review
Car Allowances
Current Insurance
Inventories

11 Stocks, Stores, Furniture
and Equipment

11.1
11.2
11.3
11.4
11.5

General
Write Offs
Stock Checks
Corrections
Disposal of Surplus Furniture and Equipment (including
personal computers)

12 Car Loans and Car
Leases

12.1

Car Loans and Car Leases

13 Land, Buildings and Other 13.1
Property
13.2
13.3
13.4
13.5
13.6

Asset Register
Buildings, Land and Property Transactions
Condition Surveys
Asset Management Plans
Custody of Deeds and Documents
Security

14 Loans to Third Parties

14.1

Loans Policy

15 External Arrangements

15.1
15.2
15.3

Partnerships
External Funding
Grants to Outside Bodies

16 Breaches of Financial
Regulations

16.1

Breaches of Financial Regulations

Appendix A

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Officer contacts for further information

Page 193

August 2020

1

FINANCIAL GOVERNANCE

1.1

Full Council

a)

The Full Council is responsible for approving the policy framework and, through a named
vote, the annual revenue and capital budgets within which the Executive operates. This
encompasses any medium and longer-term plans for both revenue and capital
resources. The policy framework shall also include approval and setting the Council Tax
rate.

b)

The Full Council may delegate to a Sub Committee or the Leader the approval of the Full
Council Tax Determination that sets out the detailed council tax charges by town/parish
and council tax band for each preceptor.

c)

It is also responsible for monitoring the budget including compliance with the Authority’s
overall framework of accountability and control. If revenue reserves fall below the risk
assessed minimum requirement then only Full Council can authorise any further use of
those reserves, taking due account of advice from the Council’s S151 Officer. Full
Council is responsible for approving use of capital reserves greater than 5% of the usable
receipts balance in any one year.

1.2

District Executive

a)

The District Executive is responsible for proposing the policy framework and detailed
budget to the Full Council and for discharging executive functions in accordance with the
policy framework and budget agreed by Full Council. The detailed budget should include
the allocations to the various services and projects, proposed funding including taxation
levels, and minimum required levels of general reserves. District Executive can approve
the use of general reserves to fund Supplementary Budget allocations within the financial
year subject to balances remaining at the risk assessed minimum requirements. District
Executive can approve the use of usable capital receipts up to a maximum of 5% of
unallocated receipts to fund Supplementary Budget allocations in any one year.

b)

Where the District Executive delegates executive decisions to a committee, or an
individual Executive Member (Portfolio Holder), or a Member of staff, that delegation will
include the financial accountabilities relating to the administration of the budget and
spending decisions.

c)

The relevant budget holder will be the employee with responsibility for the relevant
service, policy, or project, unless the Executive specifically identifies to whom budget
responsibility is delegated e.g. to an Executive Member.

d)

The Chief Executive, Directors or District Executive Members who have responsibility for
budgets delegated to them will be accountable to the District Executive or Full Council,
as appropriate, for the use of delegated budgets and should report at least quarterly to
their accountable body for the use of those budgets and on the latest budget position.

e)

The District Executive is responsible for ensuring individual Executive Members with
delegated powers consult with all relevant staff before taking decisions within their
delegated authority, so that all implications, including financial implications, are taken
into account.

f)

The District Executive will follow general good practice and comply with sound principles
of accountability and effective management by delegating management and operational
control normally to the Directors/ Managers and other suitable officers wherever feasible
and practical.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 194

August 2020

g)

It is the responsibility of the Executive or Executive Member with delegated budget
responsibility to consult with the S151 Officer over the availability of funds before
committing the authority to expenditure.
The Statutory Officers

1.3

The Chief Executive

a)

The Chief Executive is the Council’s Head of Paid Service, and is responsible for the
corporate and overall strategic management of the authority as a whole. This includes
responsibility for establishing a framework for management direction, style, and
standards and for monitoring the performance of the authority.

1.4

Monitoring Officer

a)

The Council’s Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining high
standards of conduct, including financial conduct.

b)

The Monitoring Officer in conjunction with the S151 Officer is responsible for advising
the Executive, Full Council, Audit Committee and Scrutiny Committee about whether a
decision is likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in accordance with the budget.

c)

Actions that may be contrary to the budget include





initiating a new policy with additional unfunded budgetary implications
committing expenditure in future years above the current year budget level or
medium term financial plan
incurring virement without approval or outside any limits set by Council
causing total expenditure to increase above the approved budget

1.5

Chief Finance Officer

a)

The S151 Officer is the Chief Finance Officer, and is responsible for the proper
administration of the Council’s financial affairs and shall:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
x.
xi.

Advise the Council on insurance and financial risk;
Advise the Council on effective systems of internal control;
Ensure that there is an effective system of internal financial control;
Advise the Council on anti-fraud and anti-corruption strategies and measures;
Present the annual Statement of Accounts to the Audit Committee subsequent to
external audit and submit to the appropriate departments of central government any
associated grant claims.
Select and consistently apply accounting policies, determine accounting procedures
and records, and ensure compliance with relevant Accounting Codes of Practice;
Ensure that there is an effective internal audit function and assist managers to
provide effective arrangements for financial scrutiny;
Secure effective systems of financial administration and provide appropriate
financial information to enable budgets to be monitored;
Manage the cash and investments of the Council in accordance with the relevant
CIPFA Codes of Practice and the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy
Statement, and determine effective and compliant Treasury Management Practices;
Ensure that financial management arrangements are in line with the Council’s policy
objectives, the Council’s overall governance arrangements and comply with any
internally or externally set financial management standards;
Advise the Council on the setting of its revenue and capital budgets and the
adequacy of its reserves to meet possible future commitments and contingencies.
It is the responsibility of the S151 Officer to advise the District Executive on the

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 195

August 2020

xii.

xiii.
xiv.
xv.

setting of budget guidelines, to ensure budget estimates reflect agreed service levels
and any guidelines set by the District Executive, and to liaise with budget holders
throughout the budget preparation process;
Discharge statutory duties under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972,
Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the Local Authorities
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003, the Accounts and
Audit Regulations 2015, and the Local Government Act 2003;
Advise the District Executive and Full Council on prudent levels of reserves for the
Council and on the robustness of the Revenue and Capital Budgets;
Advise the District Executive, the Chief Executive, the Directors/ Managers on all
taxation issues that affect the Council;
Ensure the effective billing, collection and recovery of all sums due to the Council,
in accordance with the Debt Recovery Policy.

1.6

Chief Executive, Directors, and Budget Holders

a)

The Council delegates all approved budgets for management purposes to a named post
of the Council. Each named employee shall:
i. Ensure that the financial content of all reports, forms and procedures is approved by
the S151 Officer (or a named Finance representative);
ii. Report any irregularities concerning the Council’s financial affairs to the S151 Officer
or Group Auditor at the earliest possible opportunity. The provisions of the Council’s
Whistleblowing Policy shall also be followed where relevant;
iii. Ensure that there are sufficient funds available in their cash limited budget before
commitments are entered into;
iv. Consult with the S151 Officer prior to submitting to the SLT, District Executive or any
Committee any report that may have financial implications;
v. Ensure that the Council’s Standing Orders, Procurement Rules, and Human
Resources Rules and procedural notes are complied with together with all applicable
statutes, regulations, and best practice;
vi. Monitor and control expenditure against approved budget allocations and report to
the District Executive quarterly in conjunction with the S151 Officer on variances and
the action being taken to address them;
vii. Maintain systems of control that facilitate the achievement of the Council’s objectives
by using resources economically, efficiently, and effectively and by safeguarding the
authority’s assets and interests;
viii. Review and appraise their operations so as to achieve continuous improvement;
ix. Liaise with the Council’s external auditor and any other inspectorate with statutory
rights of access.
x. Ensure any compensation payments are authorised in accordance with the limits set
in the Constitution (see Scheme of Delegation). The relevant Director will report to
the SLT annually on the number and value of payments made.
xi. Maintain systems, procedures and sufficient resources to ensure that collection and
recovery of all sums due to the Council follow the Income Management Policy.

1.7

Executive Members Exercising Budget Responsibility

a)

Where an Executive Member exercises budget responsibility they shall comply with the
provisions of section 1.6 above and all related Financial Procedure Rules.

1.8

All Other Employees

a)

All other employees of the Council have a responsibility to:
i. Report any irregularities concerning the Council’s financial affairs to the S151 Officer
or the Internal Auditor (Assistant Director – SWAP) at the earliest possible

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 196

August 2020

opportunity. The provisions of the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti
Money Laundering Policy shall also be followed where relevant;
ii. Comply with the Council’s Standing Orders, Financial Procedure Rules,
Procurement Procedure Rules and procedural notes.
2

MANAGING RESOURCES

2.1

General and Budget Monitoring

a)

Delegation of cash limits shall be in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation.

b)

Delegation of cash limits is to the Chief Executive and Directors. The Chief Executive
and each Director must maintain a full list of delegations to officers within their functional
areas.

c)

Accountability for appropriate budgets shall be held at Chief Executive or Director level.

d)

Budget holders can only vary cash limited budgets in accordance with these Financial
Procedure Rules. Accounting recharges (such as Support Services and depreciation)
will not be included in cash limits.

e)

Budget monitoring is the responsibility of each Director. Where there is likely to be a
significant variation between the budget and actual expenditure you must notify the S151
Officer as soon as possible including an action plan to rectify the situation where
appropriate.

f)

Budgets must be managed and monitored at nominal code level. The nominal code
describes the type of spending and income e.g. salaries, electricity, grants, fees and
charges. Virements must be requested where insufficient funds are available at nominal
level. Virements are required where the variance is greater than £1,000.

g)

The S151 Officer is responsible for setting a timetable and reporting the Council’s
financial performance and financial position to the Leadership Team and the District
Executive.

h)

The Council has a statutory responsibility to produce a Statement of Accounts and all
budget holders shall comply with the accounts closedown timetable set by the S151
Officer.

2.2

Variations to Structures and Staffing Levels

a)

Within the total cash limit approved by the Council each year, the Directors shall be
entitled to vary the numbers and composition of their workforce in order to meet service
requirements, provided such variations do not commit the Council to increased
expenditure in future years and subject to SLT approval. Directors proposing restructures
shall liaise with both Finance Specialists and People Specialists to agree overall cost
implications and HR process and procedure. Directors shall ensure they have included
the cost implications of the Council’s severance scheme, and that the S151 Officer
verifies these costs. Directors shall cost salaried posts at the top of the grade in any
workforce design, include all potential redundancies and/or early retirements and salary
protections, and then be compared to the previous structure. Where there are any actual
or potential additional costs associated with restructuring proposals that may commit the
Council to increased expenditure in future years, Directors must obtain agreement from
the SLT and District Executive including the method of financing.

b)

Directors shall not enter into or change a contract of employment, including the grading
of a post without prior consultation with the Lead Specialist - People.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 197

August 2020

c)

Directors shall adhere to the Council’s staffing policies and staffing delegations, including
the proper use of appointment procedures, systems for determining remuneration and
the method used to make payments to employees. Directors may choose to delegate
these functions.

2.3

Virement Rules

a)

Full Council is to approve the Detailed Budget Analysis including income and expenditure
totals for each activity as part of the Annual Budget Report.

b)

District Executive have delegated authority to approve virements between
activities/services within the overall net budget total and have agreed the following
flexibilities and freedoms: Directors/Managers

c)

Directors and Managers can increase their expenditure by up to £20,000 in one financial
year for goods purchased for resale with a matching increase in income budgets, in
consultation with a Finance Specialist.

d)

Directors and Managers can increase their cost centre income budget on services by up
to a maximum of £20,000 in one financial year, with supporting evidence, and in
consultation with a Finance Specialist.

e)

Directors and Managers can authorise any budget virement within each individual cost
centre / activity / service of their responsibility, except the ‘employees’ budget, provided
that the S151 Officer is notified in advance.

f)

Directors can authorise any budget virement to or from the ‘employees’ budget provided
that the Lead Specialist – Finance approval is obtained in advance.

g)

Directors can increase their budgets in respect of 100% externally funded staff provided
the Lead Specialist - People has agreed the contract terms and that the Lead Specialist
– Finance has been notified in advance. Directors must ensure any additional costs
associated with that Member of staff is fully funded at the outset including any provision
for possible redundancy costs.

h)

Subject to the above specific virement responsibilities, the following table summarises
virement approval limits. Where virements are between different areas of responsibility
the approval of all relevant officers and portfolio holders is required. The Lead Specialist
– Finance shall ensure all virements above £50,000 are reported to District Executive for
information and transparency.
Responsible
Manager
Director
Portfolio Holder
District Executive

Limit
£25,000
£50,000
£100,000
Greater than £100,000

Finance approval required
Specialist – Finance
Lead Specialist – Finance
S151 Officer
S151 Officer

i)

Movements to and from earmarked capital and revenue reserves can be actioned by the
relevant Director (or delegated budget holder where appropriate) provided that the use
is for the approved purpose.

j)

All budget virements properly approved shall be actioned in the Council’s main finance
system only by Finance Officers.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 198

August 2020

Area Committees
k)

Area Committees can approve budget allocations from total budgets and ring-fenced
reserves delegated to each Committee by District Executive and Full Council. Area
Budget information will be reported to the District Executive for information.

2.4

Revenue Under/Overspends and Budget Carry Forwards

a)

Directors/Managers are responsible for ensuring budgetary control is maintained at all
times, and shall take all reasonable action to contain spending and meet income targets
within approved targets. All forecast and actual variations to approved budgets by
activity/service greater than £50,000 must be reported and fully explained to the District
Executive through regular Financial Performance reports.

b)

The S151 Officer is responsible for approving all budget carry forwards due to timing
differences between financial years in meeting agreed commitments.

c)

The S151 Officer shall transfer Revenue Budget Net Underspend or Overspend, after
approved carry forwards and allocations to/from earmarked reserves, to General
Reserves at the end of the financial year. District Executive can approve a net overspend
of a maximum of £50,000 to be carried forward to the following financial year to be met
from that year’s approved budget.

2.5

Capital General and Budget Monitoring

a)

A rolling five-year Capital Programme is to be prepared and reviewed annually to confirm
the Capital Budget and Financing requirement within each financial year.

b)

The S151 Officer is responsible for compiling the Capital Budget and the 5-year
Programme including the associated capital financing, in consultation with SLT, for
consideration by the District Executive prior to submission to Full Council for approval.
The programme will include:






committed schemes that are in the process of completion
schemes for replacement/maintenance of existing assets
new starts for the following years
receipts from expected sales of assets and
external contributions expected

c)

The Chief Executive or Directors may approve Supplementary Capital Budgets of up to
£50,000, and District Executive may approve Supplementary Capital Budgets of up to
£150,000 during the year, within the resourcing limit delegated by Full Council. Full
Council is responsible for approving all other Supplementary Capital Budgets unless
specific delegations exist e.g. for investment property acquisitions/disposals under the
Council’s approved Commercial Strategy. In all Supplementary Budget decisions, the
decision-maker must consider affordability of both capital and revenue implications of
recommended projects, in consultation with the S151 Officer or Lead Specialist –
Finance.

d)

The S151 Officer is responsible for setting the reporting timetable in consultation with
the Portfolio Holder responsible for Finance. The Capital Programme will be monitored
by District Executive or, where monitoring has been delegated, by the appropriate Area
Committee.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 199

August 2020

e)

The S151 Officer in consultation with Responsible Officers and the SLT will prepare the
monitoring reports to the District Executive.

2.6

Bidding for Capital Resources

a)

Schemes where appropriate shall have completed a feasibility study before submission
to Area Committees or District Executive. All schemes requiring Feasibility Funds require
approval by SLT and then District Executive.

b)

There is a de-minimis value of £10,000 for each Capital Scheme, £250 for Capital
Grants, and £10,000 for capital receipts.

c)

During the annual budget setting process, decisions will be made on which new schemes
are to be included in the following year’s Capital Budget and 5 year Programme. Capital
Investment Appraisal shall be completed in line with Guidance provided by Finance and
can be submitted to the S151 Officer at any time during the year but will be considered
by SLT for onward approval by District Executive and Full Council in line with the agreed
timetable.

d)

Proposals shall be clearly linked to the Council Plan and any relevant Service Plans.

e)

The capital investment appraisal form shall disclose any revenue consequences. If these
cannot be absorbed by the service a request shall be made to District Executive for
additional resources as part of the Revenue Budget setting process.

f)

Each approved scheme will be the responsibility of a named Responsible Officer, who
shall monitor the scheme’s progress and report accordingly.

g)

Allocations to services from the Internal Capital Loans Fund is delegated to the S151
Officer for assets purchased by the authority and recharged to services within the
approved budget.

2.7

Purchase and Disposal of Plant and Vehicles over £10,000

a)

Managers/Lead Specialists are responsible for assessing the need for acquiring,
replacing or disposing of plant or vehicles and completing a business case that includes
describing the business need and benefit, the costs and funding proposals. This includes
regular (at least 6-monthly) reviews of leases.

b)

Managers/Lead Specialists shall liaise with a Finance Specialist in Support Services to
determine the most economical approach to financing and confirm sufficient budget is in
place.

c)

The Finance Lead Specialist has authority to approve advances from the Internal Loans
Fund Reserve to finance vehicles and plant within the overall Fund total approved by
Council. Alternatively, freehold or leasehold purchases may be approved by the Finance
Lead Specialist if capital costs are affordable within approved capital budget totals and
any revenue implications are affordable within approved revenue budgets.

d)

Managers/Lead Specialists shall maintain a maintenance and replacement plan for
vehicles and plant, and submit future budget requirements in line with the annual Budget
Timetable set by the S151 Officer.

2.8

Capital Receipts

a)

All Directors/Managers shall inform the relevant Finance Specialist of all expected capital
receipts as soon as they are identified. Where a land and property asset is identified as
available for sale this is to be considered in line with FPR 13.2. Disposal of other assets

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 200

August 2020

shall be approved by the relevant Director/Manager, and notified to Finance Lead
Specialist. The Director/Manager must always seek to obtain best value when disposing
of assets. Proceeds from sale of assets valued at £10,000 or above shall be credited to
the Capital Receipts Reserve and allocated in accordance with the approved Capital
Programme.
a)

Virement Rules – Capital
Approved budget allocations may be transferred between schemes subject the following
authorisation responsibilities and limits.
Responsible
Manager
Director
Portfolio Holder
District Executive

Limit
£25,000
£50,000
£100,000
Greater than £100,000
(previously £10K)

Finance approval required
Specialist – Finance
Lead Specialist – Finance
S151 Officer
S151 Officer

b)

All contributions made from revenue budgets to capital budgets (other than those purely
made for accounting adjustments such as accounting for leases) shall be approved by
the relevant Committee and authorised by the S151 Officer (or nominated
representative).

c)

If, during the progress of approved schemes, significant budget variations are projected
then virement can be made from another scheme within the Corporate or Area totals. All
such proposed virements shall be reported to the District Executive for approval.

2.9

Monitoring the Capital Programme and Capital Projects

a)

Where Responsible Officers require schemes to be re-phased between years they shall
notify the S151 Officer at least quarterly so that the overall financing of the Capital
Programme can be maintained and investment income maximised.

b)

Progress on each project and funding projections must be submitted to the S151 Officer
quarterly. This must include any slippage in the project timetable and spend with the
actions being taken if necessary to bring the project back in line.

c)

Projects should be managed and monitored using the Council’s Project Management
Methodology and regular reports made to each Project Sponsor for monitoring purposes.

d)

Any projects amended, other than for minor changes, between approval and
implementation must be resubmitted to the District Executive for approval. This includes
projects that have received further external financing to meet additional costs over
£50,000.

2.10 Capital Under/Overspends
a)

The S151 Officer can approve the carry forward of underspends against budgets to the
following year if the project has commenced before the year-end and has not been
completed. District Executive or the appropriate Committee will decide at the year-end
whether projects that have a delayed start date of more than one year can continue.

2.11 Post Completion Appraisals
a)

On completion of a project the Responsible Officer will prepare a report in consultation
with the S151 Officer (or nominated representative) stating how the project has
performed against its set objectives. This will be reported as part of the outturn report to
District Executive each year.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 201

August 2020

2.12 S106 Funds
a)

All S106 funds over £10,000 will be included if appropriate in the capital programme once
received and included within a quarterly monitoring statement for reporting to District
Executive.

3

FINANCIAL CONTROL

3.1

General

a)

All accounting systems, procedures and records shall be subject to the approval of the
S151 Officer. Changes to or discontinuation of existing systems/procedures and the
introduction of new systems shall also be approved by the S151 Officer.

b)

All accounts and reports shall be prepared in accordance with these Financial Procedure
Rules and in conformity with any Government Regulations and CIPFA Codes of Practice
and any other professional guidance held to represent best practice.

c)

The Chief Executive and all Directors/Managers are responsible for specifying the
budget requirements for their cost centre in accordance with the cash limit rules and the
timetables established by the S151 Officer. Directors and Managers should seek the
advice of the S151 Officer, or nominated representative, to ensure that budgets are
compiled in accordance with the financial policies agreed by the Council.

d)

Directors and Managers are responsible for the proper operation of financial processes
within their functional areas.

3.2

Local Code of Governance

a)

The S151 Officer is responsible for preparing a Local Code of Corporate Governance, in
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Directors, which is to be reviewed on a
regular basis and at least every three years. The Audit Committee is responsible for
approving the Local Code of Corporate Governance.

3.3

Annual Governance Statement

a)

The Council is required to publish an Annual Governance Statement at the end of each
financial year, which is to be approved by the Audit Committee and signed by the Chief
Executive and Leader. The Chief Executive and Directors/Managers shall annually
declare and evidence that the internal controls within their functional area are regularly
monitored and reviewed.

3.4

Internal Audit – South West Audit Partnership Ltd (SWAP)

a)

The general standards for Internal Audit shall be those of the Institute of Internal Auditors
(IIA) in conjunction with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

b)

The South West Audit Partnership Ltd (SWAP) Chief Executive, or nominated Senior
Officer Representative, will be the responsible Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) as agreed
with the S151 Officer. The CIA shall compile an Annual Audit Plan in consultation with
the S151 Officer, to be approved by the Audit Committee.

c)

The Chief Internal Auditor shall report audit findings and significant control risks,
performance in delivering the Audit Plan, and an annual Audit Opinion to the S151 Officer
and the Audit Committee.

d)

To assist in the objectivity and independence of the South West Audit Partnership Ltd,
all audit employees have:

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 202

August 2020





authority to enter any Council premises or land
authority to access all Council records, documents and correspondence
receive explanations from employees and Members on any matter that they are
reviewing or investigating

e)

Such authority will not be used unreasonably.

f)

All thefts and break-ins to Council property shall be reported to the South West Audit
Partnership Ltd at the earliest possible opportunity.

g)

Where the Council enters into agreements with partners that involve financial grants or
contributions from the Council, those agreements shall give the South West Audit
Partnership Ltd authority to examine the financial accounts of the partner.

3.5

Operational Leases

a)

Directors/Managers may enter into an operational lease for equipment provided that the
S151 Officer has confirmed in writing that the method of finance is appropriate for the
asset concerned. Procedure 2.7 Purchase and Disposal of Plant and Vehicles over
£10,000 shall be followed where appropriate. Directors/Managers may not enter into a
lease without first taking advice from the Procurement Specialist. Directors/Managers
shall ensure that charges arising from such arrangements can be met within approved
budget for the current and future years.

b)

Directors/Managers must liaise with the Lead Finance Specialist or Finance Specialist to
determine whether a lease shall be accounted for as capital or revenue expenditure.

3.6

Treasury Management

a)

The S151 Officer is responsible for preparing annually a Treasury Management Strategy
Statement (TMSS) setting out the main principles of treasury management to be
followed, and including Prudential Indicators and other relevant performance measures.
Full Council is responsible for approving the TMSS. Revisions to the TMSS or Prudential
Indicators require Full Council approval.

b)

All Executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to the
S151 Officer, who may delegate to appropriately trained Finance Officers in accordance
with Treasury Management Practices. All employees are required to act in accordance
with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities and the
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and comply with the Treasury
Management Practices.

c)

The S151 Officer shall review the TMSS mid-year and recommend any changes to Full
Council. The S151 Officer shall also provide a Treasury Management activity monitoring
report mid-year, and an annual report by no later than 30th June to the Audit Committee
and by the 30th September to Full Council.

d)

All investments and borrowing shall be made in the name of the Council or its approved
nominees.

e)

All financial balances in the possession of the Council shall be controlled by the S151
Officer.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 203

August 2020

4

CONTRACT

4.1

General

a)

All employees shall comply with the Procurement Procedure Rules. Procurement rules
relates to appropriate arrangements for purchasing works, goods and services, and
include authority to approve/sign contracts which commits the Council to expenditure
and potentially related obligations. Authorisation of individual invoice payment
transactions – which certifies that invoices are correct and valid for payment – are
covered under purchasing below.

5

PURCHASING

5.1

Payment of Invoices

a)

The S151 Officer shall make arrangements for the payments of all monies due from the
Council, which shall comply with statutory provisions in force.

b)

Invoices to be paid shall not be made out to employees of the Council, except in any
case or category of case agreed by the S151 Officer in advance. Employees shall not
amend any invoices received but instead return to the supplier to provide an amended
invoice if necessary. Copy invoices shall be clearly marked as such, and appropriate
checks undertaken to confirm an original invoice has not been received or paid.

c)

Where an order has been raised for goods and services (see Procurement Procedure
Rules) the invoice must be matched with the order. In most circumstances, it is
appropriate for an official order to be raised.

d)

All suppliers shall be asked to quote on all invoices the name of the group and section,
the order number and the place where the work was done or goods delivered.

e)

No payment is to be made on the basis of a supplier’s statement of account.

f)

The Chief Executive and Directors/Managers (or other delegated employees) shall be
responsible for the verification and certification of all payments from their own budgets
only. Certification means a manual signature or a computerised authorisation as required
by the Council’s E5 Financial Management System. The certification by, or on behalf of
the Directors/Managers shall be regarded as an assurance that:







g)

value has been received and accounted for in the opinion of the Chief Executive,
and Directors/ Managers
expenditure complies with the Procurement Procedure Rules and Financial
Procedure Rules in force at the time
the document presented to support the payment is correctly priced and the invoice
has not been previously passed for payment
all trade and prompt payment discounts have been deducted (where appropriate)
VAT has been properly accounted for in accordance with the HM Revenues and
Customs regulations applicable at the time
expenditure and income is posted to the appropriate nominal codes on Cedar to
ensure that the financial system reflects the correct nature of the expenditure/income
incurred

Where the same person raises the order and authorises the payment, a second person
shall input details of the transaction into the Council’s E5 Financial System.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 204

August 2020

h)

The Chief Executive and Directors/Managers can authorise any payments within their
area of responsibility, and are allowed to delegate payments of up to £100,000 to their
supporting officers by the process described in (g).

i)

A list of those employees authorised to certify all types of expenditure (including those
authorisers via the Council’s E5 Financial System) shall be prepared and signed by the
Director/Manager and copies forwarded to the S151 Officer. The database of authorised
employees shall be kept fully up to date by the Directors/Managers and all changes
notified as soon as possible.

j)

Where invoices are authorised on line via the Council’s Financial System the authoriser
shall ensure the due date is in accordance with the invoice terms or the Council’s
payment policy. This requires that all undisputed invoices for goods and services
supplied should be paid within 10 working days of their receipt by the Council.

k)

Invoices shall all be stored electronically in a specified folder ready for importing the
image into the E5 system.

l)

As soon as possible after 31 March each year, Directors/Managers shall notify the
Financial Services Team of all outstanding expenditure relating to the previous financial
year. When such expenditure is subsequently certified for payment it shall be identified
as required by the S151 Officer.

m)

The S151 Officer shall publish detailed closedown procedures each year.

5.2

Corporate Credit Cards

a)

The S151 Officer is required to authorise the issue of a corporate credit card. The card
shall only be used for business purchases. Receipts for all transactions shall be passed
to Support Services-Finance for reconciliation to the monthly statements.

5.3

Procurement Cards

a)

The issue and use of a procurement card shall be in accordance with the Procurement
Card Rules as prepared by the Procurement Specialist and approved by the S151
Officer.

6

PAYROLL SERVICES

6.1

Appointment of Employees

a)

The appointment of all employees shall be made in accordance with approved
Employment Policies and Procedures. Recruiting managers must ensure there is
sufficient budget to fund the appointed position, to be certified by a Finance Specialist,
and submit to the People Managers Forum for consultation and approval.

6.2

Amendments to Payroll

a)

Directors / Responsible Managers shall notify the Lead Specialist – People as soon as
possible, in the prescribed form, of






all appointments, promotions, resignations, retirements, dismissals
suspensions from duty
all transfers between services within the control of the Directors
all periods of sickness and absence, except normal annual leave
all changes in remuneration of employees, except normal increments
all payments for compensation and any other emoluments to any employee

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 205

and

August 2020







such other information as may be required by the Lead Specialist-People in
connection with the calculation and payment of pay related expenditure
All leavers should be immediately reported to Support Services IT to enable their
access to be cancelled on the financial system
the Directors are also required to contact the Lead Specialist – IT and the Revenues
Specialists to identify if there is any outstanding debt owing to the Council – if this is
the case, the Director shall then instruct payroll to deduct any debt from the last
salary payment
The Financial Systems support team will at least once a year circulate an up to date
list of Cedar users and access levels to the Directors, who will be required to sign
and return this list, noting any amendments

6.3

Other Payments

a)

All travelling, subsistence, financial loss, and any other reimbursements to employees
shall be paid through the payroll system and in accordance with the detailed
arrangements required by the S151 Officer and approved by the Council. In special
cases a payment can be made through BACS.

b)

All travelling claims from both Officers and Members shall be submitted on the
appropriate form monthly to payroll by the 5th working day of the month, together with
appropriate VAT receipts to cover the mileage claimed. All high mileage claims over 300
miles per month shall be submitted monthly, claims under 300 miles per month shall be
submitted at least quarterly.

c)

All payments for allowances, travel and subsistence etc. to elected Members shall be
paid through the payroll system and in accordance with the detailed arrangements
required by the S151 Officer and approved by the Council.

6.4

Timesheets

a)

All timesheets and records for overtime, expenses etc. shall be in a form approved by
the Director Support Services. All claims shall be submitted at least quarterly. Any claims
submitted outside of this time limit (without the approval of the Chief Executive) will not
be paid.

b)

The standard procedure for employees leaving the Council, or transferring to another
post shall be followed in all cases. These procedures are laid down in Employment
Policies and Procedures.

7

BANKING ARRANGEMENTS

7.1

General

a)

All arrangements with the Council’s bankers concerning the Council’s bank accounts and
partnership accounts which the Council manages on behalf of any partnership, and the
issue and deposit of cheques shall be made through the S151 Officer.

b)

The S151 Officer shall be authorised to operate such subsidiary bank accounts as
deemed necessary.

c)

Any overdraft on the Council’s bank accounts shall be kept within the limits set out in the
Treasury Management Strategy Statement. Bank accounts shall be reconciled by the
S151 Officer at intervals no longer than one month and kept up to date.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 206

August 2020

7.2

Cash and Cheques Received

a)

All monies received on behalf of the Council shall, without delay, be banked in the
Council’s name in accordance with the instructions of the S151 Officer. Post-dated
cheques will not be accepted.

b)

There shall be separation of duties between receiving and paying out monies.
Employees who collect cash shall not be involved in the maintenance of cash and deposit
books or other financial records in respect of that cash. This requirement can only be
excepted on the written approval, in advance, of the S151 Officer.

c)

Post that may contain income shall be subject to control by not less than two persons
from the point of delivery through to the receipt of a signature at the cash desk. The S151
Officer will issue detailed written instructions for the handling of postal income and these
instructions shall be adhered to at all times.

d)

Where a person or body claims to have made a payment which has not been credited to
their account, a Support Services Case Officer, or in his/her absence Support Services
Case Team Leader, shall follow the agreed procedure immediately.

e)

All copies of cancelled receipts shall be retained for inspection.

f)

Managers are responsible for ensuring the control, monitoring and regular banking of
daily receipts arising from cash collection points under their control. The S151 Officer
will provide detailed procedure notes which shall be adhered to at all times.

7.3

Money Laundering

a)

The Council has a nominated Money Laundering Responsible Officer (MLRO). The
MLRO is the S151 Officer.

b)

Any transaction involving an unusually large amount of cash should cause questions to
be asked about the source. This may particularly be the case where cash paid exceeds
the amount needed to pay the transaction and a refund is requested but not in cash form.
Any suspicious transaction in cash over £10,000 should be directly reported to the Money
Laundering Responsible Officer and Money Laundering procedures followed.

c)

Any property or assets purchased from this Council shall be properly traced to the source
of funds. Any suspicious transaction shall be reported to the Money Laundering
Responsible Officer.

7.4

Payments by Direct Debit

a)

All agreements with banking organisations regarding direct debits shall be approved by
the S151 Officer.

b)

Any telephone lines used to transmit confidential banking information regarding the
Council’s customers shall meet security standards approved by the Lead Specialist – IT.
The Lead Specialist – IT shall ensure that direct debits requested from banks are made
on the dates specified by the Support Services Team Leader.

7.5

Direct Debits and Cheques Paid

a)

All cheques and direct debit mandates drawn on bank accounts of the Council shall:



be signed only by the S151 Officer or other employee authorised by the S151 Officer
bear the name of the S151 Officer as produced by approved systems where this has
been specifically agreed by the S151 Officer

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 207

August 2020

b)

The S151 Officer shall arrange for such safeguards as are deemed necessary and
practicable, including the separation of duties, so that as far as possible the following
procedures are the responsibility of separate employees:








the checking of creditors’ accounts
the control of cheques
the preparation of cheques
the signature of cheques
authorisation procedures for electronic payments (BACS, CHAPS)
the entry of the cash account
the reconciliation of bank balances

7.6

Handling of Cheques

a)

The Support Services Team Leader shall ensure the list of outstanding cheques is
examined at least monthly and reasons sought for cheques that have not been cashed.
Cheques, which have not been cashed six months after the date of issue, shall be
cancelled.

8

INCOME

8.1

Income Collection

a)

Arrangements for the collection of all monies due to the Council shall be subject to the
control or approval of the S151 Officer.

b)

Managers shall maintain such information in connection with the work done, goods
supplied or services provided so that a correct record of all sums due is maintained.
Wherever possible income due should be collected in advance. Managers shall ensure
that individual customer debtor accounts are raised as soon as possible but no later than
five working days from the delivery of goods or provision of services, unless specified
terms have been agreed by the S151 Officer.

c)

Monthly and where appropriate quarterly accounts should be produced five working days
after the month or quarter’s end. Managers shall record promptly, within the Council’s
Sundry Debtor System, all money due to the Council. The records shall include details
relating to contracts, leases and other agreements and any arrangements entered into
which involve the periodic receipt of money by the Council.

8.2

Setting Fees and Charges

a)

In line with the budget setting timetable all fees and charges shall be reviewed annually
by each Director and Manager in consultation with the S151 Officer. All changes to such
charges shall be agreed in advance with the S151 Officer and recorded annually within
the Fees and Charges Register. The Register will be published on the Council’s website
and it is the responsibility of each Director and Manager to notify the S151 Officer of any
changes made in addition to the annual review.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 208

August 2020

8.3

Writing Off of Debts

a)

Any debts written off shall be in accordance with procedures approved by District
Executive, and shall be approved in line with the following delegations.
Income Type
Council Tax
and Business
Rates

Other Income

Limits
£0.01 to £25
£25.01 to £100
£100.01 to £1,000
£1,000.01 to £5,000
>£5,000
£0.01 to £25
£25.01 to £100
£100.01 to £1,000
£1,000.01 to £5,000
>£5,000

Authority to Approve Write-Offs
Customer Focus or Case Officer
Revenues Case Officer
Revenues Specialist / Team Leader
Lead Specialist – Finance
S151 Officer
Customer Focus or Case Officer
Case Officer
Finance Specialist / Support Services Team
Leader
Lead Specialist – Finance
S151 Officer

b)

The recovery of all debts shall be in accordance with the Income Management Policy
approved by the District Executive and supporting procedures agreed by the S151
Officer. It is the responsibility of Managers to adhere to policy and procedures, and
ensure income due is collected.

c)

Managers shall be responsible for accounting for VAT on income, fees and charges in
accordance with the Regulations of HM Revenue and Customs. The S151 Officer shall
advise those managers of any changes to the Regulations.

8.4

Cash Floats and Petty Cash

a)

Where cash floats, petty cash or cash remittances are held, Managers shall ensure that
cash holdings and receipts should be regularly reconciled and recorded to evidence
monitoring and minimise the risk of cash differences.

9

IMPREST ACCOUNTS

a)

The Support Services Team Leader is responsible for the arrangements for Imprest
Accounts. Guidance notes will be issued and employees in control of Imprest Accounts
shall follow the correct procedures at all times. Managers shall ensure that all monies
authorised for reimbursement in an Imprest Account are accounted for in accordance
with the guidance notes.

10

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCES

10.1 Risk Management
a)

The Director – Strategy & Support Services will prepare the authority’s Risk Management
Policy statement and strategy for the approval of the District Executive and review the
effectiveness of those arrangements. Systems will be developed to identify and evaluate
all significant risks to the authority by all associated in the planning and delivery of
services.

b)

A consolidated risk register will be maintained by the Specialist – Procurement. All risks
identified in respect of the activities of the Council will be recorded on the register.

c)

The Directors are responsible for managing all risks in respect of their functions, and will
ensure named officer(s)are responsible for maintaining risk data and profiles within those
functions.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 209

August 2020

d)

Risks will be identified by:




Programmed Control and Risk Self Assessments sessions facilitated by the South
West Audit Partnership
Audit reviews
The Directors as part of their responsibilities for maintaining accurate risk records

e)

The South West Audit Partnership in conjunction with the Directors will devise Action
Plans to actively manage risks, following all control and risk self-assessment sessions.
The Directors will be responsible for ensuring that all actions identified, in respect of any
risk, are dealt with in accordance with the timetable specified.

f)

The Specialist – Procurement will provide risk management reports to SLT quarterly and
to the Audit Committee twice yearly.

10.2 Insurances
a)

The S151 Officer shall make arrangements for approved insurance cover, maintaining
adequate records and negotiating claims with the Council’s insurers.

b)

The Directors shall advise the Insurance Case Services Officer of the extent and nature
of all new risks where insurance may not exist or may be inadequate.

c)

The S151 Officer can authorise payments of small claims from self-insured funds of up
to £2,000.

10.3 Notification of Loss
a)

Directors/Managers shall notify immediately the Insurance Case Services Officer, in
writing, of any loss, liability or damage or any event likely to lead to a claim in connection
with their areas of responsibility.

b)

All employees of the Council shall be included in a fidelity guarantee policy.

10.4 Review
a)

The S151 Officer shall review insurance cover annually.

10.5 Car Allowances
a)

Recipients of car allowances shall provide Payroll with copies of policies or premium
receipts as may be necessary to ensure adequate cover against any liability of the
Council arising from official use of their vehicle.

10.6 Current Insurance
a)

The Insurance Case Services Officer shall keep all Directors notified as to the nature
and extent of the various risks that are covered or left exposed.

10.7 Inventories
a)

Managers shall be responsible for ensuring proper maintenance of inventories of
furniture, equipment and the means for prompt and efficient identification of each item
for the purposes of insurance claims or claims under suppliers’ guarantees. The
information shall be recorded in the format specified by the S151 Officer.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 210

August 2020

11

STOCKS, STORES, FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

11.1 General
a)

Managers shall be responsible for the care and physical control of all stocks, stores,
furniture, plant and equipment in their custody. Records shall be maintained in a form
specified by the S151 Officer.

11.2 Write Offs
a)

Any items of stocks, stores, furniture or equipment to be written off shall require the
certification of the Director or an employee nominated by the Managers. The certification
shall be in writing and details notified to the S151 Officer as soon as possible.

11.3 Stock Checks
a)

All stocks of goods held as stores, or for resale, shall be subject to stock check annually.
Managers, shall certify a certificate of the value held at 31 March each year at cost and
the certificate forwarded to the S151 Officer within 10 days of the year end. The de
minimis level for year-end stock certificate being returned to Support Services Finance
is £1,000.

11.4 Corrections
a)

Correction of deficiencies and surpluses on stocks and stores accounts shall be in
accordance with the procedures laid down by the S151 Officer.

11.5 Disposal of Surplus Furniture & Equipment (including personal computers)
a)

Prior to disposal the Manager shall offer the surplus furniture or equipment to other
services within the organisation at no cost. Only when there is no organisational need to
retain the equipment can it be sold.

b)

If there is no established organisational need, disposal of unwanted furniture is the
responsibility of the Manager. In order to ensure a consistent approach, and that the
Council receives value for money from disposal, the Specialist - Procurement shall coordinate disposal of surplus furniture and equipment.

c)

The Manager who wishes to dispose of surplus furniture and equipment shall advise the
Specialist – Procurement. If it is reusable it will be sold. An advertisement shall be placed
on the Bulletin Board and sealed bids submitted. The highest bid will be accepted and
the income credited to the appropriate cost centre.

d)

All redundant ICT equipment including mobile telephones and related items shall be
returned to Support Services ICT who will return to stock or dispose of securely.

e)

Managers shall amend inventories to reflect disposals and acquisitions.

12

CAR LOANS AND LEASED CARS

a)

All loans and leases for the provision of motor vehicles shall be administered in
accordance with the scheme approved by the District Executive.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 211

August 2020

13

BUILDINGS, LAND AND PROPERTY

13.1 Asset Register
a)

The S151 Officer shall maintain a full and accurate register of all Council Property, Plant
and Equipment and other Long Term Assets for the purpose of maintaining accurate
balance sheet records and calculating capital charges in accordance with relevant Codes
of Practice.

b)

The Commercial Property, Land and Development Manager shall ensure all land and
property assets are fully and accurately recorded in a suitable property asset register /
asset management system.

c)

If the property system and accounting asset register are separate systems, it is the
responsibility of the Commercial Property, Land and Development Manager and the
Lead Specialist – Finance to ensure these are reconciled regularly including as at 31
March each year to evidence accounting balances in the Balance Sheet.

13.2 Buildings, Land and Property Transactions
Buildings, Land and Property
a)

All arrangements for the acquisition and disposal of land and buildings shall be in
accordance with approved governance arrangements for the Investment Assessment
Group (IAG), Disposal Assessment Group (DAG), Strategic Development Board (SDB)
and Regeneration Programme Boards (RPBs) or otherwise in accordance with the
Scheme of Delegation and these Rules. Acquisitions and disposals may include freehold
or leasehold sale and purchase, gifts, grant or receipt of property rights and obligations,
demolition, destruction or similar transactions.

b)

The following levels of delegation and procedures apply:

Non-Investment
Property
acquisition

Business Case
Assessment By
S151 Officer and
Portfolio Holder
(Strategy and Policy)

Non-Investment
Property disposal

S151 Officer and
Portfolio Holder
(Strategy and Policy)

Asset Transfers to
Registered Social
Landlords – for
social housing or
associated parking

Disposal Assessment
Group (DAG), and
agreement of S151
Officer and Portfolio
Holder (Strategy and
Policy)

Community Asset
Transfers

Values

Approval By

Up to £50,000

Commercial Property, Land
& Development Manager in
consultation with relevant
Director or Portfolio Holder
District Executive
Commercial Property, Land
& Development Manager in
consultation with relevant
Director or Portfolio Holder
District Executive
Chief Executive
Chief Executive

>£50,000
Up to £50,000

>£50,000
Up to £250,000
>£250,000 and
within approved
Policy and Budget
>£250,000 and
District Executive
outside approved
Policy and Budget
Disposal Assessment Within CAT Policy Chief Executive
Group (DAG)
Outside CAT
District Executive
Policy

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 212

August 2020

Investment Properties
c)

Investment Property acquisitions and disposals shall follow the governance and
procedures agreed by Full Council as part of the Commercial Strategy, with the Director
– Commercial Services responsible for its implementation.

d)

Full Council is responsible for approving the Total Investment Limit for the Property
Investment Fund, and related changes to the Capital, Treasury and Investment
Strategies.

e)

Authority to approve individual acquisitions and disposals (freehold or leasehold), subject
to completion of appropriate business case and due diligence, shall be within the
following delegation limits:
Type
Investment
Property
acquisition
Investment
Property disposal

f)

Business Case
Assessment By
Investment
Assessment Group
(IAG)

Values

Approval By

Up to £20,000,000 Chief Executive in
consultation with the
Leader
>£20,000,000
District Executive
Disposal Assessment Up to £20,000,000 Chief Executive in
consultation with the
Group (DAG)
Leader
>£20,000,000
District Executive

The S151 Officer, in consultation with the Chief Executive and the Commercial Services
and Income Generation Director, has authority to reinvest investment property disposal
income within the Investment Fund within the overall fund limit approved by Full Council,
or to repay residual capital debt for acquired assets. Surplus income from capital growth
realised on disposal will be returned to reserve balances.
Disposals at less than best consideration

g)

With the exception of transfers to RSLs under £250,000 (for social housing or associated
parking) or disposals outside of policy, the Commercial Property, Land and Development
Manager in conjunction with the relevant Portfolio Holder and Director (Commercial
Services and Income Generation) report to the DAG requesting approval to proceed with
the disposal in such circumstances where either the use of a specific or general disposal
consent or a Qualifying Meeting (as defined in the General Disposal Consent of 2003) is
required before the disposal can be completed or in any other circumstances where the
recommendation is to accept a tender which is other than the tender which offers the
best consideration reasonably obtainable. Approval via DAG procedure and governance.
Regeneration Programme Boards

h)

Governance and delegated authority for implementing Regeneration Programmes shall
be approved by Full Council.

i)

Full Council shall approve the total budget limits for each Regeneration Programme.

j)

The S151 Officer shall approve individual scheme Gross Budget, Net Budget and any
funding arrangements, within the overall Programme limits set by Full Council.

k)

Individual schemes within approved Programme limits shall be approved by the Lead
Director in consultation with the Programme Board Chair and the s151 Officer.
General

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 213

August 2020

l)

In respect of receipts from sale of assets where values are less than £10,000: net
proceeds credited to the appropriate revenue budget.

m)

In respect of receipts from sale of assets where values are more than £10,000: where
permitted under the Statutory Guidance on the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts (March
2016), net receipts can be used to fund revenue costs up to and including March 2022,
provided the expenditure meets the requirements for qualifying expenditure under this
guidance.

n)

The Director of Commercial Services and Income Generation (or delegated
representative) shall, in the absence of any specific conditions or exemptions agreed by
the District Executive and these Financial Procedure Rules, have authority to undertake
the following in consultation with the relevant Director, or Portfolio Holder, where the
value of the consideration, rent, licence fees, easement or wayleave payment in each
case does not exceed £100,000 annually for Non-Investment and is in accordance with
the District Valuer (or other RICS professional) valuation, and operates within approved
budgets:









o)

the agreement of all monthly tenancies
the agreement of all licences
the conducting and agreement of all rent reviews
the agreement of all lease renewals (new leases approved under acquisitions
above)
the agreement of lettings
the agreement of all easements and wayleaves
the agreement of all changes of use
the agreement of all compensation claims where there is budgetary provision
the agreement of all releases/variations of covenants

For Investment Properties, the Director of Commercial Services and Income Generation
(or delegated representative) shall have authority to approve all of the following in
consultation with the S151 Officer where the value of the consideration, rent, licence
fees, easement or wayleave payment in each case does not exceed £1,000,000
annually. Items in excess of this amount must be referred to the Investment Assessment
Group for review and recommendation for approval by the Chief Executive in
consultation with the Leader.










the agreement of all tenancies
the agreement of all licences
the conducting and agreement of all rent reviews including awarding rent free
periods
the agreement of all lease renewals or new leases where tenancy of existing
freehold/leasehold owned property changes
the agreement of lettings
the agreement of all easements and wayleaves
the agreement of all changes of use
the agreement of all compensation claims where there is budgetary provision
the agreement of all releases/variations of covenants

13.3 Condition Surveys
a)

The Director Commercial Services and Income Generation shall ensure that condition
surveys of all buildings and property assets in which the Council has a proprietary
interest are carried out at least once every 5 years. Survey details are to be recorded in
appropriate systems and work programmes prepared in accordance with priorities set
out in the Property Repairs and Maintenance Policy.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 214

August 2020

13.4 Asset Management Plans
a)

The Director Commercial Services and Income Generation shall maintain an Asset
Management Plan in respect of the Council’s land and property portfolio. The Plan must
detail the actions to be monitored by the Commercial Property, Land and Development
Manager

b)

The Director Commercial Services and Income Generation shall maintain records and
systems that enable the Council to ensure that the best use is made of all properties.
The Director Commercial Services and Income Generation shall advise the Council on
alternative uses of land and property as best serves the Council’s interests at the time.

c)

The Commercial Property, Land and Development Manager shall ensure that all leases
are kept up to date and rents due are revised at the appropriate time.

13.5 Custody of Deeds and Documents
a)

The Lead Specialist – Legal shall have custody of the title deeds and other agreements
under seal or hand of all land owned by the Council (together with all deeds and
documents held as security for any monies owed to the Council) and are responsible for
their safe-keeping.

13.6 Security
a)

Directors shall be responsible for ensuring the proper security at all times for buildings,
stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, cash and information held on files. The Directors
shall consult with the Director Commercial Services and Income Generation in any
instance where security is thought to be defective or where it is considered that special
security arrangements may be needed, or where circumstances suggest the possibility
of any irregularity.

b)

Directors shall ensure that there are appropriate arrangements for the control of all door,
safe and cabinet keys held within their areas of responsibility. There shall be independent
control of all receipt forms, cheques, tickets, store notes, order forms or similar
documents and it shall be the responsibility of the appropriate Director to ensure that all
such items are serially numbered and controlled in accordance with arrangements
agreed with the Chief Internal Auditor (Assistant Director, South West Audit Partnership).

14

LOANS POLICY

a)

The Council should only provide small loans to outside bodies where alternative forms
of borrowing are not available or at prohibitive costs. The loans will only be made to
outside bodies that operate from within the South Somerset District geographical area
and are either registered charities, public sector, or not for profit organisations.

b)

All loan agreements will either be charged on the property to which they relate (like a
mortgage) or a guarantee will be required from a surety which could be an individual,
group of individuals or body.

c)

The maximum repayment period will be 10 years and all loans will be repaid on a
repayment basis so that the loan is repaid across the loan period at instalment rates
approved in advance (i.e. in the same way as mortgage repayments).

d)

Loans will be given at the appropriate PWLB rate for the period of the loan, or other
prudent rate as determined by the S151 Officer in consideration of investment risk. The
maximum amount of a loan to an outside body shall be £150,000.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 215

August 2020

e)

Approval of loans shall be by District Executive and a full appraisal submitted which shall
include details of the security offered. In order to qualify for a loan, the outside body
shall also submit a Business Plan to the S151 Officer covering the period of the loan.

f)

For small loans of £5,000 or less the approval procedure may be delegated to the area
portfolio holders, in consultation with the relevant Managers. The interest rate will be the
relevant PWLB rate, or other prudent rate as determined by the S151 Officer in
consideration of investment risk, and the loans should be guaranteed by the Town or
Parish Council, or similar trustees.

g)

Any loans agreed outside of the loans policy shall be agreed by Full Council.

15

EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS

15.1 Partnerships
a)

In leading the community and entering into partnerships the Council will seek to achieve
the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of its
area.

b)

The main criteria for SSDC entering into a partnership are:





to provide improvements in service delivery
to provide efficiency in the costs of service provision
to share risk
to achieve specific corporate priorities

c)

A partner is defined as a formal working arrangement involving one or more independent
bodies, from any sector, who pool resources and share responsibility for agreeing and
then delivering a set of planned actions and outcomes. A formal agreement is made by
all partners to work together for specific outcomes.

d)

Partners may participate by:




acting as a deliverer or sponsor, solely or jointly with others
acting as a funder or part funder
being the beneficiary group (or part thereof) of the activity undertaken in a
partnership

e)

The District Executive is responsible for determining and agreeing all key partnerships.
Directors are responsible for agreeing all substantial and minor partnerships. At inception
a review period must be agreed and any associated delegation arrangements approved
by District Executive if a key partnership or by the appropriate Director if a substantial or
minor partnership.

f)

All partnerships must be reviewed annually and reported by the appropriate Director to
the relevant committee (either District Executive or Area Committee). All partnerships
must be included within the Partnership Register and updated annually by the
appropriate Director.

g)

The Directors and Portfolio Holders shall consider and make provision for any overall
corporate governance issues and shall ensure account is taken of any legal issues when
arranging contracts with external bodies. They shall ensure that risks have been fully
appraised before agreements are entered into with external bodies.

h)

The governance arrangements of all key and significant partnerships require approval of
the Members of Corporate Governance Group.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 216

August 2020

i)

All key partnerships have a requirement to produce, maintain, and monitor a shared risk
register.

j)

The same high standards of conduct that apply throughout the authority shall be
maintained in partnerships, and representatives to partnerships should exercise these
same high standards.

k)

The S151 Officer shall ensure that accounting arrangements to be adopted in relation to
partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory and compliant with relevant regulations
and Codes of Practice.

l)

Regular monitoring arrangements must be in place. For key partnerships monitoring
must be reported regularly to the District Executive and other partnerships (substantial
and minor) to the Area Committees. This can be carried out through the quarterly budget
monitoring reports as a minimum.

m)

Directors and Portfolio Holders are responsible for ensuring that appropriate Council
approvals are obtained before concluding negotiations in relation to work with external
bodies.

15.2 External Funding
a)

The S151 Officer in consultation with the relevant Director/Manager or Portfolio Holder
is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by external bodies is received and
properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. Each Director and Portfolio Holder is
responsible for informing the S151 Officer promptly about such funding. Where such
income is receivable against a grant claim the relevant Director or Portfolio Holder shall
provide written confirmation to the S151 Officer that all output and other grant
requirements have been properly and fully met.

15.3 Grants to Outside Bodies
a)

The District Executive or relevant Area Committee shall approve all grants and other
assistance to external bodies, except where such annual assistance in total is less than
£1,000 in value to any one body and there is budgetary provision for such assistance. It
must not form a commitment of future year’s annual budget unless it matches the criteria
as set within the Community Grants Policy (4) in respect of those bodies with approved
multi-year Funding Agreements / Service Level Agreements. Where the total value per
annum to any one body is below £1,000 the relevant Director or Portfolio Holder may
approve such assistance subject to the requirements of these Financial Procedure Rules
being met. Where the total value per annum to any one body is below £1,000 the relevant
Director may delegate the approval to the appropriate designated officer, again subject
to the requirements of these Financial Procedure Rules being met.

b)

The District Executive Committee may approve a framework for the administration of any
specified class of grant and assistance under that committee’s control over the value of
£1,000 by a relevant Strategic Director for the efficient conduct of business, subject to
the agreed framework and meeting the other requirements of these Financial Procedure
Rules.

c)

Reports to the District Executive Committee or Area Committees (and decisions taken
under the provisions of (a) above) seeking approval to assist an outside body by grant
or other assistance in kind shall provide assurance that the following requirements have
been met or will be met, and ensure that the Council’s interests are protected before any
grant or assistance is actually made:


the receiving body has been properly identified, has suitable lead parties, a defined
work area/purpose, and suitable trust documents/constitution

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 217

August 2020














any conflicts of interest have been declared and properly managed
any risks to such agreements and the Council’s interests are being adequately and
appropriately managed
it will be possible to confirm the proper use of the Council’s assistance
the assistance contributes to the delivery of the Council’s services or achievement
of the Council’s corporate objectives
the extent and purpose of the assistance have been properly identified
arrangements for the repayment of any loans have been made
arrangements to gain repayment/recovery for the value of the assistance are in
place in the event of default by the recipient
any specific conditions relating to the assistance are identified
monitoring arrangements are to be set in place to ensure the assistance is used for
the purpose approved
the recipient will provide evidence to the Council demonstrating proper accounting
for, and use of the assistance, including, for assistance over £1,000 in value, access
to the accounts of the body for S151 Officer, or designated representative and to
supporting information, documents and evidence
a legally binding agreement is in place between the Council and the body covering
the above conditions relating to the use of grant or other assistance

d)

Full records will be maintained of all grants and related applications for assistance, which
should identify which staff are involved in the processing of applications and grants, and
record the date of approval of any grant or other assistance and by whom, and any other
relevant transaction information.

16

BREACHES OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

a)

Where a failure to comply with these regulations is identified the matter should be bought
to the immediate attention of the S151 Officer and the Chief Internal Auditor (Assistant
Director, South West Audit Partnership).

b)

A report shall be made to the S151 Officer for minor breaches and to the District
Executive or Audit Committee where the S151 Officer and the Chief Internal Auditor
(Assistant Director, South West Audit Partnership) consider the matter to be of
significance.

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 218

August 2020

Appendix A
Guidance on Interpretation – Officer Contacts
Sectio Financial Regulation
n
1
FINANCIAL GOVERNANCE
1.2(e) Decision Making Procedures
2
3
3.1
3.2

Contact Officer
Section 151 Officer
Democratic Services Specialist or
Monitoring Officer
Section 151 Officer

3.3
3.5

CASH LIMITS
FINANCIAL CONTROL
General
Statement of Internal Control/Statement of
Governance
South West Audit Partnership
Operational Leases

3.6
4
4.1
5
5
5.1
5.2
6
6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
7
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
8
9
10
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
11
11.1
11.2
11.3
11.4
11.5
12
13

Treasury Management
CONTRACTS
General
Specialist - Procurement
PAYMENT OF INVOICES
Payment of Invoices
Support Services Case Team Leader
Corporate Credit Cards
Section 151 Officer
Procurement Cards
Procurement Specialist
PAYROLL SERVICES
Appointment of Employees
Lead Specialist - People
Amendments
Lead Specialist - People
Other Payments
Lead Specialist - People
Timesheets
Lead Specialist - People
BANKING ARRANGEMENTS
General
Section 151 Officer
Cheques/Cash Received
Support Services Case Team Leader
Money Laundering
Assistant Director-SWAP
Direct Debits (received)
Support Services Case Team Leader
Direct Debits and Cheques Paid
Support Services Case Team Leader
Handling of Cheques
Support Services Case Team Leader
INCOME
Specialist – Finance
IMPREST ACCOUNTS
Specialist – Finance
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSURANCES
Risk Management
Specialist - Procurement
Insurances
Insurance Case Services Officer
Notification of Loss
Insurance Case Services Officer
Review
Insurance Case Services Officer
Car Allowances
Insurance Case Services Officer
Current Insurance
Insurance Case Services Officer
Inventories
Insurance Case Services Officer
STOCKS, STORES, FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT
General
Specialist – Finance
Write Offs
Specialist – Finance
Stock Checks
Specialist – Finance
Corrections
Specialist – Finance
Disposal of Surplus
Specialist – Finance
CAR LOANS AND LEASED CARS
Specialist – Finance
BUILDINGS, LAND AND PROPERTY

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 219

Section 151 Officer
Section 151 Officer
Assistant Director-SWAP
Lead Specialist – Finance / Specialist Procurement
Finance Specialist

August 2020

13.1

Asset Register

13.2

Buildings, Land and Property Transactions

13.3

Condition Surveys

13.4

Asset Management Plans

13.5
13.6

Custody of Deeds
Security

14
15
15.1
15.2
15.3
16

LOANS POLICY
EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS
Partnerships
External Funding
Grants to Outside Bodies
BREACHES OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules

Page 220

Commercial Property, Land and
Development Manager
Lead Specialist – Finance / Commercial
Property, Land and Development
Manager
Commercial Property, Land and
Development Manager
Commercial Property, Land and
Development Manager
Lead Specialist - Legal
Director Commercial Services and
Income Generation
Lead Specialist – Finance
Lead Specialist – Finance
Lead Specialist – Finance
Lead Specialist – Finance
Section 151 Officer or Assistant DirectorSWAP

August 2020

SOUTH SOMERSET DISTRICT COUNCIL - MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT
(as amended 26th Feb 2015, effective from 7 May 2015)
INTRODUCTION AND INTERPRETATION
As a member and representative of this Council it is your responsibility to comply with this
Code when you undertake or claim to be undertaking Council business or give the
impression that you are undertaking Council business.
As a representative of this Council your actions impact on how the Council as a whole is
viewed by the public. It is important, therefore, that you do not do anything when
undertaking Council business which you could not justify to the public. It is not enough to
avoid actual impropriety, you should at all times avoid any occasion for suspicion or
appearance of improper conduct.
This Code is based upon the seven principles of public life which are set out at Appendix 1.
You shall have regard to those principles when fulfilling your role.
An explanation of the terms used in this Code can be found in Appendix 2.
1.

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS
When undertaking Council business you must:
1.1

treat others with respect;

1.2

not use or attempt to use your position as a member improperly to give yourself
or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage;

1.3

when reaching decisions on any matter, consider any relevant advice provided to
you by—

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 221

May 2015

a)

the Council’s Chief Finance Officer (S151); or

b)

the Council’s Monitoring Officer,

in accordance with his or her statutory duties;

1.4

give reasons for decisions in accordance with any statutory requirements and the
Constitution of the Council;

1.5

act in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and the policies contained within
it and any other relevant Council policies ;

1.6

not use Council’s resources improperly (including for political purposes);

1.7

avoid doing anything which may cause the Council to breach a statutory duty or
any of the equality enactments (as defined in section 149 of the Equality Act
2010);

1.8

not bully any person;

1.9

not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be—
a)

a complainant,

b)

a witness,

c)

involved in the administration of any investigation or proceedings, or

d)

any other person carrying out the functions of the Council,

in relation to an allegation that a member (including yourself) has failed to comply
with the Council’s code of conduct;

1.10 avoid doing anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council;

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 222

May 2015

1.11 not disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information
acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a
confidential nature, except where—
a)

you have the consent of a person authorised to give it;

b)

you are required by law to do so;

c)

the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining
professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose
the information to any other person; or

d)

the disclosure is—
i. reasonable and in the public interest; and
ii.

made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements
of the Council; and

e)

you have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release;

1.12 not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that
person is entitled by law; and
1.13 not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing
your office or the Council into disrepute.
2. INTERESTS
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
2.1

You must register and declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests that relate to
your public duties as required by this Code, and set out in Appendix 3.

2.2

You must, within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council or your taking
office as a member or co-opted member, register any Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests with the Council’s Monitoring Officer, where the Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest of somebody with whom you are living with as a husband or wife, or as if
you were civil partners. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests will be recorded in the

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 223

May 2015

District Council’s Register of Members’ Interests and made available for public
inspection.
2.3

Within 28 days of becoming aware of any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or
change to any such interest already registered, you must register details of that
new interest or change in writing to the Council’s monitoring officer.

2.4

Where any business of the Council, relates to or affects a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest whether registered under 2.2 or 2.3 above or not, and you attend any
meeting of the Council, its Executive or any Committee, Sub-Committee, Joint
Committee at which that business is to be considered, you must:


not seek to influence a decision about that business



disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest no later
than the start of the consideration of the business in which you have that
interest, or (if later) the time at which the interest becomes apparent to you.
The exception to the requirement to disclose an interest is if the matter is a
sensitive interest under paragraph 2.11



withdraw from the meeting room or chamber as soon as it becomes apparent
that the business is being considered at that meeting;

unless you have obtained a dispensation from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or
Standards Committee.
2.5

Following any disclosure at a meeting or as part of a decision record, of a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest not on the Council’s register or the subject of
pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within
28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure at the meeting or in the decision
record in order for the interest to be included in the register.

2.6

Unless a dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion
of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. Additionally you must observe the restrictions the

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 224

May 2015

Council places on your involvement in matters where you have a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest as defined by the Council and set out in this Code.

Other Interests
NOTE: It is conceivable that an interest could be categorised as both a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest and a personal or a personal and prejudicial interest. If so
you must treat it as a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and comply with the
requirements set out in paragraphs 2.1 – 2.6 inclusive
2.7

(1) In addition to the Disclosable Pecuniary Interests notifiable under the Localism
Act 2011, you must, within 28 days of—
a) this Code being adopted by or applied to the Council; or
b) your election or appointment to office (where that is later),
give written notification to the Monitoring Officer of the details of your other
personal interests, as defined in 2.8(1) (i) and (ii) below, for inclusion in the
register of interests. The exception to this requirement is if the detail of the
personal interest is classified as sensitive – see paragraph 2.11.
(2) You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new personal interest or
change to any such registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer of the details
of that new interest or change.

Personal Interests
2.8

(1) You have a personal interest in any business of the Council where:
a) it relates to or is likely to affect—
(i) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Council;
(ii) any body—
(a) exercising functions of a public nature;
(b) established for charitable purposes; or
(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or
policy (including any political party or trade union), of which you are a
member or in a position of general control or management;

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 225

May 2015

b) a decision in relation to any business of the Council might reasonably be
regarded as affecting your well-being or financial position or the well-being or
financial position of a significant person to a greater extent than the majority of
other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral division, as
the case may be, affected by the decision;
(2)

Subject to sub-paragraphs (3) to (5) below, where you are aware of a personal
interest described in paragraph (1) above in any business of the Council, and you
attend a meeting of the Council at which the business is considered, you must
disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the start of
the consideration of that business, or when the interest becomes apparent to you.

(3) Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Council which relates to
or is likely to affect a significant person (see paragraph 1 (b) above and Appendix 2
for the interpretation of the term ‘significant person’), you need only disclose to
the meeting the existence and nature of that interest if and when you address the
meeting on that business.
(4) Where you have a personal interest but the interest is not detailed in the Council’s
register of members’ interests because of the sensitive nature of the interest, you
must indicate to the meeting that you have a personal interest, but need not
disclose the sensitive information to the meeting.
(5) Where you have a personal interest in any business of the Council and you have
made an individual decision (as a Executive member) in relation to that business,
you must ensure that any written statement of that decision records the existence
and nature of that interest subject to (4) above.
(6) Any personal interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the
register of interests.
(7) A copy of the register will be available for public inspection.

Prejudicial Interests
2.9

(1) Where you have a personal interest in any business of your Council you also have a
prejudicial interest in that business where the interest is one which a member of
the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard as so
significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and
where that business—
(a) affects your financial position or the financial position of a significant person;
or

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 226

May 2015

(b)

relates to determining any approval, consent, licence, permission or
registration in relation to you or any significant person.
For the avoidance of doubt and by way of explanation where you are also a
member of Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council within
South Somerset you must declare a prejudicial interest in any business of
South Somerset District Council where there is a financial benefit or gain or
advantage to Somerset County Council and/or a Town or Parish Council which
would be at the cost or to the financial disadvantage of South Somerset
District Council.

(2) Subject to paragraph (3) and (4), where you have a prejudicial interest in any
business of your Council—
(a) You may not participate in any discussion of the matter at a meeting.
(b) You may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at a meeting.
(c) You must disclose the existence and nature of the interest to the meeting and
leave the room where the meeting is held while any discussion or voting takes
place on the matter. The exception to the requirement to disclose the detail
of the interest is if the matter is a sensitive interest under paragraph 2.11. In
these circumstances you need only state that you have a prejudicial interest
and that the details are withheld because of the sensitive information
involved.
(3) Where you have a prejudicial interest in any business of your Council, you may
attend a meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering
questions or giving evidence relating to the business and you leave the meeting
room immediately after making representations, answering questions or giving
evidence.
(4) Subject to you disclosing the interest at the meeting, you may attend a meeting
and vote on a matter where you have a prejudicial interest that relates to the
functions of your Council in respect of—
(i) housing, where you are a tenant of your Council provided that those functions
do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease;
(ii) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses, where you are a
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor
of a school, unless it relates particularly to the school which the child attends;
(iii) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and
Benefits Act 1992, where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt
of, such pay;
Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 227

May 2015

(iv) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members;
(v) any ceremonial honour given to members; and
(vi) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

(5) Where, as a Executive member, you may take an individual decision, and you
become aware of a prejudicial interest in the matter which is the subject of the
proposed decision you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must
not take any steps or further steps in the matter, or seek to influence a decision
about the matter.
Receipts of gifts and hospitality
2.10 (1) You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any
gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £25 which you have accepted
as a member from any person or body other than the Council.
(2) The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts and
hospitality which forms part of your register of interests.
Sensitive Interests
2.11 (1)

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or a Personal or Personal and
Prejudicial Interest but you consider that disclosure of the interest could lead to
you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation and
the Monitoring Officer agrees with that assessment then instead of disclosing the
interest you need only disclose that you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or
Personal or Personal and Prejudicial Interest (as the case may be).

In such

instances any published version of the register of interests will exclude details of
the interest but may state that you have an interest, the details of which are
withheld.
Overview and Scrutiny
(1) In relation to any business before an Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the
Council (or of a sub-committee of such a committee) where—

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 228

May 2015

(a) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or
action taken by your Council’s Executive or another of your Council’s
committees, sub-committees , joint committees or joint sub-committees; and
(b) at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a member of
the Executive, committee, sub-committee, joint committee or joint subcommittee mentioned in paragraph a) and you were present when that
decision was made or action was taken; or
(c) that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or not) or
action taken by you (whether by virtue of the Council’s constitution or under
delegated authority from the Leader);
you may attend a meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee or subcommittee of the Council but only for the purpose of making representations,
answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business.

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 229

May 2015

APPENDIX 1
THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE
THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE
Preamble: The principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public office-holder.
This includes all those who are elected or appointed to public office, nationally and locally,
and all people appointed to work in the civil service, local government, the police, courts and
probation services, NDPBs, and in the health, education, social and care services. All public
office-holders are both servants of the public and stewards of public services. The principles
also have application to all those in other sectors delivering public services.
SELFLESSNESS
Description: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.
INTEGRITY
Description: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and
relationships.
OBJECTIVITY
Description: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on
merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.
ACCOUNTABILITY
Description: Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and
actions and must admit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.
OPENNESS
Description: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are
clear and lawful reasons for so doing.
HONESTY
Description: Holders of public office should be truthful.
LEADERSHIP

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 230

May 2015

Description: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour.
They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge
poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 231

May 2015

APPENDIX 2
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT - INTERPRETATION
In the Council’s Code of Conduct the following words shall have the following meanings
ascribed to them—


“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;



“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” is as defined in Appendix 3



“meeting” means any meeting of—
(a) the Council;
(b) the Executive of the Council;
(c) any of the Council’s or its Executive’s committees, sub-committees, joint
committees, joint sub-committees, or area committees; whether or not the press
and public are excluded from the meeting in question by a resolution of members



“member” includes a co-opted member and an appointed member.



“sensitive information” means information relating to a member’s interests that the
monitoring officer has determined need not be included in the member’s registration
of an interest or any change to that interest, by virtue of the fact that its availability
for inspection by the public is likely to create a serious risk that any person may be
subjected to violence or intimidation



“bullying” means offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating
behaviour based on abuse or misuse of power or authority which attempts to
undermine



“disrepute” means a lack of good reputation or respectability which can be
reasonably regarded as reducing the public’s confidence in that member being able
to fulfil their role or adversely affecting the reputation of members generally in being
able to fulfil their role



“significant person” in relation to personal and personal and prejudicial Interests
means a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close
association; or any body(1) of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management
and to which you are appointed or nominated by the Council;
(2) exercising functions of a public nature;
(3) established for charitable purposes; or
(4) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy
(including any political party or trade union), of which you are a member or in a
position of general control or management

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 232

May 2015



“wellbeing” means a condition of contentedness, healthiness and happiness.
Anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, either positively or
negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing. It is not restricted to matters affecting a
person’s financial position



“close association” means someone that you are in regular contact with over a
period of time who is more than an acquaintance or colleague. It may be a friend, a
business associate or someone you know through general social contacts. It is
someone who a reasonable member of the public might think you would be prepared
to favour or disadvantage when discussing a matter that affects them.



“member of your family” means partner i.e. someone you are married to, your civil
partner, or someone you live with in a similar capacity, a parent, a parent-in-law, a
son or daughter, a stepson or stepdaughter, the child of a partner, a brother or sister,
a brother or sister of your partner, a grandparent, a grandchild, an uncle or aunt, a
nephew or niece, and the partners of any of these people

capacity, a parent, a parent-in-law, a son or daughter, a stepson or stepdaughter, the child of
a partner, a brother or sister, a brother or sister of your partner, a grandparent, a grandchild,
an uncle or aunt, a nephew or niece, and the partners of any of these people’

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 233

May 2015

APPENDIX 3
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
This note explains the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 (Ss 29-34) in relation to
disclosable pecuniary interests.
These provisions are enforced by criminal sanction.
They came into force on 1 July 2012.
1 Notification of disclosable pecuniary interests
Within 28 days of becoming a member or co-opted member, you must notify the Monitoring
Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary interests’.
A ‘Disclosable Pecuniary Interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which means
spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person
with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) within the following descriptions:

Interest

Description

Employment, office, trade,
profession or vacation

An employment, office trade profession or
vocation carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other
financial benefit (other than from the Council )
made or provided within the relevant period in
respect of any expenses incurred by M in
carrying out duties as a member, or towards
the election expenses of M.
This includes any payment or financial benefit
from a trade union within the meaning of the
Trade
Union
and
Labour
Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contract

Any contract which is made between the
relevant person (or a body in which the
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and
the Council –
(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and (b)
which has not been fully discharged.

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 234

May 2015

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within
the area of the Council.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to
occupy land in the area of the Council for a
month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge) –
(a) the landlord is the Council; and (b) the
tenant is body in which the relevant person
has a beneficial interest.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body
where –
(a) that body (to M/s knowledge) has a place
of business or land in the area of the Council;
and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the relevant person has a beneficial
interest exceeds one hundredth of the
total issued share capital of that class.

These descriptions on interests are subject to the following definitions;
“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;
“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a
director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society;
“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not
carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the
land or to receive income;
“M” means the person M referred to in section 30 of the Act;
“member” includes a co-opted member;

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 235

May 2015

“relevant authority” means the Council of which M is a member;
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives
a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) of the Act;
“relevant person” in relation to disclosable pecuniary interests means M or M’s spouse
or civil partner or a person with whom M is living as husband and wife or a person with
whom M is living as if they were civil partners;
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a
building society.
2 Dispensations
The Standards Committee or Monitoring Officer may grant you a dispensation, but only in
limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.
3 Offences
It is a criminal offence to


Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest within 28
days of election



Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on the register



Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary interest
that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a meeting



Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest



As a Executive member discharging a function acting alone, and having a disclosable
pecuniary interest in such a matter, failing to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28
days of the interest.



Knowingly or recklessly providing information that is false or misleading in notifying
the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in disclosing such
interest to a meeting

The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not exceeding level 5 on the
standard scale and disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years.

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 236

May 2015

Guidance on Bias and Predetermination – This is not part of the code of conduct

•

Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue which
does not impact on your personal and/or professional life you may participate in a
decision on the issue in your political role as a member. However, you must not
place yourself under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or
organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your official
duties.

•

When making a decision, consider the matter with an open mind and on the facts
made available to the meeting at which the decision is to be taken.

Part 5 – Member Code of Conduct

Page 237

May 2015

Code of Practice for Planning
The following ‘Best Practice’ principles should guide all Councillors in the execution of their
duties and roles as representatives of the District Planning Authority and when sitting on any
area committee. It has been revised to take account of the Local Government Association’s
revised guidance note entitled “Probity in Planning” published May 2009.
Part 1 – “The do’s and the don’ts”
ALL Councillors:
1.

should serve the whole of the District and uphold the adopted policies of the Council
in the general public interest.

2

(i) should abide by the Council’s Code of Conduct, this Code and the Council’s
Constitution (ii) should declare any personal and prejudicial interests as required by
the Code of Conduct and (iii) should consider making public facts or circumstances
which may not amount to a personal interest under the Code but disclosure of which
will help prevent any unfavourable public perception issues arising and strengthen the
open and transparent nature of the decision making process.

3.

should promote open and transparent decision-making but also uphold ‘confidentiality’
where appropriate.

4.

should act in a way which is not only fair and impartial but just as importantly is also
seen to be so.

5.

are entitled to express their view or opinion on an application prior to it being
considered by them at committee. This is part of their role as acting as champions for
the communities they serve. This is sometimes called “pre-disposition” and will not
prevent them considering the application at committee providing they are seen to
have kept an open mind and remain willing to listen to all sides before deciding how to
vote.

6.

should avoid giving the impression that they have made up their mind in relation to an
application, how they intend to vote and have no intention of changing it whatever
may be said at committee. This is sometimes called “pre-determination”. It is unfair
to both the applicant who is entitled to have their application considered objectively
but it is also unfair for objectors where the District Councillor intends to support an
application as their views should also be considered.

7.

where they have pre-determined an application, (i) should declare this fact at the
meeting convened to consider it and that despite this they would wish to make
representations on behalf of their constituents. (ii) should move away from the area
reserved for Councillors and make their representations at the appropriate time (iii)
should not vote and (iv) should leave the room after making representations to avoid
any suggestion of them exerting any influence on other members.

8.

should not organise support from other District Council members for or against a
planning application nor lobby other members.

9.

should avoid putting pressure on Officers for a particular recommendation or
otherwise attempt to interfere with their impartiality.

10.

should provide full reasons (which will appear in the committee report) where they
require an application that would otherwise be delegated to officers to be considered
by committee.

Part 5 – Code of Practice for Planning

Page 238

May 2015

11.

must receive appropriate initial and on-going training by their attendance at or
undertaking or completion of organised training events or facilities approved by the
District Council in order to be properly informed and aware of the issues when making
decisions on planning applications and the plan making process.

12.

should endeavour to always inform the Case Officer of the receipt of relevant lobbying
material (correspondence, photographs, plans, etc.) from applicants, in order that its
validity and accuracy can be checked should the member intend to rely or be
influenced by it and should pass to the Case Officer any letters of objection to ensure
that they are taken into account

13.

should wherever possible consult with an Officer prior to an arranged meeting with an
applicant or prospective applicant. The Case Officer must be advised of any such
meeting and the nature of the discussion so that a record can be kept on the file.

14.

should make it clear in any pre-application discussions that they will not bind the
council and that they are initial and preliminary discussion.

15.

should at all times avoid the appearance of over familiarity with applicants and
objectors and should comply with the Gifts & Hospitality Guidance for Members. In
particular they should refuse any offer of gifts or hospitality likely to be considered by
others to influence their decision.

16.

must not take part in the consideration of any planning application where they are
acting in the capacity of agent for the applicant to avoid any accusations of
favouritism.

17.

should not consider any material circulated by the applicant or objectors at the
meeting itself unless the legal officer present confirms that it would be appropriate.

18.

should not accept notes from or seek to pass notes to the applicant, objectors,
officers or other members at the committee. It is important that meetings and
discussions are seen to be open and transparent.

Part 2
Guidance for members who are also town and parish councillors, members of
the Regulation Committee or Portfolio Holders with responsibility for planning,
regeneration etc
A.

The Parish Council is an important consultee and district councillors can fully
participate at parish level, speak and vote on an application being considered by it
(where they are also members of the parish council). However, district councillors
must keep, and be seen to keep, an open mind. It is absolutely imperative that they
publicly reserve the right to fully consider the issue when all the information is
presented at the district council when the relevant committee is considering the
application as the local planning authority.

B.

On items that are referred from an Area Committee to Regulation Committee, district
council members of the Regulation Committee can participate and vote both at the
Area Committee and at Regulation. The council's decision-making process is not
complete at the Area Committee stage as the matter is referred to the Regulation
Committee with a recommendation and not a decision of the Area Committee. District
Council members of the Regulation Committee should record at the Committee that
they retain an open mind and they will not finalise their position until the Regulation
Committee. They will also consider the matter at Regulation Committee as members
of that committee and not as representatives of the Area Committee.

Part 5 – Code of Practice for Planning

Page 239

May 2015

C.

Portfolio Holders with responsibility for development or regeneration (specifically or
generically) need to consider the extent to which they are involved in a proposal. If
they are seen as a champion of or advocate for a particular scheme or are pressing
for or are committed to a particular development type during the strategic
consideration of a proposal then they should consider to what extent they should be
involved in determining the associated application. It may be more appropriate in
these circumstances for them to make representations in support of the application
but not vote.

This code and associated advice looks to allow Councillors to fully participate, act as
community champion and vote on an application other than where they have expressed
strong opinions either for or against an application that gives the impression that they have
already made their mind up prior to the meeting convened to consider it.
Essentially District Council members must always refrain from campaigning or forcefully
expressing an opinion at a meeting/forum before the formal decision is made by committee if
they want to retain the ability to fully participate. Councillors should not commit themselves,
or the Council, to a particular course of action when lobbied by applicants or objectors.
Councillors should always wait until they have received all the relevant information and
advice before coming to a decision – i.e. consider all the issues when presented at
committee. Unless this is the case, it would be difficult to claim that they retain an open mind
and this would leave the council's decision-making open to challenge. It is entirely legitimate
for Members to have an initial view on an application and to discuss this view publicly; it is
part and parcel of their role and would be expected by those who seek their guidance and
support. However they must always ensure that despite this and the inevitable pressure to
“nail their colours to the mast” they retain and are seen to retain an open mind.

Part 5 – Code of Practice for Planning

Page 240

May 2015

Local Code of Best Practice for the Licensing Process
1. Role and Conduct of Councillors and Officers
Councillors and Officers have different but complementary roles. Unless stated otherwise,
references to Councillors in this Code are to those Councillors dealing with Licensing matters
via their appointment to Licensing Committee. Both officers and Councillors are also subject
to codes of conduct with which they must comply (see background papers to report).
Councillors and Officers will treat each other with respect at all times, and not engage in
personal criticism in the course of any meeting. Concerns about Officer conduct should be
addressed to the Assistant Director (Environment). Concerns about the conduct of
Councillors should be addressed to the Council’s Monitoring Officer for these purposes.
Councillors can expect officers to give them all reasonable assistance in answering
questions on licensing matters, except where that would infringe this or other codes, or
contravene legal rules such as data protection. An officer will state the reason if there are
any such limitations on their ability to assist with Councillor queries.
Officers are protected from undue pressure by the Council’s policy on bullying and
harassment. They should not be put under pressure to make a particular recommendation in
relation to any licensing matter, application, or decision.
2. Voting and Impartiality
Councillors must reach licensing decisions by collectively applying their delegated legal
powers on the basis of the interests of the whole District; their overriding duty is to the whole
community rather than just the people living in their Electoral Ward. However it is also
important that Councillors, in reaching their decisions, should take into account what the law
requires, and take legal advice where necessary as to the scope of their powers.
Councillors will take due notice of any recommendations made by Officers, but it is
Councillors of the District Council who make the decisions, except where applications or
other matters have been delegated to the Assistant Director (Environment) and/or the
Licensing Manager in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation agreed by the Council.
Recommendations and decisions shall not discriminate against or in favour of any individuals
or groups, and shall be based firmly on the policies of the Council and the legal requirements
currently in force. The Licensing Committee acts as a quasi-judicial body with a right of
appeal against some of its decisions to the Courts. In such cases officers are expected to
avoid making recommendations or expressing opinions that might be seen as giving rise to
prejudice or bias.
Licensing Committee members should avoid expressing an opinion on an issue that is to
come before the Licensing Committee until after the hearing has taken place and a decision
has been made. Even then, caution is advisable where a matter remains subject to appeal.
Councillors must form judgements and make decisions on the basis of the relevant reports,
supporting evidence and recommendations presented, in a non-partisan manner, with no
pre-arrangements by any party or group as to how Councillors will vote. A proper decision
can only be made at the Licensing Committee, when all available information is to hand, and
has been duly considered; therefore, any political group meeting prior to the meeting must
not be used to decide how Councillors should vote.
A member of the Licensing Committee must not make any public statement, which may give
the impression that they may not be objective when sitting on the Licensing Committee. Bias
may include pre-judged ideas based on his/her own prejudices or political affiliations.
Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 241

May 2015

Suitable conditions for a “fair hearing” must exist – the right of the individual to know the
opposing case, the right to call witnesses, the ability to question witnesses, the right to legal
representation and the right to be given reasons for any decisions made (although such
reasons may be deferred/given in writing). Members should not, by their actions at a
Licensing Committee hearing or elsewhere, appear to deny, exclude or restrict such rights. If
in doubt, legal advice should be sought.
Licensing Committee Members should be aware of the dangers in publicly discussing the
reasons for decisions of the Committee, other than with relevant Council Officers, prior to the
formal publication of the minutes. Where a Member seeks to do so, they must consult with
the Council’s Legal Officers, Licensing Officers and Communications Officer, and the general
content of the public statement must be agreed in advance.
3. Lobbying by Members
It is important to recognise that lobbying is a normal and perfectly proper part of the political
process. However, lobbying can lead to the impartiality of a Councillor or the Council’s
decision being called into question unless all the parties concerned exercise care and
common sense.
With the possible exception of Ward Councillors who are not involved in the decision-making
process, Councillors should avoid organising support for or opposition to a forthcoming
licensing decision and should not lobby other Councillors. Councillors who decide to go
public in support for a particular outcome will not be able to argue convincingly when it
comes to a decision being made on the application that they have maintained an open mind.
In such cases, the appropriate course for the Councillor to take is to make a declaration,
withdraw from the meeting, and take no part in the decision-making process.
Ward Councillors have an important role to play as representatives of their communities and
to bring local information to the decision-making process. Ward Councillors may therefore
become involved in discussions with Officers about individual licensing issues. They should
however remember that it is very easy to create the impression that they are using their
position to influence the outcome.
Any discussions with Officers should be open and transparent. Officers should make a
written note of any such discussions. Ward Councillors who are members of the Licensing
Committee and who are involved in this manner with a Ward issue should make a
declaration and not vote or take part in the decision making process at the relevant Licensing
Committee meeting. In relation to licensing sub-committee meetings to determine individual
applications, such Ward Councillors must not sit on sub-committees, should they be selected
so to do, must declare their interest and stand down.
Situations may arise where Members wish to make representation in their own right as a
private citizen – for example, because they wish to object to an application that affects an
area where they live. In such circumstances, the Member may be acting entirely outside of
their office and in a private capacity. Although the model code strictly only applies to
Members acting within their office, Members are cautioned to be conscious of the public
interpretation that may be placed on such a situation - for example if an intervention they
make when acting in a private capacity is perceived as very persuasive. It is therefore highly
advisable in order to avoid perception of bias or influence that Members comply with the
spirit of the model Code and this Code in all circumstances relating to Licensing Committee
hearings, even when acting in a private/personal capacity.
4. External Lobbying
Lobbying can be oral or by the circulation of letters or documents to all or some Councillors.
Problems can occur if Councillors are given information or assurances by, for example, the
Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 242

May 2015

licensee or applicant, their agents, neighbours, objectors or business colleagues/rivals, which
are not part of the formal application or hearing process. Problems can also arise if the
information provided to Councillors outside the formal process is misleading or untrue.
Furthermore, there is a danger Councillors are manoeuvred into inadvertently confirming or
denying confidential information to a third party. In relation to the quasi-judicial processes of
the Licensing Committee and the need to conduct certain hearings in private, this action
could leave the Council open to legal challenge. Caution may be necessary even after a
matter is formally decided, if is subject to legal appeal.
Councillors must not put themselves in a position where they appear to favour a person,
company or group. Even a ‘friendly’ private discussion with an interested party could cause
others to mistrust the impartiality of Councillors. All Councillors, not just those on the
Licensing Committee, should exercise caution in this regard. They should generally avoid
any situation where they might be seen to be biased in advance of any official Council
Licensing decision, and while not in possession of the full facts.
Specific guidance for Councillors who are also Members of the Licensing Committee is as
follows, in relation to external lobbying.
The Member:
• should endeavour to avoid hearing, and must avoid entering into correspondence over,
a case that is being put to them by any interested party outside of the official process
for dealing with Licensing matters. It may be necessary to politely interrupt a person
trying to raise such an issue.
• should politely point out the reasons why the matter must not be heard or considered by
them in this situation, asking the person kindly not to continue, and not to raise further
points direct with them. If the matter has been raised by correspondence, the Member
need only pass the letter or email to the Licensing Office and officers will respond with
the appropriate advice.
• should explain how the matter may be raised in the correct manner, i.e. in writing, to the
Licensing Service. The Member may also:
•

provide procedural advice e.g. how to obtain further advice via Licensing
Officers, the right to address the Licensing Committee as a deputation, how to
make representations, where to obtain advice on appealing a decision, and so
on.

•

should not under any circumstances indicate how they are going to vote, or
give any opinion on, or reaction to, the matter being raised.

•

should report all such contacts, with the details and any connected
correspondence/paperwork, as soon as possible after they have occurred to
the Licensing department, so that the incident can be recorded.

•

should not provide any information on the matter gained by virtue of their
position that is not already in the public domain e.g. details from a report that
may be heard with the press and public excluded by the Licensing Committee.
In any case, where information is requested, best practice is to signpost the
enquirer to official Council sources of information.
This avoids any
accidentally selective provision of information by the Member, which although
well intentioned, could be interpreted as bias.

Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 243

May 2015

•

may refer the person to a Councillor who is not a Member of the Licensing
Committee e.g. a colleague Ward Councillor, if the interested party is insistent
on speaking to a Councillor. If despite the best efforts of the Member in
compliance with the above, the person has not desisted as requested, and
continues to put forward his/her view by contacting or making written
submissions direct to the Member, the member must:

•

in the absence of any written submission from the person appearing with the
official papers at the Licensing Committee hearing, or

•

in the event that the official submission from the person is not the same as the
information given to the Member

•

declare at the relevant Committee meeting the nature of the lobbying, who
with, when, and the content of the issues raised, by whom and when.

Failure to follow these procedures could prejudice the proper legal processing of the
licensing matter, and this may have serious legal and financial consequences for the Council,
also implications for the individual Councillor involved.
5. Licensing Applications made by Councillors or Officers
Applications submitted by Councillors, or by Officers in the Licensing Service, will as a
general principle, be referred to the Licensing Committee for information. However, for legal
reasons it will not be possible for the Licensing Committee to determine all such applications
– for example the Council normally has no option but to grant an uncontested application
under the Licensing Act 2003.
References will be made to the Council, Councillor or Officer interest. The Councillor or
Officer concerned will take no part in handling the application or determining the
recommendation or making the decision on the application.
Where a Councillor frequently declares an interest and therefore is unable to take part in the
proper consideration of licensing matters it will be referred to the full Licensing Committee.
The Council should review the presence of that Councillor on the Committee with a view to
replacing him or her with another Councillor whose interests would not prevent him or her
considering and deciding on licensing issues referred to the Committee.
6. How the Council deals with its own Applications
A decision on the Council’s own licensing applications will be made in accordance with the
same procedures applying to licensing applications submitted by other applicants. Licensing
Committee Members must give no regard to the interests of the Council itself, aside from
receiving and taking into account, as permitted by law, any relevant representations
received.
Members who are part of the Council’s decision to apply for a licence, or who express a view
in respect of such an application, should not be part of any hearing to determine the licence.
Councillors serving on other Council Committee/Scrutiny and Review Panels who also sit on
the Licensing Committee are not permitted to have any prejudicial interest, which would
disqualify them from taking part in the decision. If individual Councillors in this situation
consider that they should declare a personal interest, they may still be permitted to speak
and vote. Councillors are also at liberty to withdraw from the meeting if they so wish.
Relevant Council Officers and, in particular, the Monitoring Officer will be pleased to give
advice when Councillors are concerned over a conflict of interest.

Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 244

May 2015

7. Mediation
Licensing Officers have a mediation role under the Licensing Act 2003 where valid objections
to a licence application are received. Sometimes mediation will result in the applicant
modifying the application and/or the objector modifying their objections. Where agreement is
reached then in most instances, the licence must be issued and will not require a hearing.
Where agreement is not reached, only the remaining issues will come to a hearing.
Licensing Committee members should not therefore be involved in the mediation process.
This is important for the maintenance of impartiality, since Members must not be influenced
by objections that have subsequently been withdrawn through the mediation process.
8. Reports to Committee / Council
Councillors must have the proper information to make an informed decision. An officer
recommendation is not provided in cases where this may prejudice Licensing Committee
Members, who must reach a collective decision based solely on the facts (subject to legal
guidance).
The following information will be included in an officer report to the Licensing Committee:
• A clear description of the issue, application and/or decision required.
• Any relevant history in relation to the matter.
• All relevant evidence (even if apparently conflicting) that will enable Members to
reach an informed decision.
• Details of any persons making witness statements and indicating willingness to
provide verbal evidence to the Licensing Committee – and such persons shall
normally be available at the time of the meeting to be called if required, unless
some other arrangement is made for the taking of evidence.
• A list of the options available.
Details of any persons making representations, (are also given to the members but may not
be contained within the report) together with an advance indication of a wish to address the
hearing personally, or through their representative.
Where a change in policy is being considered the following information will be included:
• Relevant existing requirements and policies.
• An appraisal of the implications of the decision.
• An accurate summary of the responses to consultation, or if this is to be a decision
‘in principle’, the recommended consultation that is to be carried out if Members
agree.
• An officer recommendation.
The majority of reports will be available for public inspection in accordance with the
provisions for access to information and freedom of information. Occasionally the Licensing
Committee will be asked to hear matters in private with the press and public excluded due to
a need to respect personal confidentiality and privacy where sensitive issues are involved.
This most often occurs in connection with Public Carriage driver hearings. In these
circumstances the papers will not be publicly available in advance of the meeting, and the
Licensing Committee will be asked to determine whether the meeting should be held in
private to consider the report. Legal advice will be provided where necessary to assist with
this decision.
9. Delegated Decisions

Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 245

May 2015

The Council’s Scheme of Delegation authorises the Assistant Director (Environment) to
decide specific categories of licence applications. These are typically non-contentious and/or
uncontested applications, which the Council has no legal option but to grant.
10. Making Representations on Licensing Applications
Members of the Licensing Committee may from time to time make representations on
licensing applications. In these circumstances they are required to make their comments in
writing and will also be afforded the opportunity to present their view at the appropriate
meeting of Licensing Committee or its sub-committee. They may not participate in any part of
the determination process.
11. Public Speaking at Committee Meetings
Where applications are considered pursuant to the Licensing Act 2003 or the Gambling Act
2005, by the Licensing Committee, the conduct of the meeting will be governed by the
appropriate Hearings Regulations. The right to make representations under these Acts and
Regulations is accordingly limited.
Consideration of applications for drivers of public carriages are held in closed session due to
the sensitive nature; however where the application is for a vehicle licence, this will be held in
open session.
12. Deferment
The Licensing Committee should only defer a decision where there are clear and legally
permissible reasons for doing so.
13. Councillor Attendance
It is important that the Councillors’ decision takes account of all material issues, not solely
those contained in the Officers’ report, but also those which may be legally permitted to be
presented orally or otherwise at the meeting. Any Councillor absent from any part of the
meeting during consideration of a report must not vote on that matter.
14. Site Visits by the Licensing Committee
The majority of site visits are carried out by officers in preparing reports and
recommendations to Members; therefore site visits are not normally required by the
Licensing Committee or a Sub-Committee. Any such visits must be justified in licensing
terms, and legal advice will be provided by Legal Officers on a case-by case basis. Possible
exceptions may include situations where the impact of proposals are difficult to visualise, or
where comments made by the applicant or via representations cannot be expressed
adequately in writing. Further the chairperson of the Licensing Committee should be advised
before Members visit any premises prior to a hearing and they should be accompanied by a
relevant officer.
At site visits, Members should keep together as a group and not allow themselves to be
addressed or lobbied by any party as an individual. The purpose of the site visit is factfinding only so no comment should be made that is likely to be interpreted as opinion about
the suitability or otherwise of the arrangements being viewed, the validity of the case or the
strength of objections. Members should restrict themselves to questions as to the facts.
Legal advice will be provided to Members during the course of any site visit where
necessary.
15. Training

Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 246

May 2015

All new Councillors, who are to be members of the Licensing Committee, must attend a
mandatory training seminar giving an introduction to the Licensing system as part of their
induction programme. This mandatory training will be held as soon as possible after a
Councillor’s appointment to the Committee and prior to his or her first committee meeting.
Regular briefings will be provided by Officers or consultants as appropriate to keep
Councillors advised of changes to Government policy, guidance or best practice; attendance
at such briefings will also be mandatory.
16. Complaints
Complaints will be fully investigated in accordance with the Council’s agreed procedure.
It is particularly important that individual Councillors do not become engaged with, or appear
to be investigating on their own initiative, complaints and allegations about officers, the work
of the Licensing Authority, or other Councillors. In doing so they may jeopardise their
impartiality - for example it may appear they give credence to malicious allegations from
disgruntled licensees/applicants. The Council’s complaint process provides the necessary
impartiality and transparency. It is therefore vital to report all such complaints through this
process and to disengage from further involvement e.g. by referring further contacts about
the matter to the Manager investigating the complaint.
Complaints concerning licensed premises/premises subject to another form of authorisation
must be passed to the Licensing Service who will investigate them in accordance with the
current enforcement policy.
17. Breach of Code
If anybody wishes to make an allegation that a Councillor has breached this Code, such
allegation should be made in writing to the Monitoring Officer. If there is at first sight a case
to answer, this Officer will report the matter to the Standards Committee. The Standards
Committee shall deal with such allegations as if it were a breach of the model Code, which
had been referred to them for local determination.
If anybody wishes to make an allegation that an Officer has breached this Code, such
allegation will be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure and
Rules.

Part 5 – Local Code of Best
Practice for the Licensing Process

Page 247

May 2015

Public Participation at Committees
There are two main opportunities for members of the public to comment at meetings of the
Council’s Committees.
Public Question Time
At the beginning of each scheduled meeting of the Committee an opportunity will be given to
members of the public and representatives of parish/town councils to participate in the
meeting by asking questions, making comments and raising matters of concern. Parish/town
council representatives may also wish to use this opportunity to ask for the Council’s support
on any matter of particular concern to their parish/town. No decisions can be taken as a
result of matters raised in the Question Time although an agenda item can be requested for
a future meeting.
The period allowed for participation in this session shall not exceed 15 minutes except with
the consent of the committee. Each individual speaker shall be restricted to a total of three
minutes.
Agenda Items
Members of the public can also comment on items listed on the agenda at the time the
committee considers them. If they are unable to be present when the item is discussed, they
can make their comments during the Public Question Time session.
Planning Applications
Comments about planning applications will be dealt with at the time those applications are
considered, rather than during the Public Question Time session.
After the officer has presented the report the parish/town council representative and others
making representations will be invited to speak, followed by a response from the applicant or
his/her agent.
Comments should be confined to additional information or issues, which have not been fully
covered in the officer’s report. Members of the public are asked to submit any additional
documents to the planning officer at least 72 hours in advance and not to present them to the
Committee on the day of the meeting. This will give the planning officer the opportunity to
respond appropriately. Information from the public should not be tabled at the meeting. It
should also be noted that, in the interests of fairness, the use of presentational aids (e.g.
PowerPoint) by the applicant/agent or those making representations will not be permitted.
However, the applicant/agent or those making representations are able to ask the Planning
Officer to include photographs/images within the officer’s presentation subject to them being
received by the officer at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. No more than 5
photographs/images either supporting or against the application to be submitted. The
Planning Officer will also need to be satisfied that the photographs are appropriate in terms
of planning grounds.
At the committee chairman’s discretion, members of the public are permitted to speak for up
to 3 minutes each and where there are a number of persons wishing to speak they should be
encouraged to chose one spokesperson to speak either for the applicant or on behalf of any
supporters or objectors to the application. The total period allowed for such participation on
each application shall not normally exceed 15 minutes.

Part 5 – Public Participation at Committees

Page 248

May 2015

The order of speaking on planning items will be:






Town or Parish Council spokesperson
Objectors
Supporters
Applicant/Agent
District Council Ward Member

At the Regulation Committee, ward members, if not members of the Committee, will speak
after the town/parish representative.
The chairman will ensure that the opportunity is given to both sides to speak but an
application will not be deferred merely because one side is unable or does not wish to be
present.
Members of the public must direct their comments through the chairman and are not allowed
to take part in the debate.
If a member of the public wishes to speak they must inform the committee administrator
before the meeting begins of their name and whether they have supporting comments or
objections and who they are representing. This must be done by completing one of the
public participation slips available at the meeting.
In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Committee shall have discretion to vary
the procedure set out to ensure fairness to all sides.
The same rules in terms of public participation will apply in respect of other agenda items
where people wish to speak on that particular item.
Council members, who are not on a Committee, will be able to speak on all items at the
discretion of the Chairman, and it shall be for the Chairman to decide how long they may
speak.
Exceptionally, members may be permitted to use presentational aids when speaking at the
meetings on items other than planning and subject to the agreement of the Chairman.
Members with Prejudicial Interests
If an ordinary member of the public would be allowed to speak under the above conditions,
Council members should be provided with the same opportunity. Therefore, Council
members are able to make representations, answer questions or give evidence, even if they
have a prejudicial interest in the item. Members of the Council will be subject to the same
time limits as members of the public. They may not, however, take part in the discussion or
observe the vote. If a member’s interest amounts to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest then
they must not participate at all i.e. they are not allowed to make representation and must
leave the room. A failure to comply with these requirements may amount to a criminal
offence.

Part 5 – Public Participation at Committees

Page 249

May 2015

Consultation Protocol

Purpose of the Protocol
In recent years there has been a significant increase in the extent to which government, at all
levels, and other public bodies consult the Council on a range of issues. This Protocol is
proposed to enable transparency in the process and ensure that members are given the
opportunity to comment on consultations that may impact on this Council, its services,
processes or aspirations.
The Constitution currently allows Directors and Portfolio Holders to respond to consultation
documents. This Protocol proposes limits to the delegation and sets out the decision making
process to be followed as appropriate for the relevant document.
Types of Consultation
Consultation documents fall broadly into two types. Firstly, where the Council is asked for
factual information on its functions or services, and where in responding there is no view or
comments expressed on behalf of the Council.
The other type of Consultation is where the Council is asked for its view and comments on a
document. As an example, this will cover consultation documents issued by a Government
department, Local Government Association, Regional Association and other such bodies.
A Protocol for responding to consultation documents is set out in Appendix A, but it is
important that the receipt of documents is monitored and both members and officers are
aware of the existence of such documents. Therefore the following tracking process is
proposed.
Consultation Document Tracking Process
1.

When the Consultation document is received it should be logged as soon as possible
in a Central Consultation database by the Director of the relevant service area or, if
more than one service area, by the Director of the service area most “affected”. The
database will be available and maintained by Democratic Services. The information to
be logged by the Directors will be: name of body who has sent the document, a short
summary of the purpose of the document, the deadline for the response, name of
lead officer co-ordinating the response, name of responsible Portfolio Holder and the
process to agree the response in line with the Consultation Document Response
Protocol, the date the response was sent and finally details of where the document
may be found (or a hyperlink to the document itself).

2.

Prior to logging the document, the Director will need to assess the implications of the
document for the Council, as this will determine the decision-making process to agree
the response.

3.

The information held on the database will be published each month on the District
Executive agenda alongside the Executive Forward Plan. It will also be reported
each month to Scrutiny Committee as part of their monthly monitoring of the Forward
Plan.

4.

When documents are logged in the Database the deadline for the response will also
be entered. In most cases, the timescale for responses will allow for the decision
making process to be followed as set out in the Protocol. However, there may be
times when an urgent response is required or where the timescale does not allow for

Part 5 – Consultation Protocol

Page 250

March 2018

a report to District Executive or Council as required. Directors should try to seek an
extension to the deadline for a response but, in exceptional cases where this is not
possible, then an urgent response can be agreed in line with the requirements of the
Protocol.

Part 5 – Consultation Protocol

Page 251

March 2018

Appendix A

Consultation Document Response Protocol (Key: D = Directors; DSS = Democratic Services Specialist)
Implications of
Document

Process

Document seeks
comments on
proposals that will
have implications for
the Council’s Budget
and Policy
Framework or is of
major strategic
importance.
Page 252
Document seeks
comments on
proposals that will
have implications for
specified Council
services, or have
resource implications
for specific services.

Part 5 – Consultation Protocol

 Log On
Database. D
 Include on
Forward Plan
DSS
 Write Report for
District
Executive D
(follow DX
clearance
process - clear
with PH,
Finance, and
then submit to
Senior
Leadership
Team).
 Enter on
database date
response sent
and link to copy.
 Log On
Database. D
 Include on
Forward Plan
DSS
 Write Report for
Portfolio Holder
to agree. D

Decision Making Responsibilities

Comments

Urgent Response
(exceptional grounds)

Report to District Executive to agree
recommendations.
In cases where the Leader of the
Council feels that the matter is of
significance for the Council the
recommended response, as agreed
by the Executive, shall be submitted
for debate to the full Council. These
may be matters which will have
significant implications for the
Council’s budget and policy
framework or where the Leader or
the Chairman of Scrutiny (with the
agreement of the Leader) considers
that the matter should be debated by
the full Council. If the matter is
debated by Council the response will
still be sent in the name of the
Portfolio Holder taking into account
the views of full Council.

Scrutiny will be made
aware of these
documents as they will
also receive copies of
the consultation
database alongside the
Forward Plan.

Agree grounds for urgency with
Portfolio Holder and Leader, and
why timescale not allow time for
report to DX. Agree with PH and
Leader extent of consultation with
members (email, party group
leaders, workshop etc). To meet
deadline, and with agreement of
Leader, PH agree response to be
published on Exec Bulletin and
through that for information to
DX/Council

Portfolio Holder to agree response
and agree whether he wishes to seek
wider members’ views (email,
workshop etc).
The Leader to be notified and have
the option to ask that the matter be
brought to District Executive for
decision. In cases where the Leader

Scrutiny will be made
aware of these
documents as they will
also receive copies of
the consultation
database alongside the
Forward Plan.

Consult other relevant
members if appropriate
e.g. Theme Adviser.

As this response is only to be
agreed with Portfolio Holder, even if
an urgent response is needed, it
must still be published on Exec
Bulletin and through that reported
for information to DX and Council

March 2018

Implications of
Document

Process

Page 253

Decision Making Responsibilities

Comments

 Pass to
Democratic
Services for
publication on
Executive
Bulletin. D
 Enter on
database date
response sent
and link to copy.

of the Council feels that the matter is
of significance for the Council the
recommended response, as agreed
by the Executive, shall be submitted
for debate to the full Council.
Response to be sent in name of
Portfolio Holder taking into account
the views of full Council.

Consult other relevant
members if appropriate

No implication for
policies or services
and proposals are
within existing
policies and
procedures. Primarily
factual response.

 Log On
Database. D
 Enter on
database date
response sent
and link to copy.

Directors may respond subject to
agreement of Portfolio Holder.
Response to be sent in name of
Directors.

Portfolio Holder will
agree if there needs to
be any wider
consultation with
members although as
this is a factual
response this would be
unlikely.

As an officer response, should be
able to meet any deadlines.

Area specific
consultation with no
Council wide,
strategic implications
and no resource
implications.

 Log On
Database. D
 Enter on
database date
response sent
and link to copy.

Director Service Delivery may
respond subject to the agreement of
the Area Portfolio Holder.
Response to be sent in name of
Director.

Area Portfolio Holder (in
consultation with ward
member/s if
appropriate) will agree if
there needs to be any
wider consultation with
members and whether
the response should be
approved by the Area
Committee.

As an officer response, should
be able to meet any deadlines.

Part 5 – Consultation Protocol

Urgent Response
(exceptional grounds)

March 2018

Protocol on Member/Officer Relations
Introduction
This code is intended to offer guidance for members and officers in their dealings with one
another. It is intended as a supplement to the members’ and officers’ codes of conduct and
contribute towards the maintenance of high ethical standards across the council.
1.

Mutual respect between councillors and officers is essential. The Code of Conduct
for Councillors states that members should "not do anything which comprises or
which is likely to compromise the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of,
the authority” and they “should treat others with respect”. Officers likewise should
respect elected members and recognise their role and responsibilities. Members and
officers should avoid any close personal familiarity that could give rise to the
suspicion of bias or undue influence.

2.

In accordance with Council policy, harassment or bullying in the workplace will not be
tolerated ensuring fair treatment and personal dignity for all employees.

3.

In general councillors make policy and officers implement the council's policy. In most
cases councillors should avoid becoming involved in the operational detail of service
delivery. The relationship is best defined as a partnership with Members and staff
working together to achieve the overall aims of the Council.

4.

Members should have regard to the Members' Job Profiles which form part of this
constitution in carrying out their duties.

5.

Officers must not normally lobby councillors on personal employment matters except
through the agreed procedures as management or trade union representatives.
Likewise officers must not lobby on budgetary matters outside of the agreed
procedures.

6.

Any support services provided to elected councillors are to assist them in their role as
members of the council. They must be used for council business only.

7.

Councillors shall be provided with the necessary information to enable them to carry
out their executive, scrutiny or representative roles.

8.

Any elected member of the Council may inspect and make a copy of any document in
the possession or under the control of the Council and which the member may
require in the course of his/her duties as a member of the Council.

9.

A member may not knowingly inspect and shall not call for a copy of any document
relating to a matter in which he/she is professionally interested or in which he/she has
directly or indirectly any pecuniary interest

10.

The Proper Officer may decline to allow inspection of any document which in his/her
opinion discloses exempt information of a description falling within paragraphs 1 to 6,
9, 11, 12 and 14 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended).

11.

Any document provided for a member and marked "Not for Publication" shall be
exclusively for the use of that member and shall not be disclosed to any other person.

12.

There will be a close working relationship between a portfolio holder and the relevant
senior officer. However, all officers have a duty to the whole of the council. Officers
also will be expected to be able to provide advice and support to both the executive
and scrutiny function remembering that they serve the council as a whole.

Part 5 – Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations

Page 254

August 2020

13.

Officers are required to discharge their responsibilities without political bias or favour.

14.

Members must not seek to influence the appointment of council staff other than
where they are properly appointed to an appointments panel to consider a chief
officer appointment in accordance with the scheme of delegation.

15.

To ensure high standards of conduct members are required to abide by the Code of
Conduct for Members and officers are required to abide by the Employees' Code of
Conduct (when issued).

16.

Complaints by Councillors against Members of Staff
Procedure
In the event that a Councillor wishes to raise either an informal or formal complaint
regarding the conduct or behaviour of an employee or group of employees, the
following process should be followed:Informal approach

16.1

A Councillor should raise the matter in the first instance with the relevant Lead
Specialist/Leadership People Manager, or Director who should seek to resolve the
matter with the employee(s) concerned. The Councillor must not engage directly with
the employee, nor make any attempt to reprimand or discipline the employee nor
make any public criticism of the employee (which for the avoidance of doubts
includes social media) including at Council, committee meeting of the Local Authority.

16.2

If the matter is about the conduct of a Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager, or
Director, the Councillor should raise their concerns with the Chief Executive

16.3

The Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager/Director/Chief Executive will seek to
resolve the matter through discussions with the employee concerned and will report
on the outcome to the Councillor concerned within 10 working days. If such timescale
is not possible the Councillor will be informed within 5 working days of receipt of the
complaint as to when an outcome notification will be received.
Formal approach

16.4

If the Councillor is unhappy with the outcome of the informal approach or considers
from the outset that the complaint is of a serious nature they should raise the matter
with the relevant Director (or Chief Executive if the complaint is against a Director)
and will if a member of a political group make their group leader aware of their
complaint.

16.5

The Director (or Chief Executive) will ensure the matter is investigated according to
the relevant Council procedures consulting, where appropriate with the People Team,
the Section 151 Officer (in respect of financial matters) and the Monitoring Officer (in
respect of lawfulness and probity)

16.6

Again at this stage the Councillor must not engage directly with the employee, nor
make any attempt to reprimand or discipline the employee nor make any public
criticism (including via social media) of the employee including at Council or any
committee meeting of the Local Authority

16.7

The Director (or Chief Executive) will write to the Councillor and Group Leader
advising of the outcome. If changes in practice or procedures are required these will

Part 5 – Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations

Page 255

August 2020

be detailed in writing and advised to the employee, the complainant and the Group
Leader. A check will be made at six months (or such other pre-specified time as is
considered appropriate) that the required changes have been implemented and that
the complainant is content.
16.8

The Employee will be informed of the outcome of the complaint in accordance with
relevant Council Procedures.

17.

Complaints by members of staff against Councillors
Important Note – This Protocol does not preclude an employee, at any time, if
they think it appropriate to make a formal complaint under the South Somerset
District Councils Code of Conduct complaints regime applicable to elected and
co-opted Members.
Procedure

17.1

If an employee wishes to make either an informal or formal complaint under this
protocol relating to the conduct or behaviour of a Councillor, the appropriate support
must be provided by their line manager and the following procedure should be
followed
Informal approach.

17.2

An employee should in the first instance raise the issue of concern with their relevant
Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager or Director (or the Chief Executive in the
case of a complaint by a Director). The employee must not engage directly with the
Councillor on the matter. If appropriate the Lead Specialist/Leadership People
Manager or Director (or Chief Executive) may involve the group leader.

17.3

The Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager/Director will seek to resolve the
matter through discussions with the councillor concerned and will report the outcome
to the employee, Chief Executive and Group Leader if applicable.
Formal approach

17.4

If the Employee is unhappy with the outcome of the informal approach or considers
their complaint to be of a serious nature they may wish to consult with their trade
union representative (if applicable) prior to raising the matter formally with the
relevant Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager or Director (or Chief Executive
in the case of a complaint by a Director). The Employee and their TU representative
may also raise the matter directly with the Senior Human Resource Employee in the
Council.

17.5

The Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager/Director will ensure the matter is
investigated under the appropriate Council investigatory procedure.

17.6

The Councillor and Group Leader will be advised of any complaint and should provide
full assistance and cooperation with any investigation.

17.7

If the Lead Specialist/Leadership People Manager/ Director employee considers the
case is sufficiently serious they should advise the Chief Executive that the matter
should be formally raised with the Group Leader.

17.8

The Outcome of the investigation may require that no further action be required or
that a written or verbal apology is given to the employee. An undertaking should be
sought that any wrong doing will not be repeated.

Part 5 – Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations

Page 256

August 2020

17.9

In appropriate cases (which will normally be where a clear breach of the Code of
Conduct has occurred) the Standards Committee will be informed of the outcome of
the case.

Part 5 – Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations

Page 257

August 2020

Guidance for Members on Gifts and Hospitality
1.

Introduction

1.1

This guidance is for members of the Council and independent and co-opted
members (voting and non-voting).

2.

General Caution

2.1

Treat with extreme caution any offer or gift, favour or hospitality that is made to you
personally. You may consider that the reputation of local government is enhanced
by you adopting a position of refusing to accept any offer or gift, favour or hospitality
that is made to you personally.

2.2

You will appreciate that your personal reputation and that of the Council can be
seriously jeopardised by the inappropriate acceptance by you of a gift or hospitality.

2.3

It is true that the acceptance of gifts and hospitality is not always unlawful or
inappropriate. The decision for you in every case is whether or not it is appropriate
to accept any gift or hospitality that might be offered to you, having regard to how it
might be perceived. No hard and fast rules can be laid down to cover every
circumstance as to what is appropriate or inappropriate. This guidance is intended to
enable you to make your own decision.

3.

Criminal Law

3.1

It is a criminal offence corruptly to solicit or receive any gift, reward or advantage as
an inducement to doing or forbearing to do anything in respect of any transaction
involving the Council.

3.2

The onus would be on you to disprove corruption in relation to a gift from a person
holding or seeking to obtain a contract from the Council.

4.

Limits of Guidance

4.1

This guidance does not apply to:



Gifts and hospitality you may receive from family and friends (as birthday or other
festival presents) that are not related to your position as a member. You should
however question any such gift or hospitality offered from an unusual source.
The acceptance of facilities or hospitality provided to you by the Council.
Gifts given to the Council that you accept formally on the Council’s behalf and are
retained by the Council and not by you personally.

5.

Meaning of Gifts and Hospitality

5.1

The expressions “gifts” and “hospitality” have wide meanings and no conclusive
definition is possible. Gifts and hospitality include:




The free gift of any goods or services.
The opportunity to acquire any goods or services at a discount or at terms not
available to the general public.
The opportunity to obtain goods or services not available to the general public.
The offer of food, drink, accommodation or entertainment or the opportunity to
attend any cultural or sporting event.

Part 5 – Guidance on Gift and Hospitality

Page 258

May 2015

5.2

Common gifts include pens, diaries, calendars and other business stationery, articles
of clothing, books, flowers and bouquets. Members should however be cautious
when purchasing anything, when additional services, privileges or advantages are
offered, which might be related to their position as a member.

6.

Appropriate Gifts and Hospitality

6.1

There are some circumstances where you may accept gifts and hospitality as being
in the normal course of your duties as a member.








Civic hospitality provided by another public authority.
Normal and modest refreshment in connection with any meeting in the course of
your work as a member (e.g. tea, coffee and other normal beverages and
refreshments).
Tickets for sporting, cultural and entertainment events which are sponsored or
promoted by the Council or bodies to which you have been appointed by the
Council, and the tickets are offered in relation to that sponsorship or promotion.
Small low value gifts (such as pens, calendars, diaries, flowers and other
mementos and tokens).
Drinks or other modest refreshment in the normal course of socialising arising
consequentially from Council business (e.g. inclusion in a round of drinks after a
meeting).
Modest meals provided as a matter of courtesy in the office or meeting place of a
person with whom the Council has a business connection.
Souvenirs and gifts from other public bodies intended as personal gifts (e.g.
arising from twin-town and other civic events).

7.

Principles to apply in relation to Gifts and Hospitality

7.1

In deciding whether it is appropriate to accept any gifts or hospitality you must apply
the following principles:




Do not accept gifts or hospitality as an inducement or reward for anything you do
as a member. If you have any suspicion that the motive behind the gift or
hospitality is an inducement or reward you must decline it.
“Reward” includes remuneration, reimbursement or fee.
Do not accept a gift or hospitality of significant value or whose value is excessive
in the circumstances.
Do not accept a gift or hospitality if acceptance might be open to
misinterpretation. Such circumstances will include gifts and hospitality:(a) From parties involved with the Council in a competitive tendering or
other procurement process.
(b) From applicants for planning permission and other applications for
licences, consents and approvals.
(c) From applicants for grants, including voluntary bodies and other
organisations applying for public funding.
(d) From applicants for benefits, claims and dispensations.
(e) From parties in legal proceedings with the Council.





Do not accept a gift or hospitality if you believe it will put you under any obligation
to the provider as a consequence.
Do not solicit any gift or hospitality and avoid giving any perception of so doing.
In terms of identifying value always err on the side of caution and if in doubt
register.

Part 5 – Guidance on Gift and Hospitality

Page 259

May 2015



It matters not what part you accept, it is the value that is on offer that you use in
calculating whether it exceeds the £25 threshold e.g. if invited to a champagne
reception then the fact that you choose to only drink the water you brought
yourself doesn’t alter the fact that what was on offer was valued in excess of £25
so should be registered.

8.

Gifts Received and Donated to the Chairman’s Charities

8.1

Some members receiving gifts of value may prefer not to retain these personally but
to pass them to the Chairman for use in relation to the Chairman’s Charities.
Members should indicate this intention to the provider and make this clear on their
register of interests.

9.

Registration of Gifts and Hospitality

9.1

The revised Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members provides that
members will have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates
to or is likely to affect the interests of any person from whom they have received a gift
or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25.

9.2

This interest must be registered in the register of members’ interests. You should
register the interest as soon as possible after acceptance of the gift or hospitality and
by no later than 28 days of acceptance. The registration should include the source
and nature of the gift or hospitality. A form is available for this purpose.

9.3

You must disclose the existence and nature of the interest arising from a gift or
hospitality at a meeting of the Council at which business is considered to which the
interest relates (i.e. business relating to the interests of the person or body giving the
gift or hospitality). The disclosure requirement does not however apply to gift and
hospitality interests registered more than 3 years ago.

9.4

Whilst the registration requirement in the code is limited to gifts or hospitality over the
value of £25, members are encouraged to register any significant gift or hospitality
they receive below this value. There is however no obligation to make a disclosure
in relation to gifts and hospitality on the register which are below £25 in value. It is
also recommended as good practice that members register all gifts or hospitality
which they refuse to accept irrespective of value and include the details of the source
and the nature of the gift or hospitality that has been refused.

Part 5 – Guidance on Gift and Hospitality

Page 260

May 2015

10.

Reporting of Inappropriate Gifts and Hospitality Offered

10.1

It is a criminal offence for a person corruptly to give or offer any gift, reward or
advantage as an inducement or reward to you for doing or forbearing to do anything
as a member of the Council.

10.2

You must immediately report to the Monitoring Officer any circumstances where an
inappropriate gift or hospitality has been offered to you.

10.3

You may thereafter be required to assist the Police in providing evidence.

11.

Enforcement

11.1

The Council’s Standards Committee has responsibility for overseeing compliance
with this guidance.

11.2

Allegations of any failure to meet the guidance must be made in writing to the
Monitoring Officer.

11.3

Any failure to meet the guidance will itself be treated as a breach under the code of
conduct.

11.4

This guidance will be subject to annual review by the Standards Committee.

Part 5 – Guidance on Gift and Hospitality

Page 261

May 2015

Part 6
Members' Allowances Scheme

May 2015

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 262

April 2015

Members' Allowances Scheme
The South Somerset District Council, in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local
Authorities (Members' Allowances) Regulations 2003, hereby makes the following scheme:

1.

Commencement

This scheme may be cited as the South Somerset District Council Members' Allowances
Scheme for the year commencing 1st April 2015.

2.

Basic Allowance

Subject to Paragraph 7, a Basic Allowance of £6,362 per annum shall be paid to each
councillor, effective from 1st April 2015, which shall be deemed to include an element to
enable the councillor to subscribe to a broadband connection. The councillor will be
expected to ensure that they have a broadband connection to assist them in undertaking
their duties and may be required to provide evidence of the same if required.
That the scheme of allowances makes provision for an annual uplift of all Basic and Special
Responsibility Allowances by the same percentage as the equivalent negotiated APT&C pay
award for officers each year.

3.

Special Responsibility Allowances

(a)

A Special Responsibility Allowance shall be paid to those councillors who hold the
special responsibilities in relation to the Authority that are specified in Schedule 1 to
this Scheme. This Allowance is paid in recognition of the extra duties, which they
expected to perform.

(b)

Subject to Paragraph 7, the amount of each such Allowance shall be the amount
specified against that special responsibility in that Schedule.

4.

Travelling Expenses /Subsistence Allowance Claims

5.

(a)

For travelling expense reimbursement and subsistence allowance purposes,
any claim for payment must be in respect of the previous undertaking of an
approved duty defined in Schedule 3 to this Scheme and, in the case of
councillors holding the special responsibilities referred to in Paragraph 3(b),
those additionally referred to in Schedule 2 to this Scheme.

(c)

Travelling expenses and subsistence allowances shall be paid at rates set
under this scheme as listed in Schedule 4.

(d)

Claims for subsistence and car parking etc. should be accompanied by
receipts.

Carers’ Allowance
(a)

The Council has agreed that a carers’ allowance shall be paid.

(b)

An allowance may be claimed for costs incurred when a carer for a dependent
has been engaged to enable a councillor to undertake an approved duty.

(c)

An allowance will be payable if the dependant being cared for:


is a child under the age of 14

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 263

Jan 2019




is an elderly person (aged 60 and over);
has a recognised physical or mental disability

who normally lives with the councillor as part of that councillor’s family and
should not be left unsupervised.

6.

(d)

The carer must not be someone who normally lives with the councillor as part
of that councillor’s family.

(e)

Members who claim a carers’ allowance are required to certify that the
amounts claimed have actually been incurred.

(f)

Payment for Child Care to be £5.35 per hour up to a maximum of 16 hours per
week. Dependant Carers Allowances to be paid at actual cost up to a
maximum of 16 hours per week, subject to payment of no more than £2,000 to
any one councillor in a financial year.

IT Allowance
A one off payment of £400 will be provided to each newly elected Member to
purchase an electronic digital device. No additional payment will be made and
running and maintenance costs will be the responsibility of the Member. The device
could be a laptop computer or tablet device or anything else but must be capable of
fulfilling the Statement of Requirement for Councillors IT as detailed at Schedule 5.
It is recognised that Members may use their own existing IT equipment for council
business, including printing and ink, and the £400 payment will still be made to those
members as an acknowledgement of this.
Following the introduction of the Local Government (Electronic Communications)
(England) Order 2015 Members are now encouraged to operate within a paperless
system environment by agreeing to receive, view and manage agenda papers and
other circulated documents digitally.

6.

Renunciation
A councillor may by notice in writing given to the Specialist – Democratic Services
elect to forego any part of his/her entitlement to an allowance under this Scheme.

7.

Part-year Entitlements
(a)

The provisions of this paragraph shall have effect to regulate the entitlements
of a councillor to Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances where, in the
course of a year, this Scheme is amended or that councillor becomes, or
ceases to be, a councillor, or accepts or relinquishes a special responsibility in
respect of which a Special Responsibility Allowance is payable.

(b)

In respect of Basic Allowance, where the term of office of a member begins or
ends otherwise than at the beginning or end of a year, the entitlement shall be
to payment of such part of the basic allowance as bears to the whole the
same proportion as the number of days during which the term of office as
member subsists bears to the number of days in that year.

(c)

Where a councillor has during part of, but not throughout, a year such special
responsibilities as entitle him or her to a Special Responsibility Allowance, that
councillor's entitlement shall be to a payment of such part of that Allowance as
bears to the whole the same proportion as the number of days during which

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 264

Jan 2019

he or she has such special responsibilities bears to the number of days in that
year.
(d)

8.

Where an amendment to this scheme is made which affects an allowance
payable for the year in which an amendment is made, the entitlement to such
allowance as amended may apply with effect from the beginning of the year in
which the amendment is made.

Suspension of a Member
Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from their duties in accordance
with Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 or regulations made under that Part,
any allowance payable to them under this Scheme in respect of the responsibilities or
duties from which they are suspended or partially suspended may be withheld by the
Council.

9.

10.

Claims and Payments
(a)

A claim for travelling expense reimbursement and/or subsistence payment
under this Scheme shall be made in writing within two months of the date of
the approved duty in respect of which the entitlement to the payment arises.

(b)

A claim for travelling expense reimbursement and/or subsistence payment
under this Scheme shall include, or be accompanied by, a statement by the
councillor claiming the payment, that he/she is not entitled to receive
remuneration in respect of the matter to which the claim relates otherwise
than under this Scheme.

(c)

Payments shall be made on or after the 25th day in each month.

(d)

Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances are paid in twelve equal
installments and apportioned for part-year entitlement where applicable.

(e)

Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances are subject to income tax and
national insurance.

Membership of Another Authority
Where a member is also a member of another Authority, that member may not
receive allowances from more than one authority in respect of the same duties.

11.

Amendments and Revocation of the Scheme
(a)

This scheme may be amended at any time by the Council but may only be
revoked with effect from the beginning of a year, subject to paragraph 11 (b).

(b)

Before the Council makes a new Scheme or amends this Scheme it shall
have regard to the recommendations made in relation to it by its Independent
Remuneration Panel.

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 265

Jan 2019

Schedule 1
The following are the special responsibilities in respect of which Special Responsibility
Allowances are payable, and the amount of those Allowances as at 1st April 2015:
£
14,595
8,757
6,568
1,459
7,298
7,298
7,298
7,298
7,298
7,298
7,298
7,298
1,459
365
365
1,459
6,568
1,095
1,095
365
2,828
1,095
1,095
1,095
1,095
2,918

Leader of the Council & Portfolio Holder
Portfolio Holder & Deputy Leader
Chairman of the Council
Vice-Chairman of the Council
Area Chairman and Portfolio Holder
Area Chairman and Portfolio Holder
Area Chairman and Portfolio Holder
Area Chairman and Portfolio Holder
Portfolio Holder
Portfolio Holder
Portfolio Holder
Portfolio Holder
Licensing Committee Chairman
Licensing Sub-Committee Chairman
Licensing Sub-Committee Chairman
Audit Committee Chairman
Scrutiny Committee Chairman
Scrutiny Vice-Chairman
Scrutiny Vice-Chairman
Regulation Committee Chairman
Leader of the Largest Opposition Group
Area South Committee Vice-Chairman
Area East Committee Vice-Chairman
Area West Committee Vice-Chairman
Area North Committee Vice-Chairman
Standards Committee Chairman

Schedule 2
Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) is paid for the following duties that relate to the post
for which the SRA is paid:





meetings with officers
meetings with other portfolio holders
dealing with correspondence
visits which are as a result of the duty for which the SRA is paid e.g. official openings,
familiarisation/fact finding visits
press meetings

The SRA does not include an element for travel and, therefore, a travel allowance can be
claimed for any duty that is covered by the special responsibility payment.
Members of the Executive are able to claim only one Special Responsibility Allowance.

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 266

Jan 2019

Schedule 3
Approved Duties
1.

A meeting of the Authority, or of any Committee or Sub-Committee of the Authority, or
of any other body to which the Authority makes appointments or nominations, or any
Committee or Sub-Committee of such a body. This includes meetings of the
Executive and its committees.

2.

Any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the Authority, or a Committee
or Sub-Committee of the Authority, or a Joint Committee of the Authority and one or
more other Authorities, or a Sub-Committee of such a Joint Committee provided that:
(a)

where the Authority is divided into two or more political groups, it is a meeting
to which members of at least two such groups have been invited; or

(b)

if the Authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two members
of the Authority have been invited.

3.

A meeting of any association of authorities of which the Authority is a member.

4.

Pre-Agenda briefings, and training authorised under the Members’ Training
Programme.

5.

Attendance at parish council meetings within a councillor's ward for the sole purpose
of representing the District Council.

6.

Travel undertaken by members as part of an Overview and Scrutiny Commission
shall be an approved duty for the purposes of being able to claim travel allowance.

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 267

Jan 2019

Schedule 4
Travelling and Subsistence Allowances
Travel Allowances
Motor cars
Engine Capacity
All cc’s
Motorcycles
Engine Capacity
not exceeding 150 cc
151-500 cc
500 cc
Plus: (a)

(b)
Bicycle allowance

Rate per mile
40.0p
Rate per mile
8.5p
12.3p
16.5p
5.0p per mile for the carriage of the first passenger
and 3.0p per mile for the second and subsequent
passengers, not exceeding 4, to whom a travelling
allowance would otherwise be payable.
Actual cost of parking fees, tolls, ferrying and
overnight garaging.
Rate per mile
26.0p

The full costs of public transport will be met for approved duties and taxi fares will be met in
cases of exceptional proven need and inability to drive or take alternative transport. The
reasons to be approved by the Chief Executive

Subsistence Allowance
The payment of subsistence allowances is subject to the principle that some additional
expenditure has actually been incurred.
(1)

In the case of an absence, not involving an absence overnight
Breakfast allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal £5.42
place of residence or where the authority permits, a lesser
period, before 11.00 a.m.)
Evening meal allowance (more than 4 hours away from the £10.00
normal place of residence or where the authority permits, a
lesser period, ending after 7.00pm)

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 268

Jan 2019

Schedule 5
Statement of Requirement for Councillors IT

South Somerset District Council will:
1. Provide Councillors with an SSDC e-mail address for Council business use
(@southsomerset.gov.uk)
2. Allow Councillors to store e-mail and attachments relating to Council business for up
to 12 months.
3. Provide information to Councillors in the most popular formats (Microsoft Office,
Adobe PDF etc).
4. Provide access to SSDC email via Outlook Web App.
5. Facilitate the purchase of an appropriate piece of equipment/software (where a
Councillor does not have the facility) to access documents in the most popular
formats (Microsoft Office, Adobe PDF files etc) required to carry out their role as a
Councillor.
Councillors will:
1. Be expected to have a separate private e-mail address for political / non-council use.
2. Have separate storage of personal data (photos etc on discs or memory stick or other
devices).
3. Have Broadband access at their home address.
4. Have the ability to access documents in the most popular formats (Microsoft Office,
Adobe PDF files etc) required to carry out their role as a Councillor.
5. Have the ability to access the SSDC website to view planning applications and the
internet for research purposes.

Part 6 – Members’
Allowances and Expenses

Page 269

Jan 2019

Part 7
Management Structure

April 2019

Page 270

Senior Management Structure (as at April 2019)

Chief Executive
Alex Parmley

Page 271

Director
Service Delivery
Martin Woods

Director
Commercial Services
& Income Generation
Clare Pestell

Goldenstones Leisure facilities managed by LED

Director
Strategy & Support Services
Netta Meadows

Part 8
Petition Scheme

April 2017

Page 272

Petition Scheme

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 273

May 2019

Contents
1.

Introduction

2.

What can petitions cover?

3.

What are the types of petitions?

4.

Who can submit a petition?

5.

What must a petition include?

6.

Are there petitions which the Council will not accept?

7.

How to submit a petition

8.

What will the Council do when it receives my petition?

9.

How do I present my petition at a Council meeting?

10.

How will the Council respond to petitions?

11.

Petitions for debate at a Council meeting

12.

Petitions asking for officers to give evidence

13.

E-petitions

14. What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly?
15. What else can I do to have my say?
16. Special requirements and Assistance

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 274

May 2019

1.

Introduction

1.1

This council believes it acts in the best interests of the people who live in the
area and is responsive to their concerns. However sometimes there are
issues that you believe the council should address and there are a number of
ways by which you can be heard. You can raise matters at any of our
meetings (including our area committee meetings), you can contact your
elected district councillor and ask that they raise a matter on your behalf or
you can contact any relevant officer direct. You can now also raise matters by
way of a petition. This council welcomes petitions as it recognises that they
are another way in which people can let us know their concerns.
There are several types of petitions (see 3.1 below for a description of each
type) depending on the number of signatures. This scheme sets out how the
Council will respond to petitions.

2.

What can petitions cover?

2.1

You can submit a petition on the following issues:
 Issues which relate to the Council and/or the services it provides to local
people
 Matters which affect local people or local communities in South Somerset
more than the general public nationally

3.

What are the different types of petitions?

3.1

There are three different types of petitions:
‘Ordinary’ petitions
Petitions containing at least 25 signatures. The petition organiser can present
their petition to a meeting of the Council (i.e. a meeting to which the Chairman
and all Councillors are invited) who will, without discussion, refer the petition to
the relevant decision-maker (this could be an officer of the council or one of
the council’s committees) OR the petition organiser (with two other people who
signed the petition) can meet with the relevant decision-maker direct to
present their petition.
Petitions for Council debate
Petitions containing at least 8,000 signatures will be debated (or discussed) at
a meeting of the Council.
Petitions calling for Council employees to give evidence at an Overview
and Scrutiny meeting
Petitions containing at least 4,000 signatures can call for a senior Council
employee to give evidence at a public meeting of the Scrutiny Committee or
an Overview Commission.

4.

Who can submit a petition?
4.1

Anyone who lives, works or studies in South Somerset, including under 18’s,
can sign or organise a petition.

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 275

April 2019

5.

6.

What must a petition include?
5.1

Petitions must include all of the following:



at least 25 signatures;



a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It should
state what action the petitioners wish the Council to take;



the subject matter of the petition on each page;



the name, address (or place of work or study if the person does not live in
South Somerset) and signature of any person supporting the petition; and



contact details, including a phone number and address, for the petition
organiser – this will be the person who we will contact to explain how we will
respond to the petition.

5.2

The Council may also ask for such additional information as it may require in
order to confirm that the petition complies with the requirements of this
scheme.

5.3

The Council’s Monitoring Officer may decline to accept any petition where in
his opinion the petition does not include any of the above.

5.4

A template to help you organise a petition is provided at the end of this
document.

Are there petitions which the Council will not accept?
6.1

The vast majority of petitions will be accepted provided they meet with the
requirements of 5.1 above. However, there are certain circumstances when
petitions will not be accepted by the Council’s Monitoring Officer), including:
 Petitions considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate
(e.g. for political campaigning). We will explain the reasons for this in our
acknowledgement of receipt of the petition.
 Petitions which are identical or very similar to a petition that has already
been presented to the Council in the past 12 months.
 The period immediately before an election or referendum we may need to
deal with the petition differently – if this is the case we will explain the
reasons and give the petition organiser revised timescales which will apply.
 Petitions which relate to planning or licensing application, or is a statutory
petition (e.g. requesting a referendum on whether the Council should
continue to have an elected mayor), or is a matter where there is already
an existing right of appeal such as council tax banding and non-domestic
rates. We will advise the petition organiser what will happen to petitions
under this category.
 Petitions which relate to a subject where consultation by the Council is
currently being undertaken or is due to be undertaken in the next six

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 276

April 2019

months. We will ensure the petition is included as part of the consultation
and contact the petition organiser to give them details of the consultation.
 Where the identities of the signatories to the petition cannot be verified.
7.

How to submit a petition

7.1

Petitions can be sent to:
Specialist – Democratic Services
South Somerset District Council
Council Offices
Brympton Way
Yeovil
Somerset. BA20 2HT
Alternatively, you can give your petition to your local councillor who will deliver
it on your behalf.

7.2

Please indicate which type of petition you are submitting (see 3.1 above). If
you would like your petition to be presented at a Council meeting, it must be
delivered to the Specialist - Democratic Services by 4.00 p.m. 10 clear working
days before the meeting. For a calendar of meetings please visit our website
www.southsomerset.gov.uk or contact our Specialist – Democratic Services
(01935 462462)

7.3

Arrangements for creating, signing and submitting petitions on-line is available
through the Council’s website: www.southsomerset.gov.uk

8.

What will the Council do when it receives my petition?

8.1

All petitions sent or presented to the Council will receive an acknowledgement
within 10 working days of receipt. The acknowledgement will be sent to the
petition organiser and will explain what we plan to do with the petition and
when you can expect to hear from us again. Details of your petition will be
provided to the Chairman of the Council, the political party group leaders, the
Monitoring Officer and the Chief Executive so they are informed of the
details of the petition.

8.2

If we can do what your petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm
that we have taken the action requested and the petition will be closed. If the
petition has enough signatures to trigger a Council meeting debate, or a senior
Council employee giving evidence, then the acknowledgement will confirm
this and tell you
when and where the meeting will take place. If the
petition needs more investigation, we will tell you the steps we plan to take.

8.3

If you submit an ‘ordinary’ petition (see 3.1 above) the Specialist - Democratic
Services will contact the petition organiser and inform them which
body/decision-maker will respond to the petition and invite them to choose
whether they wish to make a presentation at a Council meeting or for the
petition to be referred direct to the body/decision-maker concerned. However,
if the subject of the petition is due to be considered by the decision-maker
before the next meeting of the Council it will be referred to the decision-maker

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 277

April 2019

direct and you will not, therefore, have the opportunity to present your petition
at a Council meeting. If you choose to submit your petition directly to the
decision-maker you will be informed who makes the decision and who will be
contacting you to make arrangements for you to meet with the decision-maker.
8.4

To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we
receive, we will publish the details of petitions we receive on our website
(except in cases where this would be inappropriate). Wherever possible we
will also publish all correspondence relating to the petition on our website but
will remove all personal details first. The name and address of the petition
organiser will also be published on the Council’s website unless the petition
organiser expressly requires their contact details to be kept confidential.

9.

How do I present my petition at a Council meeting?

9.1

Any type of petition can be presented by you at a council meeting although
only those containing at least 8,000 signatures will actually be debated or
discussed there. If you wish for your petition to be presented to a meeting of
the Council you have the option of speaking at that meeting. You can speak
in support of your petition for up to five minutes. To register to speak you
must inform the Specialist - Democratic Services (by telephone 01935 462462
or e-mailing angela.cox@southsomerset.gov.uk by 4.00 p.m. the day before
the Council meeting.

9.2

At the meeting the Chairman will invite you to speak. When you make your
speech you can only refer to matters relevant to the petition and must:
(a)

not use discriminatory or offensive language;

(b)

not make any party political statements;

(c)

not use personal abuse; and

(d)

treat others with courtesy and with respect.

If the Chairman considers that you have broken any of these requirements
he may take appropriate action (including preventing you from speaking
further).
10.

How will the Council respond to petitions?

10.1 Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how
many people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following:
 Taking the action requested in the petition.
 Considering the petition at a Council meeting (where the subject of the
petition does not fall within the remit of an appropriate body or person).
 Holding an inquiry into the matter.
 Undertaking research into the matter.
 Holding a public meeting.

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 278

April 2019

 Holding a consultation.
 Holding a meeting with the petitioners.
 Referring the petition for consideration by the Council’s Scrutiny
Committee or Overview Commission*.
 Calling a referendum
 Writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in
the petition.
*The Scrutiny Committee and the Overview Commission includes the
Councillors who are responsible for scrutinising the work of the Council – in
other words, these people have the power to hold the Council’s decisionmakers to account.
In addition to these steps, the Council will consider all the specific actions it can
potentially take on the issues highlighted in a petition. The table below gives
some examples:
Petition subject

Appropriate steps

Alcohol related
If your petition is about crime or disorder linked to alcohol
crime and disorder consumption, the Council has a number of options it can
consider to address the issue. The Council’s response to
your petition will set out the steps we intend to take and the
reasons for taking this approach.
Anti-social
behaviour (ASB)

The Council plays a significant role in tackling anti-social
behaviour as the elected representatives of your local area,
through the partnership with social landlords and as
licensing authority.
When responding to petitions on ASB, we will consider, in
consultation with our local partners, all the options
available to us including the wide range of powers and
mechanisms we have to intervene. For example, we will
work with the neighbourhood policing team in the affected
area to identify what action might be taken including what
role CCTV might play, consider identifying a dedicated
contact within the Council to liaise with the community,
neighbourhood and other partners on issues of ASB in the
area in question and, where appropriate, we will alert the
Scrutiny Committee to the issues highlighted in the petition.

10.2

If your petition is about something over which the council has no direct control
(for example the local railway or hospital) we will consider making
representations on behalf of the community to the relevant body. The council
works with a large number of local partners and where possible will work with
these partners to respond to your petition. If we are not able to do this for any
reason (for example if what the petition calls for conflicts with council policy),
then we will set out the reasons for this to you. You can find more information

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 279

April 2019

on
the
services
for
www.southsomerset.gov.uk

which

the

council

is

responsible

at

10.3 If your petition is about something that a different council is responsible for we
will give consideration to what the best method is for responding to it. This
might consist of simply forwarding the petition to the other council, but could
involve other steps. In any event we will always notify you of the action we
have taken.
11.

Petitions for debate at a Council meeting

11.1 If a petition contains at least 8000 signatures it will be discussed by a meeting
of the council unless it is a petition asking for a senior council employee to give
evidence at a public meeting (see 12. below). The council will endeavour to
consider the petition at its next meeting, although on some occasions this may
not be possible and consideration will then take place at the following meeting.
The petition organiser will be given five minutes to present the petition at the
meeting (see 9. above) and the petition will then be discussed by the Chairman
and councillors for a maximum period of 15 minutes (unless the council
decides to extend this period at the meeting). The council will decide how to
respond to the petition at this meeting, it may decide to:
 take the action the petition requests
 not to take the action requested for reasons put forward in the debate
 make recommendations to the Leader or Chief Executive if the issue
is one for either of them to make the decision
 commission further investigation into the matter, for example by a
relevant committee.
The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this decision and this
will also be published on our website.

12.

Petitions asking for officers to give evidence

12.1 If your petition contains at least 4000 signatures your petition may ask for a
senior council officer to give evidence at a public meeting about something for
which the officer is responsible as part of their job. A list of the officers that can
be called to give evidence is as follows:
Chief Executive – Alex Parmley
Director - Service Delivery - Martin Woods
Director - Commercial Services & Income Generation - Clare Pestell
Director – Strategy & Commissioning – Netta Meadows
Section 151 Officer – Paul Fitzgerald
Monitoring Officer – Angela Watson
12.2 Your petition may ask the officer to explain progress on a particular issue or to
explain the advice given to the Leader and/or councillors to enable them to

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 280

April 2019

make a particular decision. The petition must relate to the officer’s job and
cannot relate to their personal circumstances or character.
12.3

The evidence will be given at a public meeting of the council’s Scrutiny
Committee or Overview Commission and not at a meeting of the Council. The
officer giving evidence at the meeting may be accompanied by another officer,
technical expert or a representative from a partner agency. You will be given
details of the meeting so that you can attend. The Committee meetings are
normally held in public, but the Committee has the option to exclude the press
and public from any part of the meeting that discusses confidential information.
If the Committee does exclude the press and public you will also have to leave
the meeting. If possible you will be given the opportunity to present your
petition first. If it is likely that the press and public will be excluded from the
whole or any part of the meeting you will be notified of this and given the
reason(s) why when we give you the details of the meeting. You should be
aware that the Scrutiny Committee may decide that it would be more
appropriate for another officer to give evidence instead of any officer named in
the petition – for instance if the named officer has changed jobs. The
Committee may also decide to call the Leader or relevant councillor to attend
the meeting. Only the Committee will ask questions at this meeting, but you
will be able to suggest questions you would like them to ask by contacting the
Specialist - Scrutiny (by telephone 01935 462462 or e-mailing
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk by 4.00 p.m. three working days before
the meeting.

13. What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly?
13.1

If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition
organiser has the right to appeal and request the Council’s Scrutiny
Committee to review the steps that the Council has taken in response to your
petition. It is helpful to everyone, and can improve the prospects for a review if
the petition organiser gives a short explanation in writing of the reasons why
they feel the council’s response is not considered to be adequate.

13.2

The Committee will endeavour to consider your request at its next meeting,
although on some occasions this may not be possible and consideration will
take place at the following meeting. Should the Committee determine we have
not dealt with your petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal
with the matter. These include:
 instigating an investigation
 making recommendations to the Leader
 arrange for your request to be considered by a meeting of the council if
it considers the council has seriously neglected its responsibility to
listen to local people

13.3

Once the appeal has been considered the petition organiser will be informed
of the results within five working days. The results of the review will also be
published on our website.

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 281

April 2019

14. What else can I do to have my say?
14.1

There are a number of other ways you have your say and get involved in local
decisions, including:
 Attending meetings
 Public question time
 Speaking on planning or licensing applications
 Overview and scrutiny
 Community partnerships
 Become a councillor
 Take part in consultations
 Write to us about issues that are of concern to you

15. Special requirements and Assistance
15.1

If you need any special help with accessing any Council buildings or if you
have any special requirements or if you are unsure what to do or need help
with the wording of your petition then please contact our Specialist Democratic Services (either by telephone 01935 462462 or emailing
democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk ) as soon as possible.

To ask for a copy of this guide in another format or language, or for more
information on petitions or Council meetings, please contact:
Specialist - Democratic Services on (01935) 462462
Email: democracy@southsomerset.gov.uk

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 282

April 2019

Subject of
petition:
What action do
you want the
council to take:
Organiser / Main Contact for Petition
Name:
Telephone number:
Address:

Petition type: please tick relevant box
Ordinary (contains 25 signatures or more)
please indicate where you wish to submit your petition:
Council
or
Direct to Decision Maker
If you have chosen to submit your petition straight to Council would you like to speak at the
Council meeting? please tick box below
Yes
Name of speaker:
No
Petitions for Council debate (contains 8,000 signatures or
more)
please indicate if you would like to speak at the Council meeting
Yes
Name of speaker:
No
Petitions calling an officer to give evidence (contains 4,000
signatures or more)
please indicate if you would like to speak at the Committee meeting
Yes

Name of speaker:

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

No

Page 283

April 2019

Subject of
petition:

Name

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Address (or place of work or Signature
study if not a resident in
South Somerset)

Page 284

April 2019

Subject of
petition:

Name

Address (or place of work or Signature
study if not a resident in
South Somerset)

Please copy this page for further signatures

Part 8 – Petition Scheme

Page 285

April 2019

